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INTRODUCTION

A REVIEW OF THE EMPIRE, WITH PARTICULAR REFERENCE
TO THE COLONIAL WORLD'

By LADY LUGARD

Tak land surface of the earth is estimated to extend over about 52,500,000
square miles. Of this area the British Empire occupies nearly one-quarter,
extending over an area of about 12,000,000 square miles. By far the greater
portion lies within the temperate zones, and is suitable for white settlement.
The notable exceptions are the southern half of India and Burma; East, West,
and Central Africa; the West Indian Colonies; the northern portion of Aus-
tralia; New Guinea, British Borneo, and that portion of North America which
extends into Arctic regions. The area of the territory of the empire is
divided almost equally between the southern and the northern hemispheres,
the great divisions of Australasia and South Africa covering between them in
the southern hemisphere 5,308,506 square miles, while the United Kingdom,
Canada, and India, including the native states, cover between them in the
northern hemisphere 5,271,375 square miles. The alternation of the seasons
is thus complete, one-half of the empire enjoying summer, while one-half is in
winter. The division of territory between the eastern and western hemi-
spheres is less equal, Canada occupying alone in the western hemisphere
3,653,946 square miles, while Australasia, South Africa, India, and the United
Kingdom occupy together in the eastern hemisphere 6,925,975 square miles.
As a matter of fact, however, the eastern portions of Australasia border so
nearly upon the western hemisphere that the distribution of day and night
throughout the empire is, like the alternations of the seasons, almost complete,
one-half enjoying daylight, while the other half is in darkness. These alter-
nations of time and of seasons, combined with the variety of soils and climates,
are calculated to have an increasingly important effect upon the material and
industrial, as well as upon the social and political developments of the empire.
This will become evident in considering the industrial productions of the
different divisions, and the harvest seasons which permit the summer produce
of one portion of the empire to supply the winter requirements of its other
markets, and conversely.

The empire contains or is bounded by some of the highest mountains, the
greatest lakes, and the most important rivers of the world, Its climates may
be said to include all the known climates of the world; its soils are no less
various. In the prairies of central Canada it possesses some of the most valu-
able wheat-producing land; in the grass lands of the interior of Australia the
best pasture country; and in the uplands of South Africa the most valuable
gold and diamond-bearing beds which exist. The United Kingdom at present
produces more coal than any other single country except the United States

[ ! Reproduced, by permission, from the new volumes of the Encyclopedia Britannica,
London and New York, 1902. Copyright, 1902, by The Encyclopedia Britannica Co.]
1
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2 THE BRITISH EMPIRE

(which exceeded the British output in 1900). The effect of climate through-
out the empire in modifying the type of the Anglo-Saxon race has as yet
received only partial attention, and conclusions regarding it are of a somewhat
empiric nature. The general tendency in Canada is held to be towards some-
what smaller size, and a hardy active habit; in Australia to a tall, slight, pale
development locally known as “cornstalkers,” characterised by considerable
nervous and intellectual activity. In New Zealand the type preserves almost
exactly the characteristics of the British Isles. The South African, both
Dutch and British, is readily recognised by an apparently sun-dried, lank, and
hard habit of body. In the tropical possessions of the empire where white
settlement does not take place to any considerable extent the individual alone
is affected. The type undergoes no modification. It is to be observed, in
reference to this interesting aspect of imperial development, that the multi-
plication and cheapening of channels of communication and means of travel
throughout the empire will tend to modify the future accentuation of race
difference, while the variety of elements in the vast area occupied should have
an important, though as yet not scientifically traced, effect upon the British
imperial type.

POPULATION OF THE EMPIRE

The white population of the empire reaches a total of upwards of 52,000,000
or about one-eighth of its entire population, which, including native races, is
estimated at something over 430,000,000. The white population includes
some French, Dutch, and Spanish peoples, but is mainly of Anglo-Saxon race.
It is distributed roughly as follows:

United Kingdom and Ireland . . . . . . . . . 41,454,578

Australia . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,600,000
Canada—French . . . . . . . . 1,400,000
English . . . . . . . . 8,800,000

Dutch 5,200,000

Africa—Dutc!

Duteh } e oo 1,000,000

India . . . . . . . . . . B . . 100,000

West Indies and Bermuda . . . . . . . . . 100,000

52,454,578

These figures must be taken only as approximate. In some cases census
details are out of date, and official estimates have been accepted.

The native population of the empire includes types of the principal black,
yellow, and brown races, classing with these the high-type races of the East,
which may almost be called white. It is distributed as follows:

India
British Provinces . . . . B . . . 231,085,182
Native States % Mainly bigh type, Tt 63181569
British Tracts 607,710
' 204,874.411

The population of India is divided into 118 groups, on the basis of language.
These may, however, be collected into twelve principal groups as follows:

Aryo-Indic

Khasi Sinitic
Dravidian Tibeto-Burman Aryo-Iranic
Kolarian Mon Annam Semitic
Gypsy Shan Aryo-European
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Eastern Colonies -

Ceylon—High type, brown and mixed .. . . . . . 3,391,000
Straits Settlements—Brown and mixed . J . . 267,073
Chinese yellow . . . Lol . 228,000 -
Hong-Kong—Chinese yellow . . . . . . . . . 211,000
Brown . . . . . . . . . 1,901
North Borneo—Mixed brown . . . . . . . . . 200,000
4,208,974

Of the various races which inhabit these Eastern dependencies the most
important are the 2,000,000 Sinhalese and the 750,000 Tamil that make up
the population of Ceylon. The rest is made up of Malays, Chinese (in the
Straits Settlements and Hong-Kong), Dyaks, Eurasians, and others.

West Indies

The West Indies, including the continental colonies of British Guiana and
Honduras, and seventeen islands or groups of islands, have a total coloured
population of about 1,600,000. The colonies of this group which have the
largest coloured populations are:

Jamaica—Chiefly black, some brown and yellow . . . . 625,000
Trinidad—Black and brown. . . . . . . . . . 244,000
British Guiana—Black and brown . . . . . o . 270,000

1,139,000

The populations of the West Indies are very various, being made up largely
of imported African negroes. In Jamaica these contribute four-fifths of the
population. There are also in the islands a considerable number of imported
East Indian coolies and some Chinese. The aboriginal races include American
Indians of the mainland and Caribs. With these there has been intermixture
of Spanish -and Portuguese blood, and many mixed types have appeared.
The total European population of this group of colonies amounts to upwards
of 80,000, to which 15,000 on account of Bermuda may be added.

Africa

Comtral Chiefyblack § == = RO

The aboriginal races of South Africa were the Hottentots and Bushmen.
The Hottentots are a yellow-skinned race with erisp light hair. The Bush-
men, who appear to have been a lower order of the same race, are believed to
be the aboriginal type of the Abatwa or pigmy race of Central Africa. Both
these races are rapidly diminishing in numbers, and in British South Africa
it is expected that they will in the course of the twentieth century become
extinet. Besides these primitive races there are the dark-skinned negroids
of Bantu stock, commonly known in their tribal groups as Kaffirs, Zulus,
Makalakas, Bechuanas, and Damaras, which are again subdivided into many
lesser groups. The Bantu compose the greater part of the native population.
There are also in South Africa Malays and Indians and others, who during the
last two hundred years have been introduced from Java, Ceylon, Madagascar,
Mozambique, and British India, and by intermarriage with each other and
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with the natives have produced a hybrid population generally classed together
under the heading of the Mixed Races. These are of all colours, varying from
yellow to dark brown. The tribes of Central Africa are as yet less known.
Many of them exhibit racial characteristics allied to those of the tribes of South
Africa, but with in some cases an admixture of Arab blood.

East Africa

Protectorate—Black and brown { E:‘E;i‘: ’ 2'4%1%
Zanzibar—Black and brown . . . . . . . . . 250,000
Uganda—DEstimated in 1899 . . . . . . . . . 8,800,000
. 6,550,000

West Africa
Nigeria—Black and brown—Estimated in 1800 . . . . . . 85,000,000
Lagos . . . . . . . . . . 3,000,000
Gold Coast Chiefly . . . . . . . . . . 1,500,000
Sierra Leone black . . . . . . . . . . 260,000
Gambia 14,000
4,774,000

From east to west across Africa the aboriginal nations are mostly of the
black negroid type, their varieties being only imperfectly known. The tend-
ency of some of the lower negroid types has been to drift towards the west
coast, where they still practise cannibalistic and fetish rites. On the east
coast are found much higher types approaching to the Christian races of
Abyssinia, and from east to west there has been a wide admixture of Arab
‘blood producing a light brown type. In Uganda and Nigeria a large propor-
tion of the population is Arab and relatively light-skinned.

Australasia
Australia—Black, very low type . . . . . . . . . 200,000
Chinese and half castes, yellow . . . . . . . 50,000
New Zealand—Maoris, brown . . . . . . . . . . 40,000
Fiji—Polynesian, black and brown . . . . . . . . . 121,700
New Guinea—Polynesian, black and brown . . . . . . . 250,000
661,700

The native races of Australia and the Polynesian groups of islands are
divided into main types known as the dark and light Polynesian. The dark
type, which is black, is of a very low order, and in some of the islands still
retains its cannibal habits. The aboriginal tribes of Australia are of a low-
class black tribe, but generally peaceful and inoffensive in their habits. The
white Polynesian races are of a very superior type, and exhibit, as in the Maoris
of New Zealand, characteristics of a high order. The natives of New Guinea
are in a very low state of civilisation. The estimate given of their numbers is
approximate, as no census has been taken.

Canada
Indians—Brown . . . . . . . . . . . . 100,000

The only coloured native races of Canada are the Red Indians, many in
tribal variety, but few in numbers.



THE COLONIAL WORLD 5

Summary

NATIVE POPULATIONS OF PRINCIPAL DIVISIONS OF THE EMPIRE

India . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 294,874,411
Ceylon and Eastern Colonies . . . . . . . . 4,298,974
West Indies . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,650,000
South Africa . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,000,000
British Central Africa . . . . . . . . . . 38,000,000
East Africa . . . . . . . . . . . 6,550,000
‘West Africa . . . . . . . . . . . . 40,000,000
Australasia and Islands . . . . . . . . . . 661,000
Canada . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100,000
856,134,385

‘White populations . . . . . . . . . . . 52,454,578
Giving a total of . . . . . . . . 408,688,963

This is without taking into account the population of the lesser crown colonies
or allowing for the increase likely to be shown by a later census. Throughout
the empire, and notably in the United Kingdom, there is among the white races
a considerable sprinkling of Jewish blood.

The latest caleulation of the entire population of the world, including a
liberal estimate of 650,000,000 for peoples not brought under any census,
gives a total of something over 1,500,000,000. The population of the empire
may therefore be calculated as amounting to something more than one-fourth
of the population of the world.

DIVISIONS AND GROWTH OF THE EMPIRE

It is a matter of first importance in the geographical distribution of the
empire that the five principal divisions, the United Kingdom, South Africa,
India, Australia, and Canada, are separated from each other by the three
great oceans of the world. The distance as usually calculated in nautical
miles: from an English port to the Cape of Good Hope is 5,840 miles; from
the Cape of Good Hope to Bombay is 4,610; from Bombay to Melbourne is
5,630; from Melbourne to Auckland is 1,830; from Auckland to Vancouver
6,210; from Halifax to Liverpool is 2,744. From a British port direet to
Bombay by way of the Mediterranean it is 6,272; from a British port by the
same route to Sydney 11,548 miles. These great distances have necessitated
the acquisition of intermediate ports suitable for coaling stations on the trade
routes, and have determined the position of many of the lesser crown colonies,
which are held simply for military and commercial purposes. Such are the
Bermudas, Gibraltar, Malta, Aden, Ceylon, the Straits Settlements, Labuan,
Hong-Kong, which complete the chain of connection on the eastern route,
and such on other routes are the lesser West African stations — Ascension,
St. Helena, the Mauritius, and Seychelles, the Falklands, Tristan d’Acunha,
and the groups of the western Pacific. Some of the latest annexations of
the British Empire have been rocky islets of the northern Pacific required for
the purpose of telegraph stations in connection with an all-British cable.

For purposes of political administration the empire falls into the three
sections of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland, with the depend-
encies of the Channel Islands and the Isle of Man; the Indian Empire, con-
sisting of British India and the feudatory native states; and the colonial
empire, comprising all other colonies and dependencies.
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In the modern sense of extension beyond the limits of the United Kingdom
the growth of the empire is of comparatively recent date. The Channel Islands
became British as a part of the Norman inheritance of William the Con-
queror. The Isle of Man, which was for a short time held in conquest by
Edward I and restored, was sold by its titular sovereign to Sir William Scroop,
ear] of Wiltshire, in the year 1393, and by his subsequent attainder for high
treason and the confiscation of his estates, became a fief of the English crown.
It was granted by Henry IV to the earls of Stanley, and held by them and
their collateral descendants until the sovereignty and revenues of the island
were finally surrendered to the crown in 1765. With these exceptions and
the nominal possession taken of Newfoundland by Sir Humphrey Gilbert in
1583, all the territorial acquisitions of the empire have been made in the seven-
teenth, eighteenth and nineteenth centuries.

The following list of British colonies and dependencies shows the date and
manner of their acquisition:

- Name . Date - Method of Acquisition
Newfoundland . . . 1583 Possession taken by Sir H. Gilbert for the crown.

Seventeenth Century

St. Helena . . . . 1600 Captured. Settled by East India Company, 1651.
Government vested in British crown,1833.

Barbadoes . . N 1605 Settlement,

Bermudas . . . . 1609 .

Prince Edward Island . . 1626 ’s

Nova Scotia. . . . 1626 ' Ceded to France 1632 ; recovered 1713.
New Brunswick . . . 1626 '

%:év(i}:ufstopl‘ler : .}ggg :: } Ceded to France ; recovered 1713.
Bahamas . . . . 1629 » )

Gambia . . . . 1631 ’e A second time in 1817.

Antigua . . . . 1632 »s '

Leeward Islands . . . 1632 .

Jamaica . . . . 1655 Conquered.

Gold Coast . 1661 Settlement.

N.-W. Territories of Canada - 1670 Settlement under royal charter of Hudson Bay Com-
: - pany. Purchased 1869, and transferred to Canada

1870.
Eighteenth Century
Name Date Method of Acquisition

Gibraltar . . . . 1704 Capitulation.
Ontario . . . . 1759-1790 '
Quebec . e . 1759-1790 ’
Dominica . . . . 1763 vy
St. Vincent . . . . 1763 '
Grenada . . . . 1783 s
‘Windward Islands . 1763 '
Tobago . . . . 1763 '
Falkland Islands . . . 1765 Settlement.
Honduras . . . . 1783-1786 Treaty.
Sierra Leone . . . 1787 Settlement,

N. 8. Wales . . . 1788 .
Ceylon . . . . . 1795 Capitulation.
Trinidad . . . 1797 ’s

Nineteenth Century
Malta . . . . . 1800 Capitulation.
803

British Guiana . . . 1 »s
St. Lucia . . . 1803 "



. Name

Tasmania - . .. . ..

Cape of Good Hope

Seychelles .

Mauritius . . . .

Ascension and Tristan d’A-
cunha

‘West 'Australia

South Australia .

New Zealand

Hong-Kong .

Natal . .

Labuan . . .

‘Turks and Caicos Islands

Victoria . . .

British Columbia .

Straits Settlements

Queensland .

Lagos .

Manitoba

Fiji . . . . .

‘West Pacific Islands, includ.
ing Union, Ellice, Gilbert,
Southern Solomon, and
other groups

Cyprus

North Borneo . .
Niger Coast or 8. Nigeria
British New Guinea
Bechuanaland

Nigeria

Somaliland .
Sarawak

Brunei. .
British East Africa

Rhodesia . . .
British Central Africa .
Federated Malay States
Uganda . .
Pacific Islands — Christmas,
Fanning, Penrhyn, Su-
Warrow
‘Wei-hai-Wei . .
Orange River Colony .
Transvaal .

Date
1803
1806
1808 -
1810
1815

1829
1836
1840
1843-1861
1844

1846
1848
1851
1858

1858

1859
1861
1870
1874
1877

1889
1891
18741895
1894-1896
1898

1898
1900
1900
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Nineteenth Century (Continued)

Method of Acquisition
Settlement.
Capitulation.

Militsjl"y occupation.
Settlement.

Settlement and treaty.

Treaties. Kowloon on the mainland added in 1861.

By separation from Cape.

Cession,

Separation from Bahamas.

Separation from N. 8. Wales.

Settlement under Hudson Bay Company. Transferred
to (irown 1869. Entered Canadian Confederation
1871. .

Vested in crown by East India Company. Trans-
ferred from Indian to colonial possessions, 1867,

By separation from N. 8. Wales.

Cession.

By separation from N.-W, Territory.

Cession.

By international agreement. High commission created
by order in council, giving jurisdiction over islands
not included in other colonial governments, nor
within jurisdiction of other civilised powers. Tonga
and Cook Islands annexed to New Zealand 1900,

Occupied by treaty.

Treaty and settlement under royal charter.

Protectorate declared.

i3] i3]

Treaty, conquest, and settlement under royal charter.
Transferred to crown, incorporated with Niger
Coast Protectorate and divided into N. and 8.
Nigeria, 1900.

Protectorate declared.

’s I3

Treaty, conquest, and settlement under royal charter.
Transferred to crown 1895,

Treaty, conquest, and settlement under royal charter.

Protectorate declared.

Treaty.

Protectorate declared.

Annexed for purposes of projected Pacific cable.

Lease from China,
Annexation,
Annexation,

In the Pacific there are, in addition to the possessions already mentioned,
Bauman Islands, Bakir Island, Bell Cay, Bird Island, Bramble Cay, Caroline
Island, Cato Island, Coral Island and Dudosa, Danger Island, Ducie Island,
Flint Island, Howland Island, Humphrey Island, Jarvis Island, Lihow Island,
Little Serub Island, Malden Island, Manihiki Islands, Nassau Island, Palmer-
ston Island, Palmyra Island, Pheenix group of Islands, Piteairn Island, Purdy
group, Raine Island, Rierson Island, Roggewein Island, Sophia Island, Star-
buck Island, Surprise Island, Teinhoven Island, Vestoc, Washington or New
York Island, Willis group, Wreck Reef, Macquarie Island, Rotuma Island,
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and islands adjacent to British New Guinea. Among the dependencies of
New Zealand should be mentioned the Kermadec Islands.

In the Indian Ocean there are, besides the colonies already mentioned,
Seychelles, Rodrigues, the Chagos Islands, St. Brandon Islands, Amirante
Islands, Aldabra and some other small groups. There are also the Kuria-
Muria Islands, the Maldive Islands, and the Ashmore Islands.

In America there is all land which lies to the north of the Canadian prov-
inces, with the exception of the United States territory of Alaska and its
dependencies. ‘

The Indian section of the empire was acquired during the same three cen-
turies under a royal charter granted to the East India Company by Queen
Elizabeth in 1600. It was transferred to the imperial government in 1858,
and Queen Victoria was proclaimed empress under the Royal Titles Act in
1877. The following list gives the dates and methods of acquisition of the
centres of the main divisions of the Indian Empire. They have, in most
instances, grown by general process of extension to their present dimensions.

The nine provinces are:

Name Date Method of Acquisition

Madras . . . . 1639-1748 By treaty and subsequent conquest, Fort St.
George, the foundation of Madras, was the first
territorial possession of the East India Company in
India. It was acquired by treaty with its Indian
ruler. Madras was raised into a presidency in 1683 ;
ceded to France 1746 ; recovered 1748,

Bombay . . . . 1608-1685 Treaty and cession. Trade first established 1608.
Ceded to British crown by Portugal 1661. Trans-
ferred to East India Company 1668. Presidency
removed from Surat 1685.

Bengal . . . . 1633-1765 Treaty and subsequent conquests. First trade settle-
ment established by treaty at Pipli in Orissa 1633.
Erected into presidency by separation from Madras
1681. Virtual sovereignty announced by East India
Company, as results of conquests of Clive, 1765,

N.-W. Provinces and Oudh 1764-1856 By conquests and treaty, of which the principal
dates were 1801-3-14-15. In 1832 the nominal
sovereignty of Delhi, till then retained by the great
Mughal, was resigned into the hands of the East
India Company. Oudh, of which the conquest
may be said to have begun with the battle of
Baxar in 1768, was finally annexed in 1856. It
was attached as a commissionership to the N,-W,
Provinces in 1879.

Central Provinces . . 1802-1817 By conquest and treaty.

Assam . . . . 1825-1828 Conquest and cession.

Burmah . . . . 1824-1852 Conquest and cession.

Punjab . . . . 1849 anqu(alsstz5 znd annexation. Made into distinct prov-
ince .

N.-W. Frontier Province . 1901 Subdivision,

The senior commissionerships are :

Ajmere and Merwara . . 1818 By conquest and cession.
Coorg . . . . . 1834 Conquest and annexation,
British Baluchistan . . 1841-1876 Conquest and treaty.
Andaman Islands . 1858 Annexation

The following is a list of the principal Indian states or agencies which are
more or less under the control of the British government:

Hyderabad Kashmir
Baroda Sikkim
Mysore Shan States
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Rajputana States, including

Udaipur Dholpur
Jodhpur Alwar
Bikaner Jhalawar
Jaipur (and feudatories) Tonk
Bhurtpur Kotah
Central Indian States, including
Indore Bhopal
Rewa Gwalior
Bombay States, including

Cutch Khairpur (Sind)
Kolbapur (and dependencies)

Madras States, including

Travancore Cochin

Central Provinces States

Bastar
Bengal States
Cooch Behar Hill Tipperah
N.-W. Provinces States, including

Rampur Garhwal

Punjab States, including
Patiala Sirmur (Nahan)
Bahawulpur Maler Kotla
Jind Faridkot
Nabha Chamba
Kapurthala Suket
Mandi Kalsia

In addition to these there are British tracts known as the Upper Burma
frontier and the Burma frontier. There is also a sphere of British influence
in the border of Afghanistan. The state of Nepal, though independent, has
been since the campaign of 1814-15 in close relations with Great Britain.
All these native states have come into relative dependency upon Great Britain
as a result of conquest or of treaty consequent upon the annexation of the
neighbouring provinces. The settlement of Aden, with its dependencies of
Perim and Socotra Island, forms part of the government of Bombay.

ADMINISTRATION OF THE EMPIRE

This vast congeries of states, widely different in character, and acquired
by many different methods, holds together under the supreme headship of the
crown on a generally acknowledged triple principle of self-government, self-
support, and self-defence. The principle is more fully applied in some parts
of the empire than in others; there are some parts which have not yet reached
their full political evolution; some others in which the principle is tempo-
rarily or for special reasons in abeyance; others, again — chiefly those of very
small extent, which are held for purposes of the defence or advantage of the
whole — to which it is not applicable; but the principle is generally acknowl-
edged as the structural basis upon which the constitution of the empire exists.

In its relation to the empire the home section of the British Isles is dis-
tinguished from the others as the place of origin of the British race and the
residence of the crown. The history and constitutional development of this
portion of the empire will be found fully treated under separate headings.

The total revenue, expenditure, and trade of the home section of the
empire in 1900 were as follows:

Revenue . . . . . . . . . £119,839,906
Expenditure . . . . . . . . 133,976,920
Imports . . . . . . . . . 568,146,659

Exports . . . . . . . . . 887,522,633
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It is enough to say that for purposes of administration the Indian Empire
is divided into nine great provinces (of which the ninth, the N.-W. Frontier,
was proclaimed in 1901) and four minor commissionerships. The nine great
provinces are presided over by two governors (Bombay and Madras), four
lieutenant-governors (Bengal, North-West Provinces, the Punjab, and Burma)
and three chief commissioners (Assam, the Central Provinces, and the N.-W.
Frontier Province). The four minor commissionerships are presided over
each by a chief commissioner. Above these the supreme executive authority
in India is vested in the viceroy in council. The council consists of five ordi-
nary members besides the existing commander-in-chief. For legislative pur-
poses the governor-general’s council is increased by the addition of sixteen
members nominated by the crown, and has power under certain restrictions
to make laws for British India, for British subjects in the native states, and
for native Indian subjects of the crown in any part of the world. The admin-
istration of the Indian Empire in England is carried on by a secretary of state
for India assisted by a council of not less than ten members. The expenditure
of the revenues is under the control of the secretary in council. .

The total revenue, expenditure, and trade of India for 1900 were as follows:

Revenue . . . . . . . . . £67,617,800
Expenditure . . . . . . . . 64,976,920
Imports . . . . . . . . . 64,185,440
Exports . . . . . . . . . 78,646,690

The colonial empire — exclusive of . the Transvaal and Orange River
colonies — comprises forty-three district governments. It is divided into
colonies of three classes and dependencies; these, again, are in some instances
associated for administrative purposes in federated groups. The three classes
of colonies are crown colonies, colonies possessing representative institutions
but not responsible government, and colonies possessing representative insti-
tutions and responsible government. In crown colonies the crown has entire
control of legislation, and the public officers are under the control of the home
government. In representative colonies the crown has only a veto on legis-
lation, but the home government retains control of the public officers. In
responsible colonies the crown retains a veto upon legislation, but the home
government has no control of any public officer except the governor.

In crown colonies — with the exception of Gibraltar and St. Helena, where
laws may be made by the governor alone — laws are made by the governor
with the concurrence of a council nominated by the crown. In some crown
colonies, chiefly those acquired by conquest or cession, the authority of this
council rests wholly on the crown; in others, chiefly those acquired by settle-
ment, the council is created by the crown under the authority of local or
imperial laws. The crown council of Ceylon may be cited as an example of
the first kind, and the crown council of Jamaica of the second.

In colonies possessing representative institutions without responsible gov-
ernment, the crown cannot (generally) legislate by order in council, and laws
are made by the governor with the concurrence of the legislative body or
bodies, one at least of these bodies in cases where a second chamber exists
possessing a _preponderance of elected representatives. The Bahamas, Bar-
badoes, and Bermuda have two legislative bodies — one elected and one nomi-
nated by the crown; Malta and the Leeward Islands have but one, which is
partly elected and partly nominated. '

Under responsible government legislation is carried on by parliamentary
means exactly as at home, with a cabinet responsible to parliament, the
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crown reserving only a right of veto which is exercised at the discretion of the
governor in the case of certain bills. The executive councils in those colonies
designated as at home by parliamentary choice are appointed by the governor
alone, and the other public officers only nominally by the governor on the
advice of his executive council.

Colonial governors are classed as governors-general ; governors; lieutenant-
governors; administrators; high commissioners; and commissioners, accord-
ing to the status of the colony and dependency, or group of colonies and
dependencies over which they preside. Their powers vary according to the
position which they occupy. In all cases they represent the authority of the
crown.

As a consequence of this organisation the finance of crown colonies is
under the direct control of the imperial government; the finance of repre-
sentative colonies, though not directly controlled, is usually influenced in
important departures by the opinion of the imperial government. In respon-
sible colonies the finance is entirely under local control, and the imperial gov-
gnll)ment is dissociated from either moral or material responsibility for colonial

ebts.

The total revenue, expenditure, and trade of the colonial empire for 1900
were as follows:

Revenue .= . . . . . . . . . £58,815,700
Expenditure . . . . . . . 56,563,660
Imports . . . . . . . . . 181,846,110
Exports . . . . . . . . . 192,330,040

In.federated groups of colonies and dependencies matters which are of
common interest to a given number of separate governments are by mutual
consent of the federating communities adjudged to the authority of a common
government, which, in the case of self-governing colonies, is voluntarily created
for the purpose. The associated states form under the federal government
one federal body, but the parts retain control of local matters, and exercise
all their original rights of government in regard to these. The advantages
of united action are thus secured for larger questions without impairing the
vigour of independent initiative in matters of individual concern. The two
great self-governing groups of federated colonies within the empire are the
Dominion of Canada and the Commonwealth of Australia. India, of which
the associated provinces are under the control of the central government, may
be given as an example of the practical federation of dependencies. Examples
of federated crown colonies and lesser dependencies are to be found in the
Leeward Island group of the West Indies and the federated Malay States.

This rough system of self-government for the empire has been evolved not
without some strain and friction, by the recognition through the vicissitudes
of three hundred years of the value of independent initiative in the develop-
ment of young countries. Queen Elizabeth’s first patent to Sir Walter
Raleigh permitted British subjects to accompany him to America, “with
guarantee of a continuance of the enjoyment of all the rights which her
subjects enjoyed at home.”

This guarantee may presumably have been intended at the time only to
assure the intending settlers that they should lose no rights of British citizen-
ship at home by taking up their residence in America. Its mutual interpre-
tation in a wider sense, serving at once to establish in the colony rights of
citizenship equivalent to those enjoyed in England, and to preserve for the
colonist the status of British subject at home and abroad, has formed in
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application to all succeeding systems of British colonization the unconscious
charter of union of the empire.

The first American colonies were all settled under royal grants. Each had
its own constitution, and looked to no other head but the king. Their gov-
ernments were free — the executive being responsible to the elective element
in the legislature, as now in the colonies which enjoy responsible self-govern-
ment. The immense distance which in those days separated America from
Great Britain secured them from interference on the part of the home author-
ities. They paid their own most moderate governing expenses, and they
contributed largely to their own defence. From the middle of the seventeenth
century their trade was not free, but this was the only restriction from which
they suffered. The great war with France in the middle of the eighteenth
century temporarily destroyed this system. That war, which resulted in the
conquest of Canada and the delivery of the North American colonies from
French antagonism, cost the imperial exchequer £90,000,000. The attempt
to avert the repetition of such expenditure by the assertion of a right to tax
the colonies through the British parliament led to the one great rupture which
has marked the history of the empire. It has to be noted that at home during
the latter half of the seventeenth century and the earlier part of the eighteenth
century parliamentary power had to a great extent taken the place of the
divine right of kings. But parliamentary power meant the power of the
English people and taxpayers. The struggle which developed itself between
the American colonies and the British parliament, was in fact a struggle on
the part of the people and taxpayers of one portion of the empire to resist the
domination of the people and taxpaycrs of another portion. In this light it
may be accepted as having historically established the fundamental axiom of
the constitution of the empire, that the crown is the supreme head from
which the parts take equal dependence.

The crown requiring advice in the ordinary and constitutional manner
receives it in matters of colonial administration from the secretaries of state
for the colonies and for India. After the great rupture separate provision
in the home government for the administration of colonial affairs was at first
judged to be unnecessary, and the “council of trade and plantations,” which
up to that date had supplied the place now taken by the two offices of the
colonies and India, was suppressed in 1782. There was a reaction from the
liberal system of colonial self-government, and an attempt was made to govern
the colonies which remained, cimply as dependencies, the home treasury
being responsible for their expenditure as now in the crown colonies.

In 1791, not long after the extension of the range of parliamentary author-
ity in another portion of the empire, by the creation in 1784 of the board of
control for India, Pitt made the step forward of granting to Canada represen-
tative institutions, of which the home government kept the responsible con-
trol. Similar institutions were also given at a later period to Australia and
South Africa. But the long peace of the early part of the nineteenth century
was marked by great colonial developments; Australia, Canada, and South
Africa became important communities. Representative institutions con-
trolled by the home government were insufficient for their needs, and they
reasserted the old British colonial claim for liberty to manage their own affairs.

Fully responsible government was granted to Canada in 1840, and gradu-
ally extended to the other colonies. In 1854 a separate secretary of state for
the colonies was appointed at home, and the colonial office was established
on its present footing. In India, as in the colonies, there came with the grow-
ing needs of empire a recognition of the true relations of the parts to each other
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and of the whole to the crown. In 1858, on the complete transference of the
territories of the East India Company to the crown, the board of control was
abolished, and the India council, under the presidency of a secretary of state
for India, was created. It was especially provided that the members of the
council may not sit in parliament.

Thus, although it has not been found practicable in the working of the
British constitution to carry out the full theory of the direct and exclusive
dependence of colonial possessions on the crown, the theory is recognised as
far as possible. It is understood that the principal sections of the empire
enjoy equal rights under the crown, and that none are subordinate to each
other. The intervention of the imperial parliament in colonial affairs is only
admitted theoretically in so far as the support of parliament is required by
the constitutional advisers of the crown. To bring the practice of the empire
into complete harmony with the theory it would be necessary to constitute
for the purpose of advising the crown upon imperial affairs, a parliament or
council in which all important parts of the empire should be represented.

The gradual recognition of the constitutional theory of the British Empire,
and the assumption by the principal colonies of full self-governing responsi-
bilities, has cleared the way for a movement in favour of a further develop-
ment which should bring the supreme headship of the empire more into accord
with modern ideas.

Tt was during the period of domination of the “ Manchester school,” of
which the most effective influence in public affairs was exerted for about
thirty years, extending from 1845 to 1875, that the fullest development of
colonial self-government was attained, the view being generally accepted at
that time that self-governing institutions were to be regarded as the prelimin-
ary to inevitable separation. A general inclination to withdraw from the
acceptance of imperial responsibilities throughout the world gave to foreign
nations at the same time an opportunity by which they were not slow to profit
and contributed to the force of a reaction of which the part played by Great
Britain in the scramble for Africa marked the culmination. Under the
increasing pressure of foreign enterprise, the value of a federation of the empire
for purposes of common interest began to be discussed. Imperial federation
was openly spoken of in New Zealand as early as 1852. A similar suggestion
was officially put forward by the general association of the Australian colonies
in London in 1857. The Royal Colonial Institution, of which the motto
¢ United Empire”’ illustrates its aims, was founded in 1868.

First among leading British statesmen to repudiate the old interpretation
of colonial self-government as a preliminary to separation, Lord Beaconsfield,
in 1872, spoke of the constitutions accorded to the colonies as “part of a great
policy of imperial consolidation.” In 1875 Mr. W. E. Forster, afterwards a
member of the liberal government, made a speech in which he advocated
imperial federation as a means by which it might become practicable to
“replace dependence by association.” The foundation of the Imperial Fed-
eration League — in 1884, with Mr. Forster for its first president, shortly to
be succeeded by Lord Rosebery — marked a distinct step forward. The
colonial conferences of 1887 and 1894, in which colonial opinion was sought
and accepted in respect of important questions of imperial organisation and
defence, and the enthusiastic loyalty displayed by the colonies towards the
Crown on the occasion of the jubilee manifestations of Queen Victoria’s reign,
were further indications of progress in the same direction. Coincidently with
this development, the achievements of Sir George Goldie and Mr. Cecil Rhodes,
who, the one in West Africa, and the other in South Africa, added between
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them to the empire in a space of less than twenty years a dominion of greater
extent than the whole of British India, followed by the action of a host of
distinguished disciples in other parts of the world, effectually stemmed the
movement initiated by Cobden and Bright. A tendency which had seemed
temporarily to pomnt towards a complacent dissolution of the empire was
arrested, and the closing years of the nineteenth century were marked by a
growing disposition to appreciate the value and importance of the unique
position which the British Empire has created for itself in the world. No
stronger demonstration -of the reality of imperial .union can be needed than
that which was afforded by the support given to the imperial forces by the
colonies and India in the South African War. It remains only to be seen by
what process of evolution the further consolidation of the empire will find
expression in the machinery of government.

The question of self-government is closely associated with the question
of self-support. Plenty of good land and. the liberty to manage their own
affairs were the causes assigned by Adam Smith for the marked prosperity of
the British colonies towards the ‘end of the eighteenth century. The same
causes are still to be observed to produce the same effects, and it may be
pointed out that since the date of the latest of Adam Smith’s writings, up-
wards of 6,000,000 square miles of virgin soil, rich with possibilities of agri-
cultural, pastoral, and mineral wealth, have been added to the empire. In
the same period the white population has grown from about 12,000,000 to
52,000,000, and the developments of agricultural and industrial machinery
have multiplied, almost beyond computation, the powers of productive labour.

INDUSTRY AND TRADE

It is scarcely possible within this article to deal with so widely varied a
subject as that of the productions and industry of the empire. For the pur-
poses of a general statement, it is interesting to observe that concurrently
with the acquisition of the vast continental areas during the nineteenth
century, the progress of industrial science in application to means of trans-
port and communication brought about a revolution of the most radical
character in the accepted laws of economic development. Railways did
away with the old law that the spread of civilisation is necessarily governed
by facilities for water carriage and is consequently confined to river valleys
and sea-shores. Steam and electricity opened to industry the interior of
continents previously regarded as unapproachable. The resources of these
vast inland spaces which have lain untouched since history began became
available to individual enterprise, and over a great portion of the earth’s-
surface were brought within the possessions of the British Empire. The
production of raw material within the empire increased at a rate which can
only be appreciated by a careful study of figures.

The tropical and temperate possessions of the empire include every field
of production which can be required for the use of man. There is no main
staple of human food which is not grown; there is no material of textile
industry which is not produced. The British Empire gives occupation to more
than one-third of the persons employed in mining and quarrying in the world.
It may be interesting, as an indication of the relative position in this respect
of the British Empire to the world, to state that at present it produces one-
third of the coal supply of the world, one-sixth of the wheat supply, and very
nearly two-thirds of the gold supply. But while these figures may be taken
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as in themselves satisfactory, it is far more important to remember that as yet
the potential resources of the new lands opened to enterprise have been barely
conceived, and their wealth has been little more than scratched. Population
as yet has been only very sparsely sprinkled over the surface of many of the
areas most suitable for white settlement. In the wheat lands of Canada, the
pastoral country of Australasia, and the mineral fields of South Africa and
western Canada alone, the undeveloped resources are such as to ensure
employment to the labour and satisfaction to the needs of at least as many
millions as they now contain thousands of the British race. In respect of
this promise of the future the position of the British Empire is unique.

In regard to the distribution of existing industry, although the more
important colonies have established manufactures of their own, of which the
‘prosperity is assured, the general conditions have hitherto been maintained
under which Great Britain has remained the manufacturing centre for the
raw material of the whole. The primary production of the colonies and the
industrial development of Great Britain are still, therefore, the important
divisions of the subject. These subjects are dealt with elsewhere in detail.

It is not too much to say that trade has been at once the most active cause
of expansion and the most potent bond of union in the development of the
empire. Trade with the tropical and settlement in the temperate regions of
the world formed the basis upon which the foundations of the empire were laid.
Trading companies founded most of the American and West Indian colonies;
a trading company won India; a trading company colonised the northwestern
districts of Canada; commercial wars during the greater part of the eigh-
teenth century established the British command of the sea, which rendered the
settlement of Australasia possible. The same wars gave Great Britain, South
Africa, and chartered companies in the nineteenth century carried the British
flag into the interior of the African continent from south and east and west.
Trading companies produced Borneo and Fiji. The bonds of prosperous trade
have kept the Australasian colonies within the empire. The protection of
colonial commerce by the imperial navy is one of the strongest of material
links which connect the erown with the outlying possessions of the empire.

The trade of the empire, like the other developments of imperial public
life, has been profoundly influenced by the variety of local conditions under
which it has flourished. In the early settlement of the North American
colonies their trade was left practically free; but by the famous Navigation
Act of 1660 the importation and exportation of goods from British colonies
were restricted to British ships, of which the master and three-fourths of the
mariners were English.  This act, of which the intention was to encourage
British shipping and to keep the monopoly of British eolonial trade for the
benefit of British merchants, was followed by many others of a similar nature
up to the time of the repeal of the Corn Laws in 1846 and the introduction of
free trade into Great Britain. And the Navigation Acts were repealed in 1849.
Thus for very nearly two hundred years British trade was subject to restric-
tions, of which the avowed intention was to curtail the commercial intercourse
of the empire with the world. During this period the commercial or mercantile
system, of which the fallacies were exposed by the economists of the latter half
of the eighteenth century, continued to govern the principles of British trade.
Under this system monopolies were common, and among them few were more
important than that of the East India Company.

In 1813 the trade of India was, however, thrown open to competition, and
in 1846, after the introduction of free trade at home, the principal British
colonies which had not yet at that date received the grant of responsible gov-
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ernment were specially empowered to abolish differential duties upon foreign
trade. A first result of the commercial emancipation of the colonies was the
not altogether unnatural rise in the manufacturing centres of a school known
as the Manchester school, which was disposed to question the value to Great
Britain of the retention of colonies which were no longer bound to give her the
monopoly of their commercial markets. An equally natural desire on the
part of the larger colonies to profit by the opportunity which was opened to
them of establishing local manufactures of their own, combined with the
convenience in new countries of using the customs as an instrument of tax-
ation, led to something like a reciprocal feeling of resentment, and there fol-
lowed a period during which the policy of Great Britain was to show no con-
sideration for colonial trade, and the policy of the principal colonies was to
impose heavy duties upon British trade. By a gradual process of better
understanding, largely helped by the development of means of communica-
tion, the antagonistic extreme was abandoned, and a tendency towards a
system of preferential duties within the empire displayed itself. At the
colonial conference held in London in 1887, a proposal was formally submitted
by the South African delegate for the establishment within the empire of a
preferential system, imposing a duty of 2 per cent. upon all foreign goods, the
‘proceeds to be directed to the maintenance of the imperial navy. To this end
it was requested that certain treaties with foreign nations which imposed
restrictions on the trade of various parts of the empire with each other should
be denounced. Some years later the treaties in question were denounced, but
simultaneously with the movement in favour of reciprocal fiscal advantages
to be granted within the empire by the many local governments to each other,
there was a growth of the perception that an increase of the foreign trade of
Great Britain, which is carried on chiefly in manufactured goods, was accom-
panied by a corresponding enlargement of the home markets for colonial raw
material, and consequently that injury to the foreign trade of Great Britain
must necessarily react upon the colonies. This view was definitely expressed
at the colonial conference at Ottawa in 1894, and made itself felt in the relin-
quishment of the demand that in return for colonial concessions there should
be an imposition on the part of Great Britain of a differential duty upon
foreign goods. Canada was the first important British colony to give sub-
stantial expression to the new imperial sentiment in commercial matters by
the introduction in 1897 of an imperial tariff, granting without any reciprocal
advantage a deduction of 25 per cent. upon customs duties imposed upon
British goods. The same advantage is offered to all British colonies trading
with her upon equal terms. Although in Great Britain trade is free, and
customs duties are only imposed for purposes of revenue on a few selected
articles, about half the national income is derived from customs and excise.
In most of the colonies customs form of necessity one of the important sources
of revenue. It is, however, worthy of remark that in the self-governing colo-
nies, even those which are avowedly protectionist, a smaller proportion of
the public revenue is derived from customs and excise than is derived from
these sources at home. The proportion in Australasia before federation was
about one-quarter. In Canada it is more difficult to estimate it, as customs
and excise form the principal provision made for federal finance, and note
must therefore be taken of the separate sources of revenue in the provinces.
With these reservations it will still be seen that customs, or, in other words, a
tax upon the movements of trade, forms one of the chief sources of imperial
revenue.

The development of steam shipping and electricity gave to the movements
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of trade a stimulus no less remarkable than that given by the introduction of
railroads and industrial machinery to production and manufactures. Whereas
at the beginning of the nineteenth century the journey to Australia occupied
eight months, and business communications between Sydney and London
could not receive answers within the year, the journey can now be accom-
plished in thirty-one days, and telegraphic despatches enable the most import-
ant business to be transacted within twenty-four hours. For one cargo carried
in the year at the beginning of the nineteenth century at least six may now
be carried by the same ship, and from the point of view of trade the difference
of a venture which realises its profits in two months, as compared with one
which occupied a whole year, does not need to be insisted on. The increased
rapidity of the voyage and the power of daily communication by telegraph
with the most distant markets have introduced a wholly new element into
the national trade of the empire, and commercial intercourse between the
southern and the northern hemispheres has received a development from the
natural alternation of the seasons, of which until quite recent years the value
was not even conceived. Fruit, eggs, butter, meat, poultry, and other perish-
able commodities pass in daily increasing quantities between the northern and
the southern hemispheres with an alternate flow which contributes to raise
in no inconsiderable degree the volume of profitable trade. Thus the butter
season of Australasia is from October to March, while the butter season of
Treland and Northern Europe is from March to October. In three years
after the introduction of ice-chambers into the steamers of the great shipping
lines, Victoria and New South Wales built up a yearly butter trade of £1,-
000,000 with Great Britain without seriously affecting the Irish and Danish
markets whence the summer supply is drawn. These facilities, combined
with the enormous additions made to the public stock of land and labour, con-
tributed to raise the volume of trade of the empire from a total of less than
£100,000,000 in the year 1800 to a total of nearly £1,500,000,000 in 1900.
The declared volume of British exports to all parts of the world in 1800 was
£38,120,120, and the value of British imports from all parts of the world was
£30,570,605; total, £68,690,725. As in those days the colonies were not
allowed to trade with any other country this must be taken as representing
imperial trade. The exact figures of the trade of India, the colonies, and the
United Kingdom for 1900 were: imports, £809,178,209; exports, £657 -
899,363; total, £1,467,077,572,

DEFENCE OF THE EMPIRE

A question of sovereign importance to the continued existence of the empire
is the question of defence. A country of which the main thoroughfares are
the oceans of the world demands in the first instance a strong navy. It has
of late years been accepted as a fundamental axiom of defence that the British
navy should exceed in strength any reasonable combination of foreign navies
which could be brought against it. The expense of maintaining such a float-
ing armament is colossal, and until within the decade of 1890-1900 it was
borne exclusively by the taxpayers of the United Kingdoms. As the benefits
of united empire have become more consciously appreciated in the colonies,
and the value of the fleet as an insurance for British commerce has been
recognised, a desire manifested itself on the part of the self-governing colonies
to contribute towards the formation of a truly imperial navy. As yet the
movement remains in its infancy. In 1895 the Australasian colonies voted a
small subsidy of £126,000 per annum for the maintenance of an Australasian
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squadron, and in 1897 the Cape Colony also offered a contribution of £30,000
a year to be used at the discretion of the imperial government for naval pur-
poses. The colonies have also contributed in some degree to their own naval
defence by the erection of fortifications at selected points upon their shores.
The net cost of the navy to the imperial exchequer, as estimated for the year
1900-1901 was £27,522,600. Though available for service throughout the
empire, and forming the principal bulwark of colonjal defence, the cost, with
the trivial exceptions named, is still borne exclusively by the home govern-
ment, and recruiting for the navy is carried on wholly in the British Isles.

Land defence has hitherto been regarded as forming a secondary branch
of the great question of imperial defence. But though secondary it has been
intimately connected with the development and internal growth of the empire.
In the case of the first settlement, of the American colonies they were expected
to provide for their own land defence. To some extent in the early part of
their career they carried out this expectation, and even on occasion, as in the
taking of Louisburg, which was subsequently given back at the Peace of
Aix-la-Chapelle as the price of the French evacuation of Madras, rendered
public servicé to the empire at large. In India the principle of local self-
defence was from the beginning carried into practice by the East India Com-
pany. But in America the claim of the French wars proved too heavy for
local resources. In 1755 Great Britain intervened with troops sent from home
under General Braddock, and up to the outbreak of the American war the
cost of the defence of the North American colonies was borne by the imperial
exchequer. To meet this expense the imperial parliament took upon itself
the right to tax the American colonies. In 1765 a Quartering Act was passed
by which 10,000 imperial troops were quartered in the colonies. As a result
of the American war which followed and led to the loss of the colonies affected,
the imperial authorities accepted the charge of the land defences of the empire,
and with the exception of India and the Hudson Bay territories, where the
trading companies determined to pay their own expenses, the whole cost of
imperial defence was borne as the cost of the navy still is, by the taxpayers
of the United Kingdom. This condition of affairs lasted till the end of the
Napoleonic wars.

During the thirty years’ peace which followed there came time for recon-
sideration. The fiscal changes which towards the middle of the nineteenth
century gave to the self-governing colonies the command of their own resources
very naturally carried with them the consequence that a call should be made
on colonial exchequers to provide for their own governing expenses. Of these
defence is obviously one of the most essential. Coincidently, therefore, with
the movements of free trade at home, the renunciation of what was known as
the mercantile system and the accompanying grants of constitutional free-
dom to the colonies, a movement for the reorganisation of imperial defence
was set on foot. In the decade which elapsed between 1846 and 1856 the
movement as regards the colonies was confined chiefly to calls made upon
them to contribute to their own defence by providing barracks, fortifications,
etc., for the accommodation of imperial troops, and in some cases paying for
the use of troops not strictly required for imperial purposes. In 1857 the
Australian colonies agreed to pay the expenses of the imperial garrison quar-
tered in Australia. This was a very wide step from the imperial attempt to
tax the American colonies for a similar purpose in the preceding century.
Nevertheless, in evidence given before a departmental committee in 1859, it
was shown that at that time the colonies of Great Britain were free from
almost every obligation of contributing either by personal service or money
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payment towards their own defence, and that the cost of military expendi-
ture in the colonies in the preceding year had amounted in round figures to
£4,000,000. A committee of the house of commons sat in 1861 to consider
the question, and in 1862 it was resolved without a division, that “colonies
exercising the right of self-government ought to undertake the main respon-
sibility of providing for their own internal order and security, and ought to
assist in their own external defence.” " The decision was accepted as the basis
of imperial policy.

The first effect was the gradual withdrawing of imperial troops from the
self-governing colonies, together with the encouragement of the development
of local military systems by the loan, when desired, of imperial military
experts. A call was also made for larger military contributions from some
of the crown colonies. The committee of 1859 had emphasised in its report
the fact that the principal dependence of the colonies for defence is necessarily
upon the British navy, and in 1865, exactly 100 years after the Quartering
Act, which had been the cause of the troubles that led to the independence
of the United States, a Colonial Naval Defence Act was passed which gave
power to the colonies to provide ships of war, steamers, and volunteers for
their own defence, and in case of necessity to place them at the disposal of
the crown. In 1868 the Canadian Militia Act gave the fully organised
nucleus of a local army to Canada. In the same year the imperial troops were
withdrawn from New Zealand, leaving the colonial militia to deal with the
native war still in progress. In 1870 the last imperial troops were withdrawn
from Australia, and in 1873 it was officially announced that military expen-
diture in the colonies was almost “wholly for imperial purposes.” In 1875
an imperial officer went to Australia to report for the Australian government
upon Australian defence. The appointment in 1879 of a royal commission to
consider the question of imperial defence, which presented its report in 1882,
led to a considerable development and reorganisation of the system of imperial
fortifications. Coaling stations were also selected with reference to the trade
routes. In 1885 rumours of war roused a very strong feeling in connection
with the still unfinished and in many cases unarmed condition of the fortifi-
cations recommended by the commission of 1879. Military activity was
stimulated throughout the empire, and the Colonial Defence Committee was
created to supply a much-felt need for organised direction and advice to
colonial administrations acting necessarily in independence of each other.
The question of colonial defence was among the most important of the sub-
jects discussed at the colonial conference held in London in 1887, and it was
at this conference that the Australasian colonies first agreed to contribute t
the expense of their own naval defence. :

From this date the principle of local responsibility for self-defence has been
fully accepted. With the cxception of Natal all the self-governing colonies
have provided practically for their own military requirements. India has its
own native army, and pays for the maintenance within its frontiers of an
imperial garrison. Early in the summer of 1899, when hostilities in South
Africa appeared to be imminent, the government of the principal colonies
took occasion to express their approval of the policy pursued by the imperial
government, and offers were made by the governments of India, the Austral-
asian colonies, Canada, Hong-Kong, the Federal Malay states, some of the
West African and other colonies, to send contingents for active service in the
event of war. On the outbreak of hostilities these offers, on the part of the
self-governing colonies, were accepted, and colonial contingents upwards of
thirty thousand strong were among the most efficient sections of the British
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fighting force. The manner in which these colonial contingents were raised,
‘their admirable fighting qualities, and the service rendered by them in the
field, have disclosed altogether new military possibilities within the empire,
and the reorganisation of the army on an imperial footing is among the more
probable developments of the near future.

The feudatory and dependent native states have native armies of their
own which, according to the latest available estimates, number about 350,000
men, with upwards of 4,000 guns. Offers of military service in South Africa
in 1900 were received from some of the principal feudatory states.

Special expenditure has been made by the Indian government upon coast
defences armed with modern breechloading guns. Large sums have also been
spent upon external and border defences, and an establishment of two coast-
defence ironclads, a despatch vessel, two first-class torpedo gunboats, seven
first-class torpedo boats, as well as armed gunboats, etc., is maintained.

With the exceptions of Natal and the garrisons of the naval stations of
Cape Town and Halifax, no imperial garrisons are under normal conditions
maintained in the self-governing colonies. In the crown colonies garrisons
are maintained in Gibraltar, Malta, Mauritius, Sierra Leone, St. Helena, Cey-
lon, Straits Settlements, Hong-Kong, and the West Indies. There are impe-
rial naval stations at Simon’s Bay, Trincomalee, Bermuda, Esquimalt, Halifax,
Malta, Gibraltar, St. Lucia, Ascension, Hong-Kong, and Wei-hai-Wei.

Systems of justice throughout the empire have a close resemblance to
each other, and the privy council of the house of lords, on which the self-
governing colonies and India are represented, constitutes a supreme court of
appeal for the entire empire; but common law varies according to its origin
in some important divisions. ~Religion, of which the forms are infinitely varied
is everywhere free except in cases where the exercise of religious rites leads
to practices foreign to accepted laws of humanity. Systems of instruction of
which the aim is generally similar in the white portions of the empire, and is
directed towards giving to every individual the basis of a liberal education,
are governed wholly by local requirements. Native schools are established
in all settled communities under British rule.




BOOK VII

THE HISTORY OF BRITISH INDIA

CHAPTER 1
THE MOHAMMEDAN AND THE MUGHAL EMPIRES

[664-1857 A.D.]

MoDERN critics have remarked with surprise how well the descriptions
of India given by the officers of Alexander the Great portray what we now
behold in that country at the distance of two thousand years. The delicate
and slender forms of the people; their dark complexion; their black, uncurled
hair; their cotton raiment; their vegetable food; their training of elephants
to battle; their division into separate castes; the prohibition of intermarriage
from one caste to another; the name of Brachmani or Brahmans to their priests;
the custom of widows burning themselves on the funeral pyres of their hus-
bands — these and several other particulars which Arrian has recorded apply
to the modern quite as perfectly as to the ancient Hindus.

The progress of Alexander in India itself did not extend beyond the
district of the Punjab, and the navigation of the Indus between that district
and the sea. But on Afghanistan he made a more lasting impression; a
dynasty which he founded in that country is proved by its coins to have
subsisted during several generations; and a monument which he raised even
now remains. When, in May, 1842, a melancholy train of captives, the sur-
vivors of the greatest military disaster that England had ever yet to mourn,
were slowly wending up the mountain passes of Kabul, they beheld, towering
high above them, the column of the Macedonian conqueror.

Many ages after Alexander’s expedition, the tide of Mohammedan inva-
sion, which had already overwhelmed the kingdom of Persia, approached the
shores of the Indus and the Ganges. The gentle, unwarlike Hindus were
ill fitted to withstand the enthusiasm of a new religion, and the energy of
a fiercer race. But it is remarkable that, widely as the disciples of the Koran
spread in India, there was never, as in like cases, any amalgamation between
the conquered and the conquerors — between the old faith and the new.
Although the Mohammedans have succeeded in converting almost every man
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[664-1026 4.D.]
of almost every other nation that they conquered, and although in India they
formed the sovereign and controlling power in so many states and for so many
years, yet they do not now exceed, and never have exceeded, one-fifth of
the whole Indian population.b

THE MOHAMMEDAN CONQUEST (664-1001); MAHMUD OF GHAZNI (997-1026 A.D.)

In volume IT we have traced the history of India down to the Mohamme-
dan era, and described the cults of Brahma and Buddha. The first Mussul-
man invasions of India go back as far as the seventh century [the first in
664; the second in 711, under Muhammed Khasim]. They were successful
incursions; but they were not followed by lasting settlements. [In 750 the
Hindus revolted and expelled the Mohammedans.] It was only at the begin-
ning of the eleventh century that the serious conquest of India was begun
under the leadership of Mahmud of Ghazni.

Mahmud was the descendant of a Turkish adventurer who had created
for himself an independent principality in the mountainous district of Ghazni,
a town situated in Afghanistan, to the south of Kabul. When he appeared
in India, the northwest of the peninsula was divided between several Rajput
princes who, in a greater or less degree, acknowledged the supremacy of
the rajah of Delhi. The rajah of Kanauj, as a descendant of Rama, was
lord over the principalities of Oudh and of the Ganges valley. Bengal and
Behar obeyed the Pal dynasty and Malwa was governed by the successors
of Vikramaditya.

Mahmud of Ghazni did not establish his supremacy without difficulty.
The Rajputs, notably the king of Lahore, opposed to him a desperate resis-
tance. It required no less than seventeen expeditions, between the years
1001 and 1026 to subdue the north of the peninsula. He carried his arms as
far as Guzerat, where he pillaged the temple of Somnath, but he retained
lasting possession only of the Punjab. The Rajputs remained practically
independent, and later on, when the successors of Mahmud extended the
Mussulman conquests, they emigrated into the mountainous regions of Raj-
putana, to which access was difficult and where they founded states, that,
even under the Mughals [or Moguls] were never really subdued. Several
Rajput dynasties still continue to reign.

Mahmud’s conquest was as much religious as political. He was a Mussul-
man by conviction, desirous to enforce the law of the prophet. He every-
where gave himself out as the propagator of the religion and of the civilisation
of the Arabs, and the caliph of Baghdad bestowed on him the title, Protector
of the True Believers. When Mahmud penetrated into India, that country
was of an incomparable opulence. The oriental historians and Mahmud him-
self have no terms strong enough to express their admiration. When he
entered Muttra, in 1019, Mahmud was amazed at the splendour displayed
on all sides. This is what he wrote on the subject:

“This marvellous city,” he said, “encloses more than a thousand strue-
tures, the greater number in marble and as firmly established as the faith
of the true believers. If we reckon the money which all these monuments
must have cost, it will not be too much to estimate it at several millions of
dinars, and moreover it must be said that such a city could not be built even
in two centuries. In the pagan temples my soldiers found five idols of gold,
whose eyes were formed of rubies of the value of 50,000 dinars; another idol
wore as an ornament a sapphire, weighing 400 miskals, and the image itself,
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when melted, yielded 98 miskals of pure gold. We found besides a hundred
silver idols, representing as many camel loads.”

Mahmud encountered the same wonders in all the cities he passed through.
On the expedition which he made in 1024, chiefly for the purpose of destroy-
ing the temple of Somnath in Guzerat, Mahmud found a wonderful temple
whose fifty-six pillars were covered with plates of gold and had precious stones
scattered all about them; thousands of statues of gold and silver surrounded
the sanctuary. The successors of Mahmud were no less surprised at the
wealth and marvels which they encountered everywhere in India. At
Benares, Mahmud of Ghor destroyed the idols of a thousand temples and
loaded four thousand camels with the booty seized.

THE AFGHAN DYNASTY OF GHOR; THE SLAVE KINGS, ALA-UD-DIN, FIROZ,
"AND TUGHLAK

The first Afghan dynasty, founded by Mahmud of Ghazni, reigned from
996 to 1186 at Ghazni and Lahore. In 1186 it was overthrown by Mahmud
of Ghor [or Ghur], founder of a second Afghan dynasty. He began his con-
quest by following a very simple method which was employed with success
by all subsequent conquerors, including the English. It consisted of inter-
vening in the quarrels of the native princes and of profiting by their rivalries,
first to enfeeble them, and afterwards to take possession of their kingdoms.
Having intervened as an ally in a quarrel which divided the kings of Delhi
and Kanauj, he united these two kingdoms and formed a vast empire, hayv-
ing for borders Benares on the east and Gwalior and Guzerat on the south;
the seat of the government was Delhi.

After the death of Mahmud, one of his viceroys, Kutub-ud-din [or Kutab],
made himself independent and became the chief of a dynasty, Afghan by
origin and known as that of the Slave Kings. This dynasty reigned from
1206 to 1290. It was this prince who founded the famous tower of the Kutab
at Delhi. The most celebrated sovereign of this dynasty was the emperor
Altamsh, whose magnificent mausoleum is one of the most remarkable monu-
ments of Delhi. He reigned from 1211 to 1236 and had several times to con-
tend with the incursions of the Mughals and the revolts of the native tribes.
The dynasty of Ghor was soon replaced by another dynasty, of which Ala-
ud-din was one of the most notable princes (1294-1316). He considerably
extended the Mussulman conquests and had the same taste for architecture
as his predecessors. The famous sculptured gate at Delhi which bears his
name is the proof of this. Unfortunately for the new dynasty, the Mughals
enrolled in the imperial army became more and more dangerous. . The chief
of these mercenaries soon founded a fifth Afghan dynasty (1320 to 1414), of
which Firoz and Tughlak were the most remarkable princes. They also dis-
tinguished themselves by the impulse they gave to architecture. Elphinstonee
calls Tughlak “one of the most accomplished princes and one of the most
furious tyrants that ever adorned or disgraced human nature.”

THE MUGHAL INVADERS: TIMUR (1398 A.D.) AND BABER (1525 A.D.)

It was in 1398, in the reign of this last prince, that the Mughal Timur, or
Tamerlane, invaded India. He pillaged Delhi, but merely crossed the penin-
sula like a storm and soon regained his own country. During the struggles
which the sovereigns of Delhi had to sustain, the governors of the provinces
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attempted to make themselves independent; in this several of them succeeded
and founded different kingdoms, whose capitals rivalled each other in
splendour and were adorned with monuments that still subsist in great
numbers.

After Timur’s invasion the anarchy was complete. The governors of the
Mussulman provinces, having become independent, tried to make themselves
masters of Delhi. In 1450 the Lodi, who were governors of Lahore, managed
to seize it and founded a new Afghan dynasty — the seventh. In 1517 they
were still reigning there.

At this period a new governor of Lahore, who had complied with tradition

by endeavouring to make himself

= independent, finding that he was

o pursued by Ibrahim Lodi who

wished to make him return to his
. obedience, called to-his aid a Mug-
= hal king of Kabul, Zehir-ud-din,
] surnamed Baber, or the Tiger, who
was a descendant of Timur and
Jenghiz Khan. ¢ :

In 1525 Baber invaded India,
won the victory of Panipat over
Ibrahim the last of the Lodi dy-
nasty, and founded the Mughal
Empire, which lasted, at least in
name, until 1857.¢ Ibrahim was
killed, and the Indian army, hav-
ing been nearly surrounded during
the battle, suffered prodigious loss
in the defeat. Baber judged from
observation that fifteen thousand
lay dead on the field, of whom five
thousand lay in one spot around
their king. The Indians reported
that not less than forty thousand
perished in the battle and pursuit.
Delhi was surrendered, and Baber
advanced and took possession (May
10th) of Agra, which had lately
been the royal residence.

=

KUuTAB MINAR, OLD DELHI Baber’s Conduct to the places
(Erected by the Mussulmans to commemorate their victory yvhere he met with reS}stance was as
over the Rajputs in 1193) inhuman as that of Timur, who was

naturally his model. The smallness
of his force was some justification of the means he took to strike a terror; but
the invariable practice of his country is the best palliation for him.e
Baber’s own Memoirs, which are still preserved, relate in detail the exploits
by which he overcame and the arts by which he circumvented his numerous
opponents.? They contain a minute account of the life of a great Tatar
monarch, along with a natural effusion of his opinions and feelings, free from
disguise and reserve, and no less free from all affectation of extreme frankness
and candour. His mind was as active as his body: besides the business of
the kingdom, he was constantly taken up with aqueducts, reservoirs, and other-
improvements, as well as introducing new fruits and other productions of
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remote countries. Yet he found time to compose many elegant Persian poems
and a collection of Turki compositions, which are mentioned as giving him a
high rank among the poets of his own country.c Baber died in 1530, when
on the point of carrying his arms beyond Behar. But his schemes of conquest
were fulfilled or exceeded by his successors, each of whom became known in
Europe by the title, Great Mogul (Mughal).b

Humayun, eldest son of Baber, succeeded to the throne of his father, but
was not long suffered to enjoy it in peace. His brother Kamran, in the gov-
ernment of Kabul, formed a resolution of seizing upon the Punjab; and
Humayun was fain to confer upon him the government of all the country from
the Indus to Persia, on condition of his holding it as a dependency. A con-
spiracy was formed in favour of Muhammed, a prince of the race of Timur;
and Bahadur, king of Guzerat, was excited to hostilities by the protection
Humayun afforded to the Rana of Chitor. Bahadur was unequal to his enter-
prise; the war against him was pushed with activity and vigour, and he lost
entirely the kingdom of Guzerat. From Guzerat Humayun marched to the
eastern provinces, and reduced Chunar. Having gained the passes he then
entered Bengal, the government of which had recently been usurped, and its
sovereign expelled by Shir the Afghan regent of Behar. ~After a negotiation,
it was agreed that the government of Behar and Bengal should be conferred
upon Shir, on his paying a slight tribute in acknowledgment of dependence.
The chance of finding the camp of the emperor unguarded, under the negli-
gence inspired by the prospect of peace, was one among the motives which led
Shir to open the negotiation. The perfidy succeeded; and Humayun, having
lost his army, was constrained to fly. He fled from one place to another,
subject at times to the greatest hardships; and was at last obliged to quit the
kingdom, and seek an asylum in Persia, where he was hospitably and honour-
ably entertained. His misfortunes excited the compassion of a favourite
sister of the king, and of several of his councillors. At their instigation an
army of ten thousand horse was intrusted to Humayun [by means of which
he eventually succeeded in recovering his father’s dominions of Kabul, Kanda-
har, and Badakshan].

Tmmediately after his victory, Shir assumed the imperial title Shah, and
exerted himself with great activity in reducing the provinces to his obedience. f
Shir Shah is hardly treated with justice by the usual historian, according to
W. Crooke,! who credits him with forestalling many of Akbar’s broad ideals.
Keene™ says that “No government, not even the British, has shown so much
wisdom as this Pathan.” He was killed accidentally by an explosion during
a siege in 1545; his son Islam Shah proved a cruel monarch who undid his
father’s work in the course of a nine years’ reign and led the way to Humayun’s
restoration.e

Though now in possession of part of his ancient dominions, though aware
of the distraction which prevailed in the rest, and invited by the inhabitants of
Agra and Delhi, Humayun paused at the thought of invading Hindustan.
At first he was able to raise an army of only fifteen thousand horse. With that
he began to advance towards the Indus, where he was joined by his veterans
from Kandahar. [He was opposed by Sekunder, a nephew of Shir and for the
time master of Hindustan] and a great battle was fought under the walls of
Sirhind, in which the young Akbar, son of Humayun, showed remarkable
spirit and resolution. Sekunder, being routed, fled to the mountains of
Sewalik. Humayun re-entered Delhi, but was not destined to a long enjoy-
ment of the power which he had regained. As he was supporting himself by
his staff on the marble stairs of his palace, the staff slipped, and the emperor
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fell from the top to the bottom. He was taken up insensible, and expired in a
few days in the year 1556, the fifty-first of his age.

THE GREAT AKBAR, “GUARDIAN OF MANKIND” (1556-1605 A.D.)

Akbar, the son of Humayun, though not quite fourteen years of age, was
placed on his father’s throne. Bairam, a man of talents, but of a severe, or
rather of a cruel disposition, was appointed regent during the minority;
which, in so unsettled and turbulent an empire, was not likely to be attended
with general submission and peace. The first object of the new government
was to exterminate the party of the late pretended emperor, Sekunder; and
for this purpose an army, with the young sovereign at its head, marched
towards the mountains. Sekunder fled; and the rainy season coming on,
the army retired into quarters.

In the mean time the governor, who had been left by Humayun in the
command of Budakshan, assumed independence; and presumed so far upon
the weakness of the new government as to march against Kabul. The city
stood a siege of four months; but at last submitted, and acknowledged the
authority of the invader.

This calamity arrived not alone. Himu, the vizir of Sekunder’s prede-
cessor, retained a part of the eastern provinces, and now marched to the
centre of the empire with a formidable army. He took Agra. He took
Delhi. The contending parties arrived in presence of one another in the
neighbourhood of Panipat. The Mughals, who had been reinforced on the
march, fought with great constancy, and the enemy were thrown into dis-
order.

When the battle ended, Himu was brought into the presence of Akbar,
almost expiring with his wounds. Bairam, addressing the king, told him it
would be a meritorious action to kill that dangerous infidel with his own hands.
Akbar, in compliance with the advice of his minister, drew his sword, but
only touching with it gently the head of his gallant captive, burst into tears.
This movement of generous compassion was answered by the minister with
a look of stern disapprobation; and with one blow of his sabre he struck
the head of the prisoner to the ground.

This important victory restored tranquillity to the principal part of
Akbar’s dominions. The overbearing pretensions of an imperious, though
useful servant, and the spirit of a high-minded, though generous sovereign,
could not long be reconciled. Mutual jealousies and discontents arose.
When the royal ear was found open to accusations against the harsh and domi-
neering Bairam, courtiers were not wanting to fill it. He was secretly charged
with designs hostile to the person and government of the shah; and the mind
of Akbar, though firm, was not unmoved by imputations against the man
he disliked, however destitute of facts to support them. After some irreso-
lution and apprehension, a proclamation was issued to announce that Akbar
had taken upon himself the government; and that henceforth no mandates
but his were to be obeyed. Bairam attempted arms, but met with no sup-
port; and, driven to his last resource, implored the clemency of his master.
Akbar hastened to assure him of forgiveness, and invited him to his presence.
Bairam, desiring leave to repair to Mecca, received a splendid retinue and
allowance; but in his passage through Guzerat an Afghan chief, whose father
he had formerly slain in battle, pretending . salutation, stabbed him with a
dagger, and killed him on the spot./

Akbar stands among the pitifully small number of those sovereigns who,
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not fearing to wield the sword, have used their power as a protection for
religious freedom and the freedom of thought. His efforts to protect his
subjects from discriminating injustices and from many a hardship — notably
the burning of widows (suttee or sati) — brought him the title from posterity,
the Guardian of Mankind; a more glorious title never was devised.

W. Crooke thus estimates this monarch: “The life of Akbar is the history
of India during his long reign of forty-nine years, and his personality stands
high, even when compared with his great contemporaries — Elizabeth of
England and Philip IT of Spain. In his courage and strength, his love of
sport, and knightly exercises, he was curiously like another notable prince
of the same age — Henry IV of Navarre. He was only thirteen when, with
the aid of the gallant Bairam Khan, he crumpled up the Afghan host, on
the historic field of Panipat.”?

TOMB OF AKBAR AT SECUNDRA

When his rule was thus established, the later life of Akbar falls, as Keene
has shown, into three periods: “ During the first, which lasted about fifteen
years, he was much occupied with war, field sports, and building; and the
men by whom he was ultimately influenced were still at that time young,
like himself. Opinions were forming; territorial and administrative opera-
tions were in hand. About 1576 began a second period, marked by the
arrival of certain Shiahs and other persons of heretical opinions from Persia,
and the growth of their influence over Akbar. At the same time the emperor,
now in the maturity of his intellect, turned his attention to the Hindus, and
to the amelioration and establishing of the revenue system, by which they
were so much affected. This period lasted for about fifteen years, and was
followed by that sadder period when, as must happen, except under exceptional
circumstances, men in power grow old without having found competent suc-
cessors. In such conditions originality drivels into cant, and caution withers
into decay. One by one the reformers, a few years since so full of hope and
vigour, drop into senility, or, more fortunate, into the tomb. No one is left
but some lover of letters who, wiser than the rest, retires betimes into the
shade to prepare the record of departed greatness.” ™

The charge which Akbar had taken on himself seemed beyond the strength
of a youth of eighteen; but the young king was possessed of more than usual
advantages, both from nature and education.
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He was born in the midst of hardships, and brought up in captivity. His
courage was exercised in his father’s wars, and his prudence, called forth
by the delicacy of his situation during the ascendancy of Bairam. He was
engaging in his manners, well formed in his person, excelled in all exercises
of strength and agility, and showed exuberant courage even in his amuse-
ments, as in taming unbroken horses and elephants, and in rash encounters
with tigers and other wild beasts. Yet with this disposition and a passionate
love of glory he founded his hopes of fame at least as much on the wisdom
and liberality of his government as on its military success. It required all
his great qualities to maintain him in the situation in which he was placed.

-Of all the dynasties that had yet ruled in India, that of Timur was the
weakest and the most insecure in its foundations. Its only adherents were
a body of adventurers, whose sole bond of union was their common advantage
during success. The weakness arising from this want of natural support
had been shown in the easy expulsion of Humayun, and was still felt in the
early part of the reign of his son.

It was probably by these considerations, joined to a generous and candid
nature, that Akbar was led to form the noble design of putting himself at
the head of the whole Indian nation, and forming the inhabitants of that
vast territory, without distinction of race or religion, into one community.
This policy was steadily pursued throughout his reign. He admitted Hindus
to every degree of power, and Mussulmans of every party to the highest sta-
tions in the service, according to their rank and merit; until, as far as his
dominions extended, they were filled with a loyal and united people. But
these were the fruits of time; and the first calls on Akbar’s attention were of
an urgent nature: (1) to establish his authority over his chiefs; (2) to
recover the dominions of the crown; (3) to restore, in the internal adminis-
tration of them, that order which had been lost amidst so many revolutions.

It is to his internal policy that Akbar owes his place in that highest order
of princes, whose reigns have been a blessing to mankind ; and that policy
shows itself in different shapes, as it affects religion or civil government.
Akbar’s tolerant spirit was displayed early in his reign, and appears to have
been entirely independent of any doubts on the divine origin of the Moham-
medan faith. It led him however to listen, without prejudice, to the doctrines
of other religions, and involved him in enmity with the bigoted members of
his own; and must thus have contributed to shake his early belief, and to
dispose him to question the infallible authority of the Koran. The political
advantages of a new religion, which should take in all classes of his subjects,
could not fail, moreover, to occur to him. The blame of corrupting Akbar’s
orthodoxy is thrown by all Mussulman writers on Feizi and his brother Abul
Fazl. These eminent persons were the sons of a learned man named Mobarik,
who was probably a native of Nagor, and who, at one time, taught a college
or school of law and divinity at Agra. He was at first a Sunni, but turned
Shia; and afterwards took to reading the philosophical works of ancients,
and became a freethinker, or, according to his enemies, an atheist. So great
a persecution was raised against him on this account, that he was constrained
to give up his school, and fly with his family from Agra. His sons conformed,
in all respects, to the Mohammedan religion; though it is probable that they
never were deeply imbued with attachment to the sect. Feizi was the first
Mussulman that applied himself to a diligent study of Hindu literature and
science.

Along with Feizi and Abul Fazl, there were many other learned men of
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all religions about the court; and it was the delight of Akbar to assemble
them, and sit for whole nights assisting at their philosophical discussions.
Some specimens of the discussions at those meetings (probably imaginary
ones) are given in the Dabistan, a learned Persian work on the various religions
of Asia. Notwithstanding the adulation of his courtiers, and some expres-
sions in the formule of his own religion, Akbar never seems to have enter-
tained the least intention of laying claims to supernatural illumination. His
fundamental doctrine was, that there were no prophets; his appeal on all occa-
sions was to human reason; and his right to interfere at all with religion was
grounded on his duty as civil magistrate. He took the precaution, on pro-
mulgating his innovations to obtain the legal opinions of the principal Moham-
medan lawyers that the king was the head of the church and had a right
to govern it according to hisown judgment, and to decide all disputes among
its members; and, in his new confession of faith, it was declared that “There
is no god but God, and that Akbar is his caliph.”

In the propagation of his opinions, Akbar confined himself to persuasion,
and made little progress except among the people about his court and a few
learned men; but his measures were much stronger in abrogating the obli-
gations of the Mussulman religion, which, till now, had been enforced by law.
Prayers, fasts, alms, pilgrimages, and public worship were left optional: the
prohibition of unclean animals, that of the moderate use of wine, and that of
gaming with dice were taken off; and circumcision was not permitted until
the age of twelve, when the person to undergo it could judge the propriety
of the rite.

Some of the other measures adopted seemed to go beyond indifference, and
to show a wish to discountenance the Mohammedan religion. The era of
the Hegira and the Arabian months were changed for a solar year, dating
from the vernal equinox nearest the king’s accession, and divided into months
named after those of ancient Persia. The study of the Arabic language was
discouraged: Arabian names (as Muhammed, Ali, etc.) were disused. Even
wearing the beard, a practice enjoined by the Koran, was so offensive to
Akbar, that he would scarcely admit a person to his presence who conformed
to it. This last prohibition gave peculiar disgust to the Mohammedans, as
did a regulation introducing on certain occasions the Persian custom of pros-
trating (or kissing the ground, as it was called) before the king; a mark of
respect regarded by the Mohammedans as exclusively appropriated to the
Deity.

As the Hindus had not been supported by the government, Akbar had
less occasion to interfere with them; and, indeed, from the tolerant and
inoffensive character of their religion, he seems to have had little inclination.
He, however, forbade trials by ordeal, and marriages before the age of puberty,
and the slaughter of animals for sacrifice. He also permitted widows to
marry a second time, contrary to the Hindu law; above all, he positively
prohibited the burning of Hindu widows against their will, and took effectual
precautions to ascertain that their resolution was free and uninfluenced. On
one occasion, hearing that the rajah of Jodpur was about to force his son’s
widow to the pyre, he mounted his horse and rode to the spot to prevent the
intended sacrifice.

In the seventh year of his reign he abolished the jezia or capitation tax
on infidels; an odious impost which served to keep up animosity between
people of the predominant faith and those under them. Another humane
edict, issued still earlier, (1561), though not limited to any one class, was,
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in practice, mainly beneficial to the Hindus: it was a prohibition against
making slaves of persons taken in war.

Akbar’s revenue system, though so celebrated for the benefits it conferred
on India, presented no new invention. It only carried the previous system
into effect with greater precision and correctness: it was, in fact, only a con-
tinuation of a plan commenced by Shir Shah, whose short reign did not admit
of his extending it to all parts of his kingdom. The objects of it were: (1) to
obtain a correct measurement of the land; (2) to ascertain the amount of the
produce of each bigak of land, and to fix the proportion of that amount that
each ought to pay to the govern-
ment; (3) tosettle an equivalent for
the proportion so fixed, in money.
When Akbar made these improve-
ments respecling the land tax, he
abolished a vast number of vexa-
tious taxes and fees to officers.

The result of these measures
was to reduce the amount of the
public demand considerably, but
to diminish the defalcation in real-
ising it; so that the profit to the
state remained nearly the same,
while the pressure on individuals
was much lessened. Abul Faazl
even asserts that the assessment
was lighter than that of Shir Shah,
although he professed to take only
one-fourth of the produce, while
Akbar took one-third. The author
of the reform was rajah Todar
Mal, by whose name it is still
called everywhere.

Amidst the reforms of other
departments, Akbar did not forget
his army. We have no means of
guessing the number of the troops.

SENTINEL GoOD SIRA Abul Fazl? says the local militia

of the provinces amounted to

4,400,000; but this is probably an exaggerated account of those bound by their

tenure to give a limited service in certain cases: probably few could be called

on for more than a day or two to beat the woods for a hunting party; and
many, no doubt, belonged to hill rajahs and tribes who never served at all.

The same methodical system was carried through all branches of Akbar’s
service. The Ayent Akber: (Regulations of Akbar) by Abul Fazl, from which
the above account of the civil and military arrangements is mostly taken,
contains a minute description of the establishment and regulations of every
department, from the mint and the treasury down to the fruit, perfumery,
and flower offices, the kitchen and the kennel. The whole presents an aston-
ishing picture of magnificence and good order; where unwieldy numbers are
managed without disturbance, and economy is attended to in the midst of
profusion. Akbar, according to Ferishta,® had never less than five thousand
elephants and twelve thousand stable horses, one thousand hunting leopards,
besides vast hunting and hawking establishments, ete.
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The greatest displays of his grandeur were at the annual feasts of the vernal
equinox, and the king’s birthday. They lasted for several days, during which
there was a general fair and many processions and other pompous shows. The
king’s usual place was in a rich tent, in the midst of awnings to keep off the
sun. At least two acres, according to Hawkins as quoted by Purchas, 7 were
thus spread with silk and gold carpets and hangings, as rich as velvet, em-
broidered with gold, pearl and precious stones, could make them. The nobil-
ity had similar pavilions, where they received visits from each other, and some-
times from the king; dresses, jewels, horses, and elephants were bestowed on
the nobility; the king was weighed in golden scales against silver, gold, per-
fumes, and other substances, in succession, which were distributed among the
spectators.

In the midst of all this splendour, Akbar appeared with as much simplicity
as dignity. He is thus described by two European eye-witnesses, quoted by
Purchas After remarking that he had less show or state than other Asiatic
princes, and that he stood or sat below the throne to administer justice, they
say, “ He is affable and majestical, merciful, and severe; skilful in mechanical
arts, as making guns, casting ordnance, etc.; of sparing diet, sleeps but three
hours a day, curiously industrious, affable to the vulgar, seeming to grace
them and their presents with more respective ceremonies than the grandees;
loved and feared of his own, terrible to his enemies.”’e

Notwithstanding the virtues of Akbar’s administration, the spirit of rebel-
lion, inherent in the principles of Indian despotism, left him hardly a moment’s
tranquillity, during the whole course of a long and prosperous reign. Hussun
revolted in Ajmir, and gained at first a victory over the imperial troops who
were sent to oppose him. Hakim, brother of Akbar, a weak man, the gov-
ernor of Kabul, began to act as an independent prince. A slave of his,
approaching the king while marching with his troops, let fly an arrow which
wounded him in the shoulder. Akbar, whom neither exertion nor danger
dismayed, opposed himself to his enemies with an activity which often
repaired the deficiencies of prudence. It would be tedious to follow minutely
a series of expeditions, so much the same, to subdue one rebellious chieftain
after another.

The province of Bengal paid a nominal submission to the throne of Delhi,
but during several reigns had been virtually independent. After the other
provinces of the empire were reduced to more substantial obedience, it was
not likely that grounds of quarrel would long fail to be laid between Akbar
and the king of Bengal. [That province like Guzerat in 1580 and Kashmir in
1586 was also added to Akbar’s dominions.]

Next his brother, in Kabul, marched against Lahore. Akbar never
allowed disobedience in the upper provinces to gain strength by duration.
He hastened to Lahore, overcame his brother, followed him close to Kabul, and
received a message from the vanquished prince, imploring forgiveness. ~Akbar,
with his usual generosity, which was often inconsiderate and cost him dear,
replaced him in his government. Soon after this, the governor of Kandahar,
a provinee which hitherto had paid but a nominal submission to the Mughal
throne, unable to defend himself against his rebellious brothers, and the
Usbegs, who had now rendered themselves masters of Transoxania and
Bactria, and were formidable neighbours to the northern provinces of Hindu-
stan, offered to deliver up his government to Akbar; and received that of
Multan in exchange.

Akbar, who now beheld himself master, from the mountains of Persia, and
Tatary, to the confines of the Deccan, began to cast the eyes of ambition on
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that contiguous land. He gave directions to his governors, in the provinces
nearest the Deccan, to prepare as numerous armies as possible; and to omit
no opportunity of extending the empire. He despatched ambassadors to the
kingdoms of the Deccan, more with a design to collect information, than to
settle disputes. And at last a great army, under Mirza,’ the son of Bairam,
marched in execution of this project of unprovoked aggression and unprin-
cipled ambition./ -
This expedition resulted in a long war and the conquest of Berar, which
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was incorporated in Akbar’s dominions. It was the last addition to the
11\461(1)g5hal Empire made before the death of the emperor, which took place in
-a .

SELIM AND SHAH JAHAN (1605-1658 A.D.)

After Akbar’s death there appear in the empire of the great Mughal of
Delhi the same phenomena as are observable in the other eastern realms, at
Constantinople and Ispahan — revolt and civil war, harem intrigues, family
ties destroyed, the rule of women and the influences of favourites, debauchery
and prodigality, crime and sensuality. All these evils appeared even under
Akbar’s son Selim, who assumed the title Jahangir, that is Conqueror of the
World. In his day the fair Nur Mahal (Light of the Harem), whom Jahangir

! Mirza was his title; his name was Abdul Ruheem, but he was commonly called Mirza
Khan : he was also entitled Khan-khanan.
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had won as David won the wife of Uriah, ruled both court and empire. [It
was during this reign that the sovereign of Delhi received the first embassy
despﬁttlahe]:d thither from the power which was to replace that of the great
mughals.

Jahangir’s son and successor (reigned 1627-1658) who styled himself Shah
Jahan (King of the World) was a great lover of display. His great peacock
throne is said to have been worth more than six millions sterling. His mag-
nificent palace in Delhi and the mausoleum [known as the Taj Mahal], which
he built at Agra to the memory of his wife, are reckoned amongst the wonders
of the world.y Crooke says of him: ‘“The wealth and magnificence of this
famous monarch are part of the world’s history. In his early days he was a
keen soldier; but he was three parts a Hindu, and to this was due the support
of the Rajputs in the early part of his career. In his time that persecution of
the Hindus, which was fated to cause the ruin of the dynasty, recommenced.
Jahangir seems to have treated their religion with contemptuous toleration.
His own belief was too vague to encourage iconoclasm. But in 1632, the year
after the death of Mumtaz Mahal, Shah Jahan embarked in active persecu-
tion. The chronicler writes: ‘ It had been brought to the notice of his majesty
that during the late reign many idol temples had been begun, but remained
unfinished, at Benares, the great stronghold of infidelity. The infidels were
now desirous of completing them. His majesty gave orders that at Benares,
and throughout his dominions in every place, all temples that had been begun
should be cast down. It was now reported from the province of Allahabad,
that seventy-six temples had been destroyed in the district of Benares.” This
evil example was followed with disastrous results by his bigoted successor.
The popular idea is that Shah Jahan was always absorbed in the pleasures of
the h?,{em, and neglected the duties of administration; this is certainly incor-
rect.’

But his reign was clouded by domestic troubles. As in France during the
reign of Louis le Débonnaire, so even during the lifetime of Shah Jahan a
fratricidal war broke out between his four sons. The three youngest, Suja,
Aurangzeb, and Morad, grudged the eldest, Dara, the succession which his
father intended him. They declared themselves independent in the govern-
ments which had been assigned to them and assumed the titles of kings. Shah
Jahan himself was conquered by their arms and ended his life as a prisoner.
After long conflicts the crafty and treacherous Aurangzeb won the imperial
seat at Delhi, after having caused his eldest brother to be put to death and
the two others to be shut up in prison.y

It was in 1658 that Aurangzeb proclaimed himself emperor, and he swayed
the sceptre of the great Mughal for nearly fifty years during an epoch which
constitutes the apogee of the dynasty’s power and which was followed by its
swift decay. We must here pause to give some account of that southern
portion of India whose conquest Akbar, as we have seen, had already begun
more than half a century before.e

EARLY DYNASTIES IN SOUTHERN INDIA: MADURA; THE DECCAN

The earliest local traditions agree in dividing the extreme south into four
provinces, Kerala, Pandya, Chola, and Chera, which together made up the
country of Dravida, occupied by Tamil-speaking races. Of these kingdoms
the greatest was that of Pandya, with its capital of Madura, the foundation of
which is assigned on high authority to the fourth century, B.c. The local
purana, or chronicle of Madura, gives a list of two Pandyan dynasties, the
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first of which has seventy-three kings, the second forty-three. Parakrama,
the last king of the second dynasty, was overthrown by the Mohammedan
invader Malik Kafur, in 1324; but the Mussulmans never established their
power in the extreme south, and a series of Hindu lines ruled at Madura into
the eighteenth century.

No other Dravidian kingdom can boast such a continuous succession as
that of Madura. The chronicles enumerate fifty Chera kings, and no less
than sixty-six Chola lLings, as well as many minor dynasties which ruled at
various periods over fractions of the south. Little confidence, however, can
be placed in Hindu genealogies, and the early history of the Dravidian races
yet remains to be deciphered from mouldering palm leaves and the more
trustworthy inscriptions on copper and stone.

Authentic history begins with the Hindu Empire of Vijayanagar or Nar-
singha, which exercised an ill-defined sovereignty over the entire south from
the twelfth to the sixteenth centuries. The foundation of the city of Vijay-
anagar is assigned to the year 1118, and to an eponymous hero, Raja Vijaya,
the fifth of his line. Its extensive ruins are still to be traced on the right bank
of the Tungabhadra river within the Madras district of Bellary. The city
itself has not been inhabited since it was sacked by the Mohammedans in
1565, but vast remains still exist of temples, fortifications, tanks, and bridges,
haunted by beasts of prey and venomous reptiles. The empire of Vijayanagar
represents the last stand made by the national faith in India against con-
quering Islam. For at least three centuries its sway over the south was undis-
puted, and its rajahs waged wars and concluded treaties of peace with the
sultans of the Deccan on equal terms.

The earliest of the Mohammedan dynasties in the Deccan was that founded
by Ala-ud-din in 1347 or 1357, which has received the name of the Bahmani
dynasty from the supposed Brahman descent of its founder. Towards the
close of the fourteenth century the Bahmani Empire fell to pieces, and five
independent kingdoms divided the Deccan among them. These were (1) the
Adil Shahi dynasty, with its capital at Bijapur, founded in 1489 by a son of
Murad II, sultan of the Ottomans; (2) the Kutab Shahi dynasty, with its cap-
ital at Golconda, founded in 1512 by a Turkoman adventurer; (3) the Nizam
Shahi dynasty, with its capital at Ahmadnagar, founded in 1490 by a Brahman
renegade, from the Vijayanagar court; (4) the Imad Shahi dynasty of Berar,
with its capital at Ellichpur, founded in 1484, also by a Hindu from Vijay-
anagar; (5) the Barid Shahi dynasty, with its capital at Bidar, founded about
1492 by one who is variously described as a Turk and a Georgian slave.

It is, of course, impossible here to trace in detail the history of these several
dynasties. In 1565 they combined against the Hindu rajah of Vijayanagar,
who was defeated and slain in the decisive battle of Talikota. But, though
the city was sacked and the supremacy of Vijayanagar forever destroyed, the
Mohammedan victors did not themselves advance into the south. The Naiks
or feudatories of Vijayanagar everywhere asserted their independence. From
them are descended the well-known Palegars (Polygars) of the south, and also
the present rajah of Mysore. One of the blood-royal of Vijayanagar fled to
Chandragiri, and founded a line which exercised a prerogative of its former
sovereignty by granting the site of Madras to the English in 1639. Another
scion claiming the same high descent lingers to the present day near the ruins
of Vijayanagar, and is known as the rajah of Anagundi, a feudatory of the
nizam of Hyderabad. Despite frequent internal strife, the sultans of the
Deccan retained their independence until conquered by the Mughal emperor
Aurangzeb, in the latter half of the seventeenth century.
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THE REIGN OF AURANGZEB (1658-1707 A.D.)

Aurangzeb’s long reign, from 1658 to 1707, may be regarded as representing
both the culminating point of Mughal power and the beginning of its decay.
Unattractive as his character was, it contained at least some elements of
greatness. None of his successors on the throne was anything higher than a
debauchee or a puppet. He was the first to conquer the independent sultans
of the Deccan, and to extend his authority to the extreme south. But even
during his lifetime two new Hindu nationalities were being formed in the
Marhattas [or Mahrattas] and the Sikhs; while immediately after his death
the nawabs of the Deccan, of Oudh, and of Bengal raised themselves to practical
independence. Aurangzeb had enlarged the empire, but he had not strength-
ened its foundations. During the reign of his father Shah Jahan he had been
the viceroy of the Deccan, or rather of the northern portion only, which had
been annexed to the Mughal Empire since the reign of Akbar. His early
ambition was to conquer the Mohammedan kings of Bijapur and Golconda,
who, since the downfail of Vijayanagar, had been practically supreme over
the south. This object was not accomplished without many tedious cam-
paigns, in which Sivaji, the founder of the Mahratta confederacy, first comes
upon the scene. In name Sivaji was a feudatory of the house of Bijapur, on
whose behalf he held the rock forts of his native Ghats; but in fact he found
his opportunity in playing off the Mohammedan powers against one another,
and in rivalling Aurangzeb himself in the art of treachery.d

SIR HENRY LAWRENCE ON SIVAJI

Few conquerors have effected so much with equal means. Long disowned
by his father, and unaided by the local chiefs, until by his own stripling arm
he had rendered himself independent, he died the recognised ruler of a terri-
tory fifty thousand square miles in area; his name was dreaded from Surat to
Tanjore, and in every quarter between those remote points his bands had
levied contributions and tribute. The Mohammedan yoke was now forever
broken in Maharashthra. The long-dormant military spirit of the people was
aroused, to be quelled only in another disruption of that system on which it
had risen. The genius of Sivaji emancipated the Mahrattas: succeeding
chiefs, by neglecting the policy which had aggrandised their founder and
adopting an organisation which they could never perfectly master, precipi-
tated the state to a second downfall.

Personally brave, Sivaji never fought when he could fly, or when stratagem
or treachery could effect his object: but whatever was his design, he weighed
it deliberately, gained the most accurate information on all necessary points
and then, when least expected, pounced upon his prey. The heavy and slow-
moving Mughals must have been sadly puzzled at encountering such a foe.
Many stories are told of the terror his very name inspired. He was equally
feared as a soldier, a marauder, and an assassin. His own dagger, or those of
his emissaries, could reach where his troops could not penetrate; no distance
or precaution could keep his prey from him. It must be remembered that it
was not with the chiefs that Sivaji commenced operations, but with the
despised and half-starving peasantry. It was when Sivaji had gained a name,
and had himself become a chief, that chiefs joined his standard. It is ever so
in India. There is always ample material abroad to feed the wildest flame of
insurrection; but not until it has assumed a head will those who have a stake
in the land join it. They will attack, they will riot, they will plot; but seldom,
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unless in instances of great infatuation, when misled by false prophets, will
the chiefs of the land join an insurrectionary move, so long as their own szzut
has not been touched.

During Sivaji’s whole career, he cannot be said to have enjoyed or rather
suffered one single year of peace. He seems from the outset to have declared
perpetual hostility against all who had anything to lose. His pacifications,
or rather truces, were but breathing spaces, to enable him to recruit or collect
a meaas, or to leave him unshackled to direct his whole force in another quar-
ter. Aurangzeb played into Sivaji’s hands by his timid and suspicious policy.
The emperor was incessantly changing his commanders, and feared to trust
any one of his sons or generals with means sufficient to quell the Deccan insur-
rections, lest the power, so deputed, should be used, as he himself had used it,
to the usurpation of the throne. Thus distrusted, his children and officers
managed the war with Sivaji, as with Bijapur and Golconda, for their own
aggrandisement. They fought as little as they could, yet they plundered and
received bribes as much as possible.

There was thus much in the times and there was more in the condition and
feeling of the country favourable to Sivaji. His cause was, and appeared to
be, that of the people. They had long groaned beneath a Mohammedan
yoke, and some openly, all secretly, hailed a liberator of their own blood,
caste, and country. It was this strong feeling in his favour that enabled him
to procure the excellent intelligence for which he was noted; his spies were in
every quarter. The Mohammedan government in India had, in short, lost
its tact, elasticity, and vigour; luxury had sapped the Moslem strength, and
deadened their one solitary virtue. Their hardihood declined, and with it
their empire fell. Sivaji was first to take advantage of the imperial decay,
and his example was soon followed in every quarter of India.

Sivaji early established a strict military system. Horse and foot of all
ranks were hardy, active, and abstemious. Camp equipage was unknown
among them, a single blanket, in addition to their light coarse vestments, com-
pleted their wardrobe; and a small bag of parched grain sufficed for their
commissariat supplies. Thus furnished, the infantry would for days and
days thread the defiles and jungles of their wild country, and, by paths known
only to themselves, appear where least expected; while the cavalry, supplied
with small saddle-bags to hold such grain or plunder as they might pick up,
swept the country at the rate of fifty, sixty, and even eighty miles within
twenty-four hours. The grand secret of Mahratta hardihood was that chiefs
and officers shared equally in the privations of their men. During Sivaji’s life
all the plunder was public property. It was brought at stated periods to his
darbar, where the man who had taken it was praised, rewarded, or promoted.

‘‘ Then lands were fairly proportioned ;
Then spoils were fairly sold :
The Burgees were like brothers
In the brave days of old,”

Sivaji had sense enough to perceive how much he would personally gain
by the punctual payment of his army. All accounts were closed annually:
assignments were given for balances on collectors, but never on villages.
Cows, cultivators, and women were exempt from plunder. Rich Moham-
medans and Hindus in their service were favourite game. Towns and villages
were systematically sacked, and where money or valuables were not forth-
coming, Sivaji would take promissory notes from the local authorities. He
shed no unnecessary blood; he was not cruel for cruelty’s sake, but on these
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occasions of plunder he mercilessly slaughtered and tortured all who were
supposed to have concealed treasure. An Englishman, captured by Sivaji at
Surat, reported that he found the marauder, surrounded by executioners, cut-
ting off heads and limbs. The mountain fortresses were the keystones of his
power. His treasure, plunder, and family safe, he could freely move wherever
an opening offered.

It is only justice to state that this extraordinary man, while devastating
other lands, was not unmindful of the duty he owed to his own subjects. In
his conquered territory, and where the inhabitants had compounded for
security, he was kind, considerate, and consequently popular. On the whole,
we may pronounce the founder of the Mahratta Empire to have been the man
of his day in India — greater than any of the Mahratta kings who succeeded
him, and unrivalled since, even by Hyder Ali or Ranjit Singh. Sivaji could
not only conquer and destroy, but he could legislate and build up. There is a
germ of civil organisation in his arrangement; and had he lived the ordinary
period of man’s life, he might have left to his successors a united and well-
established principality. He died suddenly, and with him his empire may be
said to have expired.

Sivaji left immense treasure. The amount has been variously estimated,;
but always in millions of pounds sterling. Heaped together in his coffers at
Rajjurh were the dollars of Spain, the sequins of Venice, the pagodas of the
Carnatic, and all the various gold mohurs of the different quarters of India,
with innumerable kinds of rupees of every shape and stamp. But all his spoil,
the harvest of more than thirty years of crime and blood, of restless nights, of
ceaseless and unseasonable marches, did not bring peace to the owner, nor
save his son from a fearful death; it did not preserve his successors from the
prison his own hands had prepared, nor his people from being split into factions
that soon sealed their own destruction.k

THE GLORY OF AURANGZEB

The loss of Sivaji was, for the time at least, irreparable to the Mahrattas.
Though never subdued, they were defeated and dispersed, and compelled to
take shelter in their hill forts or impervious jungles. On the whole, it is
probable that there never yet had been a time in Hindustan when the whole
peninsula was so nearly brought beneath the supreme dominion of one man.

The power of Aurangzeb and the magnificence of the court of Delhi are
described by more than one intelligent European traveller. “In riches and
resources,” says Tavernier,» “the great Mughal is in Asia what the king of
France is in Europe. When I took leave of his majesty on the 1st of Novem-
ber, 1665, he was pleased to desire that I should stay, and see the festivals in
honour of his birth day. On this occasion the emperor is weighed in state,
and if he is found to weigh more than on the preceding year there are great
public rejoicings. The grandees of the empire, the viceroys of the provinces,
and the ladies of the court came to make their offerings, which, in precious
stones, gold and silver, rich carpets and brocades, elephants, camels, and
horses, amounted when I was present to upwards of thirty millions of our
livres. The tents are of red velvet, embroidered with gold, so heavy that the
poles which support them are as thick as the masts of ships, and some of them
from thirty-five to forty feet in height. The great Mughal has seven splendid
thrones; one covered with diamonds, others with rubies, with emeralds, and
with pearls. The value of the one most precious (called the peacock throne)
is estimated by the royal treasurers at a number of lacs of rupees equivalent to
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above one hundred and sixty millions of livres. While the emperor is on his
throne fifteen horses stand ready caparisoned on his right and as many on his
left, the bridles of each horse enriched with precious stones, and some great
jewel dependent from his neck. Elephants are trained to kneel down before
the throne, and do his majesty reverence with their trunks; and the emperor’s
favourite elephant costs five hundred rupees of monthly expense, being fed on
good meat with abundance of sugar, and having brandy to drink. When the
emperor rides abroad on his elephant he is followed by a great number of his
omrahs, or nobles, on horseback — and the meanest of these omrahs com-
mands two thousand cavalry.” b

LAST YEARS OF AURANGZEB

It was in 1680 that Sivaji died, and his son and suceessor, Sambhaji, was
betrayed to Aurangzeb and put to death. The rising Mahratta power was
thus for a time checked, and the Mughal armies were set free to operate in
the eastern Deccan. In 1686 the city of Bijapur was taken by Aurangzeb in
person, and in the following year Golconda also fell. No independent power
then remained in the south, though the numerous local chieftains, known as
palegars and naiks, never formally submitted to the Mughal Empire. During
the early years of his reign Aurangzeb had fixed his capital at Delhi, while he
kept his dethroned father, Shah Jahan, in close confinement at Agra. In 1682
he set out with his army on his victorious march into the Deccan, and from
that time until his death in 1707 he never again returned to Delhi.

In this camp life Aurangzeb may be taken as representative of one aspect
of the Mughal rule, which has been picturesquely described by European
travellers of that day. They agree in depicting the emperor as a peripatetic
sovereign, and the empire as held together by its military highways no less
than by the strength of its armies. The great road running across the north
of the peninsula, from Dacea in the east to Lahore in the west, is generally
attributed to the Afghan usurper, Shir Shah. The other roads branching out
southward from Agra, to Surat and Burhanpur and Golconda, were undoubt-
edly the work of Mughal times. Each of these roads was laid out with avenues
of trees, with wells of water, and with frequent sarais or rest-houses. Constant
communication between the capital and remote cities was maintained by a
system of foot-runners, whose aggregate speed is said to have surpassed that
of a horse. Commerce was conducted by means of a caste of bullock-drivers,
whose occupation in India is hardly yet extinct.

THE DECLINE OF THE MUGHAL AND THE MOHAMMEDAN POWERS
' (1707-1857 A.D.)

On the death of Aurangzeb, in 1707, the decline of the Mughal Empire set
in with extraordinary rapidity. Ten emperors after Aurangzeb are enumer-
ated in the chronicles, but none of them has left any mark on history. His
son and successor was Bahadur Shah, who reigned only five years. Then
followed in order three sons of Bahadur Shah, whose united reigns occupy only
five years more. In 1739 Nadir Shah of Persia, the sixth and last of the great
Mohammedan conquerors of India, swept like a whirlwind over Hindustan,
and sacked the imperial city of Delhi.

Thenceforth the great Mughal became a mere name, though the hereditary
succession continued unbroken down to our own day. Real power had passed
into the hands of Mohammedan courtiers and Mahratta generals, both of
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whom were then carving for themselves kingdoms out of the dismembered
empire, until at last British authority placed itself supreme over all. From
the time of Aurangzeb no Mussulman, however powerful, dared to assume
the title of sultan or emperor, with the single exception of Tipu’s brief parox-
ysm of madness.

The name of nawab, corrupted by Europeans into “nabob,” appears to be
an invention of the mughals to express delegated authority, and as such it is
the highest title conferred upon Mohammedans at the present day, as maha-
raja is the highest title conferred upon Hindus. At first nawabs were found
only in important cities, such as Surat and Dacca, with the special function of
administering civil justice; criminal justice was in the hands of the kotwal.
The corresponding officials at that time in a large tract of country were the
subahdar and the fawjdar. But the title of subahdar, or viceroy, gradually
dropped into desuetude, as the paramount power was shaken off, and nawab
became a territorial title with some distinguishing adjunct.

During the troubled period of intrigue and assassination that followed on
the death of Aurangzeb, two Mohammedan foreigners rose to high positions
as courtiers and generals, and succeeded in transmitting their power to their
sons. The one was Chin Kulich Khan, also called Asof Jah, and still more
commonly Nizam-ul-Mulk, who was of Turkoman origin, and belonging to the
Surini sect. His independence at Hyderabad in the Deccan dates from 1712.
The other was Saadat Ali Khan, a Persian, and therefore a Shia, who was
appointed subahdar or nawab of Oudh in 1720. Thenceforth these two
important provinces paid no more tribute to Delhi, though their hereditary
rulers continued to seek formal recognition from the emperor on their succes-
sion. The Mahrattas were in possession of the entire west and great part of
the centre of the peninsula; while the rich and unwarlike province of Bengal,
though governed by an hereditary line of nawabs founded by Murshid Kuli
Khan in 1704, still continued to pour its wealth into the imperial treasury.

The central authority never recovered from the invasion of Nadir Shah in
1739, who carried off plunder variously estimated at from eight to thirty
millions sterling. The Mahrattas closed round Delhi from the south, and the
Afghans from the west. The victory of Panipat, won by Ahmad Shah Durani
over the united Mahratta confederacy in 1761, gave the Mohammedan one
more chance to rule. But Ahmad Shah had no ambition to found a dynasty
of his own, nor were the British in Bengal yet ready for territorial conquest.
Shah Alam, the lineal heir of the mughal line, was thus permitted to ascend
the throne of Delhi, where he lived during the great part of a long life as a
puppet in the hands of Mahadaji Sindhia. He was succeeded by Akbar II,
who lived similarly under the shadow of British protection. Last of all came
Bahadur Shah, who atoned for his association with the mutineers in 1857 by
banishment to Burmah.

Thus ended the Mughal line, after a history which covers three hundred
and thirty years, Mohammedan rule remodelled the revenue system, and has
left behind forty millions of Mussulmans in British India.d




CHAPTER 1I

THE EUROPEAN EMPIRE IN INDIA: THE RISE OF CLIVE
[1498-1774 A.D.]
PORTUGUESE AND DUTCH SETTLEMENTS

Ar about the same period that the Mughals were founding their empire
along the Ganges the Portuguese discovered the passage of the Cape of Good
Hope. Vasco da Gama and his brave companions stepped on the Indian
shore at Calicut in the month of May, 1498. Seldom have truth and poetry
been so closely combined; the achievement of that voyage by Vasco da Gama,
is the greatest feat of the Portuguese in arms; the celebration of that voyage
by Luiz de Camoens is their greatest feat in letters. The valour of their
captains overcame the resistance of the native chiefs, and made good their
settlements from the coast of Malabar to the Gulf of Persia.b

The story of the valour, cruelty, and greed of their warriors, governors,
and merchants, and their full century of monopoly of the trade from 1500 to
1600, has been told with such fulness in the history of Portugal, Chapters II
and III, that it need not be recounted here further than to emphasise the
importance in Indian history of such names as Vas¢o da Gama, Cabral,
Almeida, Pacheco, the great Albuquerque, Silveira, Mascarenhas, and Da
Cunha.e

The Dutch were the first European nation to break through the Portu-
guese monopoly. During the sixteenth century Bruges, Antwerp, and
Amsterdam became successively the great emporia whence Indian produce,
imported by the Portuguese, was distributed to Germany and even to England.
At first the Dutch, following in the track of the English, attempted to find
their way to India by sailing round the north coasts of Europe and Asia.
William Barents is honourably known as the leader of three of these arctic
expeditions, in the last of which he perished. The first Dutchman to double
the Cape of Good Hope was Cornelius Houtman, who reached Sumatra and
Bantam in 1596. .

Forthwith private companies for trade with the East were formed in many
parts of the United Provinces, but in 1602 they were all amalgamated by the
states general into The Dutch East India Company. Within a few years the
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Dutch had established factories on the continent of India, in Ceylon, in
Sumatra, on the Persian Gulf, and on the Red Sea, besides having obtained
exclusive possession of the Moluccas. In 1618 they laid the foundation of
the city of Batavia in Java, to be the seat of the supreme government of the
Dutch possessions in the East Indies, which had previously been at Amboyna.
At about the same time they discovered the coast of Australia, and in North
America founded the city of New Amsterdam, or Manhattan, now New York.
During the seventeenth century the Dutch maritime power was the first in
the world.

The massacre of Amboyna in 1623 led the English East India Company
to retire from the eastern seas to the continent of India, and thus, though
indirectly, contributed to the foundation of the British Indian empire. The
long naval wars and bloody battles between the English and the Dutch within
the narrow seas were not terminated until William of Orange united the two
crowns in 1689.

In the Far East the Dutch ruled without a rival, and gradually expelled
the Portuguese from almost all their territorial possessions. In 1635 they
occupied Formosa; in 1640 they took Malacca —a blow from which the
Portuguese never recovered; in 1651 they founded a colony at the Cape of
Good Hope, as a half-way station to the East; in 1658 they captured Jaff-
napatam, the first stronghold of the Portuguese in Ceylon; in 1664 they
wrested from the Portuguese all their earlier settlements on the pepper-
bearing coast of Malabar.

The rapid and signal downfall of the Dutch colonial empire is to be
explained by its short-sighted commercial ({)olicy. 1t was deliberately based
upon a monopoly of the trade in spices, an remained from first to last desti-
tute of the true imperial spirit. Like the Pheenicians of old, the Dutch stopped
short of no acts of cruelty towards their rivals in commerce; and, like the
Pheenicians, they failed to introduce a respect for their own higher civilisation
among the natives with whom they came in contact. The knell of Dutch
supremacy was sounded by Clive, when in 1758 he attacked the Dutch at
Chinsura both by land and water, and forced them to an ignominious capitu-
Jation. In the great French war from 1781 to 1811 England wrested from
Holland every one of her colonies, though Java was restored in 1816 and
Sumatra in exchange for Malacca in 1824.

The earliest English attempts to reach India were made by the Northwest
Passage. In 1553 the ill-fated Sir Hugh Willoughby attempted to force a
passage along the north of Europe and Asia, the successful accomplishment of
which was reserved for a Swedish savant of the nineteénth century. Sir
Hugh perished miserably, but his second in command, Chancellor, reached
an harbour on the White Sea, now Archangel. Thence he penetrated by
land to the court of the grand duke of Moscow, and laid the foundation of
“the Russia company for carrying on the overland trade between India,
Persia, Bokhara, and Moscow.”

Many subsequent attempts were made by the Northwest Passage from
1576 to 1616, which have left on our modern maps the imperishable names
of Frobisher, Davis, Hudson, and Baffin. Meanwhile, in 1577, Sir Francis
Drake had circumnavigated the globe, and on his way home had touched at
Ternate, one of the Moluccas, the king of which island agreed to supply the
English nation with all the cloves it produced.

The first Englishman who actually visited India was Thomas Stephens, in
1579 — unless there be any foundation for the statement of William of
Malmesbury,d that in the year 833 Sighelmus of Sherborne, being sent by
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King Alfred to Rome with presents to the pope, proceeded from thence to the
East Indies to visit the tomb of St. Thomas at Mylapore (Mailapur, also called
Saint Thomé, a suburb of Madras), and brought back with him a quantity of
jewels and spices. Stephens was educated at New College, Oxford, and was
rector of the Jesuits’ College in Salsette. His letters to his father are said to
have roused great enthusiasm in England to trade directly with India.

In 1583 three English merchants, Ralph Fitch, James Newberry, and
Leedes, went out to India overland as mercantile adventurers. The jealous
Portuguese threw them into prison at Ormuz, and again at Goa. At length
Newberry settled down as a shopkeeper at Goa, Leedes entered the service of
the great Mughal, and Fitch, after a lengthened peregrination in Ceylon,
%en%al,dPegu, Siam, Malacca, and other parts of the East Indies, returned to

ngland.

The defeat of the Invincible Armada in 1588, at which time the crowns of
Spain and Portugal were united, gave a fresh stimulus to maritime enterprise
in England; and the successful voyage of Cornelius Houtman in 1596 showed
the way round the Cape of Good Hope into waters hitherto monopolised by
the Portuguese.

THE ENGLISH EAST INDIA COMPANY FOUNDED (1600 A.D.)

The foundation of the English East India Company was on this wise: “In
1599 the Dutch, who had now firmly established their trade in the east, having
raised the price of pepper against us from 3s. per pound to 6s. and 8s., the
merchants of London held a meeting on the 22nd of September at Founders’
Hall, with the lord mayor in the chair, and agreed to form an association for
the purpose of trading directly with India. Queen Elizabeth also sent Sir
John Mildenhall by Constantinople to the great Mughal to apply for privi-
leges for the English company, for which she was then preparing a charter,
and on the 31st of December, 1600, the English East India Company was
incorporated by royal charter under the title of The Governor and Company
of Merchants of London trading to the East Indies.”

The original company had only one hundred and twenty-five shareholders,
and a capital of £70,000, which was raised to £400,000 in 1612, when voyages
were first undertaken on the joint-stock account. Courten’s association,
known also as the Assada Merchants, from a factory founded by them in
Madagascar, was established in 1635, but after a period of internecine rivalry
united with the London Company in 1650. In 1655 the Company of Merchant
Adventurers obtained a charter from Cromwell to trade with India, but united
with the original company two years later. A more formidable rival subse-
quently appeared in the English company, or General Societ, trading to the
East Indies, which was incorporated under powerful patronage in 1698, with
a capital of £2,000,000 sterling.

According to Evelynj in his Diary for March 5th, 1698, “the old East
India Company lost their business against the new company by ten votes in
parliament, so many of their friends being absent, going to see a tiger baited
by dogs.” * However, a compromise was speedily effected through the arbi-
tration of Liord Godolphin in 1702, and the London and the English companies
were finally amalgamated in 1709, under the style of the United Company of
Merchants of England trading to the East Indies. At the same time the
company advanced a loan to the state of £3,190,000 at 3 per cent. interest,
in consideration of the exclusive privilege to trade to all places between the
Cape of Good Hope and the Straits of Magellan.
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The early voyages of the company, from 1600 to 1612, are distinguished as
the “separate voyages,” twelve in number. The subscribers individually
bore the expenses of each voyage, and reaped the whole profits. With the
exception of the fourth, all these separate voyages were highly prosperous,
the profits hardly ever falling below 100 per cent. After 1612 the voyages -
were conducted on the joint-stock account.? \

During the civil wars the company shared in the decline of every other
branch of trade and industry. But soon after the accession of Charles IT they
obtained a new charter, which not only confirmed their ancient privileges but
vested in them authority, through their agents in India, to make peace and
war with any prince or people not being Christians, and to seize within their
limits and send home as prisoners, any Englishmen found without a licence.
It may well be supposed that in the hands of any exclusive company this last
‘privilege was not likely to lie dormant. Thus, on one occasion, when one of
their governors had been urged to enforce the penalties against interlopers
with the utmost rigour, and had replied that unhappily the laws of England
would not let him proceed so far as might be wished — Sir Josiah Child, as
chairman of the court of directors, wrote back in anger as follows: “We
expect that our orders are to be your rules, and not the laws of England, which
are a heap of nonsense, compiled by a few ignorant country gentlemen, who
hardly know how to make laws for the good of their own families much less
for the regulating of companies and foreign commerce.”

ENGLISH COLLISIONS WITH THE PORTUGUESE AND THE DUTCH

After the grant of the first charter by Queen Elizabeth and the growth of
the company’s trade in India, their two main factories were fixed at Surat and
Bantam. Surat was then the principal sea-port of the Mughal Empire, where
the Mohammedan pilgrims were wont to assemble for their voyages towards
Mecca. Bantam, from its position in the island of Java, commanded the best
part of the spice trade. But at Surat the company’s servants were harassed
by the hostility of the Portuguese, as at Bantam by the hostility of the Dutch.

To such heights did these differences rise that in 1622 the English assisted
the Persians in the recovery of Ormuz from the Portuguese, and in 1623 the
Dutch committed the outrage termed the Massacre of Amboyna — putting
to death, after a trial and confession of guilt extorted by torture, Captain
Towerson and nine other Englishmen, on a charge of conspiracy. In the final
result many years afterwards the factories both at Bantam and Surat were
relinquished by the company. Other and newer settlements of theirs had,
meanwhile, grown into importance.

In 1640 the English obtained permission from a Hindu prince in the
Carnatic to purchase the ground adjoining the Portuguese settlement of St.
Thomé, on which they proceeded to raise Fort St. George and the town of
Madras. At the Company’s first beginning to build a fort” — thus writes
the Agency — “there were only the French padre’s and about six fishermen’s
houses!” But in a very few years Madras had become a thriving town.
About twenty years afterwards, on the marriage of Charles 11 to Catherine of
Braganza, the town and island of Bombay were ceded to the king of England
as a part of the infanta’s dowry. For some time the Portuguese governor
continued to evade the grant, alleging that the patent of his majesty was not
in accordance with the customs of Portugal; he was compelled to yield; but
the possession being found on trial to cost more than it produced, it was given
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up by King Charles to the East India Company, and became one of their
principal stations.

Considering the beauty and richness of Bengal, a proverb was current
among the Europeans that there are a hundred gates for entering and not one
for leaving it. The Dutch, the Portuguese, and the English had established
their factories at or near the town of Hooghly [Hugli] on one of the branches
— also called Hooghly — of the Ganges. But during the reign of James IT
the imprudence of some of the company’s servants, and the seizure of a Mughal
junk had highly incensed the native powers. The English found it necessary
to leave Hooghly, and drop twenty-five miles down the river to the village of
Sutanati. Some petty hostilities ensued, not only in Bengal but along the
coasts of India; several small factories of the company were taken and plun-
dered, nor did they speed well in their endeavours either for defence or reprisal.

It was about this period that theirsettlementat Surat was finally trans-
ferred to Bombay. So much irritated was Aurangzeb at the reports of these
hostilities that he issued orders for the total expulsion of the company’s ser-
vants from his dominions, but he was appeased by the humble apologies of the
English traders, and the earnest intercession of the Hindu, to whom this com-
merce was a source of profit. The English might even have resumed their
factory at Hooghly, but preferred their new station at Sutanati, and in 1698
obtained from the Mughal, on payment of an annual rent, a grant of the land
on which it stood. Then, without delay, they began to construct for its
defence a citadel, named Fort William, under whose shelter there grew by
degrees from a mean village the great town of Calcutta — the capital of modern
India. v

Thus before the accession of the house of Hanover these three main sta-
tions — Fort William, Fort St. George, and Bombay — had been erected into
presidencies or central posts of government, each independent of the rest.
Each was governed by a president and a council of nine or twelve members,
appointed by the court of directors in England. Each was surrounded with
fortifications, and guarded by a small force, partly European and partly native,
in the service of the company. The Europeans were either recruits enlisted.
in England or strollers and deserters from other services in India. Among
these the descendants of the old settlers, especially the Portuguese, were
called Topasses — from the tope or hat which they wore instead of turban.
The natives, as yet ill-armed and ill-trained, were known by the name of
sepoys — a corruption from the Indian word sipahi, a soldier. But the
territory of the English scarcely extended out of sight of their towns, nor had
their military preparations any other object than the unmolested enjoyment of
their trade. Far from aiming at conquest and aggrandisement, they had
often to tremble for their homes. So late as 1742 the Mahratta Ditch was
dug round a part of Calcutta, to protect the city from an inroad of the fierce
race of Sivaji.

THE FRENCH SETTLEMENTS: LA BOURDONNAIS AND DUPLEIX

Even before the commencement of the eighteenth century, it might be said
that all rivalry had ceased in India between the company’s servants and the
Dutch or Portuguese. The latter, besides their treaties of close alliance with
England, had utterly declined from their ancient greatness and renown. The
Dutch directed by far their principal attention to their possessions in Java
and the adjoining islands. But another still more formidable power had
already struck root on the Indian soil.
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The French under Louis XIV had established an East India Company *
in emulation of the English; like them, they had obtained a settlement on the
Hooghly river — at Chandernagor, above Calcutta; like them, they had built
a fort on the coast of the Carnatic, about eighty miles south of Madras, which
they called Pondicherry. In Malabar and Khandesh they had no settlement
to vie with Bombay; but on the other hand they had colonised two fertile
islands in the Indian Ocean — the one formerly a Dutch possession, and called
Mauritius, from Prince Maurice of Orange; the second, discovered by the
Portuguese, with the appellation of Mascarenhas. The first now received
the name of Isle de France, and the second of Isle de Bourbon, and both,
under the assiduous care of their new masters, rapidly grew in wealth and
population. On the whole, the settlements of the French on the Indian coasts
and seas were governed by two presidencies — the one at Isle de France, the
other at Pondicherry.

It so chanced that at the breaking out of the war between France and
England in 1744 both the French presidencies were ruled by men of superior
genius. Mahé de la Bourdonnais commanded at Isle de France; a man of
Breton blood, full of the generous ardour, of the resolute firmness, which have
ever marked that noble race. Since his tenth year he had served in the navy
on various voyages from the Baltic to the Indian seas, and he had acquired
consummate skill, not only in the direction and pilotage but in the building
and equipment of a fleet. ~ Nor was he less skilled in the cares of civil admin-
istration. It is to him that Mauritius owes the first dawn of its prosperity.
Ever zealous for his country’s welfare, he was yet incapable of pursuing it
by any other means than those of honour and good faith.

Dupleix was the son of a farmer general, and the heir of a considerable
fortune. From early youth he had been employed by the French East India
Company, and had gradually risen to the government of Pondicherry and of
all the subordinate factories on the continent of Hindustan. During his
whole career he had zealously studied the interests of the company without
neglecting his own, and the abilities which he had displayed were great and
various. The calculations of commerce were not more habitual or more easy
to him than the armaments of war or the wiles of diplomacy. ~With the idea
of Indian sovereignty ever active in his mind, he had plunged headlong into all
the tangled and obscure intrigues of the native powers. Above all he caballed
with the native nawab [or nabob) or deputed prince of Arcot, or, as sometimes
called, of the Carnatic (Arcot being the capital, and Carnatic the country),
and with his superior the subahdar or viceroy of the Deccan, more frequently
termed the nizam.

Beguiled by a childish vanity, he was eager to assume for himself, as
they did, the pompous titles of nawab and bahadur, which, as he pretended,
had been conferred upon him by the court of Delhi. His breach of faith
on several oceasions with his enemies is even less to be condemned than his
perfidy to some of his own countrymen and colleagues. But fortunate was it
perhaps for the supremacy of England in the East, that two such great com-
manders as Dupleix and La Bourdonnais should by the fault of the first
have become estranged from any effective combination, and have turned
their separate energies against each other.

[* The first French East India Company was founded in 1604 ; a second in 1611 ; a third in
1615 ; Richelieu’s in 1642 Colbert’s in 1644, and a sixth in 1719, called the ¢ Compagnie des
Indes,” and formed by the union of the East and West Indian companies with those of Senegal
and China. The monopoly was suspended by the king in 1769, and the company abolished by
the National Assembly in 1796.]
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FRENCH VICTORIES OVER THE ENGLISH (1746 A.D.)

On the declaration of war in 1744 an English squadron under Commodore
Barnet had been sent to the Indianseas. La Bourdonnais, exerting his scanty
means with indefatigable perseverance, succeeded in fitting out nine ships,
but nearly all leaky and unsound, and he embarked upwards of three thousand
men, but of these there were four hundred invalids and seven hundred Kaffirs
or Lascars. On the 6th of July, 1746, the two fleets engaged near Fort St.
David, but the battle began and ended in a distant cannonade. Next morning
the English stood out to sea, while the French directed their course to Pondi-
cherry. The object of La Bourdonnais was the capture of Madras, and he
made a requisition on Dupleix for some stores and sixty pieces of artillery.
But the jealous mind of Dupleix could ill brook contributing to his rival’s
success. He refused the stores, allowed only thirty cannon of inferior calibre,
and sent on board water so bad as to produce a dysentery in the fleet.

Not disheartened, however, by these unexpected difficulties, La Bourdon-
nais appeared off Madras in September, 1746, and proceeded to disembark
his motley force. The city, though at this period rich and populous, was ill-
defended; one division, called the Black Town, only covered by a common
wall; the other, the White Town, or Fort St. George, begirt with a rampart
and bastions, but these very slight and faulty in construction. There were
but three hundred Englishmen in the colony, and of them only two hundred
were soldiers. Under such circumstances no effective resistance could be
expected; nevertheless the garrison sustained a bombardment during three
days, and obtained at last an honourable capitulation. It was agreed that
the English should be prisoners of war upon parole, and that the town should
remain in possession of the French until it should be ransomed, La Bourdon-
nais giving his promise that the ransom required should be fair and moderate.
The sum was fixed some time afterwards between the French commander and
the English council at 440,000I. On these terms the invaders marched in ;
the keys were delivered by the governor at the gate, and the French colours
were displayed from Fort St. George. Not a single Frenchman had been
killl)ed %uring the siege, and only four or five English from the explosion of
a bomb.

Dupleix could not restrain his resentment when he heard the terms of
the capitulation. To his views of sovereignty in India it was essential that
the English should be expelled the country, and Madras be either retained or
rased to the ground. Accordingly when La Bourdonnais again disembarked
at Pondicherry with the spoils of the conquered town, a long and fierce alter-
cation arose between the rival chiefs.

These differences with Dupleix prevented La Bourdonnais from pursuing
as he had designed, his expedition against the other British settlements in
India. All his proposals for a union of counsels and resources were scornfully
rejected by Dupleix, who had now no other object than to rid himself of an
aspiring colleague. For this object he stooped at length to deliberate false-
hood. He gave a solemn promise to fulfil the capitulation of Madras, on the
faith of which La Bourdonnais consented to re-embark, leaving a part of his
fleet with Dupleix, and steering with the rest to Achin in quest of some Eng-
lish ships. Not succeeding in the search he returned to the Mauritius, and
from thence to France, to answer for his conduct. On his voyage home he
was taken by the English, and conveyed to London, but was there received
with respect and dismissed on parole.

At Paris, on the contrary, he found himself preceded by the perfidious
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insinuations of his rival. He was thrown into the Bastille, his fortune plun-
dered, his papers seized, and his will torn open. He was secluded from his wife
and children, and even debarred the use of pen and ink for his defence. When
after many months’ suspense he was examined before a royal commission he
heard his services denied, his integrity questioned, and the decline of com-
merce resulting from the war urged as his Teproach. ““ Will you explain,”
asked of him one of the East Indian Directors, “how it happened that under
your management your own private affairs have thriven so well and those of
the Company so ill?”

“Because,” answered La Bourdonnais without hesitation, “I managed my
own affairs according to my own judgment, and I managed the Company’s
according to your instructions!” After many harassing inquiries, and three
years’ detention, his innocence was publicly acknowledged; but his long
imprisonment had broken his health, or rather, perhaps, his heart; he lingered
for some time in a painful illness, and in 1754 expired. The government,
wise and just too late, granted a pension to his widow.

THE AMBITIONS AND SUCCESSES OF DUPLEIX

Only seven days after La Bourdonnais had sailed from Pondicherry,
Dupleix, in utter defiance of his recent promise, obtained a warrant from his
council annulling the capitulation of Madras. Thus, so far from restorin,
the city within a few weeks, on payment of the stipulated sum, the principa.
inhabitants were brought under a guard to Pondicherry, and paraded in
triumph through the streets. Such conduct had, at least, the advantage
of absolving them from the obligation of their previous parole, and several
of them, assuming Hindu attire or other disguises, made their way from
Pondicherry to Fort St. David, the two settlements being less than twenty
miles asunder. Among those who thus escaped was young Robert Clive, then
a merchant’s clerk, afterwards a conqueror and statesman.

It was not long ere some troops were sent out by Dupleix (Dupleix him-
self was no warrior) for the reduction of Fort St. David; but the nawab of
Arcot, to whom the cession of Madras had been promised, being now disap-
pointed in his hopes and filled with resentment, joined his forces to the Eng-
lish, and the invaders were repulsed with loss. Not discouraged, Dupleix
opened a new negotiation with the nawab, who, on some fresh lures held
out to him, consented to desert the English, and again embrace the French
interest. Thus, in March, 1747, Dupleix could under better auspices resume
his expedition against Fort St. David, and his soldiers were advancing, as they
thought, to a certain conquest, when a number of ships were descried in the
offing as about to anchor in the roads. These were no sooner recognised as
English than the French relinquished their design, and hastened back to
Pondicherry.

The English fleet, thus opportune in its appearance, was commanded by
Admiral Griffin, who had been sent from England with two men-of-war to
strengthen the Bengal squadron. In the next ensuing months further rein-
forcements, both naval and military, were brought at different times by
Admiral Boscawen and Major Lawrence; the former taking the chief command
at sea, and the second on shore. So large was this accession of force asto
turn at once, and heavily, the scale against the French. It became possible
nay, even, as it seemed, not difficult, to retaliate the loss of Madras by the
capture of Pondicherry. With this view the English took the field in August,
1748, having in readiness two thousand seven hundred European troops, one
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thousand sailors who had been taught the manual exercise during the voyage,
and two thousand sepoys in the service of the company.

At the news of this armament, the greatest perhaps from modern Europe
which India had yet seen, the nawab of Arcot hastened to change sides once
more, and declare himself an English ally; he even promised the succour of
two thousand horse, but only sent three hundred. Dupleix, on his part,
could muster eighteen hundred Europeans and three thousand sepoys, but
his dispositions were by far the more skilful and able. He knew how to
inspire his men with military ardour, while the English were dispirited by
the want of practice in their commanders, wasted by sickness, and harassed by
rains which had begun three weeks before the usual season. At length they
found it necessary to raise the siege, after thirty-one days of open trenches,
and the loss of one thousand men. The French governor, in his usual boastful
strain, immediately proclaimed his triumph by letters to all the chief subah-
dars of India, and even to the great Mughal.

Such was the state of affairs in India when the tidings came that a peace
had been signed at Aix-la-Chapelle [Aachen], and that a restitution of conquests
had been stipulated. It became necesssary for Dupleix to yield Madras to
the English, which he did with extreme reluctance and after long delay. On
this occasion of recovering Madras, the English also took possession of St.
Thomé, which the natives had conquered from the Portuguese.

The rival settlements of Pondicherry and Madras, though now debarred
from any further direct hostility, were not long in assailing each other indi-
rectly, as auxiliaries in the contests of the native princes. A new scene was
rapidly opening to the ambition of Dupleix. The nizam, or viceroy of the
Deccan under the Mughal, had lately died, and been succeeded by his son,
Nasir Jang, but one of his grandsons, Muzaffar Jang, had claimed the
vacant throne. At the same time in the dependent province of the Carnatic,
Chanda Sahib, son-in-law of a former nawab, appeared as a competitor to
the reigning prince, Anwaru-din.

Dupleix eagerly seized the opportunity to enhance his own importance,
by establishing through his aid a viceroy of the Deccan and a nawab of the
Carnatic. He promised his support to the two pretenders, who had com-
bined their interests and their armies, and who were now reinforced with two
thousand sepoys and several hundred Europeans. Nor did they want skilful
officers from Pondicherry; one, above all, the marquis de Bussy, showed him-
self no less able in the field than Dupleix was in council. In August, 1749,
a battle ensued beneath the fort of Ambur, when the discipline of the French
auxiliaries turned the tide of victory, and when the veteran and subtle nawab,
Anwaru-din, was slain.  His capital, Arcot, and the greater part of his
dominions fell into the hands of the conquerors.

His son, Muhammed Ali, with the wreck of his army, fled to Trichinopoli,
and endeavoured to maintain himself, assuming the title of nawab of Arcot, and
acknowledged as such by the English; but their zeal in his behalf was faint
and languid, and, moreover, they were at this juncture entangled with some
insignificant operations in Tanjore. Dupleix, on the contrary, was all activity
and ardour. Even on learning that his confederate, Muzaffar Jang, had
suffered a reverse of fortune and was a prisoner in the camp of Nasir Jang
he did not slacken either in warfare or negotiation. When, at length, in
December, 1750, the army which he had set in motion came in sight of Nasir
Jang’s, the Indian prince viewed its scanty numbers with scorn. But a con-
spiracy had been formed by the French among his own followers; one of them
aimed a carabine as Nasir Jang rode up on his elephant, and the Indian
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prince fell dead on the plain. His head was then severed from his body, and
carried on a pole before the tent of Muzaffar Jang, who, freed from his fetters,
was by the whole united army hailed as the nizam.

The exultation of Dupleix knew no bounds. On the spot where Nasir
Jang had fallen he began to build a town with the pompous title of Dupleix
Fathabad — the City of the Victory of Dupleix — and in the midst of that
town he laid the foundation of a stately pillar, whose four sides were to bear
inseriptions proclaiming in four different languages the triumph of his arms.
With the same vainglorious spirit he resolved to celebrate, at the seat of
his own government, the installation of the new nizam. On the day of that
ceremony he might have passed for an Asiatic potentate as he entered the
town in the same palanquin with his ally, and in the garb of a Mohammedan
amir, with which the prince himself had clothed him. He accepted, or
assumed, the government, under the Mughal, of all the country along the
eastern coast between the river Kistna and Cape Comorin; a country little
less in extent than France itself.

No petition was granted by the nizam unless signed by the hand of Dupleix;
no money was henceforth to be current in the Carnatic except from the mint
of Pondicherry. “Send me reinforcements,” wrote Bussy to his chief, “and
in one year more the emperor shall tremble at the name of Dupleix!” But
the French governor soon discovered that his own vanity had been a fatal
bar in the way of his ambition. His rivals at Fort St. George and Fort St.
David took an alarm at his lofty titles which they might not have felt so soon
as his extended power.

It appeared on this occasion, to the heads of the English factory, that,
although the contest for the Deccan had been decided by the fall of Nasir
Jang, they might still advantageously take part in the contest for the Car-
natic. Accordingly they sent several hundred men under Captain Gingens
to reinforce their confederate, Muhammed Ali; but these troops were put to
flight at Volkondah, and compelled to take shelter with Muhammed Ali in
his last stronghold of Trichinopoli. There he was soon besieged and closely
pressed by the army of Chanda Sahib, and the auxiliaries of Dupleix. If the
place should fall it was clear that the French would gain the mastery over
all the provinces adjoining Fort St. George and Fort St. David, and would
at the first opportunity renew their attack upon those settlements. On the
other hand, the English were at this time ill prepared for any further active
hostilities; their only officer of experience, Major Lawrence, had gone home,
and the garrisons remaining for their own defence were extremely small.
There seemed almost equal danger in remaining passive or in boldly advane-
ing. These doubts were solved, these perils overcome, by the energy of one
man — Robert Clive.

THE RISE OF ROBERT CLIVE

The father of Clive was a gentleman of old family but small estate, residing
near Market Drayton in Shropshire. There Robert, his eldest son, was born
in 1725. From early childhood the boy showed a most daring and turbulent
spirit. At various schools to which he was sent he appears to have been idle
and intractable. Even in after life he was never remarkable for scholarship;
and his friendly biographer, Malcolm,e admits that wide as was his influence
over the native tribes of India, he was little, if at all, acquainted with
their languages. His father was soon offended at his waywardness and
neglect of his studies, and instead of a profession at home, obtained for him
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a writership in the East India Company’s service, and in the presidency of
Madras.

There is no doubt that the climate at Madras was unfavourable to his
health, and his duty at the desk ill-suited to his temper. But worse than all
other discomfort was his own constitutional and morbid melancholy — a
melancholy which may yet be traced in the expression of his portraits, and
which, afterwards heightened as it were by bodily disease and mental irritation,
closed the career of this great chief by the act of his own hand before he had
attained the age of fifty years. As a writer at Madras he twice one day
snapped a pistol at his own head. TFinding it miss fire, he calmly waited until
his room was entered by an acquaintance, whom he requested to fire the pistol
out of the window. The gentleman did so, and the pistol went off. At this
proof that it had been rightly loaded Clive sprang up with the exclamation,
“Surely then I am reserved for something!” and relinquished his design.

We have already found oceasion to relate how Clive was led a prisoner from
Fort St. George to Pondicherry, and how he effected his escape from Pondi-
cherry to Fort St. David.

From this time forward, however, the undaunted spirit of Clive found a
nobler scope against the public enemy. During the petty hostilities which
ensued — when the merchants’ clerks were almost compelled in self-defence
to turn soldiers — the name of Ensign or Lieutenant Clive is often, and always
honourably, mentioned, and during the intervals of these hostilities he returned
to his ledgers and accounts; but on the emergency produced by the successes
of Dupleix, the siege of Trichinopoli, and the departure of Major Lawrence, he
accepted a captain’s commission, and bade adieu to trade. With no military
education, with so little military experience, this young man of twenty-five
shone forth not only, as might have been foreseen, a most courageous, but a
most skilful and accomplished commander.

At this crisis he discerned that although it was not possible to afford relief
to Trichinopoli a diversion might still be effected by a well-timed surprise of
Arcot, thus compelling Chanda Sahib to send a large detachment from his
army. The heads of the presidency on whom he strenuously urged his views
not only approved the design, but accepted the offer of his own services for
its execution. Accordingly, in August, 1751, Captain Clive marched from
Madras at the head of only three hundred sepoys and two hundred Europeans.
Seanty as seems this foree, it could only be formed by reducing the garrison
at Fort St. David to one hundred and the garrison of Madras to fifty men;
and of the eight officers under Clive, six had never before been in action, and
four were merchants’ clerks who, incited by his example, took up the sword
to follow him. A few days’ march brought the little band within ten miles
of Arcot, and within sight of the outposts of the garrison. There a violent
storm of thunder, lightning, and rain arose, through which, however, Clive
undauntedly pushed forward. Slight as seems this incident it became
attended with important results, for the garrison, apprised by their out-
posts of the behaviour of the English, were seized with a superstitious panic,
as though their opponents were in league with the heavens, and they fled
precipitately not only from the city but from the citadel. Thus Clive, with-
out having struck a blow, marched through the streets amidst a concourse of
a hundred thousand spectators, and took quiet possession of the citadel or
fort. In that stronghold the Arcot merchants had, for security, deposited
effects to the value of 50,000l., which Clive punctually restored to the owners;
and this politic act of honesty conciliated many of the principal inhabitants to
the English interest.
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Clive, learning that the fugitive garrison had been reinforeed and had taken
post in the neighbourhood, made several sallies against them; in the last he
surprised them at night, and scattered or put them to the sword. But his
principal business was to prepare against the siege which he expected, by
collecting provisions and strengthening the works of the fort. As he had
foretold, his appearance at Arcot effected a diversion at Trichinopoli. Chanda,
Sahib immediately detached four thousand men from his army, who were
joined by two thousand natives from Vellore, by one hundred and fifty Euro-
peans’from Pondicherry, and by the remains of the fugitive garrison. Alto-
gether, the force thus directed against Arcot exceeded ten thousand men, and
was commanded by Raja Sahib, a son of Chanda Sahib.

The fort in which the English were now besieged was, notwithstanding
some hasty repairs, in great measure ruinous; with the parapet low and
slightly built, with several of the towers decayed, with the ditch in some parts
fordable, in others dry, and in some choked up with fallen rubbish. But,
Clive undauntedly maintained, day after day, such feeble bulwarks against.
such overwhelming numbers. Nor did he neglect, amidst other more sub-
stantial means of defence, to play upon the fears and fancies of his super-
stitious enemy.

After several weeks’ siege, however, the besiegers, scanty and ill-served
as was their artillery, had succeeded in making more than one practicable
breach in the walls.” Some succour to the garrison was attempted from
Madras, but in vain. Another resource, however, remained to Clive. He
found means to despatch a messenger through the enemy’s lines to Murari
Rao, a Mahratta chieftain, who had received a subsidy to assist Muhammed
Ali, and who lay encamped with six thousand men on the hills of Mysore. He
sent down a detachment of his troops from the hills.

Raja Sahib, when he learned that the Mahrattas were approaching, per-
ceived that he had no time to lose. He sent a flag of truce to the garrison
promising a large sum of money if Clive would surrender, and denouncing
nstant death if Clive awaited a storm; but he found his offers and his threats
received with equal disdain. Exasperated at the scornful answer, he made
every preparation for a desperate attack on the morrow. It was the 14th of
November, the fiftieth day of the siege, and the anniversary of the festival
in commemoration of that martyr of early Islam, Hosein, when, according to
the creed of the Mohammedans of India any one who falls in battle against
unbelievers is wafted at once into the highest region of paradise. But every
assault was repulsed with heavy loss. In the first part of the night their fire
was renewed, but at two in the morning it ceased, and at the return of daylight
it appeared that they had raised the siege, and were already out of sight,
leaving four hundred men dead upon the ground, with all their ammunition
and artillery.

Elated at this result of his exertions, Clive was not slow in sallying forth
and combining his little garrison with the detachment from Murari Rao, and
with some reinforcements from Europe which had lately landed at Madras.
Thus strengthened, he sought out Raja Sahib, and gave him battle near the
town of Arni. On this occasion he beheld for the first time in action —
happily for him, ranged on his own side — the activity and bravery of the
Mahrattas. On the other hand, Raja Sahib, though the greater part of his
own troops were dispersed, had been reinforced from Pondicherry with three
hundred Europeans and nearly three thousand sepoys. The issue of the
battle, however, was a complete victory for Clive; the enemy’s military chest,
containing a hundred thousand rupees, fell into the hands of his Mahrattas s
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and not less than six hundred of the French sepoys, dispirited by their failure
came over with their arms and consented to serve in the English ranks.

Clive next proceeded against the great pagoda or Hindu temple of Con-
jeveram, into which the French had thrown a garrison, and, entering the
place, after three days’ cannonade, found the French garrison escaped by night
and the English officers unhurt.

Notwithstanding these events, Raja Sahib was not disheartened. In
January, 1752, finding that Clive had marched to Fort St. David, he suddenly
collected a body of his own troops and of his French auxiliaries and pushed
forwards to Madras. Clive was recalled in haste from the south, and again
encountered Raja Sahib with complete success.
From the scene of action he marched back in tri-
umph to Fort St. David, passing on his way near
the newly raised City of the Victory of Dupleix,
and the foundation of the pompous pillar. Clive
directed that these monuments of premature exul-
tation should be rased to the ground.

At Trichinopoli the effect of Clive’s earliest suc-
cesses had been to turn the siege into a languid
blockade. At this period, however, Major Lawrence
returned from Europe.

The expedition to Trichinopoli, led by Lawrence
and Clive, was crowned with triumphant success.
In the result the French besiegers of Muhammed
Ali were themselves besieged in the island of Sriran-
gam in the river Kaveri, and were compelled to lay
down their arms. Chanda Sahib himself surren-
dered to a native chief named Manakji, who took
an oath for his safety on his own sabre and poniard
—the most sacred of all oaths to an Indian
soldier — but who, nevertheless, shortly afterwards
put his prisoner to death.!

THE LAST DAYS OF DUPLEIX

It might have been expected that such suc-
AN IMAGE oF BUDDHA cesses — and above all the murder of one of the
competitors — would finally decide the conquest for
the government of the Carnatic. But immediately after his victory Muham-
med Ali had become involved in dissensions with his allies, the Mahrattas and
Mysoreans, to whom he had promised, without ever really intending, the
cession of Trichinopoli. These bickerings gave fresh life and spirit to Dupleix.
Although he found his recent policy disapproved by his employers in Europe,
although he received from them only reproofs instead of supplies, although
the recruits sent out to him were according to his own description,'no other
than “boys, shoe-blacks, and robbers,” he yet clung to his own schemes with
unconquerable perseverance. He laboured to train and discipline his recruits;
and, in the want of other funds, he advanced for the public service not less
than 140,000l. of his own money. Dupleix now resumed hostilities — again
attempted Arcot, and again besieged Trichinopoli. Notwithstanding all his
exertions, the warfare proved weak and languid, and was far from enabling
the French to recover their lost ground.

[* Colonel Mallesons is of opinion that Major Lawrence connived at this act.]
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Clive had for some time continued to distinguish himself in the desultory
operations which followed the surrender of Srirangam. He had reduced in
succession the two important forts of Kovlaon and Chingleput. But his
health was beginning to fail beneath the burning sun of India; his return to
England had become essential to his recovery, and he embarked at Madras
early in the year 1753, immediately after his marriage to Miss Margaret
Maskelyne. He found himself received at home with well-earned approba-
tion and rewards. The court of directors at one of their public dinners
drank the health of the young captain by the name of “ General Clive,”
and, not satisfied with this convivial compliment, voted him the gift of a
sword set with diamonds.

Far different were the feelings which the directors of the French East India
Company entertained towards Dupleix. They looked with slight interest
on the struggles for the Carnatic, and thought the failure of their dividends
an unanswerable argument against the policy of their governor. A negotia-
tion for the adjustment of all differences was carried on for some time in Lon-
don between them and their English rivals.” At length they determined to
send over M. Godeheu as their commissioner to India, with full powers to
conclude a peace and to supersede Dupleix. Godeheu landed at Pondicherry
in August, 1754, and hastened to sign with the chiefs of the English presidency
a provisional treaty, to be confirmed or annulled in Europe, according to
which the French party yielded nearly all the points at issue and virtually
acknowledged Muhammed Ali as nawab of the Carnatic.

Dupleix, who looked on this pacification with unavailing grief and anger,
had even before its final conclusion embarked for France. There he found
neither reward for the services he had rendered nor even repayment for the
sums he had advanced. Where was now that proud and wily satrap so lately
bedecked with pompous titles and glittering with the gold of Trichinopoli or
the diamonds of Goleconda? Had any curious travellers at the time sought an
answer to that question they might have found the fallen statesman reduced,
as is told us by himself, to the most deplorable indigence — compiling in some
garret another fruitless memorial, or waiting for many a weary hour in some
under-secretary’s antechamber. For several years he pursued most unavail-
ingly his claims and his complaints, until in 1763 he expired, sick at heart and
broken in fortunes, like his rival and his victim, La Bourdonnais.b

COLONEL MALLESON’S ESTIMATE OF DUPLEIX

“Tt is impossible to deny to Dupleix the possession of some of the greatest
qualities with which man has ever been endowed. He was a great adminis-
trator, a diplomatist of the highest order, a splendid organiser, a man who
possessed supremely the power of influencing others. He had an intellect
quick and subtle, yet large and capable of grasping; an energy that nothing
could abate; a persistence, a determination, that were proof against every
shock of fortune. He possessed a noble, generous, and sympathising nature;
he was utterly incapable of envy or jealousy; and was endowed besides with
that equanimity of temper that enabled him to bear the greatest reverses, the
most cruel injustice towards himself, with resignation and composure. He
was not indeed a general. He did not possess a taste for leading armies into
the field. Yet he showed on many occasions — notably on the occasion of the
siege of Pondicherry by Boscawen — that he could not only stand fire, but
could defeat by his unassisted and natural skill all the efforts of the enemy.”9
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CLIVE'S. RETURN AS GOVERNOR (1756 A.D.)

Within two years the health of Clive grew strong in his native air, and his
spirit began to pine for active service. On the other hand, experience of his
merits, and apprehension of a war with France, rendered both the king’s
ministers and the East India Company eager to employ him. From the former
he received the rank of lieutenant colonel in the army, from the latter the office
of governor of Fort St. David. Landing at Bombay with some troops in
November, 1755, he found there Admiral Watson and a British squadron,
There was little at that time on the coast of Coromandel to demand the exer-
tions of these two commanders, and they thought the opportunity tempting
to reduce in conjunction a formidable nest of pirates, about two degrees south
of Bombay. Their spoils, valued at £120,000, were shared as prize-money
between the naval and military captors. .

Having performed this service in February, 1756, Clive pursued his voyage
to Fort St. David, and took the charge of his government on the 20th of June
— the very day when the nawab of Bengal was storming Fort William. In
fact a crisis had now occurred on the shores of the Hooghly, threatening the
utmost danger, and calling for the utmost exertion.

SIRAJ-UD-DAULA

The viceroys of Bengal, like the viceroys of the Deccan, retained only a
nominal dependence on the Mughal Empire.” From their capital, Murshidabad
(Moorshedabad) — “a city,” says Clive, “as extensive, populous, and rich as
the city of London” — they sent forth absolute and uncontrolled decrees
over the wide provinces of Bengal, Orissa, and Behar, ill-disguised by the
mockery of homage to that empty phantom “the Kings of Kings” at Delhi.
The old nawab, Ali Vardi Khan, had died in April, 1756, and been succeeded by
his grandson, Siraj-ud-Daula (Surajah Dowlah), a youth only nineteen years
of age. Siraj-ud-Daula combined in no small degree a ferocious temper with
a feeble understanding. The torture of birds and beasts had been the pastime
of his childhood, and the sufferings of his fellow-creatures became the sport of
his riper years. His favourite companions were buffoons and flatterers, with
whom he indulged in every kind of debauchery, amongst others, the immod-
erate use of ardent spirits. Towards the Europeans, and the English especially,
he looked with ignorant aversion, and still more ignorant contempt. He was
%ften heard to say that he did not believe there were ten thousand men in all

urope.

Differences were not slow to arise between such a prince as Siraj-ud-Daula
and his neighbours, the British in Bengal. He seized the British factory at
Kasimbazar, the port of Murshidabad upon the river, and he retained the
chiefs of that settlement as his prisoners. Siraj-ud-Daula had heard much
of the wealth at Calcutta; that wealth he was determined to secure; and
he soon appeared before the gates at the head of a numerous army.

THE BLACK HOLE OF CALCUTTA (1756 A.D.)

The defences of Calcutta, notwithstanding the wrath which they had
stirred in the nawab, were at this time slight and inconsiderable. For & garri-
son there were less than two hundred Europeans, and scarcely more than one
thousand natives, hastily trained as militia, and armed with matchlocks.

No example of spirit was set them by their chiefs. On the contrary, the gov-



THE EUROPEAN EMPIRE: THE RISE OF CLIVE 55
(1756 A.D.]
ernor, Mr. Drake, and the commanding officer, Captain Minchin, being struck
with a disgraceful panic, embarked in a boat and escaped down the Hooghly.

Under these circumstances a civilian, Mr. Holwell, though not the senior
servant of the company, was by the general voice called to the direction of
affairs. At this time the nawab’s artillery was already thundering at the
walls, yet under every disadvantage Mr. Holwell protracted for two days
longer the defence of the fort. When at length, on the evening of the 20th
of June, all resistance had ceased, the nawab seated himself in the great hall
of the factory, and received the congratulations of his courtiers on his prowess.
Soon after he sent for Mr. Holwell, to whom he expressed much resentment
at the presumption of the English in daring to defend their fort, and much
dissatisfaction at his having found so small a sum — only 50,000 rupees — in
their treasury. On the whole, however, he seemed more gracious than his
character gave reason to expect, and he promised, “on the word of a soldier,”
as he said, that the lives of his prisoners should be spared.

Thus dismissed by the tyrant, and led back to the other captives, Mr. Hol-
well cheered them with the promise of their safety. We are told how, relieved
from their terrors and unconscious of their doom, they laughed and jested
amongst themselves. But their joy and their jesting were of short duration.
They had been left at the disposal of the officers of the guard, who determined
to secure them for the night in the common dungeon of the fort — a dungeon
known to the English by the name of the Black Hole — its size only eighteen
feet by fourteen; its airholes only two small windows, and these overhung by
a low veranda. Into this cell — hitherto designed and employed for the con-
finement of some half dozen malefactors at a time — it was now resolved to
thrust a hundred and forty-five European men and one Englishwoman, some
of them suffering from recent wounds, and this in the night of the Indian sum-
mer-solstice, when the fiercest heat was raging! Into this cell accordingly
the unhappy prisoners, in spite of their expostulations, were driven at the
point of the sabre, the last, from the throng and narrow space, being pressed
in with considerable difficulty, and the doors being then by main force closed
and locked behind them.b

Nothing in history or fiction [says Macaulay], not-even the story which
Ugolino told in the sea of everlasting ice, after he had wiped his bloody lips
on the scalp of his murderer, approaches the horrors which were recounted by
the few survivors of that night. They cried for mercy. They strove to burst
the door. Holwell, who even in that extremity retained some presence of
mind, offered large bribes to the gaolers. But the answer was that nothing
could be done without the nawab’s orders, that the nawab was asleep, and that
he would be angry if anybody woke him.

Then the prisoners went mad with despair. They trampled each other
down; fought for the places at the windows; fought for the pittance of water
with which the cruel mercy of the murderers mocked their agonies; raved,
prayed, blasphemed; implored the guards to fire among them. The gaolers
in the meantime held lights to the bars, and shouted with laughter at the
frantic struggles of their victims. At length the tumult died away in low
gaspings and moanings. The day broke. The nawab had slept off his
debauch, and permitted the door to be opened. But it was some time before
the soldiers could make a lane for the survivors by piling up on each side the
heaps of corpses on which the burning climate had already begun to do its
loathsome work.

When at length a passage was made, twenty-three ghastly figures, such as
their own mothers would not have known, staggered one by one out of the
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charnel-house. A pit was instantly dug. The dead bodies, a hundred and
twenty-three in number, were flung into it promiscuously and covered up.

But these things which after the lapse of years cannot be told or read with-~
out horror, awakened neither remorse nor pity in the bosom of the savage
nawab. He inflicted no punishment on the murderers. He showed no tender-
ness to the survivors. Some of them, indeed, from whom nothing was to be
gained, were suffered to depart; but those from whom it was thought that any
thing could be extorted were treated with execrable cruelty. Holwell, unable
to walk, was carried before the tyrant, who reproached him, threatened him,
and sent him up the country in irons, together with some other gentlemen who
were suspected of knowing more than they chose to tell about the treasures of
the company. These persons, still bowed down by the sufferings of that great
agony, were lodged in miserable sheds, and fed only with grain and water,
till at length the intercessions of the female relations of the nawab procured
their release. One Englishwoman had survived that night. She was placed
in the harem of the prince at Murshidabad.?

ENGLISH ALLIANCE WITH THE NAWAB

At Caleutta meanwhile Siraj-ud-Daula was lending a ready ear to the
praises of his courtiers, who assured him that his reduction of the British
settlement was the most heroic and glorious achievement performed in India
since the days of Timur. In memory of the Divine blessing (for so he deemed
it) he ordered that on his arms Calcutta should thenceforward bear the name
of Alinagar — “the Port of God.” Another edict declared that no English-
man should ever again presume to set foot within the territory. Then, leaving
a garrison of three thousand men in Calcutta, and levying large sums, by way
of contribution, from the Dutch at Chinsura and the French at Chandarnagar,
Siraj-ud-Daula returned in triumph to his capital.

It was not till the 16th of August that tidings of the events of Calcutta
reached Madras. Measures were then in progress for sending a detachment
into the Deccan to counteract the influence of Bussy. But all other consid-
erations were overborne by the cry for vengeance against Siraj-ud-Daula, and
the necessity of an expedition to Bengal. It happened fortunately that
Admiral Watson and his squadron had returned from the western coast and
were now at ancher in the roads. It happened also, from the projected march
to the Deccan, that the land-forces were at this period combined, and ready
for action. The presidency summoned Clive from Fort St. David, and
appointed him chief of the intended expedition.

THE BRITISH IN INDIA

On the whole the force entrusted to Clive amounted to nine hundred
Europeans, and fifteen hundred sepoys. The powers granted him were to be
in all military matters independent of the members of the council of Calcutta;
but his instructions were positive and peremptory, to return at all events and
under any circumstances by the month of April next, about which time a
French expedition was expected on the coast of Coromandel.

The armament of Clive and Watson having been delayed two months by
* quarrels at Madras, and two more by contrary winds at sea, did not enter the
Hooghly until the middle of December, and then they pushed forward against
Calcutta. The scanty garrison left by Siraj-ud-Daula ventured to sally forth,
but was easily routed with the loss of one hundred and fifty men. Calcutta,
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after one or two random discharges from the wall, was quietly abandoned to
the English, who thus on the 2nd of January, 1757, again became masters of
the place. Nay, more, after this first success, Clive and Watson advanced
against the town of Hooghly, which they stormed and sacked with little loss.
This was the first opportunity of distinction to Captain Coote, afterwards Sir
Eyre Coote.

At these tidings, Siraj-ud-Daula, much irritated, but also in some degree
alarmed, marched back from Murshidabad at the head of forty thousand men.
By this time intelligence had reached India of the declaration of war between
France and England, and the nawab proposed to the French at Chandarnagar
that they should join him with their whole force, amounting to several hundred
Europeans. But the memory of their reverses on the coast of Coromandel
was still present in their minds, and they not only rejected the nawab’s over-
ture, but made an overture of their own to the English for a treaty of neutrality.
As, however, the French at Chandarnagar did not, like the English at Calcutta,
form a separate presidency, but were dependent on the government of Pondi-
cherry, they had not in truth the powers to conclude the treaty they pro-
plcl).sefd, and for this and other reasons it was finally rejected by the British
chiefs.

During this time Siraj-ud-Daula had advanced close upon Fort William, at
the head of his large but ill-disciplined and irregular army. Clive, considering
the disparity of numbers, resolved to surprise the enemy in a night attack.
The loss of the English in the action which ensued was no less than one hundred
sepoys and one hundred and twenty Europeans — a great proportion of their
little army.

Yet if the object of Clive had been mainly to show the superiority of the
Europeans in warfare, and to strike terror into the mind of the nawab, that
object was fully attained. Siraj-ud-Daula passed from an ignorant contempt
of the English to a kind of timid awe. He agreed to grant them the confir-
mation of their previous privileges — the right to fortify Calcutta in any
manner they pleased — the exemption of all merchandise under their passes
from fees and tolls — and the restoration of or compensation for all such of
their plundered effects as had been carried to the nawab’s account.

Three days after a peace had been signed on these conditions the new-born
friendship of the nawab for the English, joined to some fear of a northward
invasion from the Afghans, led him so far as to propose another article for an
intimate alliance, offensive and defensive. It seemed ignominious, and a
stain on the honour of England, to conclude such a treaty, or indeed any
treaty, with the author of the atrocities of the Black Hole, while those atroci-
ties remained without the slightest satisfaction, requital, or apology. But,
as Clive had previously complained, the gentlemen at Calcutta were then
callous to every feeling but that of their own losses. ‘“Believe me,” says
Clive [in a letter to the governor of Madras], “they are bad subjects, and
rotten at heart. The riches of Peru and Mexico should not induce me to live
among them.” Nevertheless it must be observed that whatever may have
been Clive’s feelings on this occasion he showed himself to the full as eager
and forward as any of the merchants in pressing the conclusion of the treaty
of alliance. Among the chiefs none but Admiral Watson opposed it, and it
was signed and ratified on the 12th of February, the same day that it was
offered.

This new and strange alliance seemed to the English at Calcutta to afford
them a most favourable opportunity for assailing their rivals at Chandarnagar.
Clive wrote to the nawab applying for permission, and received an evasive
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answer, which he thought fit to construe as assent. Operations were immedi-
ately commenced; Clive directing them by land, and Watson by water. The
French made a gallant resistance, but were soon overpowered and compelled
to surrender the settlement, on which occasion above four hundred European
soldiers became prisoners of war.

The nawab, who by this time had gone back to his capital, was most highly
exasperated on learning of the attack upon Chandarnagar, which he had never
really intended to allow. It produced another complete revolution in his
sentiments. His former hatred against the English returned, but not his
former contempt. On the contrary, he now felt the necessity of strengthening
himself by foreign alliances against them, and with that view he entered into
correspondence with Bussy in the Deccan. His letters pressed that officer
to march to his assistance against the Englishman, Sabut Jung, “The daring
in war”’ — a well-earned title, by which Clive is to this day known among the
natives of India. Copies of these letters fell into the hands of the English, and
left them no doubt as to the hostile designs of the nawab.

CLIVE'S DUPLICITY TOWARDS OMICHUND

With this conviction strongly rooted in his mind, and the danger to Bengal
full before his eyes, the bold spirit of Clive determined to set aside of his own
authority the instructions commanding his immediate return to Madras. He
entered eagerly into the conspiracy forming at Murshidabad to depose Siraj-
ud-Daula, and to place on the throne the general of the forces, Mir Jafar. It
may readily be supposed that in these negotiations Mir Jafar was liberal, nay
lavish, in his promises of compensation to the company, and rewards to their
soldiers. Still more essential was the engagement into which he entered, that
on the approach of an English force, he would join their standard with a'large
body of his troops.

In these negotiations between the native conspirators and the English
chiefs, the principal agent next to Mr. Watts was a wealthy Hindu merchant
of the name of Omichund. A long previous residence at Calcutta had made
him well acquainted with English forms and manners, while it had lost him
none of the craft and subtlety that seemed almost the birthright of a Bengal.
As the time for action drew near, he began to feel — not scruples at the treach-
ery — not even the apprehensions as to the success — but doubts whether his
own interests had been sufficiently secured. He went to Mr. Watts and
threatened to disclose the whole conspiracy to Siraj-ud-Daula unless it were
stipulated that he should receive thirty lacs of rupees, or 300,000L., as a reward
for his services — which stipulation he insisted on seeing added as an article
in the treaty pending between Mir Jafar and the English. M. Watts, in great
alarm for his own life, soothed Omichund with general assurances, while he
referred the question as speedily as possible to the members of the select com-
mittee at Calcutta.

The committee were equally unwilling to grant and afraid to refuse the
exorbitant claim of Omichund. But an expedient was suggested by Clive,
Two treaties were drawn up; the one on white paper intended to be real and
valid and containing no reference to Omichund, the other on red paper with a
stipulation in his favour, but designed as fictitious and merely with the object
to deceive him. The members of the committee, like Clive, put their names
without hesitation to both treaties; but Admiral Watson, with higher spirit,
would only sign the real one. It was foreseen that the omission of such a
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name would rouse the suspicion of Omichund, and in this emergency Clive
directed another person to counterfeit the admiral’s signature.

For his share in these transactions Clive was many years afterwards taunted
to his face in the house of commons. Unable to deny heendeavoured to
defend his conduct. “It was,” he said, “a matter of true policy and of justice
to deceive so great a villain as Omichund.” The villainy of Omichund, how-
ever, appears mainly this — that for the treachery which the English encour-
aged and abetted he claimed a larger reward than the English were willing to
pay. But even admitting to the fullest extent the guilt of the Hindu intriguer,
this does not suffice to vindicate the British chief; this does not prove that it
was justifiable, as he alleges, to deceive the deceiver, and to foil an Asiatic by
his own Asiatic arts. Such expedients as fictitious treaties and counterfeited
signatures are not to be cleared by any refinements of ingenuity, or any con-
siderations of state advantage, and they must forever remain a blot on the
brilliant laurels of Clive.

Omichund having thus been successfully imposed upon, and the conspiracy
being now sufficiently matured, Mr. Watts made his escape from Murshidabad,
and Clive set his army in motion from Calcutta. He had under his command
three thousand men, all excellent troops, and one third Europeans.

Siraj-ud-Daula proceeded to assemble near the village of Plassey his whole
force amounting to fifteen thousand cavalry, and thirty-five thousand foot.
Nor was it merely in numbers of men that he surpassed the English; while
Clive brought only eight field pieces and two howitzers, Siraj-ud-Daula had
above forty pieces of cannon of the largest size, each drawn by forty or fifty
yoke of white oxen, and each with an elephant behind, trained to assist in
pushing it over difficult ground. Forty Frenchmen in the nawab’s pay directed
some smaller guns. The greater part of the foot were armed with matchlocks,
the rest with various weapons — pikes, swords, arrows, and even rockets.

The nawab, distrustful of Mir Jafar, had before he left the capital exacted
from him an oath of fidelity upon the Koran. Either a respect for this oath,
or, what is far more probable, a doubt as to the issue of the war, seemed to
weigh with Mir Jafar; he did not perform his engagement to the English, of
joining them with his division at the appointed place of meeting, but kept
aloof, sending them only evasive answers or general assurances. The troops
were led across the river; and at one o’clock in the morning of the memorable
23rd of June, 1757, they reached the mango-grove of Plassey. The mingling
sounds of drums, clarions, and cymbals convinced them that they were now
within a mile of the nawab’s camp. For the remainder of that night Clive
took up his quarters in a small hunting-house belonging to the nawab, but
could not sleep; while his soldiers, less concerned than their general, stretched
themselves to rest beneath the adjoining trees.

BATTLE OF PLASSEY (1757 A.D.)

At sunrise Clive ascended the roof of the hunting-house, and surveyed with
a steadfast eye the rich array and the spreading numbers of his enemy. He
saw them advance from several sides, as if to enclose him, but they halted at
some distance.b

The battle commenced with a cannonade in which the artillery of the nawab
did scarcely any execution, while the few field-pieces of the English produced
great effect. Several of the most distinguished officers in Siraj-ud-Daula’s
service fell. Disorder began to spread through his ranks. His own terror
increased every moment. One of the conspirators urged on him the expedi-
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ency of retreating. The insidious advice, agreeing as it did with what his
own terrors suggested, was readily received. He ordered his army to fall
back, and this order decided his fate. Clive snatched the moment, and
ordered his troops to advance. The confused and dispirited multitude gave
way before the onset of disciplined valour. No mob attacked by regular
soldiers was ever more completely routed. The little band of Frenchmen,
who alone ventured to confront the English, were swept down the stream
of fugitives. In an hour the forces of Siraj-ud-Daula were dispersed, never to
reassemble. Only five hundred of the vanquished were slain. But their
camp, their guns, their baggage, innumerable waggons, innumerable cattle,
remained in the power of the conquerors. With the loss of twenty-two
soldiers killed and fifty wounded, Clive had scattered an army of near sixty
%ousan}? men, and subdued an empire larger and more populous than Great

ritain.

Of this battle it may be said that it was gained against a disparity of force
nearly such as the Spaniards encountered in Mexico and Peru. But there
is a difference highly honourable to the English. The natives of Mexico and
Peru were wholly ignorant of gunpowder, and viewed the Spaniards with
their fire-arms as demi-gods, wielding the lightning and thunder of the
heavens. The natives of India, on the contrary, were well acquainted with
the natives of Europe; they looked on them with no superstitious awe; and
however unskilful in the use of artillery, they were at least not surprised at
its effects. From the day of Plassey dates the British supremacy above them.
From that day they began to feel that none of the things on which they had
heretofore relied — not their tenfold or twentyfold numbers — their blaze of
rockets — the long array of their elephants — the massy weight of their ord-
nance — their subterfuges and their wiles — would enable them to stand
firm against the energy and discipline of the island-strangers. They began
to feel that even their own strength would become an instrument to their
subjugation; that even their own countrymen, when, under the name of
sepoys, trained in European discipline, and animated by European spirit, had
been at Plassey, and would be again, the mainstay and right arm of the
British power. ,

On the morning after the battle Mir Jafar appeared at the English camp,
far from confident of a good reception since his recent conduct. As he alighted
from his elephant the guard drew out, and rested their arms to do him honour;
but Mir Jafar, not knowing the drift of this compliment, started back in great
alarm. Clive, however, speedily came forward, embraced his trembling friend,
and hailed him nawab of Bengal, Orissa, and Behar. It was agreed between
them that Mir Jafar should immediately push forward with his division to
Murshidabad, and that Clive and his English should follow more at leisure.
But they neither expected nor found the slightest further resistance.

Even before the day of Plassey was decided Siraj-ud-Daula had mounted
a camel, and ignominiously fled from the field. He was seized and brought
back in chains to the palace of Murshidabad — to the very presence chamber,
once his own, now that of Mir Jafar. The fallen prinee, still more abject
in spirit than in fortunes, flung himself down before his triumphant subject,
and with an agony of tears implored his life. It is said that Mir Jafar was
touched with some compassion, and merely directed that his prisoner should
be led away; but his son Meeran, a youth no less ferocious and cruel than
Siraj-ud-Daula himself, gave the guards orders that he should be despatched
in his cell. Barely sufficient respite was granted him, at his own urgent
entreaty, to make his ablutions and to say his prayers. Next morning the
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mangled remains were exposed to the city on an elephant, and then carried
to the tomb of Ali Vardi, while Mir Jafar excused himself to the English for
the deed of blood committed without their knowledge and consent.

The installation of Mir Jafar, as nawab of Bengal, was performed with
great solemnity. Clive himself led his friend to the masnad, or seat of honour,
and, according to the Indian custom, presented him with a plate full of gold
rupees; he then, through an interpreter, addressed the native chiefs, exhort-
ing them to be joyful that fortune had given them so good a prince. Nor
did the new nawab fail to bestow on his allies marks as splendid and more
substantial of his favour. It was agreed, according to the previous stipu-
lation, that the English should have the entire property of the land within the
Mahratta ditch, and for six hundred yards beyond it, and also the zamindart,
or feuda) tenure on payment of rent, of all the country between Calcutta and
the sea.

The money granted them in compensation for their losses, and in donatives
to the fleet, the army, and the committee, amounted to no less than 2,750,000L.,
although, as the wealth of Siraj-ud-Daula proved far less than was expected,
it was not found possible to pay the whole of this sum at once. Clive accepted
for his own share a gift of above 200,000L. When, some years afterward,
before a committee of the house of commons, he was accused for taking so
much, he defended himself by saying that he might, if he had pleased, have
taken much more. “When I recollect,” he said, “entering the nawab's
treasury at Murshidabad, with heaps of gold and silver to the right and left,
and these crowned with jewels” — here he added an oath, and violently struck
his hand to his head — “at this moment do 1 stand astonished at my own
moderation!”’ ,

A painful office remained —to tell Omichund that notwithstanding the
promise in his favour, he should have no share in all this wealth. As inter-
preter and spokesman for that purpose the British chief employed Mr. Scrafton,
a civil servant of the company. A meeting having been held at the house
of one of the principal bankers of Murshidabad, Clive, at its conclusion, said
to Mr. Scrafton: “It is now time to undeceive Omichund.” Mr. Scrafton,
as if ashamed of the task, performed it in the fewest and shortest words.
“ Omichund, the red paper is a trick; you are to have nothing.” At this
announcement the unhappy dupe staggered back as from a blow; he fainted
away, and was borne by an attendant to his house, where, on recovering from
his swoon, he remained for many hours silent and abstracted, and then began
to show symptoms of imbecility. Some days afterwards he visited Clive,
who received him kindly, advised him, for change of scene, to undertake a
pilgrimage to some one of the Indian shrines, and was willing, on his return,
to employ him again in public business. But the intellect of Omichund had
been wholly unhinged, and he expired not many months from this period
in a state of second childhood.

CLIVE RETURNS AGAIN TO ENGLAND (1760 A.D.)

The return of Clive to Calcutta was attended with general rejoicing and
applause, and from this time forward, during several years, he was, in truth,
master of Bengal. The East India directors had, indeed, formed a most
unwise scheme for conducting the government of Calcutta, by a system of
rotation, but at the news of the victory of Plassey they gladly conferred the
office of governor on Clive. As a statesman he displayed scarcely less ability
than as a soldier. It was his energy as both which upheld the feeble character
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and the tottering throne of Mir Jafar. Thus, when, in 1759, Shah Alam,
the eldest son of the emperor of Delhi, succeeded in collecting a large army
of adventurers, and marched down upon Behar, the terrified nawab was
eager to purchase peace by the cession of a province or the payment of a
tribute.

Far different were the views of the British chief. With a little army,
comprising less than five hundred Europeans, he undauntedly marched to
the aid of his ally; and such were now the terrors of his name that at his
approach the mighty host of Shah Alam melted away; the siege of Patna was
raised, and the war ended without a blow. In gratitude for this great service
Mir Jafar bestowed upon Clive a splendid jagir, or domain, producing, accord-
ing to Clive’s own computation, an income of 27,000!. a year.

At nearly the same period Clive was directing from afar hostilities in the
districts known in the Carnatic by the name of the Northern Circars, a tract
of coast extending from the mouth of the Kistna to the pagoda of Juggernaut.
These districts had been invaded by Bussy from the Decean, and on his depar-
ture a French force, commanded by the marquis de Conflans, had been left
for their defence. On the other hand, Clive sent thither a large detachment,
under Colonel Forde, an officer trained under his own eye. The result was
complete success; the French were worsted in g pitched engagement, and
the English reduced Masulipatam against a garrison superior in numbers to
themselves.

Towards the close of the same year, 1759, the English in Bengal were
threatened with danger, equally great and unforeseen, from the Dutch in
Java. Although peace prevailed between the two nations the Dutch could
not view without jealousy the success and renown of their commercial rivals;
they entered into secret negotiations with Mir Jafar, who, with the usual
fickleness of Asiatics, had become desirous of deserting the English alliance;
and they sent into the Hooghly an armament of seven large ships and fourteen
hundred soldiers. If Clive suffered the Dutch ships to pass up the river and
the Dutch troops to join the nawab’s, the English might be overpowered
and driven from Bengal. If he attempted to stop them, there was the risk of
kindling a war between the two nations, or on the other hand, of being dis-
avowed by the authorities in England, and consigned to disgrace and ruin.
Nor were other personal motives wanting to dissuade Clive from action. At
this very period he had entrusted a large share of his fortune to the Dutch
East India Company, for speedy remittance to Europe.

Nevertheless in this emergency Clive showed himself, as ever, firm, reso-
lute, unwavering. He was informed that the Dutch had landed their troops
and committed various acts of violence, and a letter was addressed to him by
Colonel Forde, stating, that if he had an order of council he could now attack
the invaders with a fair prospect of destroying them. Clive was playing at
cards in the evening when he received this letter, and without leaving the
table he wrote an answer in pencil: “Dear Forde, fight them immediately.
I will send you the order of council to-morrow.” Accordingly the Dutch
were attacked both by land and water, and notwithstanding their superiority
of force in both, they were defeated. Of their seven ships every one fell
into the hands of the English.

Only a few weeks after these events, in February 1760, Clive, who was
suffering from ill-health, embarked for England. “With him it appeared
(to use the strong language of a contemporary),“ that the soul was departing
from the body of the government of Bengal.” At home he was rewarded
with an Irish peerage, as Lord Clive, baron of Plassey, and speedily obtained
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a seat in the English house of commons. During his second residence in
India, a period of less than five years, he had acquired a fortune amounting
at the very lowest computation to 40,0007. a year. Several of the transactions
in which he had engaged for the public advantage or his own seem repugnant
to justice and good faith.

Those who explore his character with minute attention may moreover
detect, not merely some great faults, but some little foibles. Thus, although
he was plain and free from all ostentation in the field, he might be thought in
society fonder of fine clothes than becomes a hero. But with every draw-
back or deduction which can fairly be made from his character, there will
still remain very much to call forth praise and inspire admiration. He was
indeed, as Chatham once called him, “a heaven-born general,” who, with no
military training, had shown consummate military genius. With nearly as
little study of politics he displayed nearly as great abilities for government.
Energy — which, perhaps, of all human qualities is the one most conducive
to success — energy and fearlessness were peculiarly his own. Whatever
gratitude Spain owes to her Cortes, or Portugal to her Albuquerque, this —
and in its results more than this — is due from England to Clive.

THE ARRIVAL OF COUNT LALLY (1758 A.D.) ; FRENCH SUCCESSES

The Carnatic had meanwhile been the -scene of important transactions.
The declaration of war between France and England found the chiefs both at
Pondicherry and Madras ill-prepared for any expedition of importance, and
engaging in none but desultory and feeble hostilities. The English set fire to
Wandewash; the French, in retaliation, to Conjeveram. The latter, under
Auteuil, besieged Trichinopoli; the former, under Captain Calliaud, relieved
the place. But the attention of both parties was intently fixed on a great
armament which France had announced the intention of despatching to the
Indian seas; comprising nearly twelve hundred regular troops, and com-
manded by Lieutenant-General Count de Lally. This officer had sprung from
an Irish family which had followed James II into exile; his true name being
Lally of Tully-dale, since Gallicised to Tollendal. A soldier from his earliest
years, he had highly distinguished himself both at Dettingen and Fontenoy;
in December 1745 he had warmly pressed the expedition against England
from Dunkirk, and had been appointed one of its chiefs. Brave, active, and
zealous, he was well qualified for military service; but a hasty temper and a
caustic wit too frequently offended his inferiors, and marred his exertions.

The armament of Lally was delayed by various causes, both in its departure
and on its voyage, and it was not till near the close of April, 1758, that it cast
anchor before Pondicherry. Almost immediately on its arrival the French
squadron, which was commanded by the count d’Aché, was engaged by the
British, but the battle proved indecisive. In August another naval engage-
ment, equally indecisive, ensued. The count d’Aché, satisfied with this result,
and with having landed the troops, then sailed back to the Mauritius.

Lally, who had brought out a commission as governor-general of the French
in India, displayed from the first hour of his landing the impetuosity of his
temper. His instructions prescribed the siege of Fort St. David, and he sent
forth a body of troops for that object on the very same night that he arrived.
The troops hurriedly despatched, without provisions or guides, arrived before
Fort St. David wayworn and hungry, and ill-disposed for action. In a few
days, however, they were quickened by large reinforcements and by the
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presence of Lally. The works of the siege were now vigorously pushed for-
ward; a part in them all being urged by compulsion on the reluctant and
serupulous natives.

“In India,” says Orme,/ “even the lower castes have their distinction,
insomuch that the coolie, who carries a burden on his head, will not carry it on
his shoulder. Distinctions likewise prevail amongst the soldiery, for the man
who rides will not cut the grass that is to feed his horse; nor at this time would
the sepoy dig the trench which was to protect him from a cannon-ball.” Such
prejudices were now derided and set at nought by Lally. Thus he carried his
immediate object, but thus also he forfeited forever all claim to the attach-
ment and regard of the native population. According to Mill,c “ the conster-
nation created by such an act was greater than if he had set fire to the town,
and butchered every man whom it contained.”

At this juncture Fort St. David was the strongest that the East India
Company possessed, and it held a sufficient garrison; but the commanding
officer was far from able, and part of the men are represented as drunken and
disorderly. So early as the 2nd of June terms of surrender, by no means
honourable to themselves, were proposed by the besieged, and on the evening
of the same day were accepted by the besiegers. Lally, in pursuance of the
instructions which he had brought from France, immediately rased the forti-
fications to the ground, nor have they ever been rebuilt. Thus the name of
Fort St. David — up to that time so conspicuous in the annals of the com-
pany — henceforth no longer appears.

Elated with this conquest, Lally pursued his warfare; he failed in an
expedition against Tanjore, but succeeded in an expedition against Arcot.
His aspiring views extended to the siege of Madras, and to the extinction of
the British name in the Carnatic. For this great object he mustered every
man at his disposal, even recalling Bussy from the Deccan, which had so long
been the scene of that officer’s active and able exertions. His want of money
was no small obstacle in the way of his designs; to supply it he again offended
the natives by plundering a pagoda of its wealth; and in a more praiseworthy
spirit subscribed largely from his own private funds, exhorting his subordi-
nates to follow his example. But he had already made nearly all of them his
personal enemies by his haughty reproaches and his bitter jests. Thus, for
example, when he found his council less alert than they might have been in
providing the beasts of burden he required, he exclaimed that he could not
do better than harness to his waggons the members of council themselves!
All his letters at this period were filled with invectives of no common
asperity.

In December, 1758, Lally appeared before Madras, at the head of twenty-
seven hundred European and four thousand native troops. The English had
already, in expectation of a siege, called in nearly all their garrisons and out-
posts, and could muster within their walls four thousand soldiers, of whom
1,800 were of European race. The French had no difficulty in making them-
selves masters of the Black Town; but this, from the large stores of arrack
it contained, proved rather an obstacle to their further progress, as augmenting
the insubordination of the men. On the other hand, the Englishsteadily
continued the defence of Fort St. George. When, after nearly two months’
investment, a breach had been effected by Lally’s batteries, his principal
officers declared that it was not accessible, adding their opinion that a pro-
longation of the siege would be merely a wanton waste of human lives. The
sepoys had deserted in great numbers, and some of the Europeans threatened
to follow their example. ’
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ENGLISH NAVAL SUCCESSES

On the 16th of February 1759, Admiral Pocock and his squadron, which
had sailed to Bombay several months before, returned with some fresh troops
on board. The French, apprehensive of a combined attack upon them, com-
menced that very night their march to Arcot, leaving behind their sick and
wounded, fifty-two pieces of artillery, and a hundred and fifty barrels of
gunpowder.

After this great reverse to the French arms, and the return of their chief
to Pondicherry, hostilities languished for some time between the rival nations.
But in the autumn there ensued another naval engagement, from another
voyage of D’Aché to this coast. On the 2nd of September his squadron was
encountered by Pocock’s; the English having nine ships of the line and the
French eleven, with a great superiority both in guns and men. The result,
however, as on the two last occasions, was by no means decisive; the loss of
men was nearly equal on both sides, and the Inglish suffered the most damage
in their ships. D’Aché immediately proceeded to disembark a few men and a
little money at Pondicherry, and then, notwithstanding the vehement remon-
strances of the governor and council, returned with his squadron to the islands.

At nearly the same period the English at Madras were cheered with the
tidings that Eyre Coote had been promoted in England to the rank of lieu-
tenant-colonel, and was coming over at the head of the king’s 84th regiment
and other reinforcements. Major Brereton, who meanwhile commanded in
the field, appears to have been desirous of distinguishing himself before the
arrival of his chief. Thus he attempted to reduce the fort of Wandewash by
three divisions in a night-attack, but signally failed, with the loss of two hun-
dred men. So indignant was Brereton himself at his repulse that, on seeing
the crowd of English fugitives, he drew his sword and ran the first man he met
through the body! Orme/ adds: “Unfortunately the man was one of the
bravest in the army, so that this example carried little influence.”

Colonel Eyre Coote, with the last division of his force, landed at Madras on
the 27th of October, 1759. Born in 1726, Coote was now in the prime of life,
with none of those infirmities of body or mind which clouded over his later
years, and obscured the lustre of his fame. One of his earliest measures on
reaching the Carnatic was to retrieve the recent check to the British arms, by
a more regular and skilful attack on Wandewash. In this enterprise Major
Brereton did good service at the head of a division, and the fort was carried
with little loss on the last day of November.

At this news Lally took the field. His dissensions with the civil service
still continued, and his want of money to pay the troops had already produced
more than one mutiny among them. He had, however, obtained as auxiliaries
a body of Mahrattas, and he had under his command the sagacious and experi-
enced Bussy, but, unhappily for himself, was jealous of his influence and dis-
trustful of his counsels. Bussy strongly urged the imprudence of attempting
to recover Wandewash, in the face of the English army. Lally, however,
thought the honour of his arms at stake, and persevered in the design.

At nearly the commencement of the battle, January 22nd, 1760, the French
horse, led on by Lally in person, was thrown into disorder by two English
pieces of artillery, and was driven back to the encampment. Lally hastened
to put himself at the head of the foot soldiers, and cheered them on to the
charge. The battle now became general, and fiercely contested among the
Europeans, but ere long began to declare in favour of Coote — a result
hastened by the accidental explosion of a tumbril in the French ranks.

H. W.— VOL. XXIIL F .
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Bussy, attempting to rally the fugitives, and fighting with undaunted
spirit at the head of a handful of men that still adhered to him, was surrounded
and made prisoner sword in hand. The day was now decided. The French,
notwithstanding the efforts of Lally, gave way in all directions from the field.
In the battle or pursuit their loss was estimated at nearly six hundred men;
the English had one hundred and ninety killed and wounded. It deserves
notice that the brunt of the conflict had fallen entirely on the Europeans of
both armies, the native troops taking no part in it since the first cannonade.
The joy this day at Madras, says a contemporary, could only be compared
to that at Calcutta on the news of Plassey. In truth, as the one victory gained
Bengal for the British, so did the other the Carnatic. It is remarkable, how-
ever, in all these operations by or against Lally, how little weight the native
powers threw into either scale. Arcot, Trincomalee, Devicota, Cuddalore, and
several other places fell successively into Coote’s hands.

END OF THE FRENCH POWER IN INDIA

The net was now closing round Pondicherry itself. Through the boundary
hedge of thorns and prickly plants, which, as in many other Indian towns,
encompassed its outer defences, the inhabitants could discern the hostile army
encamped, and ready for the siege. The departure of D’Aché’s squadron had
left the English undisputed masters of the sea, and scarce any further sup-
plies, either by land or water, could reach the beleaguered city. The French
valour, the rainy season, and a most violent storm in the roads, interposed,
however, considerable obstacles in the way of Coote. Nor was discord, which
raged so fiercely within the walls of Pondicherry, altogether absent from the
English camp. In consequence of orders from home, given in ignorance of
the late events, a dispute as to the chief command arose between Colonel
Coote and Colonel Monson. At one period Coote had already relinquished
his post, and was preparing to embark for Bengal; but Monson receiving a
severe wound, and becoming for a time disabled, the leadership happily
reverted to the vietor of Wandewash.

In the night between the 8th and 9th of December four English batteries
opened against the walls of Pondicherry. The besieged were firm and reso-
lute in their defence, fighting every foot of ground, and making more than one
successful sally. Before the middle of January, there only remained sufficient
provisions for two days. In this extremity Lally and his council sent deputies
to capitulate, and failing to obtain more favourable terms, were compelled to
surrender at discretion. Accordingly, on the 16th of January, 1761, the Eng-
lish marched into the place. Great civilities passed between the chiefs;
Coote dining that day at Lally’s table; but Lally and his French, still amount-
ing to above two thousand, remained prisoners of war. “All,” says Orme,/
“wore the face of famine, fatigue, or disease.” ,

Almost immediately after the surrender a dispute arose among the victors
for the possession of the place. Coote and his officers claimed it for the king;
Pigot and the other civilians from Madras claimed it for the company. The
quarrel grew high, until at length Pigot declared, that unless his pretensions
were admitted he should refuse to supply funds for the subsistence of the
troops. This threat barred all further argument. In return for the destruc-
tion of Fort St. David, and in pursuance of orders from home, Pigot took
measures for rasing to the ground the fortifications of Pondicherry, nay, even
all the buildings that stood within them.

Thus ended the French power in India. For although Pondicherry was
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restored to them by the peace of 1763, and although the stipulation in that
peace against their raising fortresses or maintaining troops applies only to
Bengal, yet even in the Carnatic they could never again attain their former
influence nor recover their lost ground; and the extinction of their East India
- Company speedily ensued.

THE FATE OF LALLY

This result, however mortifying to French ambition, has been acknowl-
edged by French writers as a just retribution on that company, and on the
government of Louis XV, for their cruel oppression of almost every great
commander who had served them faithfully in India. The closing scenes of
La Bourdonnais and of Dupleix have been already described; there remains
to tell the still more tragic fate of Lally. On arriving a prisoner in England
and hearing of the charges brought against him in France, he wrote to Pitt,
soliciting that he might return on his parole, and confront his accusers, and
with this request the British minister complied. But no sooner was Lally
at Paris than he was thrown into the Bastille, where he remained fifteen months
without even a preliminary examination. When at length his trial did come
on before the parliament of Paris, it was pressed with the utmost acrimony,
both by the crown and East India Company; and a legal quibble on the term
“high treason” enabled his judges to sentence him to death. When informed
of their decision, “Is this,” he passionately cried, “the reward of forty-five
years’ service!”” and snatching up a compass with which he had been drawing
maps during his imprisonment, he struck it at his breast. His hand, however,
was held back by some person near him; and that same afternoon, the 9th
of May, 1766, he was dragged along to public execution in a dung-cart, with a
gag between his lips, and beheaded on the Place de Gréve. Such was the end
of a veteran, who had fought and bled for his adopted country, seldom, indeed,
with prudence and discretion, but always with courage and honour.

ENGLISH CONFLICTS WITH THE NATIVES

By the downfall of the Portuguese, the Dutch, and, above all, the French
power in India, a wide and still-extending scope was left to that of England.
The best chance of supremacy to the native states had lain in resisting Euro-
peans by Europeans — in setting the skill and energy of one northern race
against another. Single-handed they fell one by one — some dropping from
their owri rottenness, like fruit from a tree, others resisting fiercely, but with-
out avail.

The British had struck down their European rivals at Pondicherry, at
Chandarnagar, and at Chinsura. They had shot high above their titular
liege-lords in the Deccan and Bengal. Of Bengal, indeed, they were in truth
the masters, since Mir Jafar, as their tool and instrument, sat enthroned on the
masnad of that province. On the other hand they had no longer a chief of
genius and of energy to guide them. The principal authority since the
departure of Clive had devolved on Henry Vansittart, a man of good inten-
tions, but of moderate capacity. Thus the discipline of the victors was
relaxed by their own successes. Thus their rapine ceased to be checked by a
strong hand.  Almost every Englishman in Bengal began to look upon speedy
enrichment as his right, and upon the subservient natives as his prey.

Nor was it long ere a growing difference sprung up between them and
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their new nawab. So early as the autumn of 1760, Mir Jafar was found to
engage in cabals against the company. He was surounded in his palace at
the dead of night, compelled to resign the government, and then, at his own
request, permitted to retire to Fort William, under the protection of the
British flag; while his son-in-law, Mir Kasim, was in his stead proclaimed
the viceroy of Bengal.

According to a compact made beforechand with the English, Mir Kasim
forthwith yielded to them, as the price of their assistance, both an amount
of treasure and an increase of territory. But his temper, which was bold and
active, and by no means scrupulous, chafed at these sacrifices. Still less could
he brook the oft-repeated acts of insolence and rapine of the gomastahs — the
native factors or agents in the British pay. Ere long, therefore, he took some
measures to shake off his subjection. He removed his court from Murshidabad
to Monghyr, two hundred miles further from Calcutta. He increased and
disciplined his troops. He imprisoned or disgraced every man of note in his
dominions who had ever shown attachment to the English. He began to
enforce against the private traders the revenue laws, from which they claimed
exemption.

Angry disputes arose above all with the numerous English factory at
Patna. Vansittart repaired to Monghyr in the hope to avert hostilities. He
concluded a treaty, agreeing that his countrymen should pay the inland duties
to the amount of 9 per cent.; and not refusing on that occasion a present to
himself of seven lacs of rupees from Mir Kasim. But the council of Calcutta
voted the terms dishonourable. As a last effort to avert hostilities, another
deputation was sent from Calcutta to Monghyr. At its head was Amyatt,
one of the principal members of the council. Not only, however, did these
gentlemen wholly fail in their mission, but while passing the city of Murshida-
bad on their way back, they were inhumanly murdered by a body of Kasim’s
own troops. After such an outrage, peace was no longer possible. Thus,
in the summer of 1763, war again commenced, the council of Calcutta resolv-
ing to depose Mir Kasim, and proclaiming the restoration of Mir Jafar.

MASSACRE OF PATNA

The British forces that took the field in this campaign amounted at first
to scarcely more than six hundred Europeans, and twelve hundred sepoys.
With these, however, their commander, Major Adams, obtained rapid and
great successes. He drove the enemy from their strongholds, entered Murshi-
dabad, gained a battle on the plains of Geriah, and, after a nine days’ siege,
reduced Monghyr. Nothing was left to Mir Kasim but Patna, and even
Patna he perceived that he should not be able to maintain. Accordingly,
he prepared for flight to the dominions of his powerful neighbour, Sujah-ud-
Daula, the nawab of Oudh.

But first he wreaked his vengeance on the English by an act of savage
barbarity, second in its horrors only to those of the Black Hole. His prisoners
of the factory at Patna exceeded one hundred and fifty persons. They were
comprised of many peaceful traders and one infant. All these the tyrant
indiscriminately doomed to death — the massacre of Patna, as it has ever
since been termed. For his purpose Mir Kasim found a congenial instrument
in one Sombre, otherwise Sumroo, a Frenchman by birth, and a deserter from
‘the European service. This wretch gave his victims a significant though
trivial token of their coming doom by sending, in the first place, to seize and
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ﬁarr()lr off all their knives and forks, which might have been weapons in their
ands.

Next day, the 5th of October, in the evening, was the time of slaughter.
Then the prison-house was surrounded by Sumroo and his band. Then the
butchery of the prisoners was begun. It 1s said that they made all the resist-
ance in their power, by throwing bottles and stones at their murderers. But
of course, in vain. Some were cut to pieces with sabres, others shot down
with musketry, and then barbarously mutilated. In both cases, the mangled
limbs were flung into two wells, which were afterwards filled up with stones.
Of the whole number of intended victims, only one was spared; a surgeon
known to the nawab, and William Fullarton by name.

The reduction of Patna by the English, which speedily followed the atro-
cious act within its walls, completed their conquest of Bengal. Under their
auspices, Mir Jafar was once more proclaimed as nawab throughout the
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province. But, meanwhile, the thrusting forth of Mir Kasim — the dispos-
session by an European force of one of the native princes — seemed to the
latter an act far more atrocious than the massacre of Patna. It gained favour
for the exile at the court of Oudh, and the court of Oudh was then among the
most powerful in India. Sujah-ud-Daula, besides the resources of his own
vast province, could wield at his pleasure the authority, slender though it
might be, that yet adhered to the imperial name. The titular emperor of
Delhi, Shah Alam, had taken refuge with him, and had named him his vizir.
Shah Alam, in real truth, was an exile and a wanderer, his very capital, Delhi,
being held against him by Mahratta invaders, and half laid in ruins by their
fury; but amidst every privation, in the eyes of the people he was still the
great Mughal.

PP Re——vopit

HALL oF PUBLIC AUDIENCE, DELHI

BATTLE OF BAXAR (1764 A.D.)

Thus combining, the three princes advanced at the head of an army well
provided with artillery, and which numbered fifty thousand men. On the
other side, the English with their utmost exertions could bring into the field
no more than eight thousand sepoys and twelve hundred Europeans. Their
commander, Major Adams, having died, his place was filled by Major, after-
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wards Sir Hector, Munro. But such in their ranks was the state of insubordi-
nation, nay, even mutiny, that the new chief found it necessary to make a
most severe example of the ringleaders. He began by directing four-and-
twenty native soldiers to be blown from the mouth of cannon. On this ocea-
sion, a touching incident occurred. When the orders were first given to tie,
four of these men to the guns from which they were to be blown, four others'
of the soldiers stepped forward and demanded the priority of suffering as a
-right, they said, which belonged to men who had always been first in the post
of danger; and the claim thus preferred was allowed.

A captain Williams who was an eye-witness of the scene observes, as
quoted by Malcolm:¢ “I belonged on this occasion to a detachment of
marines. They were hardened fellows, and some of them had been of the
execution party that shot Admiral Byng; yet they could not refrain from
tears at the fate and conduct of these gallant grenadier sepoys.”

Having thus in some measure, as he hoped, awed the disaffected, Munro
led his troops to Baxar, a position above Patna, more than one hundred .
miles higher up the Ganges. There, in October, 1764, he was attacked by
the army of Oudh. The battle was fierce, but ended in a brilliant victory
to the English; the enemy leaving one hundred and thirty pieces of cannon
and four thousand dead upon the field.

On the day after the battle, Shah Alam, having with some followers made
his escape from the army of his own vizir, drew near to the English camp.
So long as he had been dependent on the darbar of Qudh, the English had
shown little willingness to acknowledge his authority, but no sooner did he
join their ranks and appear a ready instrument in their hands, than he became
to them at once the rightful sovereign of Hindustan. They concluded a
treaty with him, he undertaking to yield them certain districts, and they to
put him in possession of Allahabad and the other states of the nawab of Oudh.

The battle of Baxar, though so great a victory, did not decide the war.
Major Munro failed in two attempts to storm the hill-fort of Chunar on the
Ganges — a fort in which all the treasures of Kasim were thought to be con-
tained; and Sujah-ud-Daula obtained the aid of Holkar, a powerful Mahratta
chief. Nevertheless he sent to sue for peace. But Munro refused all terms
unless both Kasim and Sumroo were first given up to punishment.

Sujah-ud-Daula refused to surrender the two exiles, but proposed an expe-
dient altogether worthy of an Asiatic prince, that he would give secret orders
for the assassination of Sumroo, in the presence of any person whom the
English general might send to witness the deed. That expedient being of
course rejected, the war was resumed. A new tide of successes poured in
upon the English. Early in 1765 they reduced the fortress of Chunar, scat-
tered far and wide the force of the enemy, and entered in triumph the great
city of Allahabad.

Through all these last years of strife it is gratifying to observe not merely
the valour but also the mercy and forbearance of the English, owned, at least
in private, by their enemies. The skill of Oriental scholars has laid open to
us the records of a Mussulman historian, Gholam Hossein,? of that period —
the eye-witness, in some part, of the scenes which he describes: “It must be
acknowledged,” says he, “to the honour of those strangers, that as their con-
duct in war and in battle is worthy of admiration, so, on the other hand,
nothing is more modest and more becoming than their behaviour to an enemy.
Whether in the heat of action, or in the pride of success and victory, these
people seem to act entirely according to the rules observed by our ancient chiefs
and heroes.” But at the same time, and, no doubt, with equal truth, this
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historian cannot forbear lamenting the grievous suffering and misrule endured
by the helpless Bengals after the departure of Lord Clive. “Oh God!”
thus in another passage citing the Koran, he concludes: “Oh God! come to
the assistance of thy afflicted servants, and deliver them from the oppressions
they bear!”

DISCORDS AND INTRIGUES IN ENGLAND

Meanwhile the transactions in India which followed the departure of Clive
had produced no slight amount of discord and cabals in England. These were
heightened by the want of any strong and well-framed authority in either
country for Eastern affairs. In India, whether at Calcutta, at Madras, or at
Bombay, the governor was entitled to no more than one voice in the council,
with the advantage, should the numbers be found equal, of a second, or the
casting vote. Moreover, the three presidencies being as yet upon an equal
footing and with no central seat of power, were constant rivals, each envious
of the other’s successes, each believing that undue favour was accorded to
the rest. In England, the whole body of twenty-four directors was renewed
by annual election. On such occasions, and indeed on many others, the
India House became the scene of the most violent debates, and the keenest
party struggles. There were parties formed on every sub-division of selfish
interests; the party of Bombay, the party of Madras, the party of Bengal,
the party of Sulivan, the party of Lord Clive. Greater than all these, perhaps,
in point of numbers, was the party anxious only for the high rate and the
punctual payment of their dividends. Nor were these cabals altogether
unconnected with the greater parties in the state. Sulivan, the paramount
director until the appearance of Clive, was supported by Lord Bute. Clive
at that time was a follower of Pitt. Thus no one incentive to violence and
rancour was wanting from these contests at the India House.

At that time every share of 500l. conferred a vote, and the manufactory
of fictitious votes was carried on to a gigantic scale. Clive, according to his
own account, spent in this manner no less a sum than 100,000.. It was not
until 1765 that this evil practice was arrested by an act of parliament, which
required that each proprietor, before he voted, should take an oath that the
stock entered in his name was really and in truth his own, and had been so
for the last twelve months.

Sulivan looked mainly to commerce, and Clive mainly to empire. At last,
an open breach ensued between them. In 1763 Clive made a desperately
fought attempt to oust Sulivan, and Sulivan’s friends, from the direction.
He failed; and the new directors revenged themselves by confiscating, con-
trary to law, the jagir or domain which had been bestowed upon him by
Mir Jafar. It became necessary for Clive to seek relief by a bill in the court
of Chancery.

Such was the petty warfare raging at the India House, when ship after
ship from Bengal brought news of the growing disorganisation of the British
power, of misrule and plunder by its servants, of renewed hostilities with the
native princes. It began to be felt on all sides that the crisis called for Clive
— that he alone could order the confusion and allay the storm. So strong
was this feeling in his favour as to carry everything before it. At a meeting
of the proprietors, held early in the spring of 1764, they proposed to the
directors the immediate restitution of the disputed jagir, and the appointment
of Lord Clive as both governor and commander-in-chief of Bengal.

- The directors found themselves, though most unwillingly, compelled to
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appoint Lord Clive to both the offices desired. It was now within a month of
the annual elections. Not only the chairman, but also the deputy-chairman,
was chosen from among Clive’s friends. The new board of directors, more-
over, conferred upon him extraordinary powers. Aided by a committee of
persons of his own naming, he was made, unlike the other governors, inde-
pendent of his council. Clive embarked with the full purpose to use his
powers most firmly — to curb and to crush at once the abuses which prevailed.

CLIVE’S LAST ADMINISTRATION

In May, 1765, after a long protracted passage, Clive landed at Calcutta.
There he found another, a recent and glaring instance of the abuses which he
came to quell. Mir Jafar had lately died, and a question had arisen respect-
ing his inheritance. One party at his court declared for his base-born son,
and another for his legitimate but infant grandson. Both parties appealed
to the council at Calcutta, but the council viewed it only as a matter of bar-
gain and sale. They found it easier to make terms with the illegitimate pre-

_tender. He was proclaimed nawab of the province, while they received from
him, and divided among themselves, the sum of 140,000l. Such a course was
directly in the teeth of recent orders from home, binding the servants of the
company for the future to accept no presents from the native princes.

No time was lost by Lord Clive in assembling the council, showing them
the full powers of his committee, and announcing his peremptory will. To
Sujah-ud-Daula, who continued to bear the rank and title of vizir, he gave
back the greater part of Oudh. He reserved only two districts of Korah and
Allahabad as an imperial domain for Shah Alam, to whom it was also agreed
that the company should make from their revenues an annual payment of
twenty-six lacs of rupees. On the other hand, he obtained from the fallen
emperor a deed, conferring on the English company the sole right of adminis-
tration throughout the provinces of Bengal, Orissa, and Behar. In this
transaction, as in almost every other in India during the same period, it is
striking how wide was the interval between nominal authority and effective
power. Here we find the heir of Aurangzeb treated with as though still
supreme, as though able at his pleasure to bestow upon the Europeans, or
to withhold from them, the exercise of sovereignty in three great provinces.
Yet at this very time, so low had his fortunes fallen, as to leave him destitute
of even the common trappings or appurtenances of high state. During the
solemn ceremony of the investiture, it was an English dining-table, covered
over, that formed the imperial throne! Such was the prinee, of whom the
English in India continued to call themselves the vassals, whose coin they
struck at their mint, whose titles they bore upon their public seal.

In this transaction there was no objection raised by the young nawab.
With him, as with most Asiatic despots, the contingent future was but an
empty name; and his desire to obtain a fixed and regular income, no longer
to be embezzled or diverted by his ministers, overbalanced every other con-
sideration in his feeble mind. As Lord Clive writes to Mr. Verelst: ‘“He
received the proposal of having a sum of money for himself and his household
at his will with infinite pleasure, and the only reflection he made upon leaving
me was: ‘Thank God! I shall now have as many dancing girls as I please!”

Clive now exacted from the civil servants of the company a written
covenant, pledging them to accept no future presents from the native princes.
Many murmured, some resigned, but no one dared to disobey. Another
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measure which Clive considered most essential, and found most difficult, but
which he succeeded in enforcing, was to debar the men in high places from
private trade, granting them, as some compensation, a share in the salt mon-
opoly. With respect to the military officers, Clive announced his intention
to deprive them of the large dole or additional allowance, which, under the
name of double baita, had been granted them by Mir Jafar after the battle of
Plassey, but which, as Clive had always explained to them, could not, in all
probability, be continued by the company. In fact, the court of directors -
had izsued the most positive orders that the double batta should be discon-
tinued.

In abolishing their double batta Clive had to encounter not remonstrances
merely, nor dissatisfaction, but even mutiny. Nearly two hundred officers,
combining together, bound themselves by an oath of secrecy, and undertook
to fling up their commissions on one and the same day. Thus, while indulgent
to the younger and less experienced officers, and willing to receive their tokens
of contrition, he ordered the ringleaders into arrest, and sent them down the
Ganges for trial at Calcutta. He did not shrink even from the bold measure
of cashiering his second in command.

By such firmness was averted the shame of a successful mutiny — a shame
which, in Clive’s own strong language, all the waters of the Ganges could
never wash away.

All this time the conduct of Clive was giving a lofty example of disregard
to lucre. He did not spare his own personal resources, and was able some
years afterwards to boast in the house of commons that this, his second Indian
command, had left him poorer than it found him. His enemies might indeed
observe that the virtue of disinterestedness is not so hard to practise when a
fortune of forty thousand pounds a year has been already gained. Yet the.
fact remains that when presents from one of the native princeslaid the founda-
tions of his wealth the practice of receiving them was both usual and allowed,
and that when it ceased to be at least the latter he stood firm against all temp-
tation. In vain did the rajah of Benares press upon him two diamonds of
large size. In vain did the nawab vizir produce a rich casket of jewels and
offer a large sum of money. “Lord Clive,” thus wrote from India an officer
by no means his friend, ‘“ might then have added at least half a million to his
fortune; and we may further note that the receipt of such gifts might have
probably remained a secret since even their refusal was not known until after
his decease.”

On the whole it may be said that his second command was not less impor-
ant for reform than his first had been for conquest. By this the foundations
at least of good government were securely laid. And the results might have
been far greater still could Clive have remained longer at his post. But the
burning climate, combined with ceaseless anxiety and toil, had grievously
impaired his health. In December, 1766, we find him during several weeks
disabled from all writing, and at the close of the ensuing month he found it
necessary to embark for England. He left the government to a man of no
more than average ability — Verelst; yet under him there still continued the
impulse given by a stronger hand.

THE SUCCESSES OF HYDER ALI

At this period the main point of interest changes from the presidency of
Bengal to the presidency of Madras. There the English were becoming in-
volved in another war. There they had now, for the first time, to encounter
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the most skilful and daring of all the enemies against whom they ever fought
in India — Hyder Ali. He was of humble origin, the grandchild of a wander-
ing fakir or Mohammedan monk. Most versatile in his talents, Hyder was no
less adventurous in his career; by turns a private man devoted to sports of the
chase, a captain of freebooters, a partisan chief, a rebel against the rajah of
Mysore, and commander-in-chief of the Mysorean army. Of this last position
he availed himself to dethrone and supplant his master. Indeed, during his
whole course, we seldom find him either restrained by scruples or bound by
promises. 4 :

One single instance of the kind will suffice to paint his character. A Brah-
man, Khonde Row by name, at one time his close confederate, but afterwards
his enemy, having taken
the field against him, was
reduced to the point of
surrender. The rajah and
the ladies of the palace
sent a joint message to
Hyder, pleading for their
friend the Brahman, and
inquiring what terms he
might expect. “I will
not only spare his life,”
said Hyder, “but I will
cherish him like a parro-
quet.” Nevertheless, no
sooner ‘was the Brahman
in his hands than he was
treated with the utmost
rigour, and imprisoned for
the remainder of his life
in an iron cage. When
Hyder was thereupon

STATE ELEPHANT AT BENARES gently reminded of his

promise, he answered,

that he had literally kept his word, referring in proof to the cage in which
the captive was confined, and to the rice and milk allotted for his daily food!

Pursuing his ambitious schemes, Hyder Ali became not merely the suc-
cessor of the rajah, but the founder of the kingdom of Mysore. From his
palace at Seringapatam, as from a centre, a new energy was infused through
the whole of southern India. By various wars and by the dispossession of
several smaller princes, he extended his frontiers to the northward, nearly to
the river Kistna. His posts on the coast of Malabar, Mangalore especially,
gave him the means of founding a marine; and he applied himself with assidu-
ous skill to train and discipline his troops according to the European models.
The English at Madras were roused by his ambition, without as yet fully
appreciating his genius. We find them at the beginning of 1767 engaged,
with little care or forethought, in a confederacy against him with the nizam
and the Mahrattas.

Formidable as that confederacy might seem, it was speedily dissipated by
the arts of Hyder. At the very outset, a well-timed subsidy bought off the
Mahrattas. The nizam showed no better faith; he was only more tardy in
his treason. He took the field in concert with a body of English eommanded
by Colonel Joseph Smith, but soon began to show symptoms of defection, and




THE EUROPEAN EMPIRE: THE RISE OF CLIVE 75
{1767-1769 A.D.]
at last drew off his troops to join the army of Hyder. A battle ensued near
Trincomalee, in September, 1767. Colonel Smith had under him no more
than fifteen hundred Europeans and nine thousand sepoys; while the forces
combined on the other side were estimated, probably with much exaggeration,
at seventy thousand men. Nevertheless, victory, as usual, declared for the
English cause.

On the other hand, the troops of Hyder Ali, both then and afterwards, dis-
played not merely the effects of a braver chief and of a better discipline, but
also the energies of a robuster race. The people within the Ghats or hill-
passes of southern India, though far below the mountain races of Afghanistan,
are yet far superior to the Hindus of the plains. In these, the delicacy of limbs
and the softness of muscles must be reckoned among the foremost causes of
their failure on a battle-field. In these, the utter want of strength in their
bodily organisation is only, on home occasions and for some purposes, redeemed
by its.suppleness. It has been computed that two English sawyers can per-
form in one day the work of thirty-two Indians. Yet, as the same authority
assures us, see the same men as tumblers, and there are none so extraordinary
in the world. Or employ them as messengers, and they will go fifty miles a
day for twenty or thirty days without intermission.

The victory at Trincomalee produced as its speedy consequence a treaty of
peace with the nizam. Hyder was left alone; but even thus proved fully a
match for the English both of Madras and of Bombay. The latter had fitted
out a naval armament which, in the course of the winter, reduced his sea-
port of Mangalore and destroyed his rising fleet. Against these new enemies
Hyder, like some wild beast at bay, made a sudden bound. Leaving to the
eastward a force sufficient to employ and delude Colonel Joseph Smith, he
silently descended the western Ghats, and in May, 1768, at the very time when
least expected, appeared before the gates of Mangalore. The English garrison,
taken by surprise, hastily re-embarked in boats, relinquishing all their artillery
and stores, and leaving also more than two hundred sick and wounded to the
mercy of their crafty foe.

Returning to the eastward, Hyder Ali continued to wage the war against
Colonel Smith; inferior on any field of battle, but prevailing in wiles and
stratagems, in early intelligence, and in rapid marches, he could not be pre-
vented from laying waste the southern plains of the Carnatic, as the territory
of one of the staunchest allies of England, Muhammed Ali, the nawab of Arcot.

At length, in the spring of 1769, Hyder Ali became desirous of peace, and
resolved to extort it on favourable terms. First, by a dexterous feint he drew
off the British forces a hundred and forty miles to the southward of Madras.
Then suddenly, at the head of five thousand horsemen, Hyder himself appeared
at St. Thomas’ Mount, within ten miles of that city. The terrified members
of the council were little inclined to dispute whatever might be asked by an
enemy so near at hand. Happily his terms were not high. A treaty was
signed, providing that a mutual restoration of conquests should take place,
and that the contracting parties should agree to assist each other in all defens-
ive wars.

In the career of Hyder Ali, this was by no means the first, nor yet the last
occasion, on which he showed himself sincerely desirous of alliance with the
English. He did not conceal the fact that in order to maintain his power and
secure himself he must lean either on them or on the Mahrattas. He would
have preferred the first; it was the vacillation and weakness of the council at
Madras that drove him to the latter. Finding his overtures of friendship
slighted he took his part, as always, decidedly and boldly. He became, even
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in the midst of peace, a known and ardent enemy of the English race and
name; ever watchful for any opening to assail them; ever ready to league
himself against them with the Mahratta chiefs at Poona, or the French gov-
ernors at Pondicherry.

It was no common enemy whom the Madras traders thus neglected or
defied. The vigorous administration of Hyder at his court of Seringapatam,
has been closely viewed and well described by more than one European in his
service. Like the other Indian princes, he was addicted to licentious pleasure.
Unlike them, he was never enslaved by it. Many of his leisure hours were
passed in the company of dancing girls. To intoxication likewise he was often
prone; and one instance is recorded how in that state he was seen by his whole
court to seize and most severely cane his grown-up son, Tipu. It may be
added that on common occasions his toilet took up a considerable portion of
his time. But no sooner did any peril threaten or any object of ambition rise
in view than all such habits of indulgence were promptly cast aside, and Hyder
passed whole days and nights untired in his council-chambers, or on horse-
back with his cavalry. At all times he was most easy of access; freely receiv-
ing all those who desired to see him, except only the fakirs; a significant token
of the degree of esteem in which he held his grandfather’s profession. From
all others he quickly drew whatever information he desired; and in dealing -
with them manifested the keenest insight of their various characters. So far
had his education been neglected that he could neither read nor write. He
made no later attempt at scholarship, but relied upon the powers of a most
retentive memory, and upon a shrewdness hard to be deceived. He might be
careless of his people’s welfare for their sake, but he anxiously sought it for his
own; he knew that to make them prosperous would, beyond all other causes,
make him powerful; and thus through the wide extent of the kingdom that
he founded, he never failed to guard them from all vague depredation or
inferior tyranny.

By such means did he who had first set forth as a freebooter, with one or
two score of followers, leave behind him at his peaceful end a well-appointed
army of a hundred thousand soldiers, and a treasure of three million sterling.
Yet, prosperous as he seemed, Hyder was not happy. It is recorded of one
of his attendants, that after watching for some time his short and uneasy
slumbers he ventured at his waking to inquire of his dreams. “Believe me,
my friend,” said Hyder, “my dominion, envied though it may be, is in truth
far less desirable than the state of the yogis (the religious mendicants); awake,
they see no conspirators; asleep, they dream of no assassins!”’

EVIL DAYS FOR THE EAST INDIA COMPANY

In this war with Hyder, the English had lost no great amount of reputa-~
tion, and of territory they had lost none at all. But as regards their wealth
and their resources, they had suffered severely. Supplies, both of men and
of money had been required from Bengal to assist the government at Madras;
and both had been freely given. In consequence of such a drain, there could
not be made the usual investments in goods, nor yet the usual remittances
to England. Thus at the very time when the proprietors of the East India
Company had begun to wish each other joy on the great reforms effected by
Lord Clive, and looked forward to a further increase of their half-yearly divi-
dend, they were told to prepare for its reduction. A panic ensued. Within a
few days, in the spring of 1769, India stock fell more than sixty per cent.

At that period, indeed, as for some years before it, nothing could be more
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unsteady than the wishes, or more precarious than the prospects, of the great
company. Party spirit continued to rage at their elections; the contests
between the followers of Sulivan and the followers of Clive being renewed
every year with varying success. Each party, when defeated, heaped the
grossest imputations on the other, as on the lowest and basest of mankind;
and in that respect the public were inclined to give an equal belief to both.
In such a state of things the very existence of the company seemed to hang
upon the breath of any great man in parliament.

When, in July, 1766, Pitt became prime minister, with the title of Chatham,
he entered office with the fixed determination to transfer the government of
Great Britain’s eastern empire in the hands of the central authorities; but his
purpose was baffled, not through any efforts of the East India Company, but
through his own mysterious illness; and the men succeeding him in power,
though unable to pursue his policy, were reduced merely to stave off the main
question or to patch up temporary terms. But they, for their own part, were
well satisfied, since the company undertook, meanwhile, to pay to the revenue
400,0000. each year. As a further concession, arising from the financial
embarrassments of 1769, it was agreed by the directors that commissioners
of inquiry, under the name of supervisors, should be sent to India with full
powers over the other servants of the company. Three gentlemen of old
standing and long service — Vansittart, Scrafton, and Colonel Forde — were
selected for this important trust. Accordingly they embarked on their mis-
sion towards the close of the same year. But after leaving the Cape of Good
Hope the ship in which they sailed, the Aurora frigate, was never heard of
again: it is supposed to have foundered at sea.

THE GREAT FAMINE OF 1770

Tt is not improbable that this system of makeshifts might have still con-
tinued, and the necessity of any more decisive measures been longer post-
poned. But in the ensuing year, 1770, a new and more grievous calamity
overspread Bengal. The usual rains having failed, there was no water in the
tanks, and the rivers shrank into shallows. The rice-fields continued parched
and dry, and could not yield their expected produce, while the conflagration
of several large granaries completed the work of misery. A terrible famine
ensued; a famine such as Europe, during the last few ages, has never known
even in its rudest districts, or behind beleaguered walls. Throughout the
wide valley of the Ganges, the country places were deserted, and the cities,
where alone there might be hope of food, became thronged with starving
multitudes, from whom piteous cries were heard.

The common misery united, for the first and only time, the men of the
most opposite castes — from the Brahman of lofty lineage down to the
humblest of the Niaidees. Even the zenana now gave forth its guarded
inmates, who no longer veiled with jealous care, but prostrate and wailing
on the ground, implored from the passers-by, if not for themselves, at least
for their little children, a handful — only a handful — of rice. Thousands
and tens of thousands of human beings died daily in the streets, where the
vultures swooped down and the dogs and jackals flocked in quest of their
ghastly prey.

Tn Calcutta alone there were daily employed one hundred men, on the
company’s account, to pile the dead bodies upon sledges and cars, and throw
them into the Ganges. The broad river was itself so far tainted that its fish
ceased to be wholesome food. Hogs, ducks and geese, which had likewise
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taken part in devouring the carcases, could no longer themselves be safely
eaten; and thus, as the famine grew greater, the means of subsistence, even
to the Europeans, grew less. It was computed, not in any rhetorical flight,
not amidst the horror of the sufferings described, but in"a grave despatch
written two years afterwards, though even then perhaps with some exaggera-~
tion, that through Bengal this dreadful famine had destroyed in many places
one-half, and, on the whole, above one-third, of the inhabitants.

These evil tidings from India did not come alone. Conjoined with them
were rumours and charges that the distress had been greatly aggravated by
the conduct of the company’s servants; that at the very outset of the famine
they had engrossed all the rice of the country, and that afterwards they slowly
doled it out at tenfold the price they had paid. If in truth there were any
such cases, there can have been but few. They were in direct contravention
of the directors’ orders, and of Lord Clive’s rules.

Such charges, however, could not fail to make some impression on both the
ministry and parliament of England. Even allowing them to be unfounded,
there was yet an ample growth of abuses, rank and stubborn, to hew down in
the company’s affairs. It was felt on all sides that there was more need than
ever of investigation — more need and now more leisure also. The govern-
ment of Lord North had by this time attained some degree of stability, and
the nation some degree of repose. :

PARLIAMENT INVESTIGATES THE COMPANY; THE REGULATING ACT (1772 A.D.)

Accordingly, in April, 1772, and on the motion of General Burgoyne, there
was appointed, by means of ballot, a committee of inquiry, bearing the title
of “select,” though consisting of no less than thirty-one members. Within
six weeks that committee prepared and presented two reports; but the
approaching close of the session precluded any further step at that time.

In the spring of 1773 Lord North proposed and carried through against all
gainsayers his own measure of reform. This, after it had passed, was com-
monly called the Regulating Act. In the first place, he granted to the com-
pany a loan of 1,500,000L. for four years, and relieved them from the annual
payment to the state of 400,000. On the other hand, the company was
restrained from making any greater dividend than 6 per cent. until the loan
should be repaid, or any greater dividend than 8 per cent. until the public
should have some participation in the profits. It was then enacted, that
instead of annual elections of the whole number of directors at the India
House, six should go out of office each year, and none keep their seats longer
than four years. At the same time, the qualification for a vote in each pro-
prietor was raised from 5001, to 1000L., with more votes in proportion, up to
four, to each proprietor of a larger sum.

In India, the act provided that the mayor’s court of Calcutta should be
restricted in its jurisdiction to petty cases of trade, and that in its place
should be constituted a supreme court, to consist of a chief justice, and three
puisne judges, appointed by the crown. The governor of Bengal was hence-
forth to have authority over the other presidencies, as governor-general of
India, but was himself to be controlled by his council. In that council, as
previously, he was entitled only to a single or, in case of equality, a casting
vote. It was proposed that these nominations should be made by parlia-
ment, and continue for five years; after which they should revert to the
directors, but subject to the approbation of the crown. In the progress
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therefore of the bill through the commons, the members of the new council
were expressly named, so as to become a part of the enactment.

Warren Hastings, who a year before had assumed the administration of
Bengal, was appointed the first governor-general. Another of the new coun-
cil, Richard Barwell, was already at his post; the new members to be sent
%:om England were General Clavering, the Hon. Colonel Monson, and Philip

rancis.

Another clause of Lord North’s bill remitted the drawback on the East
India Company’s teas — a step little regarded at its outset, but momentous
in its consequences. The directors at the time were but little gratified with
this boon or any other when compared with the curtailment of their previous
powers. They declared in a petition to the house that they would rather
forego the loan which they had solicited than endure the conditions which
the minister imposed. But their late misgovernment had been such as to
render, in parliament at least, their adherents few and their lamentations
disregarded.

CENSURE AND SUICIDE OF CLIVE

In the course of these proceedings, both before the committees and within
the house, many a shaft was let fly at Lord Clive. Besides the public wrongs
of which he stood accused there was also, it may be feared, a feeling of personal
envy at work against him. His vast wealth became a more striking mark for
calumny when contrasted with the financial embarrassments of the directors
in whose service he had gained it. And his profusion, as ever happens,
offended far more persons than it pleased.

Under such circumstances the select committee, over which Burgoyne pre-
sided, made Clive their more especial object of attack. They drew forth into
the light of day several transactions certainly not well formed to bear it, as
the forgery of Admiral Watson’s signature, and the fraud practised on Omi-
chund. But at the same time they could not shut out the lustre of the great
deeds he had performed. Clive himself was unsparingly questioned, and
treated with slight regard. As he complains in one of his speeches: “I, their
humble servant, the baron of Plassey, have been examined by the Select
Committee more like a sheep-stealer than a member of this house!” And he
adds, with perfect truth: “I am sure, Sir, if I had any sore places about me
they would have been found: they have probed me to the bottom; no lenient
plasters have been applied to heal; no, Sir, they were all of the blister kind,
prepared with Spanish flies, and other provocatives!”

On this and some other occasions Clive spoke in his own defence in a frank
and fearless spirit with great energy of language, and it would seem with great
effect upon the house. It was in May, 1773, that the charges against him, till
then vague and undefined, were brought forward as a vote of censure by Bur-
goyne. In the result, the first resolutions of Burgoyne, alleging certain
matters of fact that could scarcely be denied, were carried. But the next,
which charged Lord Clive by name with having abused his powers, and set an
evil example to the servants of the public, did not pass. At length, as the
dawn was slowly breaking on the last of these long and stormy, and in many
parts confused, debates, the house agreed almost unanimously to some words
which Wedderburn moved: “That Robert Lord Clive did at the same time
render great and meritorious services to his country.”

Such a vote might perhaps be deemed almost a verdict of acquittal. Cer-
tainly, at least, it showed a wise reluctance to condemn. It closed the whole
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case, and Clive had no further parliamentary attack to fear. But the previous
taunts and injuries appear to have sunk deep into his haughty mind. Nor
was a life of ease, however splendid, congenial to his active temper. In his
sumptuous halls of Claremont, or beneath the stately cedars of his park, he
was far less really happy than amidst his former toils and cares, on the tented
plains of the Carnatic or in the council-chambers of Bengal. Moreover,
through the climate of the tropics, his health was most grievously impaired.
He had to undergo sharp and oft-recurring spasms of pain, for which opium
only could afford him its treacherous and transitory aid. At length, on
November 22nd, 1774, at his house in Berkeley Square, this great man, for
such he surely was, fell by his own hand. He was not yet fifty years of age;
and the contest in North America was just then beginning to hold forth to him
a new career of active exertion — a new chaplet of honourable fame.

To the last, however, he appears to have retained his serene demeanour,
and the stern dominion of his will. It so chanced, that a young lady, an
attached friend of his family, was then upon a visit at his house in Berkeley
Square, and sat, writing a letter, in one of its apartments. Seeing Lord Clive
walk through, she called to him to come and mend her pen. Lord Clive
obeyed her summons, and taking out his penknife fulfilled her request; after
Lvhich, passing on to another chamber, he turned the same knife against

imself.b

LORD MACAULAY’S ESTIMATE OF CLIVE

In the awful close of so much prosperity and glory the vulgar saw only a
confirmation of all their prejudices; and some men of real piety and genius
so far forgot the maxims both of religion and of philosophy as confidently to
ascribe the mournful event to the just vengeance of God, and to the horrors
of an evil conscience. It is with very different feelings that we contemplate
the spectacle of a great mind ruined by the weariness of satiety, by the pangs
of wounded honour, by fatal diseases, and more fatal remedies.

Clive committed great faults; but his faults, when weighed against his
merits, and viewed in connection with his temptations, do not appear to us to
deprive him of his right to an honourable place in the estimation of posterity.
From his first visit to India dates the renown of the English arms in the east.
Till he appeared his countrymen were despised as mere pedlars, while the
French were revered as a people formed for victory and command. His
courage and capacity dissolved the charm. With the defence of Arcot com-
mences the long series of oriental triumphs which closes with the fall of
Ghazni. Nor must we forget that he was only twenty-five years old when
he proved himself ripe for military command. This is a rare if not a singular
distinction.

From Clive’s second visit to India dates the political ascendancy of the
English in that country. His dexterity and resolution realised, in the course
of a few months, more than all the gorgeous visions which had floated before
the imagination of Dupleix. Such an extent of cultivated territory, such an
amount of revenue, such a multitude of subjects, was never added tothe
dominion of Rome by the most successful proconsul. Nor were such wealthy
spoils ever borne under arches of triumph, down the Sacred Way, and through
‘the ecrowded Forum, to the threshold of Tarpeian Jove. The fame of those
who subdued Antiochus and Tigranes grows dim when compared with the

-splendour of the exploits which the young English adventurer achieved at
-the head of an army not equal in numbers to one-half of a Roman legion.
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From Clive’s third visit to India dates the purity of the administration of
our eastern empire. When he landed in Caleutta in 1765, Bengal was regarded
as a place to which Englishmen were sent only to get rich, by any means, in
the shortest possible time. He first made dauntless and unsparing war on
that gigantic system of oppression, extortion, and corruption. In that war
he manfully put to hazard his ease, his fame, and his splendid fortune. The
same sense of justice which forbids us to conceal or extenuate the faults of his
earlier days compels us to admit that those faults were nobly repaired. If the
reproach of the company and of its servants has been taken away; if in India
the yoke of foreign masters, elsewhere the heaviest of all yokes, has been found
lighter than that of any native dynasty; if to that gang of public robbers, which
formerly spread terror through the whole plain of Bengal has succeeded a body
of functionaries not more highly distinguished by ability and diligence than
by integrity, disinterestedness, and public spirit; if we have seen such men as
Munro, Elphinstone, and Metcalfe, after leading victorious armies, after
making and deposing kings, return, proud of their honourable poverty, from a
land which once held out to every greedy factor the hope of boundless wealth,
the praise is in no small measure due to Clive. His name stands high on the
roll of conquerors. But it is found in a better list, in the list of those who
have done and suffered much for the happiness of mankind. To the warrior,
history will assign a place in the same rank with Lucullus and Trajan. Nor
will she deny to the reformer a share of that veneration with which France
cherishes the memory of Turgot, and with which the latest generations of
Hindus will contemplate the statue of Lord William Bentinck.

H. W.— VOL. XXII. G
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CHAPTER III

WARREN HASTINGS, CORNWALLIS, AND THE WELLESLEYS

[1772-1806 A.D.]

WARREN HASTINGSs, the first governor-general of India, was born in 1732.
He was sprung from a branch, or rather, as they alleged, the main stem, of
the great old house of Hastings, from which in another line the earls of Hun-
tingdon descend. But at the time of Warren’s birth his branch was fast
decaying; and Daylesford, its ancient seat in Worcestershire, was already
sold. It was only through the kindness of a kinsman that he obtained his
education at Westminster school; and when that relative died, he was shipped
off at seventeen as a writer to Bengal. He was noticed by Lord Clive as a
man of promise. Under Mr. Vansittart' he had much more opportunity to
shine. Thus, through the various gradations of the civil service at that time,
he sped with credit and success. Having married, but become a widower, he
returned to England in 1765. But four years afterwards he was again sent
forth as second in the council of Madras; and early in 1772 he proceeded to
a far }lxigher, and, as it proved, more lasting post, as first in the council of
Bengal.

Spare in form and shrunk in features, with a mild voice and with gentle
manners, Warren Hastings might seem to a casual observer as wanting in
manly firmness. It is remarkable that, on his appointment as governor of
Bengal, Lord Clive deemed it right to warn him against this, as he imagined,
the weak point of his character. Never was an error more complete.

It may be said of Hastings, that tenacity of purpose was not merely the
principal feature of his character, but the key and mainspring of the rest.
It made him, on the one hand, consistent and courageous. On the other
hand, it gave him a certain hardness and insensibility of heart; it made him,

[} The period of Vansittart’s government has been truly described as the most revolting
page in our Indian history.?]
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on several great occasions in his long career, callous to the sufferings which
his policy inflicted, and careless of the means by which his policy might be
pursued. He was firm, it may be added, in all his friendships and attachments,
but few men have ever been more rancorous and unforgiving.

It was one among the merits of Hastings, that he had made himself thor-
oughly acquainted, not only with the literature, but also with the temper
and feelings of the nations which he came to rule. Their languages he spoke
with ease and fluency; their prejudices, whether of religion or of race, he
was ever, unless impelled by
some state necessity, studi-
ous not to wound. By such
means he was at all times,
whether in his triumphs or
in his hours of danger and
distress, a favourite with the
native tribes of Hindustan
—a favourite, moreover, at
a period when in most cases
they had little or no sympa-
thy for the island-strangers.

When in the year 1772
Hastings first assumed the
administration of Bengal, he
found the whole country
weighed down by the effects
of the recent famine and de-

population. The greatest #4777 ) %;%
praise perhaps of his able b e
rule is the simple fact that 7

scarce any trace of these ef-
fects appears in the succeed-
ing years. He enforced a
new system in the land rev-
enue founded on leases for
five years; a system indeed
far from faultless, yet the
best, probably, which at that WARREN HASTINGS

period could be framed. (1732-1818)

Under that system nearly

the same amount of income was collected from the far diminished numbers
with less, it would seem, of pressure than before. For the accurnulating
debt and financial embarrassment of the company more than the common
resources seemed to be required. These Hastings strove hard to supply, not
always, as will presently be shown, by the most creditable means. = At the
same time, to the great and manifest advantage of the natives, he put an
end to the oppressive tax or duty levied upon marriages. As one of the
results of his system of revenue-collection, he established, with signal good
effect, district courts for the administration of justice, and district officers
to maintain the public peace. Within a few months the provinces were in a
great measure cleared of the dacoits or gangs of thieves, and other prowling
marauders. These and such like measures of reform, or of public policy,
were carried through by Hastings amidst numerous objections in his council
and incessant calls upon his time.
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Among the earliest acts of Hastings in Bengal was one for which, right
or wrong, he was in no degree responsible. It arose from the peremptory
and positive commands of the directors at home to arrest and try Muhammed
Reza Khan, who had now for seven years held his great office at Murshidabad,
as naib diwan, or chief minister of the finances.  The reports against him of
embezzlement and fraud in his high functions appear to have arisen mainly
through the intrigues of Nandkumar or Nuncomar his disappointed rival.
Muhammed Reza Khan was seized in his bed at midnight by a battalion of
sepoys. The same measure was extended to his coniederate, Shitab Roy,
at that time governor of Behar; a chief who, in the recent wars, had fought
with signal bravery upon the English side.

The two prisoners were carried to Calcutta, where after many months
of postponement and delay they were brought to trial before a committee
over which Hastings himseif presided. Nandkumar, with a vengeful rancour,
such as no time could soften, no calamities subdue, appeared as the accuser
of his ancient rival. But no guilt could be proved to call for any further
punishment, nor even to justify the harshness already shown. Both pris-
oners, therefore, were acquitted and set free; Shitab Roy, moreover, being
sent back to hold office in Behar, clothed in a robe of state and mounted on
a richly caparisoned elephant, as marks of honour and respect.

Nandkumar throve as little in his hopes of ambition as in his projects of
revenge. Hastings had meanwhile been effecting a complete change in the
former system. It was not merely that he arrested the minister; he abol-
ished the office. He put an end to the scheme of double government at
Murshidabad and at Calcutta, transferring to the latter city and to the ser-
vants of the company the entire machinery of state affairs. An empty

ageant only was left at the former capital, still decked with the name and
Eonours of nawab. That nawab, the heir of Mir Jafar, was now an infant.
On that plea, Hastings took occasion to reduce the yearly allowance granted
by the company from 320,000L. to half that sum. To alleviate in some
degree the disappointment that was gnawing at the heart of Nandkumar,
his son Rajah Goordas was appointed treasurer of the young prince’s house-
hold. The guardianship of the young prince himself was bestowed, not on
his own mother, but on another lady of his father’s harem — the Munny
Begum, by title and name.

External affairs also claimed the early care of Hastings. Shah Alam the
emperor, in name at least, of Hindustan, had more than once endeavoured,
but in vain, to prevail upon the English to assist him in expelling the Mah-
rattas. Finding that alone he could not attack these invaders of his patri-
mony with the smallest prospect of success, he took the opposite part, and
threw himself into their arms. He was received at first with every token
of respect and homage, and led back in triumph to his ancestral seat
of Delhi. Soon, however, a quarrel ensued between them, when he found
himself no more than a prisoner and a puppet in the hands of his new allies.
They compelled him to sign an edict, transferring to them the districts of
Allahabad and Korah, which had been bestowed upon him by Lord Clive.
But here Hastings interposed. He determined not merely on resuming the
districts of Allabahad and Korah, but on discontinuing all further yearly
payments to Shah Alam. Breach of faith on this account became, at a later
period, one of the charges brought against him.

The districts of Korah and Allahabad were promptly occupied by English
troops. But it was computed that the expenses of maintaining them at so
great a distance would exceed the utmost revenue they could bring. 1t was
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therefore the wish of Hastings to yield them for a stipulated sum to the adja-
cent state of Oudh. He repaired to the city of Benares to confer in person
with the nawab vizir. There, in September 1773, a treaty was agreed upon
between them; the nawab vizir undertaking to pay for the two districts the
sum of fifty lacs of rupees.

ENGLISH TROOPS LENT FOR THE DESTRUCTION OF THE ROHILLAS

But —alas for the fair fame not only of Hastings, but of England!—
another and a weightier question was then decided at Benares. The Robhillas,
a tribe of Afghan blood, had earlier in that century, and as allies of the
Mughal, descended into the plains of Hindustan. They had obtained for
their reward that fertile country which lies between the Ganges and the
mountains on the western boundary of Oudh. That country bore from them
the name of Rohilkhand. It had been earned by their services, and it was
flourishing under their dominion. Of late there had sprung up a difference
between them and their neighbours of Oudh, with respect to some pecuniary
stipulations which the Rohillas contracted and were backward to discharge.
On that ground, Sujah-ud-Daula had a plea for war against them.

He applied to the English governor for the aid of English bayonets; and
this request came before Hastings at a time when the Bengal treasury was
weighed down with heavy debts, and when nevertheless the letters from the
court of directors were calling on him in the most earnest terms for large
remittances. The Indian prince wanted soldiers, and the English chief
wanted money, and on this foundation was the bargain struck between them.
In April, 1774, an English brigade under Colonel Champion invaded the
Rohilla districts; and in a hard-fought battle gained a decisive victory over
the Rohilla troops. Exactly half a century afterwards an English bishop,
on his first visitation progress, found the whole scene still fresh in the
traditions of the country.

Throughout this conflict, nothing could be more dastardly than the
demeanour of the troops of Oudh. They had slunk to the rear of the armies;
they had kept aloof from the fight; and it was only after the battle was
decided that they came forward to plunder the camp and despoil the dead
and dying. Many an indignant murmur was heard from the British ranks:
“ We have the honour of the day, and these banditti are to have the profit!”
Nor was this all. The vizir and his soldiery next applied themselves to wreak
their fury on the vanquished, and to lay waste with sword and fire the rich
plains of Rohilkhand. No terms whatever had been made by Hastings for
the more humane and merciful conduct of the war; and Colonel Champion,
in his private letters to the governor, might well avow his fear that, although
his countrymen stood free from all participation in these cruel deeds, the
mere fact of their having been silent spectators of them would tend, in the
minds of the whole Indian people, to the dishonour of the English name.

The case of Hastings as to the Rohillas —a case at the best a bad one —
was farther injured by the indiscretion of his friends. Some of them after-
wards pleaded for him in the house of commons, that the Rohillas were not
among the native possessors of the soilin India, but only an invading tribe
of foreign lineage and of recent conquest. With just indignation, Mr. Wil-
berforce exclaimed, ¢ Why, what are we but the Rohillas of Bengal?” But
Hastings himself took better ground. Besides the pecuniary advantages, on
which no question could exist, he had political arguments to urge in vindica-
tion of his treaty. It was of paramount importance to the British to form
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a close alliance with Oudh; and, on forming an alliance with that state, they
had a full right to espouse its quarrels. But Lord North, the prime minister
at the time of the transaction, said in the house of commons — ‘“ as soon as
I was apprised of the facts of the Rohilla war, I thought the conduct of Mr.
Hastings highly censurable; and I sent to the court of directors, urging them
to combine with me for his recall.

HASTINGS UNDER CHARGES ; NANDKUMAR PUT OUT OF THE WAY

It was at the close of the Rohilla war, in October, 1774, that there
anchored in the Ganges the ship which brought from Engand the expected
members of the council and the judges of the supreme court. Of the three
new councillors, Francis was by far the youngest; but his more shining and
ardent spirit gave him a great ascendancy over Clavering’s and Monson’s.
He came — there is little risk in affirming — determined to find fault; ready,
whatever might befall, to cavil and oppose.

Of the five who met in council, the old servants of the company, Hastings
and Barwell, stood together; on the other side were arrayed, as though in
military order. the general, the colonel, and the late war-office clerk. Thus
they formed a majority upon every question that arose; thus, from the very
first they wrested the whole power of the government and all substantial
patronage from the hands of Hastings. They ordered the English brigade to
march back from Rohilkhand, whatever might be then the condition of that
province. They recalled, with every token of disgrace, Mr. Middleton, the
confidential friend of Hastings, and by him appointed the resident in Oudh.
They insisted that even the most private of Mr. Middleton’s letters should be
laid before them.

Confident in their absolute majority the three new councillors pursued
their course of rashness, or, as Hastings terms it, frenzy. On the decease of
Sujah-ud-Daula, and the succession of his son, Asa-ud-Daula, as nawab vizir
they passed a preposterous vote that the treaties which had been signed with
the former should be considered as personal and as having ended with his
life. They unsettled for a time the whole administration, both financial and
judicial, of Bengal. Still more mischievous was their meddling in the case
of Bombay, then first under the recent act reduced to a subordinate presi-
dency. They rebuked its council, and they reversed its policy; and, in utter
ignorance of its affairs, took new measures for entangling it in the differences
of the several Mahratta chiefs. Meanwhile their power seemed so unques-
tionable, and their hostility to Hastings so clear, that many of his personal
enemies began to brood over projects of revenge as certain of attainment.
Two Englishmen of the name of Fowke came forward to charge him with
corruption. The rani, or princess, of Bardwan, with her adopted son, sent
in a similar complaint. But foremost of all in rancour as in rank was Nand-
kumar. He put into the hands of Francis a paper containing several heavy
accusations against Hastings; above all, that he had taken a bribe for dis-
missing without punishment Muhammed Reza Khan; and this paper was
produced by Francis at the council-board.

Long and fierce were the discussions that ensued. The governor-general
did not shrink from the investigation of his conduet, but he insisted, and
surely with perfect right, that the members of the council should form them-
selves into a committee for that purpose, and after receiving whatever evi-
dence they pleased, transmit it for adjudication either to the supreme court
of justice at Calcutta, or to the directors at home. On the other hand the
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majority maintained, that even while sitting as a council they might proceed
to the trial of their chief. The governor-general rose, declared the meeting
dissolved, and left the room with Barwell in his train. The remaining mem-
bers voted that the meeting was not dissolved, named Clavering as chairman,
and called in Nandkumar.

In this state of the transactions, Hastings thought himself entitled to
allege that Nandkumar, Mr. Fowke, and some others were guilty of a con-
spiracy against him. On this ground he began legal proceedings against
them in the supreme court. The judges after a long examination of the
case directed Nandkumar and Fowke to give bail, and bound over the gov-
ernor-general to prosecute them.

Of a sudden, however, and only a few weeks afterwards, a more serious
blow was aimed at Nandkumar by another hand. He was arrested at the
suit of a native merchant named Mohun Persaud, and, like any other man
accused of felony, was thrown into the common gaol. The charge against
him was that he had forged a bond five years before. On that charge, the
supreme court not then existing, he had been brought to trial before the
mayor’s court of Calcutta, but was released through the authority which at
that time Hastings exerted in his favour. The suit had, therefore, been
suspended, but not concluded. It was now revived before a higher and more
independent tribunal, established expressly with a view to such cases; and
it was revived at the very earliest lawful time after the necessary documents
had been transferred to the new court. So opportune was this prosecution
for the interests of the governor-general, and so suspicious the coincidence
of time, that Hastings has ever since been suspected and arraigned as the
real mover in the business.! Yet, besides the presumption on his side to be
drawn from the regular conduct of the suit, there is surely some weight in a
fact which many writers have passed over—that in the proceedings before
the supreme court, Hastings solemnly deposed, upon his oath, that he had
never directly or indirectly countenanced or forwarded the prosecution for
forgery against Nandkumar.

The new members of the council showed the utmost resentment at the
prosecution, but found themselves wholly powerless to stem it. Their fierce
representations to the judges proved in vain. They could only send com-
plimentary messages to Nandkumar in his prison, and grant additional favours
to his son. The trial came on, in due time, before a jury composed of Eng-
lishmen, when the charge of forgery was established to their entire satisfac-
tion, and a verdict of guilty was returned. One of the judges, Sir Robert
Chambers, the friend of Dr. Johnson, had proposed to try the prisoner on
an earlier and a milder statute, inflicting no capital penalty; but Chambers
is stated to have been convinced by, and most certainly acquiesced in, the
arguments against it. The sentence of death on Nandkumar was pronounced
by Sir Elijah Impey as the chief, and apparently with the full concurrence
of his colleagues. On the 5th of August, 1775, the rajah Nandkumar, at
that time seventy years of age and the head of the Brahmans of Bengal, was
led forth to the gallows, and hanged; while Clavering and his two friends,
with impotent rage, shut themselves up within their houses, and while an
immense concourse of Hindus looked on in wonder and affright.

For his share in these proceedings the chief justice has been arraigned
even more severely than the governor-general. It was Hastings — thus cries
Burke in his ardent and sometimes overflowing zeal —it was Hastings who

[* That Hastings set this prosecution in motion, no reasonable person can doubt ; and it is
equally clear that Chief Justice Impey is free from all personal blame.—J. 8. CoTTON.?]
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murdered Nandkumar by the hand of Sir Elijah Impey! The personal
friendship which had subsisted between them since their schoolboy days
was urged as strong presumption of a guilty compact. For this argument,
as levelled at one of the judges, it became convenient to overlook entirely
the existence of the other three. Thus Impey, who had but acted jointly,
was arraigned alone. At length the surmises and suspicions against him
assumed a more definite form. At the close of 1787 a member of the house
of commons, Sir Gilbert Elliot, moved for his impeachment mainly on this
ground. Then Sir Elijah was permitted to appear at the bar, and to speak
in his own defence. He showed, to the perfect satisfaction of by far the
greater part of those who heard him, that his behaviour through the trial
had been wholly free from blame.

The execution of Nandkumar, although it may not have been connected
with any step of Hastings, was certainly auspicious to his interests. The
Hindus could make no nice distinctions, such as the case required, between
political and judicial authority. They looked only to the one broad fact
that one of their chief men had stood forth to accuse the governor-general,
and that within a few weeks of his accusation that chief man had died upon
the gallows. From that momentall the other natives shrank from any further
charges against Hastings. From that moment, in their eyes, he recovered
a large portion of his power. But it should be added, in justice to his
memory, that throughout his long administration he attracted, in a high
degree, their love as well as fear. The English in India also were nearly all
upon his side. Hastings, they saw, was familiar with their wants and wishes,
and profoundly versed in their affairs. On the other hand they had slight
confidence in either Clavering or Monson; and they had quickly taken fire
against the war-office clerk [Francis], who, in all respects, ignorant of India,
was yet seeking to impose upon it, with peremptory violence, every crotchet
of his brain. He had not been many weeks at Calcutta ere he obtained the
common surname of “ King Franeis,” or “ Francis the First.”

The news of the divisions in the council at Calcutta appears to have
greatly perplexed the directors at home. For some time they endeavoured,
but with little good effect, to hold a middle course. Lord North him-
self, however, was deeply impressed with the iniquity of the Rohilla war.
He regretted, that under the Regulating Act there was no power during
the first five years to recall the governor-general without an address to that
effect from the company to the crown. At a meeting of the court of pro-
prietors the motion for Hastings’ recall was negatived by a majority of
upwards of one hundred.

But the vague threats wrought too far upon Hastings’ agent in London,
Colonel Maclean. He believed his patron in risk of a parliamentary dis-
missal, or perhaps, a parliamentary censure. He had in his possession a
private letter, written by Hastings a year and a half before, in which Hast-
ings announced his resolution of resigning if he should not find his measures
supported and approved. In another letter, two months afterwards, Hast-
ings had most clearly revoked that resolution. Nevertheless, Colonel Maclean
in October, 1776, thought himself sufficiently empowered to tender to the
court of directors the resignation of the governor-general. The directors,
eager to be relieved from their embarrassment, made little difficulty. They
accepted the resignation, and, with the connivance of the crown, named one
%f theilr own body, Mr. Edward Wheler, to the vacant place in the council of

engal.

But meanwhile the state of that council had wholly changed. In Sep-
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tember, 1776, Colonel Monson had died. By his decease, and by the means
of his own casting vote, the full powers of government fell back into the
hands of the governor-general. With his usual fixedness of purpose he now
resumed his former policy and reappointed his old friends. At the same time
his mind was brooding over a vast scheme for the complete ascendancy in
India of the English name-—a system of subsidiary alliance with native
princes, and, above all, with the nawab of Oudh and the nizam — a system
which it was left to his successors to unfold and to pursue.

Such were the schemes that Hastings was maturing, when, in June, 1777,
a packet-ship from England anchored in the Hooghly, and all Calcutta was
startled with the news that the governor-general had resigned ; that his
resignation was accepted; and that the government was transferred to
other hands. No man was more astonished at these tidings than the gov-
ernor-general himself. He declared that Colonel Maclean had far, very far,
exceeded his instructions. But he afterwards said, that nevertheless he should
have felt himself bound by the acts of his agent, had not General Clavering
attempted to seize the government by force.

Clavering sent his Persian interpreter to Hastings with a letter, requiring
him to deliver the keys of the fort and treasury. Meanwhile, in another
chamber, Hastings took the chair with Barwell by his side, and declared
himself determined to maintain his just authority until further orders should
arrive. Seeing this, the opposite party agreed, though unwillingly, to his
proposal — that they should ask, and should abide by, the opinion of the
judges of the supreme court. This was no season for delay; the case being
thus referred to the judges, they met the same evening, and continued all
night in anxious deliberation. At four the next morning Sir Elijah reported
their unanimous judgment, that the resignation of Hastings was invalid, and
the assumption of power by Clavering illegal. Thus was the governor-
general enabled to maintain his ground. On this occasion he justly felt
that his all had been at stake.

But Hastings was not content with his success on this occasion. He
endeavoured to pursue it with a degree of violence and indiscretion scarcely
less than his rival had displayed. = He prevailed on Barwell to concur in a reso-
lution that General Clavering, by attempting to usurp the functions of gov-
ernor-general, had surrendered and resigned both his place in council and his
office as commander-in-chief of the Indian forces. Against this flagrant abuse
of victory Clavering and Francis remonstrated in vain. Now, in their turn, they
appealed to the judges of the supreme court. Sir Elijah Impey, in the name
of his brethren, pronounced it as their unanimous decision, that the council
had no legal power to remove one of its members or declare his seat vacant.

In this struggle the temper of Clavering —a frank, plain soldier—had
been grievously chafed. Only a few weeks afterwards, in August, 1777, he
sickened and died. It is said that the last appearance in public of the dying
man was, after much solicitation, as a guest at his rival's wedding-feast.
Not many days before General Clavering expired, Warren Hastings married
Marian Imhoff, ex-wife of a German by birth, a baron by title, a miniature
painter by profession.

In the council-chamber of Bengal the decease of General Clavering was
nearly balanced by the arrival of Mr. Wheler. The new member took part,
in most cases, against the governor-general with Francis. But, besides that
he showed himself a far less acrimonious opponent ; the power of the casting-
vote still left on every question the practical ascendancy in the hands of
Hastings.
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LORD PIGOT AT MADRAS

From the supreme government of India let us pass to the subordinate-
council of Madras. There, though on a smaller scale, dissension had grown
to a still more formidable height. Some years since a war had been waged
against the petty kingdom of Tanjore. The rajah, one of the Mahratta
princes, had been taken prisoner and deposed. The territory had been seized
and transferred to the nawab of Arcot. At home the directors, after no
small amount of wavering, had disapproved these measures. They despatched
peremptory orders to restore, without loss of time, the rajah to his throne.
Moreover, they sent out to the chief place at Madras a personal friend of
the rajah, the former governor Pigot, who had recently been raised to an
Irish peerage. Thus from the first moment of his landing again on Indian
ground, Lord Pigot found himself in direct opposition to the leading members
of his council. He did, however, proceed to Tanjore and reinstate the rajah.
But on his return he saw a formidable combination leagued against him; at
its head Muhammed Ali, the nawab of Arcot.

Muhammed Ali, the old ally of the English, and maintained in his domin-
ion by their means, was ever intriguing and caballing with several of the com-
pany’s servants. They would supply him with money at any sudden call,
and well knew how to make such loans most highly advantageous to them-
selves. Foremost among these usurers stood Mr. Paul Benfield, a man to
whom Burke’s eloquence has given immortal fame — if fame indeed it should
be called! For, as the misdeeds of Verres will live forever in the glowing
denunciations of Cicero, so has the genius of Burke poured its imperishable
lustre over the whole tortuous track of the Madras money-lenders, and res-
cued from oblivion the “ Debts of the nawab of Arcot.” '

Paul Benfield was of humble birth and of no patrimony. He had filled
a small place in the company’s service at a salary of a few hundred pounds a
year, and was chiefly conspicuous for keeping the finest carriages and horses
at Madras. His ostentatious habits of expense did not seem consistent with
any large accumulation of wealth. To the public surprise he now brought
forward a claim on the nawab, for money lent to the amount of 162,000..
besides another claim on individuals in Tanjore to the amount of 72,0001.
For the whole of this enormous sum he held assignments on the revenues and
standing crops in Tanjore; and he pleaded that his interest ought not to be
affected by the reinstatement of the rajah. The nawab, when consulted
on the matter, at once admitted and confirmed the claim. In this case Lord
Pigot might well suspect collusion. He might also reasonably question the
right of the nawab to make any such assignments in Tanjore. The majority
of his council, however, were inclined to favour these demands, and there
ensued a long train of angry altercations. At length the issue was taken on
a side-point of small importance — the desire of Lord Pigot to appoint Mr.
Russel, one of his own friends, as resident at Tanjore.

Finding himself out-voted, Lord Pigot first set the dangerous example —
so soon to recoil upon himself —of overstepping the bounds of law. He
assumed that the governor was an integral part of the council; that he was
not bound by the majority against him, and might refuse to carry out any
decision in which he had not concurred. The opposite doctrine was main-
tained, no less vehemently, by the other members. Upon this an arbitrary
order from Lord Pigot declared them suspended from their functions; and
they, in return, concerted measures for his arrest. The commander of the
forces, Sir Robert Fletcher (the same who, in Bengal, had been cashiered),
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was at that time ill; but the second in command, Colonel Stuart, was upon
their side. On the 24th of August, 1776, the colonel passed the greater part
of the day in company or in business with Lord Pigot; he both breakfasted
and dined with him as his familiar friend, and was driving in the carriage
with him when, according to the colonel's previous orders, the carriage was
surrounded and stopped by troops. His lordship was then informed that
he was their prisoner. Assuch he was forthwith conveyed to St. Thomas’
Mount. There he was left in an officer’s house, with a battalion of artillery
to guard him, while all the powers of government were assumed and admin-
istered by his opponents in the council.

In the courts of directors and proprietors there appeared upon this sub-
ject the usual fluctuation. There was, however,.a better reason for it, in a
case where beyond all doubt neither party had been free from blame. At
length it was agreed that the members of the council who had concurred in
this arrest should be recalled; and on their return they became liable, under
resolutions of the house of commons, to a trial and a fine. At the same time
a commission was prepared under the company’s seal, by which Lord Pigot
was restored to his office; but he was directed within one week to give up
the government to his successor, and embark for England. By these means
it was intended to avoid a triumph, or the appearance of a triumph, to either
side. But long before these orders could be received in India, Lord Pigot
was beyond the reach of any human sentence. After eight months of con-
finement he died at St. Thomas’ Mount.

Early in 1778 the government of Madras was assumed by Sir Thomas
Rumbold. He might avoid dissensions with his council, but on other grounds
he incurred, and not unjustly, the censure of the court of directors. In less
than three years we find him utterly dismissed from their service.

WAR WITH THE MAHRATTAS (1778-79 A.D.)

For some years the progress of England’s eastern empire had not been
agsailed, or even threatened, by any European enemy. The scene is now
about to change. That war which, commencing in North America, troubled
not England only but also France and Spain, cast its baleful shadows to the
Mexican seas on the one side, and to the shores of Coromandel on the other.
Then it was that the experience, the energy, the high statesmanship of Hast-
ings were signally displayed. Then it was, that the value of his services was
feﬁ even by his adversaries in Downing Street or Leadenhall. Thus, when
the period of five years fixed by the Regulating Act had expired, the governor-
general was quietly and without a struggle re-appointed. :

At the beginning of 1778 the tidings were already rife among the native
races, that yenghi dunia, or New World, as they called America, had broken

:loose from the country of the Company Sahib. Already might they hear
the rising sounds of exultation from the rival settlements of Chandarnagar
and Pondicherry. But the first sign or symptom that reached Hastings of
French cabals in India came from the Mahratta states. These had grown
to greatness in the decline of the Mughal Empire and risen on its ruins, but
had since been weakened by dissensions of their own. Among themselves,
as in the venerable monarchy from the ruins of which they had sprung, there
was a wide line between the real and the rightful exercise of power.

The lineal heir of Sivaji, the true sovereign in name, had become a mere
state-prisoner in the palace of Sattara. The actual authority was vested in
a great magistrate, or chief of the council, who was called the peshwa, and
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who held court with regal state at Poona. Through a strange anomaly
that ministerial office descended by hereditary right, and sometimes there-
fore devolved upon a minor. The peshwa, besides his own or the rajah of
Satara’s dominions, always claimeg, and occasionally exercised a kind of
feudal supremacy over the other Mahratta principalities that lay scattered in
the wide expanse between the hill forts of Mysore and the.waters of the
Ganges. First among them were the houses of Sindhia and of Holkar; the
Gaikwar, who ruled in Guzerat; and the Bhonsla, or rajah of Berar, a scion
of the line of Sivaji. All these Mahratta chiefs, in common with their sub-
jects, held the Brahman faith; in that respect, as in some others, forming a
remarkable contrast to the race of the Mohammedan conquerors beside them,
as the nizam and the vizir.

The mean origin of the first Mahratta freebooters is denoted even in the
hereditary titles of their princes; the Gaikwar, for example, signifies only
the cow-herd. It is denoted also by the simple and abstemious habits which
they long preserved. A Mussulman historian, Gholam Hossein,? the con-
temporary of Warren Hastings, describes the most powerful Mahratta ruler
of his time, as living only on food of the poorest peasant—on black bread
made of badjrah, unripe mangoes, and raw red pepper. “Let the reader,”
says the more refined Mohammedan, “ guess the taste of the whole nation by
this sample of its chiefs. And although,” he adds, ‘‘ they have come to com-
mand kingdoms and to rule over empires, they are still the beggars they have
been. Go to any of them, from the lowest clerk to the minister of state, and
the first words which you shall hear from them are always these —‘ What
have you brought for me ? — Have you brought anything for me ?’ and should
any man go empty-handed to them, they would strip him of his turban and
coat, and then recommend him devoutly to Almighty God!”

Between the chiefs at Poona and the presidency of Bombay there had
been in former years some intricate negotiations and some desultory wars.
The English had obtained possession of the island of Salsette, which, so lately
as 1750, the Mahrattas had wrested from the Portuguese. They had also
given shelter to 'a deposed and exiled peshwa named Ragoba or Raghunath
Rao, who still carried on a cabal and kept up a party at home. Such was the
posture of affairs when the governor-general was startled by the tidings that a
French ship had anchored in one of the Mahratta ports, and that a French
agent had set out for Poona. This Frenchman proved to be the chevalier de
St. Lubin, an adventurer who had formerly taken some part in the intrigues
of the presidency of Madras, and who had now obtained from his own gov-
ernment a clandestine commission to treat with the Mahrattas.

It was reported to Hastings, that already they had agreed to his terms,
and consented to yield to the French the port of Choul, on the coast of Mala-
bar. ¢ War is now inevitable,” said Hastings to his council; ‘‘let us then
be the first to strike a blow!”” It was resolved, that a division of the Bengal
army should be sent across the Jumna, and march through Bundelkhand
upon the peshwa’s country. Orders were sent to the council of Bombay to
enter into a concert of measures with Raghunath Rao, and strive by all means
to forward his pretensions. At the same time the governor-general com-
menced an active negotiation, and sought to form a close alliance with
another claimant to a principal place among the Mahratta chiefs — with
Bhonsla, the ruler of Berar.

It has been questioned, how far, in these dealings with the Mahrattas,
Hastings acted strictly in good faith. Certainly, at least, he is entitled to
the praise, at 4 most difficult crisis, of energy and skill. The news of the
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disaster at Saratoga, far from dampening his spirit, only animated his endea-
vours. ““If it be really true’’ — thus he spoke to his council—* that the
British arms and influence have suffered so severe a check in the western
world, it is the more incumbent on those who are charged with the interests
of Great Britain in the east to exert themselves for the retrieval of the national
loss.” On the 7th of July a letter from Mr. Baldwin, the consul of England
at Cairo, brought the news to Calcutta that in the month of March preceding
war had been proclaimed both in London and in Paris. Not an hour did
Hastings lose. “On the same day,” he says, “we wrote to the governor of
Fort St. George, to prepare for the immediate attack of Pondicherry; and we
set them an example on the 10th, by the capture of Chandarnagar.”

Pondicherry was invested by Sir Hector Munro, at the head of the Madras
army. It yielded, after a brave resistance and an engagement off the coast,
between the French and English squadrons. Then the French retained noth-
ing in India but Mahe, a small fort and settlement on the coast of Malabar;
and this also was reduced by the English from Madras, in the course of the
ensuing spring. Meanwhile, in Bengal, the zeal of Hastings had directed
the most active measures of defence. The governor-general thus wrote to a
private friend —“‘ The French, if they ever attempt the invasion of Bengal,
must make their way to it by an alliance with one of the powers of the coun-
try; and the only power with which that can be at present effected is the
Mahratta.,” To this Mahratta expedition, therefore, the eyes of Hastings
were anxiously turned. At first it was far from prospering.

On climbing the Ghats or passes and entering the Mahrattas’ territory,
Colonel Egerton was not joined, as Raghunath Rao had encouraged him to
hope, by any chief of importance, nor by any considerable number of adherents.
On the contrary, he saw around him irregular troops of hostile cavalry, retir-
ing as he advanced, but active and successful in cutting off his supplies. His
own movements at this juncture were sufficiently deliberate; only eight miles
in elevendays. In January, 1779, he had reached a point within sixteen miles
of Poona. There he found an army assembled to oppose him, and the com-
mittee-men, losing courage, made up their minds to a retreat. A retreat was
begun accordingly that night, and continued until the next afternoon, when,
at a place called Wargaum, the English found themselves surrounded and
hemmed in. One brave subaltern, Captain Hartley, offered to cut his way
through, and to carry back the littlearmy to Bombay, declaring that he could
rely upon his men. His superior officers, on the other hand, deemed any
such attempt chimerical, and determined to seek their safety in negotiation.
The terms required for their unmolested passage were hard indeed, yet hard
though they were, could not be disputed unless by arms. It was agreed that
all the acquisitions gained by the English from the Mahrattas, since the peace
of 1756, should be restored. It was further agreed, that the person of Rag-
hunath Rao should be given up, not indeed to the Poona chiefs, but to
Sindhia.

In mitigation of thislast ignominious clause we may observe that, even pre-
viously, Raghunath Rao, seeing the ill-plight of the English army, and despair-
ing of its safe return by force of arms, had declared his own intention of sur-
rendering himself to Sindhia, as to a mediator and umpire rather than an
enemy. Already for some days had he been in correspondence with that
chief. The committee felt, therefore, the less scruple in consenting to his
surrender when required as a stipulation of their treaty.

Yet, in spite of some such extenuating circumstances, the convention of
Wargaum may justly be regarded as the most discreditable to the arms of
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England ever framed since they had first appeared on Indian soil. To the
English, in all three presidencies, it seemed like a Saratoga in miniature. To
the French partisans throughout India it gave a bolder spirit and a louder
tone. It combined, if not the whole Mahratta empire, yet several more of
the Mahratta chiefs against the English. It revived the hopes, and diselosed
the animosity, both of the nizam and Hyder Ali; but on the mind of the
governor-general it had no effect. He refused to alter his plans: he refused
to recall his troops. On the contrary, he at once directed Goddard to
advance.

General Goddard (for to that higher rank was he speedily promoted)
justified the confidence of Hastings by his energy and skill. In his cam-
paign of that year and of the following, he, in great measure, retrieved and
worthily maintained the honour of the British arms. At one time we see
him reduce by storm the fort of Ahmadabad; at another time, by a siege,
the city of Bassein. On another occasion he appears gaining a victory over
the entire force, forty thousand strong, of Sindhia and Holkar combined.
Meanwhile Raghunath Rao had found early means to escape from the hands
of Sindhia, and took shelter in Surat. Thus the advantages to the Mahrattas
from the day of Wargaum proved fleeting and short-lived.

In a hilly district lying to the south of Agra, and bearing, at that time, the
name of Gohud, Hastings waged war upon a smaller scale. With the Hindu
prince, or rana, of that district he had concluded an alliance. The rana
being, in consequence, attacked by the Mahrattas, applied to his confederates
in Bengal; and a small body of troops, under Captain Popham, was sent to
his support. Not merely did Captain Popham, with little assistance from
the rana, clear Gohud from its invaders, but he carried the war into some
of the Mahratta country; he besieged and reduced the city of Lahar; and
gained renown throughout the east when he took, by escalade, a rock-fortress
which was deemed impregnable — the “ castled crag” of Gwalior.

In these and his other military measures Hastings was not left to rely
upon his own unassisted judgment. Sir Eyre Coote, invested with a two-
fold rank as commander of the forces and as member of the council, arrived
at Calcutta in March, 1779. He had no disposition to ally himself with
Francis, or intrigue against Hastings; yet he gave nearly as much trouble
to the latter as ever had Francis himself. The lapse of almost twenty years
since his last successes had not been without effect, either on his body or his
mind. He had become less active in his movements, and more fretful in
his temper. A love of gain had grown up side by side with his love of glory;
and strongly impressed with his own great merits, he was ever prone to deem
himself slighted or neglected. It required constant care in Hastings to avoid
or to explain away any causes of offence between them.

HASTINGS FIGHTS A DUEL WITH FRANCIS (1780 A.D.)

Early in the year 1780 an engagement was concluded, according to which
Francis proposed to desist from systematic opposition, and to acquiesce in
all the measures for the prosecution of the Mahratta war, while Hastings
undertook to appoint Mr. Fowke, and some other adherents of Francis, to
certain lucrative posts. On the faith of this agreement, and with the full
consent of Hastings, Barwell embarked for Europe. But only a few weeks
afterwards the old dissension at the council-board burst forth anew. The

-immediate cause was the expedition in Gohud. Hastings alleged that this
was only a branch of his Mahratta war; Francis, on the contrary, maintained
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that this was a separate object, to which he was not pledged, and which he
might freely oppose. The governor-general, on this oceasion, lost or laid
aside his customary calmness, and in reply to a minute of his rival, placed
on record, in council, the following words: “I do not trust to Mr. Francis’
promises of candour, convinced that he is incapable of it. I judge of his
public conduct by his private, which I have found to be void of truth and
honour.” When the council broke up, Francis drew the governor-general
into another chamber, and read to him a challenge; it was accepted by Hast-
i;lgs, and they met on the day but one after — on the morning of the 17th of

ugust.

Hastings and Francis fired at nearly the same instant; Hastings was
unharmed, but Francis was shot through the side. He was conveyed to an
adjacent house, where the surgeons found that although his wound was
severe his life was not in danger. He recovered, but early in the next
December gave up his office and returned to England. In taking that step,
Francis did no more than fulfil an intention which, finding his influence
wholly declined, he had formed even in the preceding year.

HASTINGS AT ODDS WITH THE SUPREME COURT

Dissension with Francis, however fierce, was no novelty to Hastings.
But during the same period he had to wage a painful warfare with a former
friend — Sir Elijah Impey. In the Regulating Act of 1773 the limits between
the judicial and political powers which it instituted had not been duly defined.
Thus it happened, that on several points in practice the supreme court came
to clash with the supreme council.

In the beginning of 1780 a suit had been brought against a wealthy land-
holder, the rajah of Cossijurah, by Cossinaut Baboo his agent at Calcutta,
when the judge issued a writ to sequester his lands and goods. For this
object an armed band, consisting of sixty men and commanded by a sergeant
of the court, was despatched to Cossijurah. The rajah had already fled from
his house. Nevertheless it was forcibly entered by the gang of bailiffs; nor
did they even shrink from breaking open the zenana, or the women’s cham-
bers, ever held sacred in the East amidst the worst barbarities of war. The
servants of the rajah stood at the threshold ready to resist, so far as they
could resist, what they deemed the dishonour of their master, but some of
them were wounded and the rest beaten back and overborne.

When these tidings reached Calcutta the governor-general, supported on
this one occasion by his council’s unanimous assent, took, as was his duty,
effectual measures of redress. A circular was issued to the landholders of
Bengal explaining that, unless in certain specified cases, they owed no obedi-
ence to the mandates of the supreme court. Upon this, all patience and all
prudence departed from Sir Elijah Impey and his brother judges. Even
the most violent steps did not seem to them too strong. They cast into

rison Mr. North Naylor, the company’s atterney, merely because as he was
gound to do, he had obeyed the orders of the council. They caused a sum-
mons to be served on each member of the council requiring him to appear
at their bar, and to answer for his public acts. Hastings and the other mem-
bers refused to obey the call. The judges pronounced the refusal to be a
clear contempt of his majesty’s law and of his courts.” It is difficult to say
to what extremities — scarcely short of civil war — this collision might have
grown, had not Cossinaut, no doubt on some secret inducements held out to
him by the governor-general, suddenly dropped his actions at law; thus
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depriving the judges of all present materials upon which their wrath could
build.

The immediate case might thus be dealt with, but a more permanent
remedy was needed. With this view, the fertile brain of Hastings devised
another scheme. Under the act of 1773 there were certain judicial powers
which belonged to the supreme council as a tribunal of appeal from some of
the provincial courts, but which the supreme council had neither sufficient
time, nor yet sufficient knowledge, to exert. Hastings proposed that these
powers should be henceforth vested in a judge appointed by the governor and
. council, and removable at their pleasure, and that this newly appointed judge
should be no other than the chief justice of the supreme court. Such was
the scheme which, in September, 1780, Hastings laid before his colleagues in
the government, and which, in spite of strenuous opposition from Francis
and from Wheler, was carried through. To Francis, who almost immediately
afterwards returned to England, there only remained the spiteful satisfaction
of spreading far and wide among his friends and the public at home the
charge that the chief justice had been bribed from a course of opposition by
a new salary of 8,000l. a year.

It is true that the council did determine that a salary —not, as was said,
of eight thousand, but of five thousand pounds a year — should be attached
to the new office. Sir Elijah stated, however, that he should refuse to accept
any part of this money until the opinion of the lord chancellor had been asked
and obtained from England. There are still extant the regular vouchers of
the sums paid to the chief justice in pursuance of the council’s order, and
paid back by him to the company’s account. And in point of fact, neither
then nor at any time afterwards was a single rupee of this new salary received
for his own use by Sir Elijah Impey.

THE OUTBREAK OF HYDER ALI (1780 A.D.)

The Mahratta campaign, and the altercations with Francis and with
Impey, however burthensome to Hastings, were not at this time his only
nor yet his greatest care. Another and more pressing danger rose in view.
Hyder Ali, the mighty sovereign of Mysore, had observed with much dis-
pleasure, the British expedition to Mahe. He saw that the English were
now entangled in a difficult war with the Mahrattas, and that a French
armament was soon expected on the coast of Coromandel. He drew together
an army which amounted, or at least which popular terror magnified, to
ninety thousand men. These forces were not wholly wanting in European
discipline; they had been trained, in part, by good officers from France, and
the)l'1 drew into the field, with competent artillerymen, one hundred pieces of
artillery.

The government of Madras was, almost to the last, unconscious of its
danger. The English chiefs were nearly taken by surprise, when, in the height
of summer, the horsemen of Mysore, the vanguard of Hyder's army, came
dashing down the passes that lead from their wild hills. This was the invasion
which some years afterwards was described with so much glowing eloquence
by Burke in his speech on the nawab of Arcot’s debts, February 28th, 1783.
This was the ““ black cloud that hung for awhile on the declivities of the moun-
tains.” This was the ‘“menacing meteor which blackened all the horizon
until it suddenly burst and poured down the whole of its contents upon the
plains of the Carnatic.”

At the approach of Hyder’s army, the frontier posts, held by sepoys, sur-
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rendered with but slight resistance; and his onward progress was marked by
fire and the sword. From the summit of St. Thomas’ Mount the people of
Madras could see, on the horizon, columns of dark smoke ascend from the
burning villages. In the field there were already some not wholly inconsid-
erable forces. Sir Hector Munro had above five thousand men, and Colonel
Baillie above three.

Had Baillie and Munro at once combined their forces, as they might and
should, it seems probable, from the much larger number of Kuropeans in
their ranks, that they might have stood firm against all the armies of Mysore.
But their torpor, or perhaps their jealousy, delayed them, and thus enabled
Hyder to assail them singly, while yet only a few miles asunder. On the 10th
of September the troops of Baillie were overwhelmed and cut to pieces. A
similar fate might have befallen Munro had he not saved himself by a pre-
cipitate retreat towards Mount St. Thomas, first casting his artillery into the
tanks, and relinquishing his baggage and stores. Thus only the walled towns
remained to the English: all the open country was, or would be, Hyder’s.

THE ACTIVITY OF HASTINGS; THE VICTORIES OF EYRE COOTE

A swift-sailing ship, despatched for the express purpose, brought these
ill-tidings to Calcutta on the 23rd of the same month. On no occasion, either
before or since, were the genius, the energy, the master-spirit of Hastings more
signally displayed. In a single day he framed a new system of policy,
renouncing his late favourite schemes, and contemplating only the altered
state of public affairs. In his own words—“ All my hopes of aggrandising
the British name and enlarging the interests of the company, gave instant
place to the more urgent call to support the existence of both in the Carnatic;
nor did T hesitate a moment to abandon my own views for such an object.
The Mahratta war has been, and is yet, called mine. Gods knows why. I
was forced into it. It began with the acts of others unknown to me. Inever
professed any other design but to support the presidency of Bombay, if it
had succeeded in the plans which it had formed, or to protect and save them
if they failed. Perhaps the war with Hyder may be, in like manner, called
my war.”’ '

On the 25th of September the council met. The governor-general pro-
posed that a treaty not merely of peace but of alliance should be tendered
to the Mahrattas, yielding the main points at issue in the war; that every
soldier available in Bengal should at once be shipped off to Madras; that
fifteen lacs of rupees should without delay be despatched to the same quarter;
that Sir Eyre Coote, as alone sufficient, should be requested to assume the
chief command against Mysore; and that the powers allowed to the supreme
presidency by the act of 1773 should be strained to the utmost, by superseding
Mr. Whitehill, the new and incapable governor of Fort St. George.

Hyder Ali, since his great successes over Baillie and Munro, had reduced
the fort of Arcot, and was besieging Wandewash and Vellore. But the
arrival of the new commander and of the reinforcements from Bengal struck
his mind with awe. He raised the siege of both places when, in January, 1781,
he saw Coote take the field, though still with most scanty forces and inade-
quate supplies. Sir Eyre, apprehensive of a rising among the French so lately
subdued, next marched south and encamped on the Red Hills of Pondicherry.
Later in the season he advanced to Porto Novo, a haven some forty miles
further to the southward. There, on the 1st of July, he succeeded in bring-
ing Hyder to a battle. He had only between eight and nine thousand men
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opposed to the myriads of Mysore. Yet such was the ascendancy of European
valour and European skill, that after six hours of conflict Hyder’s forces fled
in utter disarray, leaving on the field several thousand dead and wounded,
while upon the side of the English the loss scarcely exceeded four hundred
men.

The victory at Porto Novo was not left unimproved by Coote. He turned,
and with good effect, towards Wandewash, which was again besieged.
“ Wandewash is safe’” — thus he wrote to the government of Madras — it
being the third time in my life I have had the honour to relieve it.”
Hyder then fell back to what he deemed a lucky spot, as it certainly was a
strong position; the very ground on which, in the preceding year, he had
defeated Baillie. There, on the 27th of August, he engaged in another
battle with Sir Eyre.

In this action, to which a neighbouring village gave its name of Pollilore,
the ground was so unfavourable to the English, that Sir Hector Munro, who
commanded the first line, could not forbear a remonstrance to his chief.
“You talk to me, sir, when you should be doing your duty!’”’ —such was the
stern reply; a reply which, rankling in the mind of Munro, caused him to
retire from active service to Madras, and from thence next year to England.
The results of Pollilore were far less decisive, and purchased by much heavier
sacrifice than those of Porto Novo; yet still, at the close, the flight of Hyder
from his chosen ground left to Coote, undoubtedly, both the honour and the
advantage of the day. The open country was recovered; and the Carnatic
was saved.

From Calcutta the governor-general had lost no time in commencing a.
negotiation for peace with the Mahrattas. But this was long protracted by
the number of their chiefs, and the intricacy of the relations between them;
and it was not till the spring of 1782 that the treaties were finally concluded
at Salbye. Meanwhile, the entire strain of the war, both with Poona and
Mysore, fell upon the presidency of Bengal, from which, nevertheless, large
remittances were still expected by the directors and proprietors at home.
Under these pressing circumstances, Hastings was compelled to seek new
sources of supply.c

HASTINGS’ EXACTIONS IN BENARES AND OUDH

A considerable economy was effected by a reform in the establishment for
collecting the land tax. The government monopolies of opium and salt were
then for the first time placed upon a remunerative basis. But these reforms
were of necessity slow in their beneficial operation. The pressing demands
of the military chest had to be satisfied by loans, and in at least one case from
the private purse of the governor-general. Ready cash could alone fill up the
void; and it was to the hordes of native princes that Hastings’ fertile mind
at once turned. Cheyte Sing, rajah of Benares, the greatest of the vassal
chiefs who had grown rich under the protection of the British rule, lay under
the suspicion of disloyalty. The wazir of Oudh had fallen into arrears in the
payment due for the maintenance of the company’s garrison posted in his
dominions, and his administration was in great disorder. In his case the
ancestoral hordes were under the control of his mother, the begum of Oudh,
into whose hands they had been allowed to pass at the time when Hastings
was powerless in counecil.

Hastings resolved to make a progress up country in order to arrange the
affairs of both provinces, and bring back all the treasure that could be squeezed
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out of its holders by his personal intervention. When he reached Benares
and presented his demands, the rajah rose in insurrection, and the governor-
general barely escaped with his life.!  But the faithful Popham rapidly rallied
a force for his defence. The native soldiery were defeated again and again;
Cheyte Sing took to flight, and an augmented permanent tribute was imposed
upon hissuccessor.?
The Oudh business
was managed with
lessrisk. The wazir
consented to every-
thin% demanded of
him.

The city and
palace of Faizabad,
in which the two
princesses dwelt,
were surrounded
and reduced by a
body of British
troops. Still, how-
ever, the begums
would not part
with any portion
of their hidden
treasure. The dif-
ficulty was how to
discover or lay
hands upon it
without profaning,
as the races of the
East conceive, the -
sacred bounds of BupDHIST TOPE IN BENARES
the zenana. It was
resolved to arrest and confine two aged eunuchs, the heads of the household,
and the principal ministers of the princesses. These men were cast into prison,
and loaded with irons; and on finding them obdurate, an order was issued in
January, 1782, that until they yielded they should be debarred from all food.
This order, to the shame and opprobrium not only of himself and his employer,
glut even of the English name in India, bore the signature of Nathaniel Mid-

eton.

[' He set forth from the city by night, yet not unobserved, the rabble hooting him as he
rode along, with a jingling rhyme not yet forgotten in Benares:

‘“ Hat’ hee pur howdah, ghore pur jeen,
Juldee bab’r jata Sahib Warren Husteen !”

‘‘ Horse, elephant, howdah, set off at full speed,
Ride away my Lord Warren Hastings | ”

“It is a nursery rhyme which is often sung to children (at Benares),” says Bishop Heber.¢]

[? Pitt, daring the trial of Hastings in 1786, said that Hastings had a right to impose & fine
on Cheyte Sing. ¢ But, in fining the rajah £500,000, for a mere delay to pay £50,000, which
£50,000 he had actually paid, Mr. Hastings proceeded in an arbitrary, tyrannical manner, and
was not guided by any principle of reason and justice. The punishment was utterly dispro-
portionate, and shamefully exorbitant.”] .
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To the pangs of hunger the aged ministers gave way, and within two days
agreed to disburse the sum which was then required. But that sum was only
a part of the whole demand. To extort the rest other most rigorous measures
were employed. The two prisoners were removed from Faizabad to Lucknow.
The weight of their irons was increased; torture was threatened, and perhaps
inflicted; certain it is, at least, that every facility was granted by the British
assistant resident to the officers of the vizir, who were sent for that purpose to
the prison-house. Meanwhile at Faizabad the palace-gates of the princesses
continued to be strictly guarded. Food was allowed to enter, but not always
in sufficient quantities for the number of the inmates, so that the begums
might be wrought upon by the distress of their attendants. “The melancholy
cries of famine,”’ says a British officer upon the spot, “are more easily imagined
than described.” Thus, through the greater part of 1782, severity followed
severity, and sum was exacted after sum. The ministers were not set free,
nor the princesses relieved from duresse until after there had been obtained
from them treasure exceeding in amount one million sterling. Notwithstand-
ing all their pleas of poverty — pleas perfectly justifiable in the face of such
oppression — there was still remaining in their hands property to the value
of at least one million more.

Certainly, in one respect at least, Hastings may deserve to be far distin-
guished above the long line of robbers — magistrates of story — from Verres
the praetor down to Monaien Rapinat. He plundered for the benefit of the
state, and not his own. His main thought was that he had a great empire to
save — and he did save it. Yet with all due appreciation of his object, and
with all due allowance for his difficulties, his conduct to the princesses of
Oudh appears incapable of any valid vindication, and alike repugnant to the
principles of justice and humanity.c Hastings appears to have been not
altogether satisfied with the incidents of this expedition, and to have antici-
pated the censure which it received in England. As a measure of precaution
he procured documentary evidence of the rebellious intentions of the rajah and
the begums to the validity of which Impey obligingly lent his extra-judicial
sanction.

The remainder of Hastings’ term in office in India was passed in compara-~
tive tranquillity, both from internal opposition and foreign war. The centre
of interest now shifts to the India House and to the British parliament. The
long struggle between the company and the ministers of the crown for the
supreme control of Indian affairs and the attendant patronage had reached
its climax. The decisive success of Hastings’ administration alone postponed
the inevitable solution. His original term of five years would have expired
in 1778; but it was annually prolonged by special act of parliament until his
voluntary resignation. Though Hastings was thus irremovable, his policy
did not escape censure. Ministers were naturally anxious to obtain the rever-
sion to his vacant post, and Indian affairs formed at this time the hinge on
which party politics turned On one occasion Dundas carried a motion in
the house of commons censuring Hastings, and demanding his recall. The
directors of the company were disposed to act upon this resolution; but in
the court of proprietors, with whom the decision ultimately lay, Hastings
always possessed a sufficient majority.b

WAR WITH THE DUTCH AND FRENCH (1781-1783 A.D.)

Thus was Hastings upheld at his post; thus might his energies still main-
tain the varying fortunes of the war in the Carnatic. To that war he con-
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tinued to apply most strenuously all the men and all the money he could
raise. His public-spirited endeavours were well seconded by those of the
new governor of Fort St. George, Lord Macartney, who had gained some repu-
tation by negotiating a treaty of commerce with Russia, and who mainly on
that ground had been appointed to Madras. Lord Macartney brought out-
from England the news of the declaration of war against the Dutch; and it
became one of his first objects to reduce the settlements which they possessed
on the coasts of Coromandel and Ceylon. He was successful with regard to
the Dutch factories at Sadras and Pulicat. Next he fitted out a more con-
siderable expedition against the more important settlement of Negapatam.

In November, 1781, Negapatam was accordingly besieged and taken,
several thousand Dutch troops, after a resolute resistance, being made pris-
oners on this occasion. Inspirited by that exploit, a body of five hundred
men was put on board the fleet, and sent to the attack of Fort Ostenburg and
Trincomalee, in the island of Ceylon. This service, also, was no less suc-
cessfully performed, but was much more than counterbalanced by the disaster
which, in February, 1782, befell another British detachment in the district of
Tanjore. There Colonel Braithwaite, at the head of one hundred Europeans
and eighteen hundred sepoys, found himself surrounded and surprised by an
army of Mysore, under Hyder’s son Tipu and M. Lally. He and his men
fought most bravely, but at last were overpowered by superior numbers; and
all either cut to pieces or taken captive and consigned to the dungeons of
Seringapatam.

In the same month of February, 1782, the armament from France, so long
expected, appeared off the coast of Coromandel. Its command had devolved
on Suffren, one of the best seamen whom his country can boast. Already,
on his outward voyage, he had fought a pitehed battle with an_English squad-
ron at Porto Praya, in one of the Cape Verd islands. By his prompt
arrival at the Cape of Good Hope, he had secured that colony against the
same squadron for his new allies the Dutch. In India it was one of his first
cares to land at Porto Novo two thousand French soldiers whom he had on
board, to form, with their countrymen already serving, an auxiliary force
to the armies of Mysore. These troops being joined by Tipu, flushed as he
was then with his triumph over Colonel Braithwaite, they proceeded in con-
junction to invest Cuddalore, a seaport town between Porto Novo and Pon-
dicherry. Having to encounter only a feeble garrison of four hundred men,
they easily prevailed in their attack; and Cuddalore, thus wrested from
the English, became of great importance to the French, both as a place of
arms and as a harbour, during the whole remainder of the war.

It so chanced that at the very time when the armament from France
appeared in the Indian seas, the British fleet in that quarter was seasonably
reinforced by several new ships from England. De Suffren and Sir Edward
Hughes, the two admirals here opposed to each other, were antagonists well
matched both for skill and intrepidity. In the period between February,
1782, and June, 1783, no less than five pitched battles were fought between
them. In these their force was very nearly equal, with only a slight superi-
ority on most occasions on the side of the French. But in none of these was
any decisive advantage gained by either party. No ship of war was captured;
no overwhelming loss of men was achieved; and, in turning to the best account
the results of every action, Suffren showed a far superior skill, especially in
retaking Trincomalee and relieving Cuddalore.

The arrival of the French auxiliaries to the forces of Mysore was, in a great
measure, counterbalanced by the peace which at this time Hastings con-
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cluded with the Mahratta estates. Thus, the English could continue to wage,
on no unequal terms, the war in the Carnatic until, in December, 1782, it
received a new turn from the illness and death of Hyder Ali. This event was
concealed as long as possible, to afford time for Tipu, who was then upon the
coast of Malabar, to return and claim in person the allegiance of the people
and the troops.  But when the intelligence did at last reach Caleutta, 1t fired
anew the energies of Sir Eyre Coote. Weak health had compelled the failing
veteran, after one more battle with Hyder at Arnee, to withdraw from the
field in the Carnatic, and sail back to his council-chambers of Bengal. Now,
however, he felt, or he fancied, his strength in some degree restored; and he
was eager to measure swords against the new sultan. For this purpose he
embarked in an armed vessel which carried out supplies of money to Madras.
This, towards the close of its voyage, was chased for two days and two nights
by some French ships of the line. During all this time the general’s anxiety
kept him constantly on deck. The excessive heat by day, the unwholesome
dews at night, wrought sad havoc on his already wasted frame; and thus,
although the ship escaped from its pursuers, Sir Eyre Coote expired in April,
1783, only two days after he had landed at Madras.

Tipu during this time had returned to the coast of Malabar. There he
had to wage war against General Mathews and a body of troops from Bombay
set free by the peace with the Mahrattas. The English general at first had
great successes, reducing both Bednur and Mangalore. But the appearance
of the sultan at the head of fifty thousand men changed the scene. Mathews
was besieged in Bednur and taken prisoner with all his Europeans. Being
accused, though unjustly, of a breach of faith, he was put in irons, and sent
in the strictest duresse with many,of his comrades to Seringapatam, there
to perish in the dungeons of the tyrant.

At Madras the command of the forees, in the absence of Sir Eyre, had
devolved, though far less adequately, on General Stuart. That officer, in
the spring of 1783, commenced operations against the French in Cuddalore,
who had lately received from Europe some considerable reinforcements under
De Bussy. The lines in front of the town, which Bussy had well fortified,
were assailed by Stuart with more of intrepidity than skill. The fleets on
both sides hastened to the scene of action; but suddenly at the close of June
the tidings came that the preliminaries of peace between France and England
had been signed at Versailles. By that compact, Pondicherry and the other
settlements of France in India, as they stood before the war, were to be
restored. The French took possession accordingly, but, on the other hand,
they recalled their detachment serving under Tipu in Malabar, and prepared
to sail back with their armament to France.

Tipu then remained alone. He had set his heart on adding lustre to his
arms by reducing in person the stronghold of Mangalore, but, having achieved
that object in the autumn of 1783, he was no longer disinclined to treat
with the English upon the footing of a mutual restitution of all conquests made
since the commencement of the war. Thus was peace restored through all
the wide extent of India, and thus did the administration of Hastings, which
endured until the spring of 1785, close, after all its storms, with scarce a cloud
upon its sky.c

THE IMPEACHMENT OF WARREN HASTINGS

. Francis had returned to Europe, with the wound inflicted by Hastings’
pistol fresh on his body, and with the bitterest feelings of animosity rankling
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in his heart. He had made the acquaintance of Burke before he went to the
east; he corresponded with him during his residence at Calcutta; and on
his return he had full possession of his ear, and filled Burke’s generous and
excitable mind with false and horrible tales against Hastings, and against all
who had supported that governor-general in his struggle with Francis, Claver-
ing, and Monson. From the moment of Francis’ arrival in England, by means
of pamphlets, books of travels, harangues at public meetings, private dis-
cussions, and parliamentary orations, a merciless war was commenced against
the great man who was saving, and who in the end did both save and enlarge
the Indian Empire of Great Britain. It was soon resolved to impeach Hastings
for the means he had employed to effect the great object.

Hastings, however, was not recalled; he resigned. The last two years of
his administration in India formed by far the happiest period of his public
life. The peace with France, which paralyzed the most powerful of the native
princes, enabled him to get the whole country into a state of tranquillity
and prosperity which had not been known for many ages. It also enabled
him to extend the British influence in several new directions, and to confirm
it in others. Having completed his preparations, he embarked on the 8th
of February, 1785, attended by demonstrations that certainly did not mark
him out as a tyrant and a monster. As soon as it was publicly known that
he was really about to quit the government, which he had held for thirteen
years, numerous addresses were got up and presented by all classes; by
military officers, by the civil servants of the company, by factors and traders,
by natives as well as Europeans.

He was most favourably received at court; but his enemies did not leave
him long tranquil. Francis had obtained a seat in parliament, ranging him-
self on the side of the most active and the most eloquent opposition party
that the country had yet seen, and through Francis and his too credulous
ally, Burke, the prosecution of Hastings was made a party question. It took
some time and trouble to convert Charles Fox, but at last that statesman
entered into the crusade against the governor-general with his constitutional
heat and impetuosity. Sheridan, Sir Gilbert Elliot, Sir John Anstruther,
Mr. Windham, Mr., afterwards Earl Grey, and all the great whig orators either
preceded or followed Fox; and for many years their efforts were united to
effect the ruin and disgrace of Warren Hastings, who was no orator, who had
no seat in parliament, and who had to contend with nearly every possible
disadvantage. The mere outlines of the proceedings would fill a volume —
they lasted altogether more than ten years; and without details still more
voluminous, an adequate notion could not be conveyed of this unprecedented
perSfcution. We can here do no more than describe the scene and give the
results.

On the 4th of April, Burke charged Warren Hastings, Esquire, late gov-
ernor-general of Bengal, etc., with sundry high crimes and_misdemeanours,
and delivered at the table nine of his articles of charge. In the course of
the following week he presented twelve more articles; and on the 6th of
May another charge, being the twenty-second, was added to the long and
bewildering list. But the several accusations were finally confined to four
heads: The oppression and final expulsion of the rajah of Benares; the mal-
treatment and robbery of the begums of the house of Oudh; and the charges
of receiving presents and conniving at unfair contracts and extravagant
expenditure. The sessions of 1786-1787 having been consumed in preliminary
proceedings, the house of lords assembled in Westminster Hall, February
13th, 1788, to try the impeachment.9
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MACAULAY’S PICTURE OF THE TRIAL

There have been spectacles more dazzling to the eye, more gorgeous with
jewellery and cloth of gold, more attractive to grown-up children, than that
which was then exhibited at Westminster; but, perhaps, there never was a
spectacle so well calculated to strike a highly cultivated, a reflecting, an
imaginative mind. All the various kinds of interest which belong to the
near and to the distant, to the present and to the past, were collected on one
spot and in one hour. All the talents and all the accomplishments which are
developed by liberty and civilisation were now displayed, with every advan-
tage that could be derived both from co-operation and from contrast. Every
step in the proceedings carried the mind either backward, through many
troubled centuries, to the days when the foundations of the British constitu-
tion were laid; or far away, over boundless seas and deserts, to dusky nations
living under strange stars, worshipping strange gods, and writing strange
characters from right to left. The high court of parliament was to sit, accord-
ing to forms handed down from the days of the Plantagenets, on an English-
man accused of exercising tyranny over the lord of the holy city of Benares,
and over the ladies of the princely house of OQudh.

The place was worthy of such a trial. It was the great hall of William
Rufus, the hall which had resounded with acclamations at the inauguration
of thirty kings, the hall which had witnessed the just sentence of Bacon and
the just absolution of Somers, the hall where the eloquence of Strafford had
for a moment awed and melted a victorious party inflamed with just resent-
ment, the hall where Charles had confronted the high court of justice with the
placid courage which has half redeemed his fame. Neither military nor civil
pomp was wanting. The avenues were lined with grenadiers. The streets
were kept clear by cavalry. The peers, robed in gold and ermine, were
marshalled by the heralds under garter king-at-arms. The judges in their
vestments of state attended to give advice on points of law. Near a hundred
and seventy Jords, three-fourths of the upper house as the upper house then
was, walked in solemn order from their usual place of assembling to the
tribunal. The junior baron present led the way, George Eliott, Lord Heath-
field, recently ennobled for his memorable defence of Gibraltar against the
fleets and armies of France and Spain. The long procession was closed by
the duke of Norfolk, earl marshal of the realm, by the great dignitaries, and
by the brothers and sons of the king. Last of all came the prince of Wales,
conspicuous by his fine person and noble bearing.

The grey old walls were hung with scarlet. The long galleries were
crowded by an audience such as has rarely excited the fears or the emulation
of an orator. There were gathered together, from all parts of a great, free,
enlightened, and prosperous empire, grace and female loveliness, wit and
learning, the representatives of every science and of every art. There were
seated round the queen the fair-haired young daughters of the house of Bruns-
wick. There the ambassadors of great kings and commonwealths gazed with
admiration on a spectacle which no other country in the world could present.
There Siddons, in the prime of her majestic beauty, looked with emotion on a,
scene surpassing all the imitations of the stage. There the historian of the
Roman empire thought of the days when Cicero pleaded the cause of Sicily
against Verres, and when, before a senate which still retained some show of free-
dom, Tacitus thundered against the oppressor of Africa. There were seen, side
by side, the greatest painter and the greatest scholar of the age.  The spectacle
had allured Reynolds from that easel which has preserved to us the thoughtful
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foreheads of so many writers and statesmen, and the sweet smiles of so many
noble matrons. It had induced Parr to suspend his labours in that dark and
profound mine from which he had extracted a vast treasure of erudition, a
treasure too often buried in the earth, too often paraded with injudicious and
inelegant ostentation, but still precious, massive, and splendid. There
appeared the voluptuous charms of her to whom the heir of the throne had in
secret plighted his faith, There too was she, the beautiful mother of a beau-
tiful race, the Saint Cecilia, whose delicate features, lighted up by love and
musie, art has rescued from the common decay. There were the members
of that brilliant society which quoted, criticised, and exchanged repartees,
under the rich peacock hangings of Mrs. Montague. And there the ladies
whose lips, more persuasive than those of Fox himself, had carried the West-
minster election against palace and treasury, shone round Georgiana, Duchess
of Devonshire.

The sergeants made proclamation. Hastings advanced to the bar, and
bent his knee. The culprit was indeed not unworthy of that great presence.
He had ruled an extensive and populous country; had made laws and treat-
jes, had sent forth armies, had set up and pulled down princes. And in his
high place he had so borne himself, that all had feared him, that most had
loved him, and that hatred itself could deny him no title to glory, except
virtue. He looked like a great man, and not like a bad man. A person small
and emaciated, yet deriving dignity from a carriage which, while it indicated
deference to the court, indicated also habitual self-possession and self-respect;
a high and intellectual forehead; a brow pensive, but not gloomy; a mouth
of inflexible decision; a face pale and worn, but serene, on which was written,
as legibly as under the picture in the council-chamber at Caleutta, Mens equa
in arduis; such was the aspect with which the great proconsul presented him-
self to his judges.

But neither the culprit nor his advocates attracted so much notice as the
accusers. In the midst of the blaze of red drapery, a space had been fitted up
with green benches and tables for the commons. The managers, with Burke
at their head, appeared in full dress. The collectors of gossip did not fail to
remark that even Fox, generally so regardless of his appearance, had paid to
the illustrious tribunal the compliment of wearing a bag and sword. Pitt had
refused to be one of the conductors of the impeachment; and his commanding,
copious, and sonorous eloquence was wanting to that great muster of various
talents. Age and blindness had unfitted Lord North for the duties of a public
prosecutor; and his friends were left without the help of his excellent sense,
his tact, and his urbanity. But, in spite of the absence of these two distin-
guished members of the lower house, the box in which the managers stood
contained an array of speakers such as perhaps had not appeared together
since the great age of Athenian eloquence. There were Fox and Sheridan,
the English Demosthenes and the English Hyperides. There was Burke,
ignorant, indeed, or negligent of the art of adapting his reasonings and his
style to the capacity and taste of his hearers, but in amplitude of compre-
hension and richness of imagination superior to every orator, ancient or
modern. There, with eyes reverentially fixed on Burke, appeared the finest
gentleman of the age, his form developed by every manly exercise, his face
beaming with intelligence and spirit, the ingenious, the chivalrous, the high-
souled Windham.

On the third day Burke rose; four sittings were occupied by his opening
speech, which was intended to be a general introduction to all the charges.
With an exuberance of thought and a splendour of diction which more than
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satisfied the highly raised expectation of the audience, he described the char-
acter and institutions of the natives of India, recounted the circumstances in
which the Asiatic empire of Britain had originated, and set forth the constitu-
tion of the company and of the English presidencies. Having thus attempted
to communicate to his hearers an idea of eastern society, as vivid as that
which existed in his own mind, he proceeded to arraign the administration of
Hastings as systematically conducted in defiance of morality and public law.
The energy and pathos of the great orator extorted expressions of unwonted
admiration from the stern and hostile chancellor, and, for a moment, seemed
to pierce even the resolute heart of the defendant. The ladies in the galleries,
unaccustomed to such displays of eloquence, excited by the solemnity of the
occasion, and perhaps not unwilling to display their taste and sensibility,
were in a state of uncontrollable emotion. Handkerchiefs were pulled out;
smelling bottles were handed round; hysterical sobs and screams were heard:
and Mrs. Sheridan was carried out in a fit. At length the orator concluded.
Raising his voice till the old arches of Irish oak resounded:

“Therefore,” said he, “hath it with all confidence been ordered, by the
commons of Great Britain, that I impeach Warren Hastings of high crimes and
misdemeanours. I impeach him in the name of the commons’ house of parlia~
ment, whose trust he has betrayed. I impeach him in the name of the Eng-
lish nation, whose ancient honour he has sullied. I impeach him in the name
of the people of India, whose rights he has trodden under foot, and whose
country he has turned into a desert. Lastly, in the name of human nature
itself, in the name of both sexes, in the name of every age, in the name of every
rank, I impeach the common enemy and oppressor of all!”’

When the deep murmur of various emotions had subsided, Mr. Fox rose to
address the lords respecting the course of proceeding to be followed. The
wish of the accusers was that the court would bring to a close the investigation
of the first charge before the second was opened. The wish of Hastings and
of his counsel was that the managers should open all the charges, and produce
all the evidence for the prosecution, before the defence began. The lords
retired to their own house to consider the question. The chancellor took
the side of Hastings. Lord Loughborough, who was now in opposition, sup-
ported the demand of the managers. The division showed which way the
inclination of the tribunal leaned. A majority of near three to one decided in
favour of the course for which Hastings contended.

When the court sat again, Mr. Fox, assisted by Mr. Grey, opened the charge
respecting Cheyte Sing, and several days were spent in reading papers and
hearing witnesses. The next article was that relating to the princesses of
Oudh. The conduct of this part of the case was entrusted to Sheridan. The
curiosity of the public to hear him was unbounded. His sparkling and highly
finished declamation lasted two days; but the hall was crowded to suffocation
during the whole time. It was said that fifty guineas had been paid for a
single ticket. Sheridan when he concluded contrived, with a knowledge of
stage effect which his father might have envied, to sink back, as if exhausted,
into the arms of Burke, who hugged him with the energy of generous admira-
tion.

June was now far advanced. The session could not last much longer;
and the progress which had been made in the impeachment was not very
satisfactory. There were twenty charges. On two only of these had even
the case for the prosecution been heard; and it was now a year since Hastings
had been admitted to bail. v

The interest taken by the public in the trial was great when the court
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began to sit, and rose to the height when Sheridan spoke on the charge relating
to the begums: From that time the excitement went down fast. The
spectacle had lost the attraction of novelty. The great displays of rhetoric
were over. What was behind was not of a nature to entice men of letters from
their books in the morning, or to tempt ladies who had left the masquerade
at two to be out of bed before eight. There remained examinations and
cross-examinations. There remained statements of accounts. There re-
mained the reading of papers, filled with words unintelligible to English ears,
with lacs and crores, zemindars and aumals, sunnuds and perwannahs, jaghires
and nuzzurs. There remained bickerings, not always carried on with the
best taste or with the best temper, between the managers of the impeach-
ment and the counsel for the defence, particularly between Mr. Burke and
Mr. Law. There remained the endless marches and countermarches of the
peers between their house and the hall; for as often as a point of law was to
be discussed, their lordships retired to discuss it apart; and the consequence
was, as a peer wittily said, that the judges walked and the trial stood still.”

THE FINAL ACQUITTAL OF HASTINGS (1795 A.D.)

The sessions of 1788, 1789, and 1790 were consumed in going through the
case for the prosecution. In 1791 the commons expressed their wiilingness
to abandon some part of the charges, with the view of bringing this extra-
ordinary trial sooner to an end; and on the 2nd of June, the seventy-third
day, Mr. Hastings began his defence. This was protracted until April 17th,
1795, on which (the one hundred and forty-eighth) day he was acquitted by a
large majority on every separate article charged against him.

The opposition party, who at that time almost monopolised the public
press, had deeply blackened the character of the benefactor of his country
and the people of India; yet public opinion changed greatly during the long
trial, and Hastings came to be regarded as an oppressed, instead of an
offending man. The malice of Francis was so far defeated; but the law
charges of the defence had exhausted the fortune of the late governor-general;
and but for an annuity of £4,000, and a loan of ready money granted to him by
the East India Company, in 1796, the illustrious and (in private life) amiable
Hastings might have been left to end his days in a prison or a poorhouse.

Strenuous efforts had also been made by the parliamentary opposition to
couple Sir Elijah Impey, the first chief-justice of Bengal, with the first gov-
ernor-general. Prompted by Francis, and acting in concert with Burke, Fox,
and the rest of the opposition leaders, Sir Gilbert Elliot, on the 12th of Decem-
ber, 1787, denounced Sir Elijah, in the house of commons, as the single sole
murderer of Nandkumar, and moved his impeachment upon that and upon
five other charges. But on the 9th of May, Sir Elijah was acquitted of the
Nandkumar charge by a parliament majority, and this put an end to all
proceedings against him.g

Macaulay’s Estimate of Hastings

As Hastings himself said, the arraignment had taken place before one
generation, and the judgment was pronounced by another. Of about one
hundred and sixty nobles who walked in the procession on the first day, sixty
had been laid in their family vaults. Still more affecting must have been
the sight of the managers’ box. It had been scattered by calamities more
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bitter than the bitterness of death. The great chiefs were still living. But
their friendship was at an end.

Hastings was a ruined man. The legal expenses of his defence had been
enormous. The expenses which did not appear in his attorney’s bill were
perhaps larger still. Great sums had been paid to Major Scott. Great sums
had been laid out in bribing newspapers, rewarding pamphleteers, and circu-
lating tracts. Burke, so early as 1790, declared in the house of commons that
twenty thousand pounds had been employed in corrupting the press. It is
certain that no controversial weapon, from the gravest reasoning to the coarsest
ribaldry, was left unemployed. Logan defended the accused governor with
great ability in prose. For the lovers of verse the speeches of the managers
were burlesqued in Simpkin’s letters. It is, we are afraid, indisputable that
Hastings stooped so low as to court the aid of that malignant and filthy baboon
John Williams, who called himself Anthony Pasquin. It was necessary to
subsidise such allies largely. The private hoards of Mrs. Hastings had dis-
appeared. It is said that the banker to whom they had been entrusted had
failed. Still if Hastings had practised strict economy, he would after all his
losses have had a moderate competence; but in the management of his private
affairs he was imprudent. The dearest wish of his heart had always been to
regain Daylesford. At length, in the very year in which his trial commenced,
the wish was accomplished; and the domain, alienated more than seventy
years before, returned to the descendants of its old lords. But the manor
house was a ruin; and the grounds round it had during many years been utterly
neglected. Hastings proceeded to build, to plant, to form a sheet of water,
to excavate a grotto; and, before he was dismissed from the bar of the house
of lords, he had expended more than forty thousand pounds in adorning his seat.

On a general review of the long administration of Hastings, it is impossible
to deny that, against the great crimes by which it is blemished, we have to set
off great public services. England had passed through a perilous crisis.
Nevertheless, in every part of the world, except one, she had been a loser.
Not only had she been compelled to acknowledge the independence of thirteen
colonies peopled by her children, and to conciliate the Irish by giving up the
right of legislating for them; but, in the Mediterranean, in the Gulf of Mexico,
on the coast of Africa, on the continent of America, she had been compelled to
cede the fruits of her victories in former wars. Spain regained Minorca and
Florida; France regained Senegal, Goree, and several West Indian islands.
The only quarter of the world in which Britain had lost nothing was the
quarter in which her interests had been committed to the care of Hastings.
In spite of the utmost exertions both of European and Asiatic enemies, the
power of our country in the East had been greatly augmented. Benares was
subjected; the nawab vizir reduced to vassalage. That our influence had
been thus extended, nay, that Fort William and Fort St. George had not been
occupied by hostile armies, was owing, if we may trust the general voice of the
English in India, to the skill and resolution of Hastings.

His internal administration, with all its blemishes, gives him a title to be
considered as one of the most remarkable men in our history. He dissolved
the double government. He transferred the direction of affairs to English
hands. Out of a frightful anarchy, he educed at least a rude and imperfect
order. The whole organisation by which justice was dispensed, revenue col-
lected, peace maintained throughout a territory not inferior in population to
the dominions of Louis X VI or of the emperor Joseph, was formed and super-
intended by him. He boasted that every public office, which existed when he
left Bengal, without exception, was his creation.”
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Sir A. Lyall on Warren Hastings

Hastings carried the government of India safely through one of the sharp-
est crises in our national history, when our transmarine possessions were in
great peril all over the world, because all the naval powers of Europe were
banded against us. In America, the insurgents after an arduous struggle
tore down the British flag; in India the end of a long and exhausting contest
found our flag not only flying but still more firmly planted than ever; nor
had either the vindictive hostility of Mysore, or the indefatigable activity
of the Mahrattas, succeeded in wresting an acre of British territory from the
grasp of Warren Hastings.s

PITT REFORMS THE ADMINISTRATION (1784 A.D.)

When Mr. Fox succeeded to the head of affairs in 1783, all parties were
already prepared for a great and important change in the government of
Great Britain’s eastern empire. But the scheme of that able and ambitious
statesman far outstripped either the reason or necessity of the case. He
proposed — in his famous India Bill, which convulsed the nation from end to
end, and in its ultimate results occasioned the downfall of his administration
__to vest the exclusive right of governing India in seven directors, “to be
named in the act,” that is, appointed by the legislature under the direction
of the ministry for the time. The vacancies in these commissioners were to
be filled up by the house of commons under the same direction. But this
important innovation was defeated, after it had passed the lower house, by a
small majority of nineteen in the house of peers, and this defeat was immedi-
ately followed by the dismissal of Mr. Fox and his whole administration.

Although, however, Mr. Fox’s India Bill was rejected, yet the numerous
abuses of Oreat Britain’s Indian dominions, as well as the imminent hazard
which they had run during the war with Hyder Ali, from the want of a firmly
constituted central government, were too fresh in the public recollection to
permit the existing state of matters to continue. Mr. Pitt, accordingly, was
no sooner installed in power, than be brought forward an India Bill of his
own, which, it was hoped, would prove exempt from the objections to which
its predecessor had been liable, and, at the same time, remedy the serious evils
to which the administration of affairs in India had hitherto been exposed.
This bill passed both houses (1784) and formed the basis of the system under
which, with some subsequent but inconsiderable amendments, the affairs of
India were for many years administered. By it the court of directors ap-
pointed by the East India Company remained as before, and to them the
general administration of Indian affairs was still entrusted.

The great change introduced was the institution of the Board of Control,
a body composed of six members of the privy council, chosen by the king —
the chancellor of the exchequer and one of the secretaries of state being two —
in whom the power of directing and controlling the proceedings of the Indian
Empire was vested. The duties of this board were very loosely defined, and
were all ultimately centred in the president, an officer who became a fourth
secretary of state for the Indian Empire. They were described as being
“from time to time to check, superintend, and control all acts, operations,
and concerns which in anywise relate to the civil or military government or
revenues of the territories and possessions of the East India Company.”
These powers were ample enough; but in practice they led to little more than

a control of the company in the more important political or military concerns



110 THE HISTORY OF BRITISH INDIA

(1786 4.D.]
of the East, leaving the directors in possession of the practical direction of
affairs in ordinary cases. All vacancies in official situations, with the excep-
tion of the offices of governor-general of India, governors of Madras and Bom-
bay, and commanders-in-chief, which were to be filled up by the British gov-
ernment, were left at the disposal of the East India directors. A most import-
ant provision was made in the institution of a secret committee, who were to
send to India in duplicate such despatches as they might receive from the board
of control, and in the establishment of the supreme government of Calcutta,
with a controlling power over the other presidencies — a change which at
once introduced unity of action into all parts of the peninsula.

It cannot be affirmed that this anomalous constitution will stand the test
of theoretical examination, or is confirmed by history as regards other states.
Still less could it be presumed that a distribution of supreme power between
a governor-general and two subordinate governors in the East, and a board of
control and body of directors in the British Islands, gave any fair prospect
either of unity of purpose or efficiency of action. Nevertheless, if experience,
the great test of truth, be consulted, and the splendid progress of the Indian
Empire of Great Britain since it was directed in this manner be alone consid-
ered, there is reason to hold this system of government one of the most perfect
that ever was devised by human wisdom for the advancement and confirma-
tion of political greatness. The secret of this apparent anomaly is to be found
in the fact, that this division of power existed in theory only; that from the
great distance of India from the home government, and the pressing interests
which so frequently called for immediate decision, the supreme direction of
affairs practically came to be vested in the governors-general; and thatin
them were found a succession of great men, second to none who ever appeared
in the world for vigour and capacity, and who vindicated the truth of the say-
ing of Sallust, that it is in the strenuous virtue of a few that the real cause of
national greatness is in general to be found.

It soon appeared how much the vigour and efficiency of the Indian admin-
istration had been increased by the important changes made in its central
government. By Mr. Pitt’s India Bill, all ideas of foreign conquest in the
East had been studiously repressed — it having been declared, that “to pursue
schemes of conquest or extension of dominion in India are measures repug-
nant to the wish, the honour, and the policy of the nation.” But this decla-
ration, in appearance so just and practicable, was widely at variance with the
conduct which extraneous events shortly after forced upon the British gov-
ernment.

LORD CORNWALLIS AS GOVERNOR-GENERAL; THE WAR WITH TIPU
(1786-1792 A.D.)

In order, however, to carry into execution the pacific views of ministers at
home, a nobleman of high rank and character, Lord Cornwallis, was sent out
by Mr. Pitt, who united in his person the two offices of governor-general and
commander-in-chief, so as to give the greatest possible unity to the action of
government [1786]. No sooner, however, had he arrived there, than he dis-
covered that Tipu was intriguing with the other native powers for the sub-
version of Great Britain’s Indian dominion ; and, as a rupture with France
was apprehended at that juncture, four strong regiments were despatched to
India. As the company complained of the expense which this additional force
entailed upon their finances, a bill was brought into parliament by Mr. Pitt,
which fixed the number of king’s troops who might be ordered to India by
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the board of control, at the expense of the company, at eight thousand,
besides twelve thousand European forces in the company’s service.

The wisdom of this great addition to the native European force in India,
as well as the increased vigour and efficiency of the supreme government,
speedily appeared in the next war that broke out. Tipu, whose hostility to
the English was well known to be inveterate, and who had long been watched
with jealous eyes by the Madras presidency, at length [1789] commenced an
attack upon the rajah of Travancore — a prince in alliance with the British,
and actually supported by a subsidiary force of their troops. At first, from
the total want of preparation which had arisen from the pacific policy so
strongly inculcated upon the Indian authorities by the government at home,
he obtained very great success, and totally subdued the chief against whom
he had commenced hostilities.

Perceiving that the British character was now at stake in the peninsula,
and being well aware that a power founded on opinion must instantly sink
into insignificance, if the idea gets abroad that its allies may be insulted with
impunity, Lord Cornwallis immediately took the most energetic measures to
re-assert the honour of the British name. TFifteen thousand men were col-
lected in the Carnatic under General Meadows, while eight thousand more
were to ascend the Ghats from the side of Bombay, under General Aber-
cromby. Treaties of alliance were at the same time entered into with the
peshwa and the nizam, and hostilities commenced, which were at first attended
with checkered success — General Meadows having taken Karur and other
towns, and Tipu having surprised Colonel Floyd, and burst into the Carnatic,
where he committed the most dreadful ravages.

THE CAMPAIGN OF SERINGAPATAM (1791-1792 A.D.)

The energies of government, however, were now thoroughly aroused. In
December, 1791, Lord Cornwallis embarked in person for Madras: the Bengal
sepoys were with extreme difficulty reconciled to a sea voyage; and great
reinforcements, with the commander-in-chief, were safely landed in the
southern presidency. It was resolved to commence operations with the siege
of Bangalore, one of the strongest fortresses in Mysore, and commanding the
most eligible pass from the coast to the centre of Tipu’s dominions. In the
end of January the grand army ! moved forward; the important pass of Coorg
leading up the Ghats, was occupied within a month after; Bangalore was
invested in the beginning of March and carried by assault on the 21st of that
month.

Encouraged by this great success, Lord Cornwallis pushed on direct to
Seringapatam, although the advanced period of the season, and scanty sup-
plies of the army, rendered it a service of considerable peril, which was in-
creased rather than diminished by the junction, shortly after, of ten thousand
of the nizam’s horse, who, without rendering any service to the army, con-
sumed every particle of grass and forage within its reach.

Still the English general continued to press forward, and at length reached
the fortified position of the enemy, on strong ground, about six miles in front
of Seringapatam. An attack was immediately resolved on; but Tipu, who
conducted his defence with great skill, did not await the formidable onset of
the assaulting columns, and after inflicting a severe loss on the assailants by
the fire of his artillery, withdrew all his forces within the works of the fortress.

[* Lord Cornwallis led the British army in person with a pomp and lavishness of supplies
that recalled the campaigns of Aurangzeb.—HUNTER.¢]
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The English were now within sight of the capital of Mysore, and decisive suc-
cess seemed almost within their reach. They were in no condition, however,
to undertake the siege. Orders were therefore given to retreat, and the army
retired with heavy hearts and considerable loss of stores and men. But the
opportune arrival of the advanced guard of the Mahratta contingent, on the
second day of the march, which at first caused great alarm, suspended the
retrograde movement, and the army encamped for the rainy season in the
neighbourhood of Seringapatam.?

The next move to Seringapatam was effectual. Reinforcements had been
sent out from England; and during the autumn all the lines of communication
for another march upon the capital of Tipu had been opened. Some of the
strong hill forts had been stormed and taken by the troops under General
Meadows. On the 25th of January, 1792, Cornwallis, with twenty-two thou-
sand men, had united his force to the troops of the nizam and the Mahrattas,
and commenced his march. On the 5th of February he encamped about six
miles northward of Seringapatam., The Mysorean army was encamped under
its walls. It amounted to five thousand horse and forty thousand foot. The
city was defended by three strong lines of works and redoubts, in which three
hundred pieces of artillery were planted. Cornwallis reconnoitred these lines
on the morning of the 6th, and determined to storm them that night, with his
own army, without communicating his plan to his allies.

At eight o’clock the British moved in three columns to the attack, one
column being led by Cornwallis himself. The moon was shining brilliantly;
but the sun of the next day was declining before the firing ceased, and the
whole line of forts to the north of the Kaveri were in possession of the British
forces. Tipu retired within the walls of his capital. Preparations for the
siege went vigorously on; but negotiations for peace were at the same time
proceeding. The British commander, assured of his triumph, demanded that
Tipu should eede the half of his dominions; should pay a sum amounting to
£3,000,000; should release all his prisoners; and should deliver his two sons
as hostages. The sultan assembled his officers in the great mosque, and
adjured them, by the sacred contents of the Koran, to tell him whether he
should accept these hard terms. They all held that no reliance could be
placed upon the troops, and that submission was inevitable.

On the 23rd of February the preliminaries of peace were signed; and on
the 25th the two sons of Tipu were surrendered to Lord Cornwallis. The
definitive treaty of peace was signed on the 19th of March. The ceded terri-
tories were divided in equal portions between the company, the nizam, and
the Mahrattas. On the 4th of May Cornwallis wrote to his brother, “Our
peace will no doubt be very popular in England. No termination of the war
could have been attended with more solid advantages to our interest; and
the deference which was paid to us on the occasion, both by friends and
enemies, has placed the British name and consequence in a light never before
known in India.”

The subjection of Tipu was most opportune. In all probability Corn-
wallis, who was blamed by some for not insisting upon harder terms, antici-
pated the probability that the French Revolution would involve England in
war, and therefore he made peace whilst it was in his power. When the war
broke out he hurried to Madras. But his presence was unnecessary. Pondi-
cherry had already been taken by Sir John Braithwaite; and the French had
no longer a footing in India. The agents of the republic were nevertheless
active, but they were unable, for several years, to move “Citizen Tipu”
into a course of open hostility.?
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THE PERMANENT SETTLEMENT (1793 A.D.)

If the foundations of the system of civil administration were laid by
Hastings, the superstructure was erected by Cornwallis. It was he who first
entrusted criminal jurisdiction to Europeans, and established the Nizamat
Sadr Adalat, or supreme court of criminal judicature, at Calcutta,and it was
he who separated the functions of collector and judge. The system thus
organised in Bengal was afterwards transferred to Madras and Bombay, when
those presidencies also acquired territorial sovereignty.

But the achievement most familiarly associated with the name of Corn-
wallis is the permanent settlement of the
land revenue of Bengal. Up to his time
the revenue had been collected pretty
much according to the old Mughal sys-
tem. Zamindars, or government farm-
ers, whose office always tended to become
hereditary, were recognised as having a
right of some sort to collect the revenue
from the actual cultivators. But no prin-
ciple of assessment existed, and the
amount actually realised varied greatly
from year to year. Hastings had the
reputation of bearing hard upon the
zamindars, and was absorbed in other
critical affairs of state or of war. On the
whole he seems to have looked to ex-
perience, as acquired from a succession
of quinquennial settlements, to furnish
the standard rate to the future.

Francis, on the other hand, Hast-
ings’ great rival, deserves the credit of
being among the first to advocate a
limitation of the state demand in per-
petuity. The same view recommended
itself to the authorities at home, partly
because it would place their finances
on a more stable basis, partly because TiPU SAHIB
it seemed to identify the zamindar with (1749-1799)
the more familiar landlord. Accord-
ingly, Cornwallis took out with him in 1787 instruetions to introduce a per-
manent settlement. The process of assessment began in 1789 and termi-
nated in 1791. No attempt was made to measure the fields or caleulate the
out-turn as had been done by Akbar, and is now done when occasion requires
in the British provinces; but the amount payable was fixed by reference to
what has been paid in the past. At first the settlement was called decennial,
but in 1793 it was declared permanent forever. The total assessment
amounted to sikka Rs. 2,68,00,989, or about 2% millions sterling. Though
Lord Cornwallis carried the scheme into execution, all praise or blame, so far
as details are concerned, must belong to Sir John Shore, afterwards Lord
Teignmouth, whose knowledge of the country was unsurpassed by that of
any civilian of his time. Shore would have proceeded more cautiously than -
Cornwallis’ preconceived idea of a proprietary body and the court of directors’
haste after fixity permitted.q

H, W.— VOL. XXIL I
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Sir John Shore, afterwards Lord Teignmouth, succeeded Earl Cornwallis
in the government of India. During his administration, 1793-1796, the two
sons of Tipu, who had been taken as hostages for the due performance of their
father’s engagements, were given up, however doubtful might have been the
continued amity of the sultan. In 1798 Lord Teignmouth was succeeded by
Lord Mornington, afterwards created Marquis Wellesley. At the head of
the Indian government was now a man of splendid abilities, and of vigour
of character well fitted for action in any great crisis. He had a sound adviser,
not only in military affairs, but in political, in his younger brother, Arthur
Wellesley, then in his thirtieth year, who held the rank of colonel. From
his arrival in India as the colonel of an infantry regiment in 1797, to his
acceptance of a responsible command in 1799, we may trace the same qualities
which, more than any other man, fitted him for an encounter with the genius
of Bonaparte.

Arthur Wellesley’s regiment, the 33rd, formed part of an army assembled
at Vellore, in November, 1798, under the command of General Harris. Lord
Mornington had endeavoured, without effect, to detach Tipu from the dan-
gerous influence of the agents of the French government. The language of
the governor-general was conciliatory, but it was firm. His proposal to
negotiate was met by evasions. Tipu continued to rely upon the assistance
of the French. He rejected every pacific overture. General Harris accord-
ingly entered the Mysore territory on the 5th of March, 1799. The ally of
the English, the nizam of the Deccan, sent a large contingent to join the
army; and this force, to which the 33rd regiment was attached, was placed
under the command of Colonel Wellesley.

The novelty, no less than the magnitude, of these operations, appears to
have impressed the young commander of the nizam’s army with a feeling of
wonder which inexperience is not ashamed to display. The British grand
army and the nizam’s army marched in two columns parallel to each other.
“The march of these two armies,” says Wellesley 7 in his despatches, “was
almost in the form of a square or oblong, of which the front and rear were
formed of cavalry, and about two or three miles in extent; the right and left
(owing to the immense space taken up in the column by field-pieces, drawn
by bullocks), about six or seven miles. In this square went everything
belonging to the army. You will have some idea of what there was in that
space when I state to you the number of bullocks that I know were in the
public service.” These he computes at sixty thousand. The nizam’s army
had twenty-five thousand bullocks loaded with grain; besides elephants,
camels, bullocks, carts, belonging to individuals, beyond all calculation. “You
may have some idea of the thing when I tell you that, when all were together,
there was a multitude in motion which covered eighteen square miles.” The
Bombay army joined these two moving multitudes; and after several en-
counters with the forces of Tipu, the united armies had taken up a position
before Seringapatam.

CAPTURE OF SERINGAPATAM AND DEATH OF TIPU (1799 A.D.)

A series of successful attacks upon the enemy’s posts enabled the breach-
ing batteries to be erected at a short distance from the walls; and the breach
was sufficiently complete for the city to be stormed on the 4th of May.? Early
on the morning of the 4th, the troops destined for the assault were placed
in the trenches; and the hour of one o'clock in the afternoon was chosen
for the attack, when the sultry heat usually disposed the Asiatics to repose.
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Two thousand five hundred Europeans and two thousand natives formed
the storming party under the command of General Baird. Either,” said
he to Colonel Agnew, “we succeed to-morrow, or you never see me more.”
The assailants had a fearful prospect before them, for two-and-twenty thou-
sand veteran troops composed the garrison, and the bastions, of uncommon
strength, were armed with two hundred and forty pieces of cannon.

But before the British reached the breach, the enemy were at their post,
and equally resolute with the assailants. When Tipu saw the British cross
the Kaveri, he said, without changing colour, to those around him, “ We have
arrived at the last stage: what is your determination?” “To die along with
you,” was the unanimous reply. All was ready for the defence, every battery
was manned, and from every bastion and gun which bore on the assailants
a close and deadly fire was directed, which speedily thinned their ranks. On,
however, the British rushed, followed by their brave allies, through the deadly
storm. In five minutes the river was crossed, in five more the breach was
mounted; a sally on the flank of the assaulting column by a chosen body of
Tipu’s guards was repulsed ; and as Baird was leading his men up the entangled
steep, a loud shout and the waving of the British colours on its summit
announced that the fortress was won, and that the capital of Mysore had fallen.

But here an unexpected obstacle intervened — the summit of the breach
was separated from the interior of the works by a wide ditch, filled with water,
and at first no means of crossing it appeared. At length, however, Baird
discovered some planks which had been used by the workmen in getting over
it to repair the rampart, and, himself leading the way, this formidable obstacle
was surmounted. Straightway dividing his men into two columns, under
colonels Sherbrooke and Dunlop, this heroic leader soon swept the ramparts
both to the right and left. The brave Asiatics were by degrees forced back —
Tipu being the last man who quitted the traverses, though not without des-
perate resistance, to the mosque, where a dreadful slaughter took place.
The remains of the garrison were there crowded together in a very narrow
space, having been driven from the ramparts by Sherbrooke’s and Dunlop’s
columns, and jammed together in the neighbourhood of the mosque, where
they long maintained their ground under a dreadful cross-fire of musketry,
till almost the whole had fallen. The remnant at length surrendered, with
two of Tipu’s sons, when the firing had ceased at other points.

The sultan himself, who had endeavoured to escape at one of the gates
of the town which was assaulted by the sepoys, was some time afterwards
found dead under a heap of several hundred slain, composed in part of the
principal officers of his palace, who had been driven into the confined space
round the mosque. He was shot by a private soldier when stretched on his
palanquin, after having been wounded and having had his horse killed under
him; while Baird, who for three years had been detained a captive in chains
in his dungeons, had the triumph of taking vengeance for his wrongs, by
generously protecting and soothing the fears of the youthful sons of his
redoubted antagonist.

Tipu could never be brought to believe that the English would venture to
storm Seringapatam, and he looked forward with confidence to the setting
in of the heavy rains, which were soon approaching, to compel them to raise
the siege. He was brave, liberal, and popular during his father’s life; but
his reign, after he himself ascended the throne, was felt as tyrannical and
oppressive by his subjects. This, however, as is often the case in the East,
they ascribed rather to the cupidity of his ministers than to his own disposition.
The Brahmans had predicted that the 4th of May would prove an inauspicious



116 THE HISTORY OF BRITISH INDIA

[1799 a.D.]
day to him; he made them large presents on that very morning, and asked
them for their prayers.

He was sitting at dinner under a covered shed to avoid the rays of the sun
when the alarm was given that the British were moving; he instantly washed
his hands, called for his arms, and mounting his horse rode towards the
breach, which he reached as they were crossing the Kaveri. On the way he
received intelligence that Syed Goffer, his best officer, was killed. “Syed
Goffer was never afraid of death,” he exclaimed; ‘“let Muhammed Kasim
take charge of his division;” while he himself calmly continued to advance
towards the tumult, and was actively engaged sustaining the rearguard, as it
retired from the breach.

His corpse was found under a mountain of slain, stripped of all its orna-
ments and part of its clothing, but with the trusty amulet which he always
wore still bound round his right arm. He had received three wounds in the
body, and one in the temple; but the countenance was not distorted, the
eyes were open, and the expression was that of stern composure. The body
was still warm; and for a minute Colonel Wellesley, who was present, thought
he was still alive: but the pulse which had so long throbbed for the inde-
pendence of India had ceased to beat.

The storming of Seringapatam was one of the greatest blows ever struck
by any nation, and demonstrated at once of what vast efforts the British
Empire was capable, when directed by capacity and led by resolution. The
immediate fruits of victory were immense. A formidable fortress, the centre
of Tipu’s power, garrisoned by twenty-two thousand regular troops, with all
his treasures and military resources, had fallen; the whole arsenal and found-
eries of the kingdom of Mysore were taken, and the artillery they contained
amounted to the enormous number of four hundred and fifty-one brass, and
four hundred and seventy-one iron guns, besides two hundred and eighty-
seven mounted on the works. Above five hundred and twenty thousand
pounds of powder, and four hundred and twenty-four thousand round-shot,
also fell into the hands of the victors. The military resources, on the whole,
resembled rather those of an old-established European monarchy, than of an
Indian potentate recently elevated to greatness. But these trophies, great as
they were, constituted the least considerable fruits of this memorable con-
quest: its moral consequences were far more lasting and important.

In one day a race of usurpers had been extinguished, and a powerful
empire overthrown; a rival.to the British power struck down, and a tyrant
of the native princes slain; a military monarchy subverted, and a stroke
paralysing all India delivered. The loss in the assault was very trifling,
amounting only to three hundred and eighty-seven killed and wounded,
though fourteen hundred had fallen since the commencement of the siege.
But the portion in which it was divided indicated upon whom the weight of
the contest had fallen, and how superior in the deadly breach European energy
was to Asiatic valour; for of that number three hundred and forty were
British, and only forty-seven native soldiers. Colonel Wellesley was not
engaged in the storm; but he commanded the reserve, which did not require
to be called into action, and merely viewed with impatient regret the heart-
stirring scene. He was next day, however, named Governor of the town by
General Harris, which appointment was not disturbed by Lord Wellesley,
and constitutes one of the few blots on the otherwise unexceptionable
administration of that eminent man. Lord Wellesley was fully aware of
the signal conduct and valour displayed by Baird in the siege and storm
of Seringapatam; but he selected his brother in preference to him for the
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command of that important fortress, from his knowledge of the rare combina-
tion of civil and military qualities which he possessed. Had the appointment
not been made by General Harris, he declared he would have made it
himself. History, indeed, apart from biographical discussion, has little cause
to lament an appointment which early called into active service the great
civil as well as military qualities of the duke of Wellington, which were
immediately exerted with such vigour and effect in arresting the plunder and
disorders consequent on the storm, that in a few days the shops were all
reopened, and the bazars were as crowded as they had been during the most
flourishing days of the Mysore dynasty. But individual injustice is not to
be always excused by the merits of the preferred functionary; and, unques-
tionably, the hero of Seringapatam, the gallant officer who led the assault,
was entitled to a very different fate from that of being superseded in the com-
mand almost before the sweat was wiped from the brow which he had adorned
with the laurels of victory.h Colonel Wellesley’s letter to the governor-
general is very characteristic. ““It was impossible to expect that, after the
labour which the troops had undergone in working up to this place, and the
various successes they had had in six different affairs with Tipu’s troops, in
all of which they had come to the bayonet with them, they should not have
looked to the plunder of this place. Nothing therefore can have exceeded
what was done on the night of the 4th. I came in to take the command on
the morning of the 5th; and, by the greatest exertion, by hanging, flogging,
etc., etc., in the course of that day, I restored order among the troops, and
I hope I have gained the confidence of the people.”

THE SUBSIDIARY SYSTEM

After the fall of Tipu, and the partition of the Mysore territory in 1799,
Lord Wellesley steadily pursued the policy which is distinguished as the sub-
sidiary system. Its principle was to form treaties with native rulers; in com-
pliance with which, a military force, under British command, was to be main-
tained at the expense of the native prince; and the control of state affairs
was to be vested in the British resident, with the exception of all that related
to the domestic arrangements of the sovereign, who preserved the regal pomp
without the regal power. The subsidiary system was warmly opposed in the
British parliament, as unjust and tyrannical. Its defence is succinctly stated
by Lord Brougham * who was a constant enemy of all injustice and tyranny:
“We had been compelled to interfere in their affairs, and to regulate the suc-
cession to their thrones, upon each successive discovery of designs hostile to us,
nay, threatening our very existence, the subversion of all the fabric of useful and
humane and enlightened polity which we had erected on the ruins of their
own barbarous system, and particularly the restriction of the cruel despotism
under which the native millions had formerly groaned.” In 1800, a subsidiary
treaty was formed with the nizam, who ceded all his Mysorean territories
in exchange for aid and protection. In 1801 the nephew of the deceased
nawab of Arcot was raised to the nominal throne, renouncing in favor of the
British all the powers of government. The subahdar of Oudh, and the
peshwa, came also under subordination to the British authority.

MAHRATTA WAR OF 1803

After the rupture of the Peace of Amiens, a new danger had arisen, in a
confederacy of Mahratta chiefs, assisted by French arms and French influence.
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The war of England against Napoleon was in effect to be carried on in a war
with the Mahrattas. In the districts watered by the Godavari and the Purna
were the qualities of a great captain to be displayed, which, a few years later,
were to drive the legions of Napoleon from the Tagus to the Garonne.

At the beginning of the century, the great Mahratta chief Holkar was at
war with the equally valorous chief Sindhia. Holkar, to strengthen his own
power and destroy an ally of his rival, attacked the peshwa, who fled from
Poona after a signal defeat. It was then that he called the British to his
aid, with whom he concluded the Treaty of Bassein, on the last day of Decem-
ber, 1802. General Wellesley marched six hundred miles, from Seringapatam
to Poona, in the worst season of the year; drove out the Mahrattas; and rein-
stated the peshwa in his capital. Holkar now turned to his old rival Sindhia,
to coalesce with him against the peshwa, the nizam, and the British.

Directing the military operations of Sindhia was a clever Frenchman, M.
Perron, who had under him a large army of infantry disciplined in the Euro-
pean manner, many thousand cavalry, and a well appointed train of artillery.
Bhonsla, the rajah of Berar (or rajah of Nagpur), joined the alliance of Sindhia
and Holkar. The fifth Mahratta chieftain was the Gaikwar, and his territory
was Guzerat, where Sindhia had some possessions and great power and influ-
ence. The Gaikwar took no part in the approaching contest. For some time
after the peshwa had been restored, negotiations were going on between the
British government and Sindhia and the rajah of Berar. They professed
friendship, but it soon became clear that they were confederates with Holkar,
and were depending for assistance upon Perron. The nizam was known to
be dying; and it was one of the objects of these chieftains to arrange the suc-
cession so as to aggrandise their own power.

It was thus necessary to make war upon this confederacy, which threatened
the security of the British dominion in India as much, if not more, than the
hostility of Tipu. There was the same danger, as in his case, of an alliance
with France on the part of the Mahrattas. Pondicherry had been given up
to France by the Treaty of Amiens. When the Mahratta war broke out, the
rupture of that treaty was not known. The vicinity of Pondicherry to the
Mahratta country required the greatest vigilance. Whilst negotiations with
the Mahratta chiefs were still in progress, the news came of the renewal of
the war. A French force attempted to land at Pondicherry, and were made
prisoners. Providing against hostilities upon a great scale, the governor-
general decided upon the plan of a campaign, in which the rare faculty of
organising the co-operating movements of troops acting upon different points
ensured the same success as had attended the campaigns of Napoleon. One
element of success was the unshackled power of an able commander in the
Deccan, the most important portion of the field of war.

On the 26th of June Arthur Wellesley was appointed to the command of
all the British and allied troops in the territories of the peshwa and the nizam,
and to the direction of the political affairs of this district, which was sur-
rounded by the dominions of the confederate chiefs. In Hindustan the same
complete authority was given to General Lake. General Wellesley was at
Poona with seventeen thousand men, when the negotiation with Sindhia was
at an end. General Lake was upon the Jumna, watching the movements of
Perron, who was in a part of the Doab which had been bestowed upon him
by Sindhia. In Guzerat, Colonel Murray commanded the Bombay army,
a force of seven thousand men, and he was afterwards reinforced by Colonel
Woodington. In the province of Cuttack, Colonel Harcourt was at the head
of the Madras army, a small body of troops, who were able to render efficient
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service. All these armies, not great in numerical amount, but most formid-
able in their discipline, were all in motion, at one and the same time, to close
round the enemy from the south and the north, from the east and the west;
“from the sea, the mountains, and the forests, over the salt plains of Cuttack,
and the high plains of the Deccan, and through the passes of the Ghats, and
over the rivers of Hindustan, and out of the rank swamps of the basin of the
Ganges.” (Martineau.t)

Tt was the 3rd of August when the British resident quitted Sindhia’s
camp. His departure was the signal for immediate hostilities. On the 6th
of August General Wellesley wrote a letter to Sindhia, characterised by his
usual decisive language: “I offered you peace on terms of equality, and hon-
ourable to all parties; you have chosen war, and are responsible for all conse-
quences.”” On the 12th of August, he had advanced through roads rendered
almost impassable by violent rains, and had taken the strong fort of Ahmed-
nagar. General Lake was equally prompt in his movements. The French
force under Perron fled before him, retreating from Coel, which Lake then
occupied.

Perron, in a few days, put himself under British protection, and was
received with kindness. He complained of the treachery of his officers, and
is supposed not to have been insensible to the attractions of drafts upon the
treasury of Calcutta. On the 4th of September, the strong fortress of Aligarh.
was taken by a storming party of the army of Lake. The Bombay and the
Madras armies were equally successful in their advances. On the 6th of
August, General Wellesley had sent orders to the officer in command of the
Bombay army to attack Broach. In a little more than three weeks Broach
had surrendered. On the 12th of September, Lake obtained a great victory
over the troops of Sindhia, and over the French army which Perron had
formed. They were commanded by another Frenchman, Bourquien. On
the following day the British were in possession of Delhi. Lake restored the
Mughal emperor, Shah Alam, who had been deposed, and thus propitiated
the Mohammedan population of Hindustan.

The triumphant career of Lake was followed up in the battles of Muttra
and Agra, and was completed in the great victory of Laswari on the 1st of
November. e was worthy of all honour. The thanks of parliament and a
peerage were never more properly bestowed than upon the senior general in
this astonishing campaign.

Colonel Stevenson was to the east of General Wellesley, after the capture
of Ahmednagar. It was necessary to effect a junction of their two armies.
Wellesley directed Stevenson to take a bold course: “Move forward yourself
with the company’s cavalry, and all the nizam’s, and a battalion, and dash
at the first party that comes into your neighbourhood. A long defensive war
will ruin us. By any other plan we shall lose our supplies.” On the 21st of
August Wellesley’s cavalry was passing the wide Godavari. They passed in
wicker boats covered with bullock skins. During a month, Wellesley and
Stevenson were pursuing Sindhia’s forces, united with those of the rajah of
Berar, each of the British commanders never allowing the enemy to rest, and
marching always with the rapidity which could alone keep pace with the
Mahratta cavalry. On the 21st of September Wellesley and Stevenson were
a little to the east of Aurangabad. They were sufficiently near to each other
to concert a plan of joint operations against the Mahratta armies, which had
been reinforced with sixteen battalions of infantry, commanded by French
officers, and with a train of artillery. This formidable force was concen-
trated on the banks of the Kaitna.
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BATTLE OF ASSAYE (1803 A.D.)

On the 22nd of September the division under Wellesley, and the division
under Stevenson, marched with the intention to attack the enemy. There
was a range of hills between the British and the Mahrattas. One division
marched by the eastern road round the hills; the other by the western road.
They encamped that night at the two extremities of the range of hills, On
the morning of the 23rd, General Wellesley received information that Sindhia
and Bhonsla had moved off with their cavalry, but that their infantry were
still in camp, and were about to follow the cavalry. Their camp might be
seen from a rising ground. “It was obvious that the attack was no longer to
be delayed,” writes Wellesley. It was no longer to be delayed, although
Colonel Stevenson had not arrived with his detachment. He was misled by
his guides. In his latter years, the duke of Wellington 7 related to “an early
and intimate friend”” how he formed his plan.

“I was indebted for my success at Assaye to a very ordinary exercise of
common sense. The Mahratta chiefs, whom I was marching to overtake, had
made a hasty retreat with their infantry and guns, and had got round behind
a river on my right, leaving me exposed to an overwhelming force of native
cavalry. To get rid of these gentlemen, and to get at the others, I had no
chance but getting over the river also. T found a passage, crossed my army
over, had no more to fear from the enemy’s cloud of cavalry, and my force,
small as it was, was just enough to fill the space between that river and
another stream that fell into it therabouts, and on which Assaye stood, so
that both my flanks were secure. And there I fought and won the battle —
the bloodiest for the number that I ever saw; and this was all from the com-
mon sense of guessing that men did not build villages on opposite sides of a
stream without some means of communication between them.”

The battle of Assaye might well be called “the bloodiest for its number”’
that the hero of so many battles had ever seen. Well might it be so, when
the Mahrattas’ force was at least seven times as numerous as the British army.
It was one o’clock when the enemy’s camp was in view, extending from five
to seven miles. “We began to advance,” writes the brigade-major, “a little
after three, and the action was not entirely over till six o’clock.” The 74th
and 78th regiments, and four battalions of sepoys, moved forward to the
attack: the piquets led; and the cavalry brought up the rear to protect the
infantry from the enemy’s horse. We quote the spirited narrative of an eye-
witness, Lieutenant (not Sir) Colin Campbell:

“The line was ordered to advance. The piquets at. this period had nearly
lost a third of their number, and most of their gun-bullocks were killed. The
line moved rapidly and took possession of the first line of guns, where many
of the enemy were killed. They then moved on in equally good order and
resolution to the second line of guns, from which they very soon drove the
enemy; but many of the artillery, who pretended to be dead when we passed
on to the second line of guns, turned the guns we had taken upon us, which
obliged us to return and again to drive them from them.

At this period the cannonade was truly tremendous. A milk-hedge in
their front, which they had to pass to come at the enemy’s guns, threw them
into a little confusion; but they still pushed forward, and had taken possession
of many of their guns, when the second line, which opened on them, obliged
them to retire from what they had so dearly purchased. The numbers of the
74th regiment remaining at this period were small; on their returning, some
of the enemy’s cavalry came forward and cut up many of the wounded officers
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and men. It was at this critical moment that the 19th charged, and saved
the remains of the 74th regiment. General Wellesley at the same time threw
the 78th regiment forward on their right, to move down on the enemy, who
still kept their position at Assaye. This movement, and the charge of the
19th light dragoons, made the enemy retire from all their guns precipitately
and they fled across the nullah to our right at the village of Assaye, where
numbers of them were cut up by the cavalry. The general wasin the thick
of the action the whole time, and had a horse killed under him. No man
could have shown a better example to the troops than he did. I never saw a
man so cool and collected as he was the whole time, though I can assure you,
till our troops got orders to advance, the fate of the day seemed doubtful; and
if the numerous cavalry of the enemy had done their duty, I hardly think it
possible that we could have succeeded. From the European officers who have
since surrendered, it appears they had about twelve thousand infantry, and
their cavalry is supposed to have been at least twenty thousand, though many
make it more. We have now in our possession one hundred and two guns,
and all their tumbrils.”

In the middle of October Colonel Stevenson obtained possession of the
strong fortresses of Asseerghur and Burhanpur. General Wellesley had
followed the Mahratta army in their various movements, their stratagems never
defeating his vigilance. Sindhia at last desired a truce. This was granted.
But it was soon discovered that his cavalry were serving in the army of the
rajah of Berar, and that the truce was altogether delusive. On the 29th of
November, General Wellesley obtained a victory over the united armies of
Sindhia and Bhonsla. The Mahrattas retired in disorder, leaving their can-
non, and pursued by moonlight by the British, the Mughal, and the Mysore
cavalry. This wonderful campaign, of little more than four months, was
ﬁnii})led by the successful termination of the siege of Gawilgarh (December
15th).

The Mahratta war with Sindhia and Bhonsla was at an end. The rajah of
Berar, who had sued for a peace, signed a treaty on the 17th. He ceded Cut-
tack, which was annexed to the British dominions, and he agreed to admit no
Europeans but the British within his territories. Sindhia also was completely
humbled. A treaty with him was signed on the 30th of December, he agree-
ing to give up Broach, Ahmednagar, and his forts in the Doab; and to exclude
all Europeans except the British. He was to receive the protection which
was extended under the subsidiary system to other dependent states.

But there was another great Mahratta chieftain yet unsubdued. His
intriguing spirit was exercised in urging the other chiefs to break the treaties
which they had entered into. The governor-general tried to convert this
enemy into a friend by negotiation. Holkar openly defied him; he would
come with his army, and sweep and destroy like the waves of the sea. In

- April, 1804, war was declared against Holkar. The war went on through 1804
and 1805. Marquis Wellesley had resigned the government of India at the
end of July; and Marquis Cornwallis had succeeded him, before Holkar was
subdued. Cornwallis died on the 5th of October, and Sir George Barlow
assumed the government. On the 24th of December a treaty was signed with
Holkar; and he also agreed to exclude from his territories all Europeans
except the British.

FAMINE IN INDIA

Sir Arthur Wellesley (he had received the order of the Bath for his great
services) returned to England in 1805. During his voyage home he employed
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his active mind in writing an interesting paper on the subject of Dearth in
India. There had been a famine in the Deccan in 1803 and 1804, which he
had witnessed. The dearth, and its fatal effects, were to be attributed princi-
pally to the dry season of 1803. He describes the physical geography of the
peninsula; the peculiar cultivation of wet lands or of dry; the dependence of
the rice-produce of the wet lands upon the fall of the rain, assisted by the
artificial canals, tanks, and wells, many of which were ancient works; and
the entire dependence of the dry lands, where what are called dry grains are
cultivated, upon the critical arrival and the quantity of the periodical rains.
The portions of the Indian Empire to which Sir A. Wellesley directed his atten-
tion were far less extensive than at present.

Since 1804 there have been many famines. Awful as the distress has been,
it is satisfactory to know that the question which Sir A. Wellesley asked, “in
what manner the deficiency produced by the seasons in any particular part
could be remedied by the government in that part,” has been to some extent
answered, by the construction of great canals for irrigation. The eastern and
the western Jumna canals, and the Ganges canal, are the grandest of these
works, and are capable of irrigating several millions of acres. ?

In recent years the extension of railways and the improvement of internal
communication whereby particular districts suffering from famine can be
supplied from more fortunate ones have been the means employed for coping
with this scourge and an annual charge has been made on the revenue for funds
to be used in time of dearth. Nevertheless the twentieth century opened
amidst widespread suffering from this cause which was most marked in the
native states. It is said however that the deaths of grown persons were not
numerous and when they did occur were attributable to the people’s own
apathy. On the other hand above five million persons were at one time in
receipt of relief. o

After his return from India, the marquis Wellesley had to endure the bitter
mortification of finding that his great public services had rendered him a
mark for the attacks of James Paull, who, having failed in India of advance-
ment at his hands, returned to England and became a member of parliament.
It is unnecessary for us to follow the parliamentary discussions on this subject.
The accusations were, in a great degree, the result of private malice and party
rancour; and, like all such abuses of the privileges of representative govern-
ment, their interest very quickly passed away.

MUTINY AT VELLORE (1806 A.D.)

In the affairs of India, an event of far more lasting importance than the
assaults upon the marquis Wellesley took place on the 10th of July, 1806.
At two o’clock in the morning of that day, the European barracks at Vellore,
in which were four companies of the 69th regiment, were surrounded by two
battalions of sepoys in the service of the East India Company. Through
every door and window these mutineers poured in a destructive fire upon the
sleeping soldiers. The sentinels were killed; the sick in the hospital were
massacred; the officers’ houses were ransacked, and they, with their wives and
children, were put to death. Colonel Fancourt, the commander of the 69th
fell in the attempt to save his men.

There was a terrible retribution the next day. The 19th regiment of dra-
goons arrived; took the fort of Vellore from the insurgents; six hundred of
the sepoys were cut down; and two hundred were dragged out of their hiding
places and shot. The sons of Tipu Sahib, who were residing at Vellore, were



WARREN HASTINGS, CORNWALLIS, THE WELLESLEYS 123
[1806 4.D.]
suspected of being concerned in this mutiny. But there were demonstrations
of a spirit of disaffection amongst the native troops in other places. Some
extremely foolish regulations had been attempted by the military authorities
at Madras with respect to the dress of the sepoys. It was wished to transform
the turban into something like a helmet. An opinion had been spread that
it was the desire of the British government to convert the native troops to
Christianity by forcible means. This notion was disavowed in a subsequent
proclamation of the government at Madras. But at that time the zeal of
some persons for the conversion of the Hindu population was far from dis-
creet; and in England there was no hesitation in declaring, that “ the restless
spirit of fanaticism has insinuated itself into our Indian councils;”’ and that
unless checked in time, it will lead to the subversion of our Indian Empire, and
the massacre of our countrymen dispersed over that distant land.”*




CHAPTER IV
CONQUESTS AND REFORMS FROM 1807 TO 1835 A.D.

LORD MINTO AND THE MUTINY OF BRITISH OFFICERS (1807-1813 A.D.)

At the beginning of 1807 India was at peace. On the death of the mar-
quis Cornwallis, the powers of the governor-general were temporarily exer-
cised by Sir George Barlow, who was subsequently entrusted with the full
authority of his post by the court of directors. The Grenville administration
" had just come into office, and they wished to bestow the appointment upon
one of their own supporters, and especially upon some nobleman. The debates
in parliament on this subject were continued and violent. . The conflict was
finally settled by the appointment of Lord Minto. The tranquillity of his gov-
ernment was after a while seriously disturbed by an outbreak against the
power of the company at Travancore. There was war against the rajah of
this state, which originated in a dispute between his diwan or chief minister,
and the British resident. His troops were beaten in the field during 1808,
and the lines of Travancore being stormed at the beginning of 1809, and other
forts captured, relations of amity between the company and the rajah were
restored.

A more serious danger arose out of a circumstance which appears now
amongst the almost incredible things of the past. The officers of the Madras
army, who had long been stirred up to discontent, had mutinied, and Lord
Minto, in August, 1809, sailed for Madras to quell this extraordinary insub-
ordination of British officers. There were various and contradictory regula-
tions existing in the several presidencies. There were inequalities in the rate
of allowances. At Madras, what the council termed “a very dangerous spirit
of cabal” had been pointed out as early as March, 1807, by the council to the
court of directors. There was there an officer high in command, Lieutenant-
Colonel St. Leger, who was described in the despatch of the council as ““the
champion of the rights of the company’s army.” Colonel St. Leger, as well
as other officers, was suspended by an order of the 1st of May, and then open
mutiny burst out at Hyderabad, Masulipatam, Seringapatam, and other
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places. On one occasion only was blood shed in this extraordinary revolt.
Many of these officers were very young men, who were incited to acts of
insubordination by the example of their seniors. Brave as were the British
officers in the field, their exclusiveness and assumption of superiority were
offensive to civilians and dangerous in their intercourse with the natives.
These misguided men gradually returned to habits of obedience. In Septem-
ber Lord Minto published an amnesty, with the exception of eighteen officers,
nearly all of whom chose to resign rather than to abide the judgment of a court-
martial. It now became the wish of all to obliterate the painful remembrance
of the past. During this alarming period, in which the mutiny of the officers
might have led to the entire disorganisation of the sepoy army, the king’s
troopslmanifested the most entire obedience to the orders of the governor-
general.

During the administration of Lord Minto a number of successful opera-
tions were undertaken in the Eastern Archipelago, which, in 1810, gave the
British possession of Amboyna and the Banda Isles, of the Ile de la Réunion,
and of the Mauritius. The most important of these conquests was the rich
island of Java, which, after a severe battle with the Dutch troops near the
capital, capitulated in 1810. Sir Stamford Raffles, who was appointed lieu-
tenant-governor of Java, described it as “the other India.” It passed out of
British hands at the peace — a circumstance attributed by many to the com-
plete ignorance of the British government of the great value of this possession.
The policy of the court of directors was to maintain peace as long as possible
upon the continent of India, and thus the depredations of the Pindharis and
the Nepalese were not met by the governor-general with any vigorous meas-
ures of repression. He demanded redress of the rajah of Nepal for the out-
rages of his people, but he did not make any more effectual demonstration to
compel a less injurious conduct. His diplomacy had for its main object to
prevent the establishment of the French in the peninsula. He concluded
treaties with the amirs of Sind, and with the king of Kabul, of which the
terms of friendship were, that they should restrain the French from settling
in their territories. With Persia, where France was endeavouring to establish
her influence, a treaty was concluded, binding the sovereign to resist the
passage of any European force through his country towards India.

The usual term of a governor-general’s residence being completed, Lord
Minto resigned in 1813, and returned to England. He came at a time when
a material alteration in the position of the East India Company was at hand.
By the Statute of Queen Anne, and by successive acts of parliament, the
company had the exclusive privilege, as regarded English subjects, of trading
to all places east of the Cape of Good Hope, as far as the Straits of Magellan.
In March, 1813, the house of commons resolved itself into a committee to
consider the affairs of the East India Company. The government proposed
that the charter of the company should be renewed for twenty years, during
which term they should retain the exclusive trade to China, but that the trade
to India should be thrown open on certain conditions. The government also
proposed to appoint a bishop for India, and three archdeacons. The com-
mittee examined various witnesses. The first witness was Warren Hastings,
then eighty years of age. He expressed his decided opinion that the settle-
ment of Europeans would be fraught with danger to the peace of the country
and the security of the company, and that the trade between India and Eng-
land, as then regulated, was far more beneficial than if perfectly free. On the
subject of the propagation of Christianity in India, and the proposed Episcopal
establishment, his evidence is described as having evinced “a most philo-
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sophic indifference.” The debates in both houses on the resolutions occupied
four months of the session. A bill was finally passed by which the trade to
India was thrown open as proposed, the territorial and commercial branches
of the company’s affairs were separated, and the king was empowered to create
a bishop of India, and three archdeacons, to be paid by the company.

THE GURKHA WAR; THE DESTRUCTION OF THE PINDHARIS (1814-1818 A.D.)

Lord Minto was succeeded as governor-general by the earl of Moira,
afterwards marquis of Hastings, who took possession of the government on
the 4th of October, 1813. During 1814 and 1815 there was war between the
British and the Nepalese. This is sometimes called the Gurkha War [the
Gurkhas being the race which conquered Nepal in the middle of the eighteenth
century]. The Gurkhas at the period of the government of the marquis of
Hastings were subjecting all the smaller states to their dominion, and were
able to maintain an army of twelve thousand disciplined men, who were
clothed and accoutred like the British sepoys. As they advanced towards the
British possessions on the northern frontier, they manifested a desire to try
their strength against the company’s troops, and exhibited their ill will in
1814 by attacking two police stations in the districts of Gorakhpur and
Saran, and by massacring all the troops in the garrisons there. The first
operations of the British troops were unsuccessful; but in 1815 Sir David
Ochterlony was enabled to dislodge the Gurkhas from their hill-forts, and to
compel their commander, Amir Singh, to capitulate. A treaty of peace was
concluded at the end of 1815, but its ratification by the rajah being withheld,
a large British army advanced to Khatmandu, the present capital of Nepal.
The treaty was ratified and the war concluded at the beginning of 1816.
Some portions of territory were ceded to the company; but for the most part
the chiefs who had been expelled by the conquering Gurkhas were restored
to their ancient possessions.

The province of Malwa was the chief seat of a body of freebooters, the
Pindharis, who carried on a war of devastation with peaceful neighbours, and
were more formidable from their want of that political organisation which
constitutes a state. They lived in separate societies of one or two hundred,
governed each by its chief, but they were always ready to combine under one
supreme chief for the purposes of their marauding expeditions, In 1814 fifteen
thousand horsemen were assembled on the north bank of the N. erbudda, under
a leader named Chitu. In October, 1815, they seized the opportunity of
the British troops being engaged in the Nepalese War to cross the Nerbudda,
and having plundered and devastated a territory of Great Britain’s ally, the
nizam of the Decean, recrossed the Nerbudda to prepare for another raid with
a greater force. Between the 5th of February and the 17th of May, 1816, they
had again collected an immense booty, with which they retired, not only
having devastated the lands of the allies of Britain, but within the com-
pany’s frontiers having plundered more than three hundred villages and put to
death or tortured more than four thousand individuals. These fierce and suc-
cessful attacks of the Pindharis were not solely instigated by their own desire for
the rich booty of peaceful provinces. Theywould scarcely have ventured to defy
the British power had they not been secretly supported by a confederacy of
Mahratta potentates. The governor-general had obtained certain informa-
tion that the peshwa, the rajah of N agpur, Sindhia, Holkar the younger, and
Amir Khan, were preparing in concert with the Pindharis to invade the com-



o CONQUESTS AND REFORMS FROM 1807 TO 1835 127
[1817 A.D.]
pany’s territories whilst the British troops were engaged in the Nepalese War.
The governor-general, at the conclusion of the peace with Nepal, applied to
the authorities at home for permission to carry on the war with the Pindharis
upon a great scale. Till this permission should arrive he had only to keep
the Bengal army in advanced cantonments. When his warrant for extended
operations did arrive, the marquis of Hastings was ready with an army in
each of the three presidencies to take the field against the Pindharis, and
against all their open or secret supporters. The immensity of his preparations
was determined by the importance of his designs. The issue of the war was
another most decided advance in the assertion of Great Britain’s supremacy,
which manifestly tended to “the absolute conquest of the peninsula.”

At the end of September, 1817, orders were issued for a simultaneous move-
ment of the army of Bengal under the command of the governor-general, of
the army of the Deccan under the command of Sir Thomas Hislop, and of
various corps from different stations, each marching to points from which the
Pindharis could be surrounded, and at the same time their Mahratta and
other supporters prevented from uniting their forces. It is not within our
limits to attempt any detail of this very complicated warfare. The war with
the Pindharis was terminated in the spring of 1818, with the entire destruction
or dispersion of these terrible marauders. The best historian of the events is
Sir John Malcolm,¢ who was himself one of the most active and sagacious of
the British commanders. Their complete extinction has been graphically
described by him: “Within five years after their name had spread terror and
dismay over all India, there remained not a spot that a Pindhari could call his
home.  They had been hunted like wild beasts, numbers had been killed, all .
ruined, those who espoused their cause had fallen. Early in the contest they
were shunned like a contagion; the timid villagers whom they had so recently
oppressed were among the foremost to attack them.”

On the 5th of November, the governor-general had extorted by the presence
of his powerful army a treaty with Sindhia, in which that Mahratta chief
engaged to aid in the destruction of the Pindharis. That army, which was
encamped on low ground, on the banks of a tributary of the Jumna, was at
this moment attacked by an enemy far more dangerous than any which it
would be likely to encounter in the field.b

THE ARMY DECIMATED BY CHOLERA (1817 A.D.)

The malady known by the name of spasmodic cholera — evacuations of
acrid biliary matter, accompanied by spasmodic contractions of the abdominal
muscles, and a prostration of strength, terminating frequently in the total ex-
haustion of the vital functions — had been known in India from the remotest
periods, and had, at times, committed fearful ravages. Its effects, however,
were in general restricted to particular seasons and localities and were not so
extensively diffused as to attract notice or excite alarm. In the middle of
1817, however, the disease assumed a new form, and became a widely spread
and fatal epidemic. It made its first appearance in the eastern districts of
Bengal, in May and June of that year, and after extending itself gradually along
the north bank of the Ganges, through Tirhut to Ghazipur, it crossed the river,
and passing through Rewah, fell with peculiar virulence upon the centre
- division of the grand army, in the first week of November.

Although the casualties were most numerous amongst the followers of the
camp and the native soldiery, the ravages of the disease were not confined to
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the natives, but extended to Europeans of every rank.! The appalling features
of the malady were the suddenness of its accession and the rapidity with which
death ensued. No one felt himself safe for an hour, and yet, as there was no
appearance of infection, the officers generally were active in assisting the
medical establishment in administering medicines and relief to the sick. The
mortality became so great that hands were insufficient to carry away the
bodies, and they were tossed into the neighbouring ravines, or hastily com-
mitted to a superficial grave on the spots where the sick had expired. The
survivors then took alarm and deserted the encampment in crowds: many
bore with them the seeds of the malady, and the fields and roads for many
miles round were strewn with the dead. Death and desertion were rapidly
depopulating the camp, when, after a few days of unavailing struggle against
the epidemic, it was determined to try the effects of a change of situation.
The army accordingly retrograded in a south-easterly direction, and after
several intermediate halts, crossed the Betwa, and encamping upon its lofty
and dry banks at Erich, was relieved from the pestilence. The disease dis-

FORT AT AGRA

appeared. During the week of its greatest malignity it was ascertained that
sevel;l l(llundred and sixty-four fighting men and eight thousand followers
perished.e

Sindhia had seized the opportunity, not to render aid against the Pind-
haris but to invite them to come into his territory. The cholera passed away,
and the governor-general hurried back to his former position to cut off the
possible junction between the marauding bands and Sindhia’s troops. In
the remaining months of 1817 and the beginning of 1818 the Mahratta con-
federacy was utterly broken up by the successes of the British. The rajah of
Nagpur, after a battle of eighteen hours, was defeated, and his town of Nagpur
taken on the 26th of November. Holkar was beaten on the 21st of December
at the battle of Mehidpur, and peace was concluded with him on the 6th of
January. The peshwa of the Mahrattas surrendered to the English in the
following June, agreeing to abdicate his throne, and become a pensioner of
the East India Company.b

! Five officers and 143 men of the European force died in November — official return. Ac-
cording to Surgeon Corbyn<? who was serving with the centre division, and whose plan of
treatment was circulated to the army by the marquis of Hastings, his lordship was himself appre-
hensive of dying of the disease, and had given secret instructions to be buried in his tent, that
his death might not add to the discouragement of the troops, or tempt the enemy to attack the
division in its crippled state.
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TRANSACTIONS IN CEYLON

The island of Ceylon, first colonised by the Portuguese, and subsequently
by the Dutch, was finally taken from the latter, as identified with the republic
of France, in 1796, by an expedition fitted out from Madras, and was for a
short interval subject to the government of Fort St. George. In 1798 it was
annexed to the colonial dominions of the British Crown, and the honourable
Frederick North was nominated governor on the part of Great Britain. The
settlements which were thus transferred extended along the sea-coast, forming
a narrow belt round the centre of the island, where native princes continued
to rule over the remnants of an ancient kingdom, whose origin was traceable,
through eredible records, for above two thousand years. Deprived of a val-
uable portion of their ancestral domains by races which they despised as bar-
barians while they hated them as conquerors, the kings of Kandy had been
almost always at variance with their European neighbours, and had been
principally protected against their military superiority by the deadly atmos-
phere of the forests which interposed an impenetrable rampart between the
mnterior of the island and the coast. The last but one of these princes co-
operated with the English in their attack upon the maritime provinces held
by the Dutch, in expectation of advantages which were never realised. He
died shortly after the establishment of the British power. Leaving no children
he was succeeded in 1800 by the son of a sister of one of his queens, who was
elected to the throne by the head minister, or adigar, with the acquiescence
of the other chief officers of the state, the priests of Buddha, and the people.

Shortly after the accession of the new sovereign in the beginning of 1800,
the governor of Ceylon deputed the commanding officer of the troops on the
island, General Macdowall, on an embassy to the court of Kandy. Advantage
was to be taken of the intrigues which agitated the Kandian court. The
minister who had raised the sovereign to his present rank, is said thus early
to have plotted his deposal, and the usurpation of his crown. For the accom-
plishment of his treacherous designs, he sought the assistance of the British
government, and although his overtures were at first rejected, he was admitted
to a conference with the governor’s secretary, and the mission to Kandy was
the result. The plot was frustrated by the timidity and suspicion apparently
of both the minister and the king. General Macdowall proceeded to Kandy,
but he returned to Colombo without having made any progress in the purposes
of his mission, secret or avowed. On the contrary, the proceedings of the
British government seem to have excited the suspicion and ill will of both
the king and the adigar, and to have united them against a common enemy;
while an excuse for an appeal to arms seems to have been solicitously sought
for by the British. At length some Sinhalese traders from the British terri-
tories, having been despoiled of a parcel of betel nuts, which they had pur-
chased, complained to the governor. Their case was advocated by him with
the king; its truth was admitted, and redress was promised but never granted.
Mr. North determined to make war upon the king, unless he subscribed to a
treaty promising compensation for the expenses of military equipments, and
the plunder of the betel nuts; to permit the formation of a military road from
Colombo to Trincomalee, and suffer cinnamon peelers and wood cutters to
follow their calling in the Kandian districts. It was intimated at the same
time, that the aggressions which had been perpetrated, had left the governor
at perfect liberty to recognise and support the claims which any other prince
of the family of the Sun might form to the diadem worn by his Kandian
majesty. The intimation was not likely to conciliate his accession to a
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friendly convention, and was replied to by predatory incursions into the
British frontier, and the plunder and murder of its subjects. To repress and
avenge these injuries, a force under General Macdowall was despatched from
Colombo, and another under Colonel Barbut from Trincomalee. The two
divisions encountering no serious opposition on their march, met on the
Mahaveli-ganga, three miles from Kandy, and on the 21st of February, 1803,
entered the capital. The town, which was completely deserted, had been set
on fire by the inhabitants, but the flames were speedily extinguished, and
Kandy was in the occupation of the British.

THE BRITISH TAKEr KANDY AND ARE MASSACRED (1803 A.D.)

As the reigning monarch had been so little sensible of the benefits to be
derived from the British alliance, a more tractable sovereign was brought for-
ward in the person of Mutu-sami, a brother of the late queen, and a competitor
for the throne, who had been obliged to seek refuge in the colony. A treaty
was concluded with him, by which he ceded certain districts and immunities,
and in requital was acknowledged as monarch of Kandy, and promised, as
long as he might require it, the aid of an auxiliary force. Mutu-sami was
conducted to the capital, where he arrived on the 4th of March. He brought
no accession of strength, as the people were either afraid or disinclined to
support his cause; and hence perhaps its sudden abandonment by the gov-
ernor, who presently afterwards engaged to invest the adigar with regal
authority, on condition of his delivering up his master, assigning a pension to
Mutu-sami, and making the same cessions which that unfortunate prince had
consented to grant.

After a short stay at Kandy, during which several skirmishes took place
with the Sinhalese, invariably to their disadvantage, but without any decisive
results, the prevalence of jungle-fever, generated by the pestilential vapours
of the surrounding forests, to which many of the men and officers fell victims,
compelled the retirement of the greater part of the survivors; and, finally,
the protection of Kandy, and of Mutu-sami, was consigned to Major Davie,
with a body of five hundred Malays and two hundred Europeans of the 19th
regiment — the latter almost incapacitated for duty by sickness, and the
former speedily thinned by frequent desertions. In this state, they were
attacked on the 24th of June by the Sinhalese in immense numbers, headed
by the king and the adigar, and encouraged by their knowledge of the enfeebled
state of the garrison: a severe conflict ensued, which lasted for seven hours,
when Major Davie was under the necessity of proposing a suspension of
hostilities. The proposal was acceded to, and a capitulation agreed upon, by
which the garrison, accompanied by Mutu-sami, were to be permitted to retire
with their arms, on giving up Kandy and all military stores. It was promised
that the sick, who were mcapable of being removed, should be taken care of
until they could be sent to a British settlement. Upon these stipulations
Major Davie evacuated Kandy, and marched to the banks of the Mahaveli-
ganga, which, being swollen by the rains, was no longer fordable: no boats
were at hand, and the enemy showed himself in force in different quarters. On
the following day, a mission came from the king, demanding that Mutu-sami
should be given up, when boats would be furnished to the English. After
some hesitation, the demand was complied with. The unhappy prince, with
several of his kinsmen, was immediately put to death.

That this abandonment, and the disgrace which it entailed upon the
British faith, might have been avoided by a greater display of resolution than
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was exhibited, is not impossible; but a determination to preserve the prince
at all hazards, even if it had been entertained by the officers, was little likely
to have been acquiesced in by the men, consisting almost wholly of Malays,
who saw in his surrender their only hope of safety. The hope was fallacious,
as might have been expected from the treachery of the enemy. The king
commanded the destruction of the whole party. The adigar is said to have
manifested some reluctance to violate the capitulation; but at last consented
to become the instrument of his master’s revenge.

He prevailed upon Major Davie and his officers to accompany him out of
sight of the men, who were then told that their officers had crossed the river,
and that, upon laying down their arms, they would be also ferried across to
join them. Conducted in small parties to the edge of the river, at a spot
where they could not be seen b; their comrades, they were successively
stabbed, or butchered in various ways, and their bodies were thrown into a
contiguous hollow. At the same time the whole of the sick, a hundred and
fifty, of whom a hundred and thirty-two were British soldiers, were bar-
barously put to death, the dead and the dying having been thrown promis-
cuously into a pit prepared for the purpose. Most of the officers were also
murdered, or died shortly afterwards. Major Davie survived till about 1810,
when he died at Kandy, latterly unmolested and almost unnoticed.

CRUELTY OF THE KING OF KANDY

The recovery of his capital and the destruction of the garrison, inspired
the Kandian monarch with the ambition of expelling the Europeans from
the island; and during the remainder of 1803 and the ensuing year, repeated
efforts were made to penetrate into the colony. Their attempts were, how-
ever, repulsed. Reinforcements were sent to the island, and the British
became strong enough to retaliate. In 1805, the first adigar acquired
additional authority by the indisposition of the king; and a cessation of hos-
tilities ensued, which was continued by mutual acquiescence, without any
express armistice, for several years.

Whatever may have been the designs of the adigar, Pilame Talawe, in
his negotiations with the English, he remained apparently faithful to his
sovereign, until the king’s tyranny and cruelty taught him fears for his own
life. He then engaged in open rebellion — was unsuccessful — was taken and
beheaded. He was succeeded in his office by Ahailapalla, who in his turn
incurred and resented the suspicion and tyranny of the king. He instigated
a rebellion in the district of Jaffragam, over which he presided: but his adher-
ents fell from him upon the approach of a rival adigar with the royal forces,
and he was obliged to fly. He found refuge in Colombo: but many of his
followers were taken and impaled. The king’s savage cruelty now surpassed
all that can be imagined of barbarian inhumanity. Among a number of per-
sons who were seized and put to death with various aggravations of suffering,
the family of the fugitive minister, which had remained in the tyrant’s grasp,
were sentenced to execution; the children, one of them an infant at the breast,
were beheaded, the heads were cast into a rice mortar, and the mother was
commanded to pound them with the pestle, under the threat of being dis-
gracefully tortured if she hesitated to obey. To avoid the disgrace, the
wretched mother did lift up the pestle, and let it fall upon her children’s
heads. Her own death was an act of mercy. She, her sister-in-law, and some
other females were immediately afterwards drowned. These atrocities struck
even the Kandians with horror; and for two days the whole city was filled
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with mourning and lamentation, and observed a period of public fasting and
humiliation. The king’s ferocity was insatiable: executions were incessant,
no persons were secure, and even the chief priest of Buddha, a man of great
learning and benevolence, fell a victim to the tyrant’s thirst for blood. A
general sentiment of fear and detestation pervaded both chiefs and people,
and the whole country was ripe for revolt.

THE FINAL CONQUEST OF CEYLON

The urgent representations of Ahailapalla, and a knowledge of the state
of public feeling in the Kandian provinces, induced the governor, Sir Robert
Brownrigg, to prepare for a war which was certain to occur in consequence
of the disorders on the frontier and the insane fury of the king. Occasion
soon arose: some merchants, subjects of the British government, trading to
Kandy, were seized by the king’s orders as spies, and so cruelly mutilated that
most of them died; and about the same time a party of Kandians ravaged
the villages on the British boundary. The governor immediately declared
war against the king, and sent a body of troops into his country. They were
joined by the principal chiefs and the people, and advanced without meeting
an enemy, to the capital. They arrived there on the 14th of February. On
the 18th, the king, who had attempted to fly, was taken and brought in by
a party of Ahailapalla’s followers. On the 2nd of March he was formally
deposed, and the allegiance of the Kandians was transferred to the British
crown. Vikrama Raja Singha was sent a captive to Vellore, where he died
in January, 1832.

The change of authority, and the substitution of a new and foreign
dominion for that of the ancient native rulers, however acceptable under the
influence of popular terror and disgust, began to lose their recommendations
as soon as apprehension was allayed, and the chiefs and people were able calmly
to consider the character of the revolution to which they had contributed.
The chiefs found that their power was diminished and their dignity impaired;
the priests felt indignant at the want of reverence shown to them and to their
religion; and the people, sympathising with both, had also grievances of their
own to complain of, in the contempt displayed for their customs and insti-
tutions, and the disregard manifested for their prejudices and feelings by
the English functionaries and their subordinates. A general rebellion was the
consequence.t

In 1817 it broke out in the eastern provinces, and was with difficulty sup-

ressed after a costly and sanguinary warfare of two years’ duration. [Ceylon

in 1843 and 1848 was again the scene of insurrections, but these were unim-

portant and were quelled without difficulty. Otherwise complete tran-

?’llﬁill}ty has prevailed in the island since the establishment of the British
e.

THE ACCESSION OF SINGAPORE AND MALACCA (1824 A.D.), THE CONQUEST OF
BURMA (1824-1826 A.D.)

At Singapore, in 1819, Sir Thomas Rafles established a factory on the
south shore of the island, and in 1824, a cession in full sovereignty of this and
the neighbouring islands was obtained by purchase from a person who claimed
to be king of Johore, and was afterwards raised to that throne. Malacca was
ceded to the British in 1824 by treaty with the government of the Netherlands.

Had Mr. Canning become governor-general of India when his appointment
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as successor of the marquis of Hastings was resolved upon, it may be doubted
whether he could have carried through the policy which, as president of the
board of control, he avowed in parliament in 1819, upon the vote of thanks
to the marquis of Hastings and the army in India: “Anxious as I am for
the prosperity and grandeur of our Indian Empire, I confess I look at its
indefinite extension with awe. I earnestly wish that it may be possible for us
to remain stationary where we are; and that what still exists of substantive
and independent power in India may stand untouched and unimpaired. But
this consummation, however much it may be desired, depends not on ourselves
alone. Aggression must be repelled, and perfidy must be visited with its just
reward. And while I join with the thinking part of the country in depre-
cating advance, who shall say that there is safety for such a power as ours
in retrogradation?”  Of the prudence and wisdom of the theory of policy thus
set forth, the nation at large, the East India Company, the great Indian admin-
istrators, never appeared to entertain the slightest doubt. But, practically,
it was invariably found that without advance there would be retrogradation.
It was in vain that those who led the British armies in India must have felt
what Mr. Canning expressed — with how much jealousy the house and the
country are in the habit of appreciating the triumphs of British arms in India;
how British military operations, however successful, have always been con-
sidered as questionable in point of justice. Lord Amherst, who in March, 1823,
embarked for India as governor-general, had to pass through this almost
inevitable process of entering upon a war of conquest with the most sincere
desire to remain at peace. Within six or seven months after his arrival in
India he had to write to a friend at home: “I have to tell you that I most
unexpectedly find myself engaged in war with the king of Ava.” This was
the war with the Burman Empire, which involved the British in hostilities
from March, 1824, to February, 1826. Before the middle of the eighteenth cen-
tury the name of Burman signified a great warlike race that had founded
various kingdoms, amongst which were Siam, Pegu, Ava, and Arakan. The
kingdoms of Ava and Pegu were in a continued state of warfare, in which
the Peguans were ultimately victorious. Ava had been conquered by them,
when, in 1753, a man of humble origin but of great ability, who has been called
“the Napoleon of the Hindu-Chinese peninsula,” raised a small force, which,
constantly increasing, expelled the conquerors and placed Alompra on the
Burman throne. It has been remarked as equally curious and instructive,
that “ the last restoration of the Burman Empire, and the foundation of ours in
India, were exactly contemporaneous. Clive and Alompra made their con-
quests at the same moment.” For nearly seventy years the British from the
Ganges, and the Burmese from the Irawadi, pushed their conquests, whether
by arms or negotiation, till they met. Their inevitable rivalry soon led to
hostilities. The Burmese had gradually subjugated the independent states
which formerly existed between their frontiers and those of the company.
Lord Amherst, in the letter we have already quoted, describes how they
seized an island on which the British had established a small military post,
and when the governor-general mildly complained to the king of Ava of this
outrage, attributing it to the mistake of the local authorities, a force came
down from Ava, ‘‘threatening to invade our territory from one end of the
frontier to the other, and to reannex the province of Bengal to the dominions
of its rightful owner, the lord of the White Elephant.”
At the beginning of April the Bengal army embarked for Rangoon, the
chief seaport of the Burman dominions, situated at the embouchure of the
Irawadi — according to Lord Ambherst” “the Liverpool and Portsmouth of



134 THE HISTORY OF BRITISH INDIA ,
[1824-1826 4.p.]

Ava.” This important place was taken possession of almost without striking
a blow; but the hope of the governor-general that from thence he should
be able to dictate the terms of a moderate and therefore lasting peace, was
not very quickly realised. The British had to deal with the most warlike of
their neighbours. The king of Ava called his people to arms. During the
rainy season they had abundant time for preparation; and Sir Archibald
Campbell, who occupied Rangoon, felt the immediate necessity of fortifying it
against the probable attack of a bold and persevering enemy. An enormous
pagoda, more than three hundred feet high, became a citadel, garrisoned by a
battalion of European troops, and the smaller Buddhist temples assumed the
character of fortresses. During June and July the Burmese made repeated
attacks upon the British positions, but were as constantly repelled. On the
night of the 30th of August, when the astrologers had decided that an attack
upon this sacred place would free the country from the impious strangers, a
body of troops called Invulnerables advanced to the northern gateway. A
terrible cannonade was opened upon these dense masses, and they fled at once
to the neighbouring jungle.

The Burmese were more successful in their offensive operations in Bengal.
Under the command of an officer called Maha Bandoola, the Arakan army
advanced to Ramoo, and completely routed a detachment of native infantry.
The alarm was so great in Calcutta that the native merchants were with diffi-
culty persuaded to remain with their families, and the peasants almost uni-
versally fled from their villages. The Burmese, however, did not advance.
The British had taken some important places of the Burman territory, and
Maha Bandoola was recalled by the lord of the White Elephant for the defence
of his Golden Empire. In December Maha Bandoola brought sixty thousand
fighting men to make one overwhelming attack upon Rangoon. ~For seven
days there was severe fighting. The Burmese troops were repeatedly driven
from their stockades, and at last, when they advanced on the 7th of December
for a grand attack on the great pagoda, they were driven back into their
intrenchments, and after severe fighting were chased into the jungle.

In February, 1825, Sir Archibald Campbell began to move up the Irawadi
into the interior of the Burman Empire. As part of his force advanced to
attack the formidable works of Donabew, they were repulsed, and the retreat
was so precipitate that the wounded men were not carried off. The barbarity
in warfare of the Burmese was notorious. These unfortunate men were all
crucified, and their bodies sent floating down the river upon rafts. On the
25th of March Sir Archibald Campbell undertook the siege of Donabew.
For a week there had been an incessant fire from the British mortars and
rockets, and the breaching batteries were about to be opened, when two
Lascars, who had been taken prisoners, came to the camp, and said that the
chiefs and all the Burmese army had fled, since Maha Bandoola had been
killed the day before by one of the British shells. By the possession of
Donabew the navigation of the Irawadi became wholly under British command.

The army continued to advance, and Prome was occupied at the end of
April. The rainy monsoon now set in, and there was a suspension of opera-
tions. In the middle of November and beginning of December there were two
great battles, in the latter of which the Burmese were thoroughly discomfited.
Overtures of peace were now made, but their object was only to gain time.
At the beginning of 1826 there was severe fighting as the British advanced
towards Ava. Repeated defeats and the approach of a conquering army com-
pelled the king really to sue for peace when the British had reached Yandabu,
only forty-five miles from the capital. The vigorous operations of Sir Archi-
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bald Campbell, who had defeated a large army styled “the retrievers of the
king’s glory,” had finally compelled the Treaty of Yandabu, which was signed
on the 24th of February. By this treaty the king of Ava agreed to renounce
all claims upon the principality of Assam and its dependencies; to cede in
perpetuity the conquered provinces of Arakan, of Yea, of Tavoy, of Mergui,
and of Tenasserim; and to pay the sum of one crore of rupees towards the
expenses of the war. He further agreed that accredited British ministers
should be allowed to reside at Ava; that an accredited Burmese minister
should reside at Calcutta; and that free trade to British subjects should be
allowed in the Burmese dominions.

The fierce conflict of two years on the banks of the Irawadi presented a
memorable example of that courage and endurance which eventually over-
comes dangers and difficulties apparently insuperable. It has been truly said
by Lieutenant-Colonel Tulloch,/ an officer engaged in this war, ‘“ Perhaps there
are few instances on record in the history of any nation of a mere handful of
men, with constitutions broken down by many months of previous disease and
privation, forcing their way in the face of such difficulties, and through a
wilderness hitherto untrodden by Europeans, to the distance of five hundred
miles from the spot where they originally disembarked, and ultimately
dictating a peace within three days’ march of the enemy’s capital.” During
these land operations, with all this bravery and fortitude of the little army,
it would have been impossible to succeed without the active co-operation of
a flotilla on the rivers. The naval assistance thus rendered is memorable for
“the employment of a power then for the first time introduced into war —
steam. The steam-vessel had been very useful, not merely in carrying on
communications with despateh but in overcoming formidable resistance.”

During the last year of the Burmese War the East India Company became
engaged in a new conflict, for the purpose of protecting a native prince, with
whom it was in alliance, against an usurper. The rajah of Bhartpur (Bhurt-
pore), before his death at the beginning of 1825, had declared his son to be his
successor, and had included him in the treaty of alliance with the company.
The nephew of the deceased prince raised a revolt against this succession.
Many of the native princes looked on anxiously to see if the British, with the
Burmese War on their hands would put forth any strength to maintain one of
their devoted adherents. In the streets of Delhi the populace had shouted,
“The rule of the company is at an end.” The prince who had been expelled
had been assured by Sir David Ochterlony that he should be supported. Lord
Ambherst was at first for non-interference. He knew that Bhartpur had been
deemed impregnable; and he might fear that, now occupied with an enormous
force by the usurping rajah, the same ill fortune might befall an attack upon
the place as had befallen Lord Lake in 1805, when he was beaten from the
city by the Jats, who had ever since regarded themselves as invincible. The
commander-in-chief in India, Lord Combermere, in his Peninsular experience
as Sir Stapleton Cotton, had seen what war was in its most difficult operations,
and he could not despair of taking an Indian fortress when he recollected the
terrible sieges of Ciudad Rodrigo and Badajoz. He had just come to India
to succeed Sir Edward Paget in the chief command. Lord Combermere,
upon his arrival before Bhartpur, addressed a letter to the usurper, requesting
him to send out the women and children, who should have safe-conduct.
This humane request was not acceded to. On the 23rd of November the
bombardment commenced. On the morning of the 18th of January the
assault began at the signal given by the explosion of a mine, which utterly
destroyed the whole of the salient angle of the fortress. The British troops
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rushed in at the breaches. In two hours the whole rampart, though obstin-
ately defended, was in their possession, and early in the afternoon the citadel
surrendered. The formidable works of Bhartpur were destroved; the rightful
prince was reinstated; and the people returned to their allegiance. ®

REFORMS OF LORD WILLIAM BENTINCK

The next governor-general was Lord William Bentinck, who had been
governor of Madras twenty years earlier at the time of the mutiny of Vellore.
His seven years’ rule (from 1828 to 1835) is not signalised by any of those
victories or extensions of territory by which chroniclers delight to measure
the growth of empire. But it forms an epoch in administrative reform, and
in the slow process by which the hearts of a subject population are won over
to venerate as well as dread their alien rulers. The modern history of the
British in India, as benevolent administrators ruling the country with a single
eye to the good of the natives, may be said to begin with Lord William Ben-
tinck. According to the inscription upon his statue at Calcutta, from the
pen of Macaulay, “He abolished cruel rites; he effaced humiliating distinc-
tions; he gave liberty to the expression of public opinion; his constant study
it was to elevate the intellectual and moral character of the nations committed
to his charge.” His first care on arrival in India was to restore equilibrium
to the finances, which were tottering under the burden imposed upon them by
the Burmese War. This he effected by reductions in permanent expenditure,
amounting in the aggregate to one and a half millions sterling, as well as by
augmenting the revenue from land and from the opium of Malwa.

His two most memorable acts are the abolition of satz (suttee) and the
suppression of the thags (thugs). At this distance of time it is difficult to
realise the degree to which these two barbarous practices had corrupted the
social system of the Hindus. European research has clearly proved that the
text in the Vedas adduced to authorise the immolation of widows was a wilful
mistranslation. But the practice had been ingrained in Hindu opinion by
the authority of centuries, and had acquired the sanctity of a religious rite.
The emperor Akbar is said to have prohibited it by law, but the early English
rulers did not dare so far to violate the traditions of religious toleration. In
the year 1817 no less than seven hundred widows are said to have been burned
alive in the Bengal presidency alone. To this day the most holy spots of
Hindu pilgrimage are thickly dotted with little white pillars, each commem-
orating a safr. In the teeth of strenuous opposition, both from Europeans
and natives, Lord William carried the regulation in council on December 4th,
1829, by which all who abetted sat? were declared guilty of “culpable homi-
cide.” The honour of suppressing thagi must be shared between Lord Wil-
liam and Captain Sleeman. Thags was an abnormal excrescence upon Hin-
duism, in so far as the bands of secret assassins were sworn together by an oath
based on the rites of the bloody goddess Kali. Between 1826 and 1835 as
many as 1562 thags were apprehended in different parts of British India, and
by the evidence of approvers the moral plague spot was gradually stamped out.

Two other historical events are connected with the administration of Lord
William Bentinck. In 1833 the charter of the East India Company was
renewed for twenty years, but only upon the terms that it should abandon its
trade and permit Europeans to settle freely in the country. At the same
time a legal or fourth member was added to the governor-general’s council,
who might not be a servant of the company, and a commission was appointed
to revise and codify the law. Macaulay was the first legal member of the
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council, and the first president of the law commission. In 183C it was found
necessary to take the state of Mysore under British administration, where it
has continued up to the present time, and in 1834 the frantic misrule of
the rajah of Coorg brought on a short and sharp war. The rajah was per-
mitted to retire to Benares, and the brave and proud inhabitants of that
mountainous little territory decided to place themselves under the rule of the
company; so that the only annexation effected by Lord William Bentinek
was “in consideration of the unanimous wish of the people.”

Sir Charles (afterwards Lord) Metealfe succeeded Lord William as senior
member of council. His short term of office is memorable for the measure
which his predecessor had initiated, but which he willingly carried into execu-
tion, for giving entire liberty to the press. Public opinion in India, as well as
the express wish of the court of directors at home, pointed to Metcalfe as the
most fit person to earry out the policy of Bentinck, not provisionally, but as
governor-general for a full term. Party exigencies, however, led to the
appointment, of Lord Auckland. From that date commences a new era of
war and conquest, which may be said to have lasted for twenty years. All
looked peaceful until Lord Auckland, prompted by his evil genius, attempted
to place Shah Shuja upon the throne of Cabul, an attempt which ended in the
gross mismanagement and annihilation of the garrison placed in that city.
The disaster in Afghanistan was quickly followed by the conquest of Sind,
the two wars in the Punjab, the second Burmese War, and last of all the
Mutiny. Names like Gough and Napier and Colin Campbell take the places
of Malcolm and Metcalfe and Elphinstone.*

DETAIL OF TEMPLE, MADURA



CHAPTER V
FROM THE FIRST AFGHAN WAR TO THE MUTINY

[1885-1857 A.D.]

In 1835, Lord William Bentinck resigned the government of India, and
Lord Auckland was appointed to succeed him, but did not arrive at Calcutta
until the following year. In the meantime, the administration was conducted
by Sir Charles Metcalfe, who distinguished himself by abolishing the strict
censorship to which the press had till then been subjected.

Hindustan had never been in a more tranquil state than at the time when
Lord Auckland arrived at Calcutta, in 1836, invested with the high functions
of governor-general of the British eastern empire. ~All then appeared to pro-
mise a continuance of peace, and the uninterrupted progress of those improve-
ments so steadily and effectually pursued by his predecessor; but the calm
was not of long duration, and the attention of the government was soon
engrossed by the affairs of Kabul, which led the British armies for the first
time across the Indus.b

THE AFGHAN WAR OF 1838-1842

On the 10th of September, 1838, Lord Auckland proclaimed in general
orders his intention to employ a force beyond the northwest frontier. On
the 1st of October he published a declaration of the causes and objects of the
war. The ostensible object was to replace Shah Shuja on the throne of Kabul,
the troubles and revolutions of Afghanistan having placed the capital and a
large part of the country under the sway of Dost Muhammed Khan. Shah
Shuja, driven from his dominions, had become a pensioner of the East India
Company, and resided in the British cantonment of Ludhiana. Dost Muham-
med had in May, 1836, addressed a letter to Lord Auckland, which conveyed
his desire to secure the friendship of the British government. He was desirous
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of obtaining the aid of the British against Persia, whose troops were besieg-
ing Herat, and to recover Peshawar from Ranjit (Runjeet) Singh, the ruler
of Punjab. The governor-general in 1837 despatched Captain Alexander
. Burnes as an envoy to Kabul. Soon after the arrival of Burnes a Russian
envoy arrived at Kabul, who was liberal in his promises, but whose authority
was afterwards disavowed by his government. Captain Burnes carried back
with him a belief that Russia was meditating an attack upon British India,
having established her influence in Persia; that Dost Muhammed was treacher-
ous; and that the true way to raise a barrier against the amibition of Russia
was to place the dethroned Shah Shuja upon the throne of Kabul, as he had
numerous friends in the country.

The alarm of the possible danger of a Russian invasion through Persia and
Afghanistan led to the declaration of war against Dost Muhammed in the
autumn of 1838, and to the preparation for hostilities under a governor-general
whose declared policy, at the commencement of his rule, was to maintain the
peace which had been scarcely interrupted since the conclusion of the Burmese
War. Unquestionably there was a panic, and under such circumstances the
heaviest charge against Lord Auckland would have been that he remained in
supine indifference.

On the 14th of February the Bengal division of the army under Sir Will-
oughby Cotton crossed the Indus at Bukkur. The Indus is here divided into
two channels, one of which is nearly five hundred yards in breadth. The
passage of eight thousand men with a vast camp-train and sixteen thousand
camels was effected without a single casualty. Sir John Cam Hobhouse, in
moving the thanks of the house of commons to the Indian army, in February,
1840, read a glowing description of this passage. ‘It was a gallant sight to
see brigade after brigade, with its martial music and its glittering arms, march-
ing over file by file, horse, foot, and artillery, into a region as yet untrodden by
British soldiers.” He quoted also from a periodical publication an eloquent
allusion to the grand historical contrasts of this expedition. “ For the first
time since the days of Alexander the Great, a civilised army had penetrated
the mighty barrier of deserts and mountains which separates Persia from
Hindustan; and the prodigy has been exhibited to an astonished world of a
remote island in the European seas pushing forward its mighty arms into
the heart of Asia, and carrying its victorious standards into the strongholds
of Mohammedan faith and the cradle of the Mughal Empire.” The Bengal
army was preceded by a small body of troops under the orders of Shah
Shuja, and it was followed by the Bombay division under the command of
Sir John Keane.

Into an almost unknown and untrodden country twenty-one thousand
troops had entered through the Bolan pass. Sir Willoughby Cotton, with
the Bengal column, entered this pass in the beginning of April. The passage
of this formidable pass, nearly sixty miles in length, was accomplished in six
days. For the first eleven and a half miles into the pass the only road is the
bed of the Bolan river. The mountains on every side are precipitous and
sterile; not a blade of vegetation of any kind being found, save in the bed
of the stream. There was no sustenance for the camels, unless it were car-
ried for their support during six days, and thus along the whole route their
putrefying carcases added to the obstacles to the advance of the army.

The Bombay army sustained considerable loss from Baluchi freebooters
in their passage through the Bolan pass, but the two columns were enabled
to unite at Kandahar, and to proceed to the siege of Ghazni, under the com-
mand of Sir John Keane. On the 22nd of July the British forces were in
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camp before this famous city, built upon a rock, towering proudly over the
adjacent plain. The intelligent officers of the army could not have viewed
without deep interest this stronghold of Mohammedanism, where the tomb
of Sultan Mahmud, the conqueror of Hindustan, was still preserved, and
where Mohammedan priests still read the Koran over his grave. The sandal-
wood gates of this tomb, which in 1025 had been carried off from the Hindu
temple of Somnath in Guzerat, were to acquire a new celebrity at the close
of this Afghan War by an ostentatious triumph, not quite so politic as that of
the Sultan Mahmud. At Ghazni, Moharnmedanism maintained its most fana-
tical aspect. On the day before the final attack, Major Outram attempted
with part of the shah’s contingent to force the enemy from the heights beyond
the walls. He describes that over the crest of the loftiest peak floated the
holy banner of green and white, surrounded by a multitude of fanatics, who
believed they were safe under the sacred influence of the Moslem ensign. A
shot having brought down the standard-bearer, and the banner being seized,
the multitude fled panic-stricken at the proof of the fallacy of their belief.
On the morning of the 23rd the fortress and citadel were stormed. There
were great doubts, almost universal doubts, at home as to the policy of this
Afghan War. There could be no doubt as to the brilliancy of this exploit.
On the 29th of July the British army quitted Ghazni. It entered Kabul
in triumph on the 7th of August. Shah Shuja, restored to his sovereignty,
was once more seated in the Bala Hissar, the ancient palace of hisrace. Dost
Muhammed had fled beyond the Indian Caucasus. The country appeared
not only subjected to the new government, but tranquil and satisfied. As
the spring and summer advanced insurrections began to break out in the
surrounding country. Dost Muhammed had again made his appearance, and
had fought a gallant battle with the British cavalry, in which he obtained a
partial victory. Despairing, however, of his power effectually to resist the
British arms, he wrote to Kabul, and delivered himself up to the envoy, Sir
William Macnaghten, claiming the protection of his government. He was
sent to India, where a place of residence was assigned to him on the north-
west frontier, with three lacs of rupees (about £30,000) as a revenue. But
the danger of the occupation of Afghanistan was not yet overpast. The
events of November and December, 1841, and of January, 1842, were of so
fearful a nature as scarcely to be paralleled in some of their incidents by the
disasters of the mutiny of 1857.

THE MASSACRE OF KABUL; THE DESTRUCTION OF THE BRITISH ARMY (1841 A.D.)

The British at Kabul were in a condition of false security. The army
was in cantonments, extensive, ill-defended, overawed on every side. Within
these indefensible cantonments English ladies, amongst whom were Lady
Macnaghten and Lady Sale, were domesticated in comfortable houses. Sir
Robert Sale had left Kabul in October, expecting his wife to follow him in
a few days. The climate was suited to the English; the officers, true to their
national character, had been playing cricket, riding races, fishing, shooting,
and, when winter came, astonishing the Afghans with skating on the lakes.

On the night of the 1st of November, there was a meeting of Afghan
chiefs, who were banded together, however conflicting might be their inter-
ests, to make common cause against the feringhees (foreigners). One of
these, Abdullah Khan, who had been active in his intrigues to stir up dis-
affection, had an especial quarrel with Burnes, who had called him a dog,
and had said that he woulg recommend Shah Shuja to deprive the rebel of
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his ears. He proposed that at the contemplated rising on the 2nd of Novem-
ber the first overt act should be an attack on the house of Burnes. Lady
Sale,d in her journal of that day, says, “ This morning early all was in com-
motion in Kabul; the shops were plundered, and the people were all fighting.”
Before daylight an Afghan who was friendly to Burnes came to report to
him that a plot had been hatched during the night which had for its chief
object his murder. The vizir arrived with the same warning. Burnes was
incredulous, and refused to seek safety either in the king’s fortress-palace,
the Bala Hissar, or in the British cantonments. A mob was before his house.
Perfect master of the language of the people, he harangued them from a
gallery. At his side stood his brother Charles, and Lieutenant Broadfoot,
who had arrived to perform the office of military secretary to Burnes when
he should be the highest in place and power. The mob clamoured for the
lives of the British officers, and Broadfoot was the first to fall by a shot from
the infuriated multitude. A Mussulman from Kashmir, who had entered
the house, swore by the Koran that if they would cease firing he would con-
vey the brothers in safety to the Kuzzilbash (Persian) fort. The three
entered the garden, when the betrayer proclaimed to the insurgents, “This
is Secunder Burnes.” The brothers were instantly struck down, and were
cut to pieces by the Afghan knives. Sir Alexander Burnes, who thus perished
in the thirty-sixth year of his age, was of the same family as the great Scottish
poet, his grandfather being the brother of the father of Robert Burns.
From the 2nd of November to the 23rd of December, the position of the
British at Kabul became more and more perilous. At the beginning of
the insurrection some vigorous resolve, some demonstration of the power
of the British arms, might have ensured safety, if not ultimate triumph.
There were four thousand five hundred good troops in the cantonments, but
there was no one effectually to lead them against the rebelsin the city. There
were about six hundred British troops in the Bala Hissar. General Sale
and General Nott were expected with reinforcements, but they were them-
selves hemmed in by enemies. The alternations of hope and fear amongst
the unhappy residents, especially the women, are recorded in the journal of
Lady Sale.d” In the first week of December the troops in cantonments were
threatened by the near approach of starvation. The camp followers were
living upon the carcases of dead camels. Negotiations were going on with
the Afghan chiefs for the safe retreat of the army, and for a supply of pro-
visions. They were protracted from day to day, the Afghans requiring as a
first condition that the forts in the neighbourhood of the cantonments should
be given up. They were evacuated; and then the enemy looked down with
triumphant derision upon those who, within their defenceless walls, were per-
ishing, whilst the supplies which had been promised them were intercepted
by a rabble from the city. Every day added to the expected difficulties of
the retreat. The winter was setting in. On the 18th of December snow
began to fall. Macnaghten, wearied and almost desperate amidst the bad
faith and insulting demands of the chiefs, received on the evening of the 22nd
a proposal from Akbar Khan, the son of Dost Muhammed, which even Elphin-
stone, enfeebled as he was by illness and generally inapt to offer a decided
opinion, regarded as treacherous. On the morning of the 23rd, according to
the proposal that had been made to him, Macnaghten, with three friends,
Lawrence, Trevor, and Mackenzie, went out about six hundred yards from
the cantonment for a conference with Akbar Khan, the sirdar (the title which
the chief assumed). In an instant they were seized from behind. Lawrence
and Mackenzie contrived to escape. Trevor was murdered; Akbar Khan
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rushed upon Macnaghten in the endeavour to seize and detain him. “The
look of wondering horror that sat upon his upturned face will not be for-
gotten by those who saw it to their dying days,” says Kaye.c “The only
words he was heard to utter were, Az barae Khoda (‘for God’s sake!’).”
Akbar Khan drew a pistol from his girdle — it was one of a pair which Mac-
naghten had presented to him the previous day —and he shot the unarmed
envoy through the body. Wonderful to relate, not a gun was fired from
the British cantonments, not a soldier went forth to avenge the murder of
the British minister.

Major Pottinger, who now took the place of the unfortunate Macnaghten
as political agent, exhorted the military chiefs either to fight their way to
Jalalabad or forcibly to occupy the Bala Hissar. They preferred to capitulate.
At a council of war on December 26th a treaty was ratified, which contained
the humiliating conditions that all the guns should be left behind except six;
that all the treasure should be given up, and 40,000 rupees paid in bills, to
be negotiated upon the spot; and that four officers as hostages should be
detained to ensure the evacuation of Jalalabad by General Sale. On the 6th
of January, 1842, on a morning of intense cold, the army, consisting of four
thousand five hundred fighting men and twelve thousand followers, began
to move out of the cantonments. The order and discipline which could alone
save an army retreating in the midst of a hostile population had no place in
that confused mass, who were without food or fuel or shelter. Akbar Khan
came up with a body of six hundred horsemen to demand other hostages as
security for the evacuation of Jalalabad. On the 8th, Pottinger, Lawrence, and
Mackenzie were placed in his hands. Akbar Khan declared that he also came
to protect the British and Hindus from the attacks of the Ghilzais, one of
the most fanatic of the Mussulman tribes of Afghanistan. His authority
appears to have been exerted with all sincerity to interfere between these
cruel assailants and their victims; but it was manifested in vain. The dis-
organised force entered the pass of Khurd-Kabul, which for five miles is shut
in by precipitous mountains, with a torrent rushing down the centre. On
the hill-sides were the unrelenting Ghilzais, who shot down the fugitives
without a chance of their being resisted or restrained. In this pass three
thousand men are stated to have fallen. “ The ladies,” says Lady Sale,d *‘ were
mostly travelling in kujavas (camel-panniers), and were mixed up with the
baggage and column in the pass. Here they were heavily fired on,” Lady
Sale, who rode on horseback, was shot in the arm. Her son-in-law was here
mortally wounded. On the 9th, Akbar Khan, who had arrived with his three
hostages, says Lady Sale,d “turned to Lawrence and said that he had a
proposal to make, but that he did not like to do so lest his motives might be
misconstrued; but that, as it concerned us more than himself, he would
mention it; and that it was that all the married men, with their families,
should come over and put themselves under his protection, he guaranteeing
them honourable treatment, and safe escort to Peshawar.” Lawrence and
Pottinger urged the acceptance of this proposal upon General Elphinstone.
There were ten women and thirteen or more children; six married men went
with them, with two wounded officers. It was better to trust to Akbar Khan
for the protection of these helpless women and children than to continue
their exposure to the attacks of the cruel tribes whom the sirdar could not
restrain, and to the horrors of a continued march in a most inclement season.

On the 10th of January the small remnant of the force that had left Kabul
on the 6th continued its march towards Jalalabad. The native regiments
were nearly annihilated by cold and hunger and the Afghan knife. The frost-
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bitten Asiatics, who still crawled to a narrow defile, were unable to make
any resistance. The dying and the dead soon choked up the narrow gorge
between the precipitous spurs of two hills. There was now not a single
sepoy left. Not more than a quarter of the men who had left Kabul now
survived. The European officers and soldiers scarcely numbered five hun-
dred. They would have fought with the energy of desperation, but they
were hemmed in by the crowd of camp-followers, who from the first had
rendered their march as dangerous as the assaults of their enemies. The
next day Akbar Khan invited General Elphinstone and two English officers,
Brigadier Shelton and Captain Johnson, to a conference. The sirdar required
that the three should remain as hostages for the evacuation of Jalalabad.
Elphinstone implored the Afghan to permit him to return and share the for-
tune of his troops. The two officers were equally unwilling to leave their
doomed comrades.

But resistance was in vain. On the evening of the 12th the march was
resumed. They had to struggle with the dangers of the Jagdalak pass, in
which the steep road ascends through a dark defile. As they approached
the summit they found a barricade of bushes and branches of trees. Here
the relentless enemy was in waiting. A general massacre ensued, in which
many of the remaining officers perished. Twenty officers and forty-five
European soldiers were able to clear the barricade. The next morning they
were surrounded by an infuriated multitude. They were as one to a hun-
dred; most of them were wounded; but they were resolute not to lay down
their arms.

They all perished except one captain and a few privates, who were taken
prisoners. Out of those who had been in advance of the column in the pass,
six reached Futtehabad, within sixteen miles of Jalalabad. These last com-
panions in misery were three captains, one lieutenant, and two regimental
surgeons. Five were slain before the sixteen miles were traversed. General
Sale’s brigade had held possession of Jalalabad from the morning of the 13th
of November, when they took the place from the Afghans by surprise.
From time to time they heard rumours of the perilous position of the British
force in Kabul. At last a letter, addressed to Captain MacGregor, the poli-
tical agent, arrived from Elphinstone and Pottinger, stating that an agree-
ment having taken place for the evacuation of Kabul, they should immedi-
ately commence their march to India. In the absence of any security for
the safe conduct of the troops to Peshawar, they resolved to disobey these
instructions, and not to surrender the fort, whose defences they had been
assiduously labouring to improve. On the 13th of January a sentry on the
ramparts saw a solitary horseman struggling on towards the fort. He was
brought in, wounded and exhausted. The one man who was left to tell the
frightful tale of the retreat from Kabul was Doctor Brydon.

‘THE RECONQUEST OF JALALABAD AND KABUL (1842 A.D.)

The refusal of Sale and MacGregor to surrender Jalalabad was that heroic
determination to face the danger which in almost every case makes the
danger less. Akbar Khan lost no time in besieging Jalalabad. Sale had well
employed his enforced leisure in repairing the ruinous ramparts and clearing
out the ditch. He had made the place secure against the attack of an army
without cannon. But the garrison was not secure against the approach of
famine. Akbar Khan with a large body of horse was hovering around to pre-
vent the admission of supplies. On the 19th of February a serious misfor-
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tune called forth new energies in these resolute men. An earthquake to a
great extent rendered the labour vain which had been so long employed in
the repairs of the works. By the end of the month the parapets were restored,
the breaches built, up, and every battery re-established. At the close of
March, being at the last extremity for provisions, the garrison made a sortie,
and carried off five hundred sheep and goats. It was known to Sir Robert
Sale that General Pollock was advancing to his relief. The time was come
when a vigorous attack on the enemy without might have better results than
a protracted defence. On the morning of the 7th of April three columns of
infantry, with some field artillery and a small cavalry force, issued from the
walls of Jalalabad to attack Akbar Khan, who with six thousand men was
strongly posted in the adjacent plain. ‘

Every point attacked by the three columns was carried, and the victory
was completed by a general assault upon the Afghan camp. In a few hours
the battle was over. Two days before this victory General Pollock had
forced the Khyber pass. On the 16th of April Pollock’s advanced guard was
in sight of Jalalabad; and the two little armies were united in the exulting
hope that it would be for them to retrieve the disasters which had befallen
the British arms. Lord Ellenborough had arrived at Calcutta as governor-
general on the 25th of February. The close of Lord Auckland’s rule in India
was clouded with misfortunes which fell heavily upon a proud and sensitive
man. His policy was proved to be a mistake. Nothing in the annals of
Great Britain had ever exhibited so disastrous an issue to a war undertaken
in the confidence that it would avert the possibility of an impending danger.
When, on the 30th of January, the utter destruction of the army of Kabul
was known at Calcutta, the governor-general published a proclamation con-
taining brave words. A new governor-general had arrived, who, appointed
by a new administration, had been amongst the most vehement denouncers of
the Afghan War.

The successes of Sale and Pollock had renewed the confidence of the
British in India that the storm would soon be overpast. They had inter-
rupted the hopes of those native powers who believed that the rule of the
“ Feringhees”’ was coming to an end. Shah Shuja had been for some time
able to maintain himself in the citadel of Kabul after he had been left to his
own resources. He finally perished by assassination.

The English ladies, children, and officers, who were treated as prisoners
rather than as hostages, were carried from fort to fort. General Elphinstone
died at Tezoon on the 23rd of April. At the end of April, General England
had forced the principal pass between Juettah and Kandahar; and early in
May had joined his forces to those of General Nott at Kandahar. Ghazni,
which was in the possession of the Afghans, was recaptured by him on the
6th of September. General Pollock had been detained by sickness and other
impediments at Jalalabad to the end of August. He then fought his way
through the passes, and was joined by General Nott.

On the 15th of September the British standard was flying on the Bala
Hissar of Kabul. The prisoners of Akbar Khan had been hurried towards
Turkestan. The khan who had charge of them agreed with the English officers,
for the future payment of a sum of rupees and an annuity, that he would
assist them to regain their freedom. The advance of the army upon Kabul
secured the aid of other chieftains. On the 15th of September, the hostages,
the ladies, and the children had quitted the forts of the friendly khan, and
were proceeding toward Kabul, when, on the 17th, they were met by a party
of six hundred mounted Kuzzilbashes, under the command of Sir Richmond
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Shakespear, who had been sent by General Pollock to rescue them from their
perils. On the 19th a horseman met the party alternating between hope and
fear, to say that General Sale was close at hand with a brigade. The hus-
band and the father met his wife and widowed daughter. Their happiness pro-
duced ‘“ a choking sensation, which could not obtain the relief of tears.” The
soldiers cheered; a royal salute from mountain-train guns welcomed them to
the camp; the joy was proportioned to the terrible dangers that were over-
past. On the 1st of October a proclamation was issued from Simla by Lord
Ellenborough, which stated that the disasters in Afghanistan having been
avenged upon every scene of past misfortune, the British army would be
withdrawn the Sutlej. On the 12th of October the army began its march
back to India. Dost Muhammed was released, and returned to his sov-
ereignty at Kabul.

Of the proclamation dated from Simla on the 1st of October there was
much adverse notice in parliament. Mr. Macaulay maintained that it was
antedated; for that on the 1st of October the release of the captives on the
19th of September could not have been known to the governor-general; and
that knowing of this joyful event on the 12th he omitted all mention of it,
that he might have the childish gratification of insulting his predecessor in
the vice-royalty, by dating on the same day on which, in 1838, Lord Auck-
land had published his unfortunate declaration of the causes and objects of
the war. But there was another proclamation by Lord Ellenborough which
his ministerial friends could scarcely vindicate, and which brought down upon
him the bitterest denunciations of his political enemies. It was as follows:

FROM THE GOVERNOR-GENERAL TO ALL THE PRINCES, AND CHIEFS, AND
PEOPLE OF INDIA
My BROTHERS AND MY FRIENDS:

Our victorious army bears the gates of the temple of Somnauth in triumph from Afghan-
istan, and the despoiled tomb of Sultan Muhammed [Mahmud] looks upon the ruins of
Ghazni. The insult of eight hundred years is at last avenged. The gates of the temple of
Somnath, so long the memorial of your humiliation, are become the proudest record of your
national glory; the proof of your superiority in arms over the nations beyond the Indus.” To
you, princes and chiefs of Sirhind, of Rajwarra, of Malwa, and of Guzerat, I shall commit this
glorious trophy of successful war. You will yourselves, with all honour, transmit the gates of
sandal-wood through your respective territories to the restored temple of Somnath. The chiefs
of Sirhind shall be informed at what time our victorious army will first deliver the gates of the
temple into their guardianship, at the foot of the bridge of the Sutlej.

The Hindu temple of Somnath was in ruins, and it was maintained by
those to whom the pompous words of the proclamation were distasteful, that
the governor-general meant to restore it, and thus to manifest a preference
for one of the great rival creeds of India—a preference which the policy of
England expressly forbade. This might be a wrong inference from the words
of the proclamation. But to despoil the tomb of a worshipper of Mohammed,
that honour might be done the worshippers of Vishnu, was to offer an out-
rage to those sensibilities which more than any other cause made and still
make the British rule in India so like treading on beds of lava.

THE CONQUEST OF SIND

In Trafalgar Square, under the shadow of the Nelson Column, is a statue
of “Charles James Napier, General.” The inscription bears that it was
‘““erected by Public Subscription, the most numerous Contributors being
Private Soldiers.” This renowned warrior is ordinarily termed Conqueror of
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Sind. He had also a claim to be recorded as a benefactor of mankind in his
successful endeavour to make his conquest a source of good to the conquered
people. He was the just and beneficent administrator of Sind.e

The country of Sind constitutes the most western limit of India along
the southern course of the Indus. It was conquered by the Mohammedans
in the commencement of the eighth century, and was retained as a depend-
ency of Persia until its subjugation by Mahmud Ghazni. Upon the downfall
of his dynasty, the Sumras, a race of chiefs of Arab extraction, established
themselves as independent rulers of the country, until they were dispossessed
by the Sumas, who were Hindus, and who professed a nominal fealty to the
Pathan sovereigns of Delhi. In the reign of Akbar, Sind became more inti-
mately attached to the Mughal Empire; but the government of the pro-
vince was usually entrusted to native chiefs, whose degree of subordination
was regulated by the ability of the court of Delhi to compel obedience.

Towards the close of the seventeenth century, the Kalhoras, a race of
religious teachers who pretended to derive their origin from the Abassid Caliphs,
and who converted their reputation for sanctity into an engine of worldly
aggrandisement, had become possessed of extensive territory in Sind, and
usurped an ascendancy in its government, which was legalised in the reign
of Muhammed Shah of Delhi by the appointment of Nur Muhammed Kalhora
as subahdar of Tatta. The vicegerent of Sind was speedily relieved from his
dependance upon Delhi, but was compelled to pay tribute to the conqueror,
Nadir Shah. The death of that prince dissolved the connection with Persia;
but the new sovereign of Afghanistan claimed the like supremacy over the
country, and Sind became, nominally at least, subject to Kabul. The Baluchi
tribes acquired a leading influence In the affairs of Sind. The Talpur chief
Fath Ali finally established the authority of his family in Sind. This power
he shared with his three brothers, Ghulam Ali, Karm Ali, and Murad Ali.g

On the death of Fath Ali in 1801 ‘the three continued to rule together;
and when Ghulam Ali was killed in 1811 the duumvirate remained supreme,
but on the death of Karm Ali in 1828 and Murad Ali a few years later, the old
system was revived, and a government of four again instituted. Such was
the state of things when British relations with the province [and with these
mirs or amirs of Sind] had become necessarily an urgent consideration, owing
to the Afghan expedition of 1838. During this erisis of Anglo-Indian history,
the political officers in Sind and Baluchistan had a difficult task to perform,
and it is infinitely to their credit that more mischief did not ensue in these
countries from the many and heavy British disasters in the north.»

Whatever were the relations of these rulers to the people whom they mis-
governed, the British authorities in India had repeate ly entered into treaties
with them, and in the treaty of 1820 these words were used: “ The two con-
tracting parties mutually bind themselves from generation to generation never
to look with the eye of covetousness on the possessions of each other.” But
the passage of troops through Sind was necessary for carrying on the war
with Afghanistan. The amirs remonstrated, but were compelled to yield.
Something more was required by a subsequent treaty. Karachi and Tatta
were ceded to the British, with power to station troops there; and the free
navigation of the Indus was stipulated as another condition of Great Britain’s
friendship. At an earlier period some of the amirs had expressed their fears
that Sind was gone — the English have seen the river.” After the British
had withdrawn from Ghuznee, and when the terror of their name was no
longer sufficient to command a compliance with enforced engagements, the
amirs began to manifest hostile designs. Sir Charles Napier, having learned
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that they had assembled an army of twenty-five thousand men, resolved
upon a direct and immediate act of hostility, instead of allowing them to
gain time by delays and negotiations. Boldness and promptitude in this
short war effected more than unlimited reinforcements. Emaun-Ghur, in
the desert of Baluchistan, was a stronghold where the mercenaries of the
amirs could gather together, safe from pursuit. Napier resolved to attack
this fortress, whither upon his approach a large body of troops were march-
ing. :

On the night of the 5th of January, 1843, he commenced a perilous adven-
ture. With three hundred and sixty of the 22nd Queen’s regiment on camels,
with two hundred of the ir-
regular cavalry, with ten
camels laden with provisions
and with eighty carrying
water, he set forth to tra-
verse the arid waste, defy-
ing the armed bands on every
side. After a few days the
- camels which drew the how-
itzers were unable to drag
them over the sand-hills, and
the unshrinking Irish soldiers
took their place. When the
fortress, which no European
eye had before seen, was
reached, it was found de-
serted. The governor had
fled with his treasure, but he
had left immense stores of
ammunition behind. Napier
resolved to destroy Emaun-
thurc;1 and having * <
mined it in twenty- "‘}“\m
four places, by a ﬁ%ﬁ* W~
simultaneous ex-
plosion all the ALAROD-DEEN GATEWAY, DELHI
mighty walls of the
square tower, which stood as it were the monarch of the vast solitude,
crumbled into atoms, and the wild bands who went forth to plunder and
harass the populous Sind, had to retire still further into the desert. - Napier
and his hardy companions, after undergoing great privations on their march
bgclé by a different route, rejoined the main army on the 23rd near Hyder-
abad.

Battle of Miany (1843 A.D.)

The British resident at Hyderabad was Major Outram. On the 12th of
February, the amirs with one exception, the amir of Khairpur, signed the
treaty which in the previous December had been tendered to them, and
which, as was to have been expected from its hard conditions, they had evaded
signing. This was Lord Ellenborough’s “final treaty,” which Napier was
to have imposed upon them by an immense force. The day after the signa-
ture Major Outram was attacked in the residency by eight thousand Baluchis.
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He had only a hundred foot-soldiers with him. In the river, however, there
were two war steamers. To these he effected his retreat, by presenting a
bold front to his assailants, whilst the guns of the steamers swept the flanks
of the pursuers. With the loss only of three men killed and two wounded the
gallant officer joined the main army under Napier, which consisted of four
hundred British of the 22nd, and two thousand two hundred sepoys and
other native troops. The 22nd were under the command of Colonel Penne-
father, a name of renown in the Crimean War. The artillery consisted of
twelve guns. With this force the battle of Miani was fought on the 17th of
February. On this day Napier wrote in his journal, “ It is my first battle
as a commander: it may be my last. At sixty, that makes little difference; but
my feelings are, it shall be do or die.” Whatever deeds have been done by
heroic Englishmen under the inspiration of duty, never was there a greater
deed of warfare than the victory of Miani, which was won by two thousand
six hundred men against twenty-two thousand.

The Baluchis were posted on a slope behind the bed of the river Fulailee,
which was for the most part dry. The half-mile between the two armies was
rapidly passed; the bed of the river was crossed; up the slope ran the
intrepid 22nd, and from the ridge looked down upon the Baluchis “ thick as
standing corn.” The Baluchis covering their heads with their large dark
shields, and waving their bright swords in the sun, rushed with frantic ges-
tures upon the front of the 22nd. The Irish soldiers, with shouts as loud
and shrieks as wild and fierce as theirs, met them with the bayonet, and says
Sir William Napier,/ ““ sent their foremost masses rolling back in blood.” The
native infantry came up; the artillery took a commanding position, and
mowed down the Baluchis with round-shot and canister. Upon the slope
went on the deadly conflict for three hours, the assailants rushing upwards
against an enemy who resolutely held his ground, the gaps in his ranks being
closed up as fast as they were made. The result was at one time uncertain.
The greater number of the European officers were killed or wounded. Napier
was in the thick of the fight, and though surrounded by enemies was unharmed.
Like Nelson, his daring was his safety; but then it was under the direction of
his genius. He saw, what the eye only of a great commander can see, the
opportunity for closing a doubtful struggle by one decisive blow. He
ordered a charge of cavalry. Defying the guns on the top of the ridge, the
chosen band of horsemen charged right into the enemy’s camp. Those who
had so long stood firm on the hill fell into confusion. The 22nd and the
sepoys gained the ridge, and drove the Baluchis over. The mighty host of
the amirs was thus beaten by a handful of troops led on to victory by one
who had gained his experience in the great battles of the peninsula; by one
who knew that large masses of men, however brave and strong, are com-
garatively weak unless their movements are directed by some master-mind,

old in the conception of his plans, cool in their execution, and having all the
resources of strategy at his command at the instant when all would be lost
by ignorance or incertitude.

Sir Charles Napier followed up his victory the next day by a message
sent into Hyderabad that he would storm the city unless it surrendered.
Six of the amirs came out, and laid their swords at hisfeet. There was another
enemy yet unsubdued — Shere Muhammed of Mirpur. On the 24th of March
Napier, who had been reinforced and had now five thousand troops, attacked
this chief who had come with twenty thousand Baluchis before the walls
of Hyderabad to recover the city. It was a hard earned victory, which was
followed up by the British occupation of Mirpur. The spirit of the Baluchis
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was so broken that after two slight actions in June, when Shere Muhammed
was routed and fled into the desert, the war was at an end.

Sind was annexed to the British possessions, and Sir Charles Napier was
appointed its governor. He ruled the country for four years. He saw the
great natural resources of Sind, and he led the way in rendering them avail-
able for commercial purposes by costly public works. The great branch of
the Indus was opened to restore the fertility of Cutch. A gigantic pier was
constructed at Karachi, by which a secure harbour was formed; and now the
port is connected with the Indus by a railway. He made the revenue of the
province sufficient to support the expenditure for its civil and political admin-
istration. But above all, he made the native population prosperous and con-
tented under the British rule.

The state of the people under his wise government is thus described by Sir
William Napier,/ the historian of the Sind War: “ The labourer cultivates in
security his land; the handicraftsman, no longer dreading mutilation of his
nose or ears for demanding remuneration for his work, is returning from the
countries to which he had fled, allured back by good wages and employment.
Young girls are no longer torn from their families to fill the zenanas of the
great, or sold into distant slavery. The Hindu merchant and Parsee trafficker
pursue their vocation with safety and confidence; and even the proud
Baluchi warrior, not incapable of noble sentiments, though harsh and savage,
remains content with a government which has not meddled with his right of
subsistence, but only changed his feudal ties into a peaceful and warlike
dependence. He has, moreover, become personally attached to a conqueror
whose prowess he has felt in battle, and whose justice and generosity he has
experienced in peace.”

The close of the year 1843 was marked by another great military success
in India. The state of Gwalior was in 1804 placed under the protection of
the British government. The successor of the rajah who died in 1843 was a
minor, and a regent was appointed, with the approbation of the governor-
general. The regent was expelled by the Mahrattas, and the British resident
was insulted. Lord Ellenborough, to whom war appeared a noble pastime
in which an amateur might laudably indulge, immediately sent Sir Hugh Gough
from Agra with fourteen thousand troops; and on the 29th of December he
fought the battle of Maharajpur, when the Mahrattas were defeated with
greatloss. On thesame day, Major-General Grey also defeated the Mahrattas
at Punniar. The usurping government immediately submitted, and the strong
fortress of Gwalior was occupied by a British governor. These warlike pro-
ceedings, however brilliant and successful, were not acceptable to the majority
in the direction of the East India Company.c [In the next year they recalled
Lord Ellenborough.]

SIR HENRY HARDINGE AND THE WAR WITH THE SIKHS

Sir Henry Hardinge, who had served with great distinction in the Penin-
sular War, and at the famous battle of Waterloo, where he had the misfortune
to lose his left arm, arrived at Calcutta in July, 1844, and began his govern-
ment by such measures as were most likely to maintain peace, and advance
the civilisation of the country.

Soon after his arrival he published a document stating that, in all appoint-
ments to public offices throughout Bengal, preference would be given to
those among the candidates who had been educated in the government schools,
especially to such as had distinguished themselves by their attainments; and
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this regulation was to apply to the subordinate as well as to the higher situ-
ations; so that in appointing a public officer, even of the lowest grade, a
man who can read ang write is preferred to one who cannot. But Sir Henry’s
pacific intentions were speedily frustrated, and he was compelled by circum-
stances to engage in a war, the final result of which not only extended the
British dominion in India, but was probably also the means of preserving it.b
Although seceders in some respects from the orthodox religion of the
Hindus, the Sikhs retain so many essential articles of the Brahmanical faith,
that they may be justly classed among the Hindu races. In the original
institution, the Sikhs were a religious community, who, in consonance with
the benevolent objects of their founder, Nanak Shah, a native of the Punjab,
proposed to abolish the distinctions of caste, and to combine Hindus and

INTERIOR OF THE CELEBRATED TEMPLE AT RAMESWARAM

Mohammedans in a form of theistical devotion, derived from the blended
abstractions of Sufiism and the Vedanta, and adapted to popular currency
by the dissemination of the tenets which it inculcated, in hymns and songs
composed in the vernacular dialects. These still constitute the scriptural
authority, the Adi Granth, ““ the book ” of the Sikhs. The doctrines and the
influente of the teachers gave a common faith to the hardy and intrepid
population of the upper part of the Punjab, and merged whatever distinctive
appellations they previously possessed in the new general designation of
“Bikhs,” or “disciples,” which thenceforth became their national denomi-
nation.

As their numbers increased, they attracted the notice of the Moham-
medan rulers, and were subjected to the ordeal of persecution. They had
recourse to arms: under a succession of military leaders, the sword became
inseparablg associated in their creed with the book; and their ranks were
recruited by fugitives from political disorder and fiscal oppression, who
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readily adopted a faith which made but trifling demands upon their belief,
and differed in few material points from that which they professed. Com-
munity of danger became the bond of both a religious and a social organi-
sation, and a nation grew out of a sect. As the birth-place of their founder
Nanak, and of the teacher who in a still greater degree gave to the Sikhs their
characteristic peculiarities, Guru Govind Singh was the Punjab, it was there
that they congregated and became organised, in spite of the efforts of the
viceroys of Lahore for their suppression, until they had become masters of
the whole of the country from the Sutlej to the Indus.g

The history of the Sikhs illustrates a phenomenon well known in Asia,
where an insurrectionary movement is always particularly dangerous if it
takes a religious complexion, and where fanaticism may endure and accu-
mulate under a spiritual leader until it explodes in the world of polities
with the force of dynamite. The martyrdom of their first prophet, and
their persecution by the later Mughal emperors, had engendered in these
hardy peasants a fierce hatred of Islam. They had been repressed and broken
by the Afghan armies of Ahmed Shah, who routed them with great slaughter
in 1761. But in 1762 they defeated and slew his governor at Sirhind; and
in 1764 Ahmed Shah was recalled to his western provinces by a revolt in
Kandahar. He died in 1773, aiter which date the grasp of his successors on
the Punjab relaxed, and the Sikh confederation became closer and more
vigorous.k

RANJIT SINGH OF LAHORE

Ranjit Singh was about twelve years old when the death of his father, in
1792, left him in possession of a large territory, of which his mother assumed
the government during his minority; and being an ambitious, unprincipled
woman, she entirely neglected the education of her son, as a means of retain-
ing her own power; so that the boy was not even taught to read or write.
She became, at length, so unpopular that she was assassinated —some say
with the connivance of her son, who assumed the government at the age of
seventeen, a short time before the fall of Tipu Sahib.

It happened that young Ranjit had improved the opportunity to per-
form some service for Shah Zaman, king of the Afghans, who in return
invested him with the government of Lahore [1798]; and after the dethrone-
ment of that monarch, Ranjit asserted his independence, and with the gen-
eral consent of the Sikhs took the title King of Lahore, and soon established
his authority over the whole of the Punjab.

Ranjit Singh, being anxious to keep on friendly terms with the British
government, concluded a treaty with an envoy sent to his court for that pur-
pose, by which he agreed not to attempt to extend his territories to the east,
beyond the boundary of the Sutlej river; but this treaty did not limit his
ambition in other directions; and during the civil wars of the Afghans that
followed the dethronement of Shah Shuja, he made great additions to his
kingdom, both on the south and the west. The unfortunate Shuja, when he
fled from Kabul, had at first sought shelter at Lahore, where he was detained
for some time as a prisoner, and compelled to give up all the jewels; so that
Ranjit Singh became, in 1813, the possessor of the famous diamond Koh-i-nur,
which signifies “ the mountain of light.” The murder of Fatteh Khan, and
the consequent breaking up of the Afghan monarchy, opened the way for the
further aggrandisement of the king of Lahore, who crossed the Indus, and
thus possessed himself of Peshawar; about the same time he became master
of the beautiful valley of Kashmir [1819].
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THE SUCCESSORS OF RANJIT SINGH

The death of Ranjit Singh, in June, 1839, deprived the English of a pow-
erful ally, and the eastern nations of one of their greatest rulers. This illus-
trious prince, the founder of a vast empire, which was destined to fall with
him to whom it owed its rise, was succeeded by his son, Kharrak Singh, who
survived him but a few months. The funeral obsequies of the latter were
celebrated with the sacrifice of one of his wives, and on the same day his
son and successor, Nihal, was accidentally killed by the falling of a beam, as
he was passing under a gateway on his elephant. This event gave rise to
much confusion in the state, as there was no direct heir to the crown; and
one party supported Dhian Singh, who had been Ranjit’s chief minister;
while the opposite faction proclaimed Shir Singh, another prince of the
family. Such was the state of affairs in the Punjab during the early part of
the Afghan War, and consequently the Sikhs were too much occupied with
their own troubles to afford that efficient aid which had been expected from
the friendly alliance that had subsisted between the British government and
the late monarch, Ranjit Singh.

The British government took no part in the dissensions that followed the
death of Kharrak Singh, but maintained a friendly intercourse with Shir Singh
in order to secure for the troops in Afghanistan a free passage through the
Punjab, from Kabul to British India. The condition o? the country was at
this time extremely wretched. The great Sikh army — which had been organ-
ised by Ranjit Singh on the European system, and which in his time had been
a powerful force, commanded by European officers— was now disbanded;
the roads were infested with banditti, who plundered the villages with
impunity, and in many instances set them on fire; so that the miserable
peasants were wandering about everywhere, without the means of procuring
food or shelter, while the government was too weak to afford them protection,
and the king was regarded in the light of a usurper by many of the greatest
nobles of the kingdom.

Shir Singh, however, maintained his seat on the throne until the month
of September, 1843, when he was assassinated by some of the chiefs in his
gardens, during the celebration of a public festival; his son shared the same
fate. The citadel of Lahore was then seized by the conspirators; Dhian
Singh, the minister, was shot, and the wives and children of the murdered
princes were barbarously massacred. But the success of the insurgents was
of short duration, for they were defeated before the close of the same day by
the opposite faction, who captured their leader, and placed on the throne
Dhuleep (Dhalip) Singh, a boy only seven years of age, said to be a son of
the great Ranjit. The government was conducted by the minister Heera
Singh, but the country remained in a very unsettled and miserable condition.

The rani, or queen-mother, who acted as regent for her son, disliked the
minister, Heera Singh. He was murdered in a rebellion of the soldiers, of
which she was believed to be the instigator, in the beginning of 1845; after
which her own brother Jewahir, who had headed the insurrection, was made
prime minister, and remained in power till the end of the year, when another
revolution took place, and he met with a fate similar to that of his prede-
cessor. The confusion and misrule that prevailed at Lahore, and certain
indications of a hostile disposition towards the British government, induced
the governor-general to send several regiments to the frontiers, to protect
the British possessions in case of invasion, but with a full determination not
to go to war unless the safety of the empire was endangered. The troops
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were stationed on the banks of the Sutlej, which is the largest of the streams
that flow into the Indus, and forms the eastern boundary of the Punjab,
separating that country from the British territories.

While the governor-general was thus preparing for a war in the north of
India, Sir Charles Napier was earning fresh laurels in Sind, where the British
authority was still resisted by some of the mountain tribes, whose depreda-
tions in the districts around the locality prevented the establishment of good
order, and acted as a check upon the industry of the peaceful inhabitants.
[In January, 1845, Sir Charles succeeded in reducing them to submission.]

FIRST SIKH WAR (1845-1846 A.D.)

In the mean time, the signs of a war with the Sikhs were growing more
manifest, till at length little doubt could be entertained that they were con-
templating an attack
on the British terri-
tories. Although the
rani and her ministers
pretended to the Brit-
ish authorities that the
hostile movements of
the troops were not
sanctioned by them, it
is well known they en-
couraged the invasion
as a means of ridding
themselves of a turbu-
lent soldiery, of whom
they were in perpetual
fear. Inshort, the war
was determined upon
at Lahore, and the
Sikh army, consisting
of not less than fifty
thousand warlike men
furnished with one
hundred and eight
pieces of artillery, and
well trained in the
European system of
warfare, advanced
toward the Sutlej, in
hostile array. It ap-
pears to have been an TEMPLE AND ROYAL SEPULCHRE AT MADURA
unprovoked aggression
on the part of the Sikhs; and as they sought the war without a reasonable
pretext of quarrel or complaint, they are not entitled to that degree of com-
passion which the result would otherwise have called forth. The greatest
cause of regret is that many valuable lives were sacrificed in the contest.

The Sikhs began to cross the river on the 11th of December, and took up
a position at Ferozshaw, a village about ten miles from the populous town
of Firozpur, and an equal distance from the village of Mudki, the British
headquarters. Orders had been sent to the troops at Ambala to join the
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army without delay; and by forced marches, they performed the journey
(one hundred and fifty miles), along heavy roads of sand, in six days, suf-
fering greatly from fatigue and thirst, as no water was to be procured on
the way.

On }t,heir arrival at Mudki, on the 18th of December, they found the enemy
was then advancing in order of battle, and though nearly worn out with toil
they had scarcely one hour to rest and refresh themselves, before the action
commenced. It lasted from three o’clock in the morning till some time after
nightfall, for the Sikhs fought with the utmost bravery, and it was not with-
out considerable loss on the part of the British that they were at length
driven from the field, leaving behind them seventeen of their guns, which
had been captured during the engagement, and some thousands of their
fallen comrades. Among the distinguished officers who fell at the battle of
Mudki, was Sir Robert Sale, who with his wife had lately returned to India,
having been in England since his memorable campaign in Afghanistan.

Aifter this defeat the Sikhs returned to Ferozshaw where, for three days,
they occupied themselves in raising strong intrenchments around their camp,
which, on the 21st of December, was attacked by Sir Hugh Gough, who had
been reinforced by a detachment of troops from Firozpur. This was a more
severe conflict than that at Mudki, for the Sikhs had the advantage of firing
from behind their batteries, which could not be destroyed without a fright-
ful sacrifice of life. Ere the close of day, however, this was partially effected;
but the issue of the battle was still uncertain, for while it was yet raging,
the night set in, and obliged the combatants to cease for awhile their deadly
strife. It was very cold and dark. The weary soldiers, without food or
extra covering, lay down among their dead and dying companions, exposed
to the cannonading of the enemy, which was kept up during the whole night;
when daylight appeared, the attack was renewed, the enemy put to flight,
and the camp taken.

Seventy-three pieces of cannon were captured in this engagement. But
the victors had scarcely congratulated each other on their success, when a
fresh army was seen a(f;ancing, led by one of the chiefs who had just fled;
and the British troops had to begin a fresh battle under all the disa(ivanta,ges
of exhausted strength and spirits. By exertions almost superhuman, this
second army was put to flight, some of the chiefs killed, and the British
remained masters of the camp, in which were found stores of grain and ammu-
nition, both of which were greatly needed. The whole force of the Sikhs
who had taken the field is estimated at about sixty thousand; while that of
the British did not amount to more than twenty thousand, or one-third the
number of their opponents.

The Sikhs had retired to the other side of the Sutlej, and were assembling
again in great force; so that it was evident that another battle would soon -
take place. They formed a solid bridge of boats across the river, over which
they came in parties, on dplundering expeditions; and about the middle of
January, 1846, established a camp within the bounds of the British terri-
tory, where they soon mustered to the amount of about twenty thousand.
The position they occupied was opposite the wealthy and populous city of
Ludhiana, and Major-General Sir Harry Smith was despatched g'om the main
army with a body of troops to unite with those remaining there for the pur-
pose of repelling any attacks in that quarter. The enemy was posted so as
to intercept his march, and the two armies met at the village of Aliwal, which
has given its name to one of the most memorable battles recorded in the his-
tory of British India.
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The battle of Aliwal was fought on the 28th of January, 1846, and ended
in a complete victory over the enemy, whose loss was terrific; for, in addition
to the many hundred slain in the combat, great numbers perished in their
despairing efforts to make their way across the river. Rich shawls and gold
bracelets in abundance fell into the hands of the victors. The immediate con-
sequence of this engagement was that the whole of the territory on the left
bank of the Sutlej submitted to the British government, and the Lahore
troops evacuated every fort that they had held on that side of the river.

But the main body of the Sikh army was still encamped on the opposite
side of their fortified bridge at the village of Sobraon, and yet numbered
about thirty thousand men, while it had seventy pieces of cannon remaining;
added to which, they occupied a fort that was very strongly fortified; so
that the British troops had before them the prospect of another sanguinary
engagement.

Sir Harry Smith, with his forces, rejoined the commander-in-chief, and
on the 10th of February the battle of Sobraon terminated this eventful cam-
paign. The intrenched camp was attacked and taken by storm, after a
most desperate struggle, in which thirteen British officers were killed, and
about one hundred wounded, the losses in the ranks being great in propor-
tion. The victory, however, although so dearly purchased, was a decisive
one. The Sikh army was almost totally destroyed, every gun captured, and
it seemed as if scarcely a vestige was left of that formidable power which had
so seriously threatened the perpetuation of the British dominion in India.
Immediately after the battle of Sobraon, the victorious generals encamped
in the Punjab, at Kussoor, about sixteen miles from the bank of the river
and thirty-two from the capital.

In the mean time the utmost confusion prevailed at the court of Lahore,
where a very remarkable person was acting in the capacity of prime minister.
This was the rajah Gulab Singh, the uncle of Heera, and brother of Dhian
Singh. He was a powerful chief, with plenty of men and money at his com-
mand; but since the death of his brother, Dhian, he had resided at his for-
tress of Jamu, among the mountains, watching the course of public events.
On the breaking out of the war, he brought his army, with abundance of
stores and money, to the capital, but avoided taking any decided part in the
contest.

After the battle of Aliwal, the rani, though his personal enemy, was in-
duced to appoint him prime minister, in the hope of obtaining his assistance,
which he did not refuse, but still delayed his departure for the camp, under
various pretences, and was yet at Lahore when the news of the total defeat of
the army at Sobraon changed the whole face of affairs. The rani and her
party were now anxious to make peace on the best terms they could, and
Gulab Singh was commissioned to proceed at once to the British camp for
that purpose. The rajah wisely insisted that they should first sign an agree-
ment to abide by such terms as he should make; and thus invested with full
power to negotiate, he arrived at Kussoor on the 15th of February, accom-
panied by several of the most influential of the sirdars.

The governor-general received him without the usual ceremonies; and
after alluding to the unjustifiable conduct of the Sikh government in begin-
ning a war without the slightest pretext, he referred the minister to his
agent and secretary, who were in possession of the terms on which he would
pardon the late aggression, and renew the friendly alliance between the Sikh
and British governments. These conditions were the cession of the whole
territory between the Sutlej and Beas rivers; the payment of a million and
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a half sterling, as an indemnity for the expenses of the war; the surrender
of all the rest of the cannon that had been pointed against the British; and
the total disbanding of the army, to be newly constituted upon principles
approved by the British government.

The rajah signed the treaty, and the governor-general issued a proclama-
tion to the effect that, as he had been forced into this war by an unprovoked
attack on the part of the Sikhs, he felt it necessary to adopt such measures
as would secure the British dominions from such aggressions in future; and
that, as it was not the wish of the British government to take advantage of
the success of its arms to enlarge its territories, he should endeavour to re-
establish the Sikh government in the Punjab, on such a footing as should
enable it to exercise authority over its soldiers and protect its subjects.” It
was then stipulated that the maharajah and principal chiefs should repair to
the British camp to tender their submission. The summons was promptly
obeyed, and the young prince, mounted on an elephant, and attende(f) by
Gulab Singh and about twelve of the sirdars, had an interview with the
governor-general, when his submission was tendered by the minister, and
it was then declared that he would in future be treated as a friend and ally.

These arrangements being all completed, Dhuleep Singh, who was only
ten years of age, was conducted back in state to his palace in the citadel of
Lahore by a large escort of European and native troops, who formed alto-
gether a grand and imposing spectacle; the youthful sovereign, surrounded
by his chiefs, in all the pomp of barbaric splendour, riding amid the victori-
ous troops, who might be regarded as both his conquerors and protectors.

The treaty of peace had, however, still to be ratified, and as the Lahore
government was not able to pay the sum that had been stated, it became
necessary to alter the conditions. It was therefore settled that half a mil-
lion in money should be paid, instead of one million and a half; and that as
an equivalent for the deficient million, all the country should be ceded that
lies between the Beas and the Indus, including the beautiful vale of Kashmir.
The greater part of this territory was bestowed in full sovereignty on Gulab
Singh, in consideration of the neutrality he preserved during the war; and
he, in return for so valuable an acquisition of territory, was to pay seventy-
five lacs of rupees, equal to £800,000.

A treaty containing sixteen articles was drawn up and signed at Lahore,
on the 10th of March, 1846, by the representatives of the late contending
powers, and was afterwards confirmed by the seals of the governor-general
and the maharajah. A separate treaty was then concluded with Gulab
Singh, who thus became a sovereign prince under the supremacy of the
British government, which he was to acknowledge by an annual present, or
tribute, of a horse, twelve shawl-goats, and three pairs of Kashmir shawls;
besides which, like the crown vassals of feudal times, he was bound to assist
the superior power, with all his military force, in any wars in the states
adjoining his territories.

The queen-mother remained at the head of the government, and a body
of British troops was stationed at Lahore for the protection of the maharajah,
who, when these arrangements were completed, received a visit of congratu-
lation from the governor-general, accompanied by the commander-in-chief
and other distinguished British officers. The dissolute rani, mother of the
young maharajah, was not, however, long in the responsible position in which
she had been permitted to remain; for, being detected in a conspiracy against
the peace of the country, the British government determined to check it in
the bud. She was, therefore, seized and conveyed to a fortress about twenty
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miles from Lahore, and there placed in close confinement. The earl of Dal-
housie was appointed in November, 1847, to succeed Sir Henry Hardinge as
governor-general. He arrived in India and assumed the reins of government
early in the following year.b

DALHOUSIE’'S GOVERNORSHIP AND THE SECOND SIKH WAR (1848-1849 A.D.)

Peace was not long preserved. The governor of Multan, Diwan Mulraj,
desired to resign. Two English officers sent by the resident to take over
charge of the fort were murdered, the 19th of April, 1848, and their escort
went over to the diwan. Another of the assistants to the resident, Lieutenant
Herbert Edwardes, then in the Derajat, west of the Indus, hearing of the
attack on the two officers, hastened to their assistance. On hearing of their
fate he collected a force with which to attack the Multan army while the
insurrection was yet local. This he did with signal success. But Multan
could not fall before such means as he possessed. The movement spread, the
operations widened, and the Sikh and English forces were in the field again.f

The Battles of Chilianwala, Multan, and Gujrat (1849 A.D.)

On the 13th of January, 1849, the British forces under Lord Gough came
in sight of the encampment of the enemy at Chilianwala. It was Lord
Gough’s intention not to attack the enemy so late in the day, but Shir Singh,
the commander of the Sikh troops, knew the ground; he had possession of the
jungle, and he knew, also, the reckless bravery of his antagonist. It suited
his purpose that the conflict should be immediate. He allowed a few of his
advanced posts to be overpowered, that the enemy might be enticed on; and
when Lord Gough was close enough, the Sikh batteries opened upon him.
The Sikh artillery, well placed and well plied, made fearful havoc. The
British guns, pointed against the jungle, could do no such damage as the
artillery of the enemy. A loss of about one hundred officers and two thousand
five hundred men, on the part of the British, was the result. ‘“Although,”
says Lord Gough, in his despatches, “the enemy, who defended not only his
guns but his position with desperation, was driven, in much confusion and
with heavy loss, from every part of it, and the greater part of his field artillery
was actually captured, the march of brigades to their flanks to repel parties
that had rallied, and the want of numbers and consequent support to our
right flank, aided by the cover of the jungle and the close of the day, enabled
him, upon our further advance in pursuit, to return and carry off, unobserved,
the greater portion of the guns we had thus gallantly carried at the point of
the bayonet.”

Such was the battle of Chilianwala: the bravery of the British troops
and their commander achieved a barren victory over a formidable enemy,
who had all the advantages of position in his favor. After a battle so disas-
trous on both sides, the two armies encamped within four miles of each other
to recruit their exhausted energies and to prepare, on the arrival of reinforce-
ments, for another encounter which might prove more decisive, if not less
bloody, than that of Chilianwala. There we will for the present leave them,
and return to Multan, and give in brief the details of an attack, which resulted
in the capture of this almost impregnable fortress and city.

Mulraj had about nine thousand men, and the besieging army under
General Whish amounted to about twenty-eight thousand, well provided.
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The operations began on the 27th of December, by an attack upon two several
points of the suburbs, which were carried at the bayonet’s point; and after
bombardment, breach, and storm, lasting, with but slight intervals of repose,
for six days, the British flag was planted upon the walls of Multan by a ser-
geant-major of the company’s fusiliers.” A perfect storm of bullets for a time
flew around him; the colour was torn in tatters, and the staff broken. For an
instant no one could reach him; but there he stood cheering his comrades to
come on. There was no need of exhortation — onward they pressed, the
enemy doggedly retiring before them, and fighting as they withdrew. The
walls were scaled about three o’clock on the 2nd of January; by sunset the
city was fully in possession of the besieging forces. Mulraj took refuge in the
citadel. But on the 22nd of January — when it had become evident that he
could not hold his position for twenty-four hours longer — Mulraj surrendered
himself, his forces, and the citadel, unconditionally into the hands of the British.

For four weeks after the battle of Chilianwala, the British and Sikh
armies remained inactive, with a slight change of position. Chuttur Singh,
father of Shir Singh, had effected a junction with his son but did not bring so
numerous and well-appointed a reinforcement as was expected. The army
of Lord Gough, on the contrary, had been considerably increased. After the
capture of Multan, General Whish, by a series of rapid marches, arrived with
his victorious detachment at the Chenab, and effected a junction with Lord
Gough, when battle was given to Shir Singh without further delay. It was
an open-field fight by daylight, the Sikhs not having, as at Chilianwala, the
advantage of darkness and a thick jungle to protect them from the fatal aim
of their enemy’s .

The British army was about twenty-five thousand men, with one hundred
cannon; that of the Sikhs was about forty thousand. Their artillery, how-
ever, was comparatively deficient, amounting to but sixty guns. Shir Singh
chose his own position around the village of Gujrat, and the British army
moved to attack him early in the morning of the 21st. The British line
extended nearly three miles right and left. The Sikhs gave way on all points,
and fled in the utmost confusion. The victory was obtained at a loss of life
comparatively small on the part of the British — namely, of five officers and
ninety-two men. The loss on the part of the Sikhs was enormous.

On the day after this decisive battle, General Gilbert, with a force of fif-
teen thousand men, was despatched in pursuit. On the 14th of March, Shir
Singh and his father, Chuttur Singh, with eleven others of the principal
sirdars, arrived in the British camp at Rawal Pindi, and delivered up their
swords. Forty-one pieces of artillery and sixteen thousand stand of arms
were at the same time surrendered.

Lord Dalhousie issued a proclamation declaring the Sikh dynasty at an
end, and the Punjab annexed to the British dominions. The maharajah, no
longer sovereign, was to receive an allowance of forty thousand pounds, and to
reside within the British dominions. The few chiefs not convicted of treason
were allowed to retain their estates.

The territory thus annexed to the British possessions in India amounted
to one hundred thousand square miles. It had a population of three and a
half millions, and a revenue equal to one million pounds.

THE KOH-I-NUR

Among the trophies which fell into the hands of the English during the
Sikh War was the celebrated gem, the Koh-i-nur diamond. The gem passed
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from Goleonda to Delhi, where, in the year 1665, it was seen by the French
traveller Tavernier, in the possession of Aurangzeb. Sometimes worn on
the person of the Mughal emperors, sometimes adorning the famous peacock
throne, this inestimable gem was safely preserved at Delhi until the invasion
of Nadir Shah. Among the spoils of conquest which the Persian warrior
carried back with him, in triumph, to Khorassan, and which have been vari-
ously estimated at from twenty to one hundred million pounds sterling, the
Koh-i-nur was the most precious trophy. But it was destined to pass from
Persia as quickly as that ephemeral supremacy in virtue of which it had been
acquired. When the Persian conqueror was assassinated, in 1747, the Afghan
chief, Ahmed Abdullah Shah, who had served under him as treasurer, on his
return to Herat carried with him the treasure in his possession, including this
diamond. It seemed as if the Koh-i-nur carried with it the sovereignty of
Hindustan; for the conquests of Ahmed were as decisive as those of Nadir,
and it was by his influence and assistance that the last emperor ascended the
throne of the Mughals.

With the overthrow of the Durani monarchy by the consolidated power of
the Sikhs, under Ranjit Singh, the jewel passed to a new master. Shah
Shuja, of Kabul, was the last chief of the Abdullah dynasty who possessed it.
When Shah Shuja was a fugitive from Kabul, under the equivocal protection
of the Sikh chief, Ranjit Singh put the shah under strict surveillance, and
made a formal demand for the jewel. The Durani prince hesitated, prevari-
cated, temporised, and employed all the artifices of oriental diplomacy, but in
vain.

When first given to Shah Jahan, the Koh-i-nur was still uncut, weighing,
it is said, in that rough state, nearly eight hundred carats, which were reduced
by the unskilfulness of the artist to two hundred and seventy-nine, its present
weight. It was cut by Hortensio Borgis, a Venetian, who, instead of receiving
a compensation for his service, was fined ten thousand rupees for his wasteful-
ness, by the enraged Mughal. In form it is “rose-cut,” that is to say, it iscut
to a point in a series of small faces, or “facets,” without any tabular surface.
The Koh-i-nur was seized by the British resident at Lahore, when first apprised
of the outbreak at Multan. At the conclusion of the war it was taken to
England, presented to the queen, and placed among the jewels of the crown.b

INTERNAL IMPROVEMENTS: THE SECOND BURMESE WAR (1849-1852 A.D.)

After these bloody wars, the British Empire in the East enjoyed several
years of undisturbed repose. All the outbreaks which had occurred subse-
quent to the Afghanistan disaster, every effort at independence which had
been made, had led to overthrow and subjugation. The Sind amirs had tried
it, and failed; the Gwalior people had tried it, and failed. Even the great
and colossal power of the Sikhs had been overthrown; and after two desperate
and bloody campaigns, their capital had been taken, their army disbanded,
their kingdom incorporated with the all-conquering state. Struck with this
astonishing series of victories immediately succeeding so dire a calamity, the
inhabitants of the vast peninsula of Hindustan, for the time at least, aban-
doned the contest; and, submitting to the dominion of the British as the
dectee of providence, sought only to improve the advantages which the general
establishment of internal peace afforded, and to improve the means of industry
which its vast extent and powerful protection seemed to promise.

The East India Company took advantage of this precious breathing-time
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from external war to afford every facility in their power to the development
of the internal resources of their vast territories. Canals were dug or restored,
roads made, railroads surveyed, and in part at least executed. The mind of
Lord Dalhousie, essentially administrative, was ardently and successfully
directed to these great objects. Then were projected, and in great part exe-
cuted, those magnificent public works which have so completely effaced the
well-known reproach cast by Mr. Burke upon the British administration in
India, and which will bear a comparison with any in the world for greatness of
conception and perfection of execution.

The Taking of Fort Martaban

This happy state of tranquillity was first broken in upon, in 1852, by a
second rupture with the Burmese government, which arose from the pride and
arrogance of a barbaric
court, and their incon-
ceivable ignorance of
the strength of the
power with which they
were in close contact.
So many cases of in-
jury occurred in the
course of the years
1851 and 1852, that
the governor-general
came to the conclusion
that the law of nations
had been violated, es-
pecially by the gov-
ernor of Rangoon in
his cruel and oppres-
sive conduct to British
subjects. The period
allowed for accommo-
dation having elapsed,
an expedition was de-
spatched under the
command of General
Godwin, an experi-

CARVED PAGODA AT RANGOON, BURMA enced ofﬁcer, who had

been engaged in the

former war, to enforce redress. The expedition sailed for the mouth of the

Irawadi on the 28th of March, the naval force being under the orders of Rear-

Admiral Austen. On the 5th of April the fort of Martaban, commanding one

of the entrances of the river, was attacked, and the place carried, though gar-
risoned by five thousand of the best soldiers in the Burmese Empire.

After this success the expedition proceeded up the Irawadi to Rangoon,
which stands on the left bank of the principal branch of the river, about
twenty miles from the sea. Hostilities were commenced by a general attack
by the war-steamers on the enemy’s flotilla and river defences ; and in a'few
hours the former were all burned, and the latter levelled with the ground.
The troops were then landed without further resistance, and advanced against
the town. The garrison fled in confusion through the southern and western
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gates, where they were met by the fire of the steamers, and obliged to seek
safety by dispersing in the jungle.

The immediate surrender of Rangoon was the result of this victory, which
was soon followed by the submission of all the adjacent country. The stores,
ammunition, and heavy guns were then landed, and placed in Rangoon, which
was strengthened and garrisoned by a strong body of troops, it being the design
of government to make it not only the base of present operations, but a per-.
manent acquisition to the British Empire in the East. These precautions
having been taken, the troops were again moved forward up the Irawadi.
On the 19th they were before Bassein, where a strong mud-fort was stormed,
after a desperate resistance. Martaban, the first conquest of the British,
which was garrisoned only by a small native force, was soon after attacked
by a large body of Burmese, but the assailants were repulsed with great
slaughter. Encouraged by these successes, an expedition was fitted out early
in July, under Captain Tarleton, to reconnoitre the river as far as Prome,
which was taken.

Offensive operations were resumed as soon as the return of the cool season
rendered them practicable. On the 25th of September the troops were em-
barked at Rangoon, and they came in sight of Prome on the 9th of October,
where they were shortly after landed. They immediately advanced, and
made themselves masters of a fortified pagoda situated on an eminence which
commanded the enemy’s position. Upon this the Burmese evacuated the
town in the night. This success was followed by the capture of Pegu, a large
town about sixty miles from Rangoon (November 20th). This was followed
by a proclamation from the governor-general, which, “in compensation for
the past, and for better security for the future, proclaimed that the province
of Pegu is now, and shall henceforth be, a portion of the British territories in
the East.”

No further attempt was now made to disquiet the British in their newly
acquired conquest, and unbroken peace reigned through their vast dominions
from the mouths of the Indus to those of the Irawadi, and from Cape Comorin
to the Himalaya snows.

ANNEXATION OF OUDH (1856 A.D.)

This period of tranquillity, during which Lord Dalhousie was incessantly
occupied with his great projects of domestic improvement and social ameliora-
tion, was not even interrupted by an important event in the east of India.
This was the annexation of Oudh, which, without any hostilities, was carried
into effect by a simple resolution of the governor-general in council on March
17th, 1856. This powerful state, whose inhabitants were a nation of warriors, .
lies on the eastern bank of the Ganges, between Cawnpore and Nepal,
embraces twenty-five thousand square miles of territory, and contained at
the period of annexation five million inhabitants.

It was, however, notorious that, though the kings of Oudh since that time
had never failed in their duty to the British government, but, on the con-
trary, essentially served it on many occasions, yet they had_ scandalously
violated the rights of their own subjects. The government of Lucknow, the
capital, was perhaps the most corrupt and oppressive in the world, so far as
its own people were concerned. Moved by the petitions of the unhappy
sufferers under these exactions, and by the obvious discredit which they
brought on the British government and connection, the governor-general in
1856 proposed a treaty to the king of Oudh, by which the sole and exclusive
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administration of the country was to be transferred to the East India Com-
pany, with the right to the whole state revenue, burdened with a due provision
to the reigning family, who were to be allowed to retain their royal titles, and
enjoy their palaces and parks at Lucknow. These terms, as might have been
expected, having been rejected by the king, a proclamation was forthwith
issued, declaring the kingdom incorporated with the dominions of the East
India Company, and requiring all the inhabitants to yield obedience to their
authority. The British forces immediately entered the country from Agra
and Cawnpore, and took possession of the capital and whole territories with-
out resistance. About the same time the territories of the rajah of Satara
were incorporated with the British dominions; those of the rajah of Berar
had already been absorbed in 1853; but these encroachments, being on incon-
siderable native potentates, were made without opposition, and excited very
little attention.

Unhappily the ease with which this annexation was accomplished at the
time misled the government as to the precautions necessary to secure this
acquisition, and the representations of Lord Dalhousie on that subject re-
mained without effect. Not a man of European race was added to the force
in the country; Delhi, the great arsenal of northern India, was left exclusively
in the hands of the native troops; and a few hundred British, and a few
battalions of sepoys, formed the sole garrison of the most warlike and formid-
able people of eastern India.

ALISON ON THE RULE OF THE EAST INDIA COMPANY

The war in the Punjab throws a bright light on those which preceded it in
Gwalior and Sind, and vindicates Lord Ellenborough’s administrations from
the aspersions thrown upon it for the commencement of hostilities against
these powers. Judging by the European standard, there can be no doubt
that he was the aggressor on both those occasions; because, although the native
powers were the first to engage in hostile acts, this had been rendered neces-
sary by a course of encroachments on the part of the British. But it is now
apparent that this was unavoidable. The opposite system --as followed by
the East India directors and Lord Hardinge, who forswore all hostile prepara-
tions against the Sikhs, and brought the Indian Empire to the brink of ruin,
in order to avoid giving a pretext even for hostilities; and what was the con-
sequence? Two terrible wars, in which the utmost hazard was incurred, and
in which salvation was earned only by heroic efforts, and the shedding of
torrents of blood. What would have been the fate of these wars if they had
occurred when the British flank was threatened by the insurrection in Sind,
and their communications cut off by the forces of Gwalior? In all probability
India would have been lost. It was by anticipating the danger, and com-
bating the hostile powers in succession, that the danger was averted and
India saved. For this immense service the country was indebted to Lord
Ellenborough; and, according to the usual course of human events, it is not
the least conclusive proof of the reality of the obligation that the East India
Company requited it by his recall. So strong is the desire for economy of
their own money, however anxious to get that of others, and so invincible the
repugnance to make costly preparations against future danger, in the great
majority of men, that whoever attempts or recommends it is certain to mcur
present, obloquy, and, if his opponents have the power to effect it, political
downfall.

But the same form of justification can scarcely be applied to the incorpora-~
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tion of Oudh. Unlike the warlike powers in the northwest of India, the gov-
ernment of Oudh had engaged in no hostile designs or preparations against
that of Great Britain. Through all the changes of fortune for a half century,
it had stood faithful by the British. Whatever faults it had committed, and
they were many, had been directed against its own subjects, and related to
matters of internal administration. Qther grounds of justification in the case
of Oudh must therefore be sought than that of hostility to Great Britain;
and these are found by the defenders of the annexation in the fact that, by
the treaty of 1801, there was expressly stipulated to the British government a
right of interference, in the event of such internal mal-administration as was
charged against the native authorities.

As this encroachment was instrumental in bringing about the rebellion of
1857, and the terrible war which ended in the termination of the East India,
Company’s rule in India, in conformity with the old Hindu prophecy, in the
hundredth year after its foundation by the battle of Plassey, it is a fitting
opportunity to consider what was the extent and magnitude of the empire
which in that period — short in the lifetime of a nation — had been formed
by the energy and perseverance of the company, and the courage of the nation
which aided them by its resources.

India, then, contained, in 1858, when the direct rule of the East India
Company was merged in that of the home government, 180,367,148 inhabi-
tants, extending over 1,465,322 square miles. Of these, 131,990,881 were
under the direct dominion of the East India Company, and 48,376,247 the
inhabitants of the protected states. The revenue (gross) of this immense
territory was £30,817,000, of which £17,109,000 was the land-tax, £5,195,000
drawn from the monopoly of opium, £2,631,000 from that of salt, and
£2,106,000 from customs. The cost of collection was about £6,000,000; the
charge of the army was £11,000,000 annually; the interest of debt in India
£2,000,000; and £3,500,000 were remitted to Great Britain for charges pay-
able at home, or interest on the debt due there. The annual deficit was on
an average of the four years between 1854 and 1858, £1,500,000 annually;
in the year ending April 30th, 1857, it was £1,981,062.

The army amounted in the same month to 231,276 native troops, of whom
26,129 were cavalry, regular and irregular ; 22,047 Europeans in the employ-
ment of the East India Company, of whom 6,585 were artillery; and the
queen’s troops in India before the revolt broke out were 31,800, all paid by
the East India Company. The auxiliary troops, which the protected states
were bound to furnish, were 32,211 more; in all, nearly 320,000 men.

The public debt of India was £68,000,000, being somewhat more than
twice its income. Nor had this empire been acquired by conquest over
unwarlike or barbarous nations: for if the inhabitants of Bengal were a timid
race, the Gurkhas, the Sikhs, the Afghans, the Mahrattas, and the inhabitants
of Sind, rivalled the ancient Germans or Parthians in hardihood and valour;
and in the great revolt of 1857 the East India Company encountered 120,000
soldiers, armed, instructed, and disciplined by themselves, and inferior to none
in the contempt of death when animated by religious zeal.

This empire embraced a greater number of inhabitants than that con-
quered in five centuries by the Roman legions; double the number subjugated
by the Russian arms in two centuries; and more than triple those won for
France by the energy of the Revolution and the victories of Napoleon! And
this mighty empire, transcending any which has existed since the world began,
had been acquired in one century by a pacific company, having its chief place
of business fourteen thousand miles distant from the theatre of its conquests —
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which has almost always been guided by pacific interests, and rarely engaged
in wars, except from necessity and in self-defence — which began its career
with five hundred European soldiers, and seldom had so many as fifty thousand
collected around its standards! The history of the world may be sought in
vain for a parallel to such a prodigy.

The chief cause of this extraordinary and unparalleled phenomenon is to
be found in the presence of constitutional energy in Great Britain during the
period when the empire in the East was forming, and the absence of parlia-
mentary control in its direction. The mother country furnished an inex-
haustible supply of young men, drawn chiefly from the landed gentry of the
middle class, to fill every department both in the civil and military service in
the East, while the selection of candidates was exempt from the debasing
offects of court favour or parliamentary influence. The command of this
extraordinary aggregate of military and civil ability was practically vested
in the governor-general at Calcutta, distance and the necessity of self-direction
on the spot having rendered nearly impotent for evil the division of power
between the East India Company and the board of control, which the strange
and anomalous constitution of 1784 theoretically established.

It is to the extraordinary combination of circumstances which gave British
India the united advantages of democratic vigour in the classes from which its
defenders were taken, with aristocratic perseverance in the senate by which its
government was directed, and the unity of despotism in the dictator to whom
the immediate execution of the mandates of that senate was entrusted, that
the extraordinary growth of the British Empire in India during the century
between Plassey and the Mutiny is beyond all question to be ascribed. Dur-
ing that period Great Britain had often at home sustained serious reverses,
from the ignorance and incapacity of those whom parliamentary influence or
court favour had brought to the head of affairs, or the parsimony with which
demoeratic economy had starved down the national establishment, during
peace, to a degree which rendered serious reverses inevitable on the first break-
ing out of hostilities; but in India, though the usual intermixture of good and
evil fortune in human affairs was experienced, there were never awanting,
after a short period, troops requisite to repair reverses, and generals capable
of leading them to victory.:




CHAPTER VI
THE INDIAN MUTINY

[1857-1858 A.D.]

LORD DALHOUSIE AND THE DOCTRINE OF LAPSE

Lorp DarLHOUSIE'S dealings with the feudatory states of India can only be
rightly appreciated as part of his general policy. That rulers only exist for
the good of the ruled was his supreme axiom of government, of which he gave
the most conspicuous example by the practice of his own daily life. That
British administration was better for the people than native rule followed
from this axiom as a necessary corollary. He was thus led to regard native
chiefs from somewhat the same point of view as the Scotch regarded the
hereditary jurisdictions after 1745 — as mischievous anomalies, to be abol-
ished by every means practicable. Good faith must be kept with rulers on
the throne and with their legitimate heirs, but no false sentiment should
preserve dynasties that had forfeited all consideration by years of accumu-
lated misrule, or prolong those that had no natural successor.

The “doctrine of lapse”” was merely a special application of these princi-
ples, though complicated by the theory of adoption. It has never been
doubted that, according to Hindu private law, an adopted son entirely fills
the place of a natural son, whether to perform the religious obsequies of his
father or to inherit his property. In all respects he continues the persona of
the deceased. But it was argued that the succession to a throne stood upon
a different footing. The paramount power could not recognise such a right
which might be used as a fraud to hand over the happiness of millions to a
base-born impostor. Here came in the maxim of “ the good of the governed.”
The material benefits to be conferred through British administration surely
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weighed heavier in the scale than a superstitious and frequently fraudulent
fiction of inheritance.

The first state to escheat to the British government in accordance with
these principles was Satara, which had been reconstituted by Lord Hastings
on the downfall of the peshwa in 1818. The last direct representative of
Sivaji died without a male heir in 1848, and his deathbed adoption was set
aside. In the same year the Rajput state of Karauli was saved by the inter-
position of the court of directors, who drew a fine distinction between a
dependent principality and a protected ally. In 1833 Jhansi suffered the
same fate as Satara. But the most conspicuous application of the doctrine
of lapse was the case of Nagpur. The last of the Bhonslas, a dynasty older
than the British government itself, died without a son, natural or adopted, in
1853. That year also saw British administration extended to the Berars,
or the assigned districts which the nizam of Hyderabad was induced to cede
as a territorial guarantee for the subsidies which he perpetually kept in arrear.
Three more distinguished names likewise passed away in 1853, though without
any attendant accretion to British territory. In the extreme south the titular
nawab of the Carnatic and the titular rajah of Tanjore both died without
heirs. Their rank and their pensions died with them, though compassionate
allowances were continued to their families. In the north of India, Baji Rao,
the ex-peshwa, who had been dethroned in 1818, lived on till 1853 in the
enjoyment of his annual pension of £80,000. His adopted son, Nana Sahib,
inherited his accumulated savings, but could obtain no further recognition.

The marquis of Dalhousie resigned office in March, 1856, being then only
forty-four years of age; but he carried home with him the seeds of a lingering
illness which resulted in his death in 1860. Excepting Cornwallis, he was the
first, though by no means the last, of English statesmen who have fallen
victims to their devotion to India’s needs. He was succeeded by his friend,
Lord Canning, who, at the farewell banquet in England given to him by the
court of directors, uttered these prophetic words: “I wish for a peaceful term
of office. But I cannot forget that in the sky of India, serene as it is, a small
cloud may arise, no larger than a man’s hand, but which, growing larger and
larger, may at last threaten to burst and overwhelm us with ruin.” In the
following year the sepoys of the Bengal army mutinied, and all the valley of
the Ganges from Patna to Delhi rose in open rebellion.

MOTIVES FOR THE MUTINY

The various motives assigned for the Mutiny appear inadequate to the
European mind. The truth seems to be that native opinion throughout India
was in a ferment, predisposing men to believe the wildest stories, and to act
precipitately upon their fears.” The influence of panic in an Oriental popula-
tion is greater than might be readily believed. In the first place, the policy of
Lord Dalhousie, exactly in proportion as it had been dictated by the most
honourable considerations, was utterly distasteful to the native mind.
Repeated annexations, the spread of education, the appearance of the steam
engine and the telegraph wire, all alike revealed a consistent determination to
substitute an English for an Indian civilisation.

The Bengal sepoys, especially, thought that they could see into the future
farther than the rest of their countrymen. Nearly all men of high caste, and
many of them recruited from Oudh, they dreaded tendencies which they
deemed to be denationalising, and they knew at first hand what annexation
meant. They believed that it was by their prowess that the Punjab had
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been conquered, and all India was held quiet. The numerous dethroned
princes, their heirs and their widows, were the first to learn and take advantage
of the spirit of disaffection that was abroad. They had heard of the Crimean
War, and were told that Russia was the perpetual enemy of England. They
had money in abundance with which they could buy the assistance of skilful
intriguers. They had everything to gain, and nothing to lose, by a revolution.b

Writing on the subject of the causes of the Indian Mutiny, Lord Roberts
says: “The discontent and dissatisfaction were produced by a policy which,
in many instances, the rulers of India were powerless to avoid or postpone,
forced upon them as it was by the demands of civilisation and the necessity
for a more enlightened legislation. Intriguers took advantage of this state
of affairs to further their own ends. Their plan of action was to alienate the
native army, and to increase the general feeling of uneasiness and suspicion,
by spreading false reports as to the intentions of the authorities in regard to
the various measures which had been adopted to promote the welfare and
prosperity of the masses. It can hardly be questioned that these measures
were right and proper in themselves, but they were on that account none the
less obnoxious to the Brahman priesthood, or distasteful to the natives gener-
ally. In some cases also they were premature, and in others they were not
carried out as judiciously as they might have been, or with sufficient regard
to the feelings and prejudices of the people.” e

On this subject Sir A. Lyall says: “Except in the calamitous retreat from
Kabul in 1841-1842, where a whole division was lost, the Anglo-Indian troops
had been constantly victorious; but in Asia a triumphant army like the Janis-
saries of the mamelukes almost always becomes ungovernable so soon as it
becomes stationary. The sepoys of the Bengal army imagined that all India
was at their feet; while in 1856 the annexation of Oudh, which was the prov-
ince which furnished that army with most of its high-caste recruits, touched
their pride and affected their interests. When therefore the greased cart-
ridges roused their caste prejudices they turned savagely against their English
officers, and broke out into murderous mutiny.” »

The nature of Great Britain’s hold upon India was so anomalous that the
reflective had constantly doubted of its permanence. Her conquests had
been chiefly effected by native armies, and continued to be ruled by their
instrumentality; but it was unreasonable to think that the mere military
allegiance of the sepoy would be always superior to those ties of nationality
which connected him with the vanquished.

“As if also to teach these men their own strength and resources, the native
armies in the British service had now increased to an alarming amount as
compared with the European soldiers. Each of the three presidencies, Ben-
gal, Madras, and Bombay, had its own army; but while they mustered in all
300,000 men, of these there were only about 43,000 who were British. Of
all these armies, the most efficient for useful service, as well as the most prompt
for revolt, and the most to be feared in such an event, was the army of Ben-
gal, consisting of 118,600 native, and only 22,600 European soldiers. It was
from this army accordingly that most danger had for some time been appre-
hended. A single random spark would be enough to set its whole religious
bigotry in a blaze. And even already a deep cause of offence existed in the
Bengal army, on account of the annexation of the kingdom of Oudh.

These and other such causes, which had been gathering and growing for
years, had already matured into a deep and widely-extended conspiracy for
the overthrow of the British dominion in India; but the particulars of the
plan and the persons who devised it are still involved in obscurity. It is
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supposed, however, that the court of Persia was the principal focus of the
conspiracy, and that the Mohammedans of the north of India were its chief
agents and disseminators. Those men, who might be termed the Norman
aristocracy of Hindustan, owed an especial grudge to the British by whom they
had been supplanted; and they endeavoured to work upon the credulity of
the Hindu soldiery, by assuring them that the British intended to overthrow
their creed and compel them to become Christians. This was enough to
remind them of the conversions of Tipu Sahib, who propagated Islam by fire
and sword. .

It is supposed that these Mohammedan intriguers intended to replace the
old king of Delhi upon the throne of his ancestors, and to rule under his name;
and it 1s known that they were endeavouring to incite Dost Muhammed, the
king of Kabul, to prepare for the invasion of the Punjab, as soon as the revolt
of the Bengal army, upon which they had calculated, should leave that terri-
tory defenceless. Even these representations might have been ineffectual
with the Hindu soldiers, had they not been apparently confirmed by an act
of the British government itself.

THE GREASED CARTRIDGES AND THE UNLEAVENED CHUPATTIES

This was the affair of greased cartridges, that served as the commencement
of rebellion and signal of outbreak. The Enfield rifle, an improvement upon
the Menié, had been introduced at the commencement of 1857 into the
Bengal army; and as greased cartridges were necessary for its effective use,
these were issued to the troops along with the weapon. A report was
immediately circulated that the grease used in the preparation of these
cartridges was a mixture of the fat of cows and pigs —the first of these
animals being the objects of Hindu adoration, and the last of Mohammedan
abhorrence.

The first occasion on which the rumour was heard was the following: at
Dumdum, where there was a school of practice for the new Enfield rifle, a
sepoy soldier, a Brahman, was asked by a man of low caste to be permitted
to drink out of his lotah, or vessel of water, to whom he replied, “I have
scoured my lotah, and you will pollute it by your touch.”  “You think much
of your caste,” said the other angrily, “but wait a little, and the European
will make you bite cartridges soaked in cow and pork fat, and then where will
your caste be?”

The sepoy reported these words to his comrades, and they quickly reached
Barrackpur, at which several native regiments were stationed. It was in vain
they were assured by the government that no such grease had been used in
the preparation of the paper in question, and that if they had scruples in the
matter, they were at liberty to procure their own ingredients at the bazaar.
The report still continued to strengthen at Barrackpur among the four native
regiments stationed there; and on the 6th of February a sepoy revealed to an
officer the plot of his companions, who were alarmed with the fear of being
compelled to abandon their caste and become Christians. From his revelation
it appeared that these regiments intended to rise against their officers, and
after plundering or burning down their bungalows, to march to Calcutta,
and there attempt to seize Fort William, or failing in this, to take possession
of the treasury.

This state of things was too alarming to be neglected, and measures were
taken by the British commanders and their officers to still the apprehensions
of the native soldiery. They were publicly addressed on parade with the
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assurance that there was no design to make them Christians; that they could
not become such without being able to read, and to understand the rules that
were written in the Christian’s book; and that nothing but their own free
choice and request after they had so learned, could admit them to the privilege
of baptism. The issue of the obnoxious ammunition was stopped, and plans
were suggested by which the cartridge might be used by tearing off the end,
instead of putting it to the mouth and biting it. Native officers were also
appointed to learn the process of cartridge-making in which the forbidden
articles were to be excluded.

But the alarm had grown too strong to be put down by such assurances
or concessions: a rebellion was inevitable even where the original cause had
dwindled into a mere pretext or watchword. The first open manifestation
was at Berhampur, on the morning of the 26th of February, 1857, when the
19th regiment of native infantry were ordered out on parade. Percussion
caps were about to be issued to them, but these the soldiers refused to receive,
declaring that it was still doubtful how the cartridges were made; and on
the evening of the same day they assembled on parade by their own authority,
broke open the bells (small oval buildings) in which their arms were piled,
and having taken possession of the weapons and ammunition, carried them
off to their lines. Their commander, Colonel Mitchell, ordered them to pile
arms and disperse, and on their refusal called up the cavalry and artillery;
but they still refused to obey until these troops were withdrawn, which was
done accordingly. For this concession, the colonel was tried by a court of
inquiry, and censured. It was resolved also to disband this dangerous regi-
ment, and accordingly it was marched off to Barrackpur, where the 52nd and
84th Queen’s regiments were stationed to disarm them.

But on the 29th of March, two days previous to the disbanding, while the
19th was at Barrackpur, the rebellion commenced in bloodshed. A sepoy of
the 34th regiment of native infantry, having intoxicated himself with bang,
discharged his musket at Lieutenant Baugh, and shot that officer’s horse; the
lieutenant fired a pistol at his assailant, but missed him, and was wounded
in return by the madman, as was also the sergeant-major of the corps, who
went to the lieutenant’s assistance. The mutineer, whose name was Mungal
Pandy,! was seized, tried, and sentenced to be hanged; and on the scaffold
he expressed his regret for the crime, and tried, but in vain, to persuade his
fellow soldiers to return to their duty. As for the 19th regiment, it was
drawn up on parade in the square of Barrackpur, surrounded by the two
British and several native regiments — and for a moment it was doubted
whether the latter might not side with the 19th, and offer battle to the 52nd
and 84th. But no such outbreak occurred: the rebels surrendered their arms,
and were marched off under an escort of cavalry to Chinsurah, bewailing their
infatuation, and petitioning when too late to be readmitted to the service.

It was not, however, by such checks that the spirit of revolt was to be
suppressed, or even retarded; ‘it was diffused like a pestilence far and near
by mysterious agencies which the authorities could neither detect nor surmise.
One of these was the transmission of a kind of little unleavened cakes, called
chupatties, a symbol which the Europeans did not understand, but which
seems to have been as significant to the natives as the fiery cross was to the
Highlanders of Scotland, and used for a similar purpose. A chowkodar, or
village policeman of Cawnpore, gave two of these cakes, the common food
of the poor, to another chowkodar in Fathigarh (Futtehghur), telling him to

1 Hence the name of Pandies, which was afterwards given to the rebel sepoys by the
British soldiers in India.
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make ten more, and give them to five of his brethren of the nearest station, with
a similar charge to each; and thus at every hour these runners were multi-
plying among a class of men who were spread over India, and whose mis-
chievous errand was least liable to be suspected.

The eirculation of chupatties commenced in Oudh and elsewhere in the
beginning of 1857, and European conjecture was utterly at a loss to penetrate
this Indian mystery, which subsequent events made only too intelligible.
Reports also were industriously spread in the bazaars that the missionaries
had petitioned the queen of Great Britain to enforce the use of the greased
cartridges, in order to compel the Hindus to become Christians. They even
pretended to give the very words of this petition, which, they alleged, were the
following: “Tipu made thousands of Hindus become of his religion, while your
majesty has not made one Christian. Under your orders are sepoys of all
castes. We therefore pray you to adopt this plan — namely, to cause to
be mixed up together bullocks’ fat and pigs’ fat, and to have it put upon the
cartridges which your sepoys put into their mouths, and after six months
to have it made known to the sepoys how they have thereby lost their caste,
and by this means a certain road will be opened for making many Christians.”
They added that the queen was highly satisfied with this petition, and had
given her assent to it.

Notwithstanding the absurdity of this report, it was so well suited to the
credulity and ignorance of the people, and gained such belief, that the gov-
ernor-general, Lord Canning, in council, was obliged on the 16th of May to
issue a proclamation on the subject, disclaiming any attempt to interfere
with the castes or religion of the people, and warning them against the arts
of those who attempted to withdraw them from their allegiance.

THE OUTBREAK AT MEERUT

But this proclamation was too late, and even had it been earlier it would
have been equally useless. The rebellion had already broken out in full vio-
lence, and in those districts where it could be least resisted. Of the European
regiments in the presidency of Bengal, the greater part were dispersed over
the whole extent of Great Britain’s Indian Empire, and isolated among a
hostile people. One important military station was Meerut (Mirath), thirty-
five miles to the northeast of the city of Delhi, between the Ganges and the
Jumna. At this place were two regiments of native infantry and one of light
cavalry, comprising in all 2,700 men, and a European force numbering 1,717
men, the whole being under the command of Major-General Hewitt. On the
6th of May, when cartridges, which, to avoid offence, had been made for the
purpose, were offered to the native cavalry, eighty-five troopers refused to
receive them. They were tried by court-martial for their disobedience;
eighty were sentenced to imprisonment with hard labour for ten years, and
five for six years; and on the 9th, after their sentences were read to them on
parade, they were put in irons and conducted to jail.

But their companions sympathised in their rebellion. On the following
morning, which was Sunday, the native regiments rose in mutiny, fired upon
their officers, and after making a rush upon the prison, from which they
rescued not only their fellows but upwards of one thousand convicts who
were confined there, they set the building on fire. The wildest license now
prevailed in Meerut. Several British officers with their wives and children,
were massacred with circumstances of aggravated atrocity. While bunga-
lows were blazing in every direction, and the streets filled with the hurrying
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rush of the murderers, and shrieks of the dying, the two British regiments
marched against the native lines, assailed them with volleys of grape and
musketry, drove the mutineers from the encampment, and pursued them
in their retreat, cutting down a considerable number on the way. But as the
chase was conducted by only a party of carabineers and riflemen, and as the
night was very dark, the main body of the mutineers, consisting of the 3rd

%g}ll}tl cavalry and 20th infantry, were enabled to make good their retreat to
elhi.

SCENES IN DELHI

Such was the day of horror which prevailed over Meerut and its neighbour-
hood on this memorable 10th of May; the scene was now to be shifted to
Delhi, where three regiments of native infantry and a battery of native
artillery were stationed, but not a single company of British soldiers. At an
early hour on the morning of the 11th a handful of horsemen, not above
thirty or forty in number, came galloping in headlong speed to the city,
though their approach excited no alarm. But they were an advanced party
of the light cavalry, who had fled from Meerut; and they were the harbingers
of the atrocities that were to follow, and the chief actors in their commission.
They rushed in at the Calcutta gate unchallenged, and had no sooner entered
the city than, raising the ery of “ Deen, deen,” their shout equally for a battle-
charge or a massacre, they attacked and cut down every European they met
in their way.

The 54th native regiment with two guns were sent to quell the mutiny.
They steadily marched to the city and promptly entered by the Kashmir gate;
but here the mask was dropped; for no sooner did the insurgent body of light
cavalry approach than the sepoys withdrew from their officers, leaving the
latter exposed to the fierce horsemen, who came upon them at full gallop,
and shot them down with their pistols.

Delhi was now in possession of the rebels — nothing remained to the
British but the powder magazine, with two officers and three or four sub-
alterns in charge of it. But, such as it was, it was the only refuge left to
the British dominion in Delhi; and while the work of murder was going on
within the city, where the shameful atrocities of Meerut were exceeded, not
only upon strong men, but helpless women and unoffending children, the
rebels assailed the magazine with their whole united force. The place was
gallantly held by the handful within, and the first attacks repelled by volleys
of grape; but thousands still pressed forward, and scaling ladders were applied,
so that the walls were on the point of being won. But, calculating upon this
chance, Lieutenant Willoughby, who was in charge of the magazine, had laid
a train to that department which contained the gunpowder; it was fired at
his signal, and instantly the b